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Note of the Governor 

23/07/2019 

The year 2018 follows the line of the tough years experienced by the Tunisian economy. 
Undoubtedly, growth is evolving: 2.5% against 1.9% in 2017 and just 1% in 2016. Yet, 
it remains minimal. Economic activity progress was, in fact, curbed by a mitigated 
trend in different productive sectors of the economy. This growth, which remains slack, 
is still unable to meet Tunisians’ aspirations in terms of employment and to reestablish 
worrisome macroeconomic imbalances. This involves the required conditions to resume 
a sound, sustainable and more inclusive growth. 

Despite its weakness, economic activity over 2018 was, however, of a better quality. It 
was driven by the advance of certain productive sectors: the agricultural sector posted 
an exceptional performance thanks to olive cultivation while the tourist sector 
confirmed its recovery. Yet, other sectors failed to evolve positively. This concerns, 
mainly, the industrial sector which was strongly hit by extractives activities’ weakness, 
affecting not only growth dynamics, but also the external position and the budget 
balance. 

As for demand, analysis of the gross domestic product (GDP)’s components shows a 
slow evolution of all headings. For instance, investment, which is a genuine growth and 
wealth-generating driver, is standing at a limited level, with a rate of 18.5% of GDP in 
2018 against a savings rate of 9%. These two indicators are to be compared with the 
ones achieved in 2010: 24.6% and 21.4%, respectively. In comparison with the levels 
reached in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region, these rates show that 
Tunisia is lagging in terms of both savings and investment. In fact, over 2018, the 
MENA region achieved an investment rate and a savings rate of about 30%. 

On the other hand, macroeconomic imbalances are increasingly alarming, especially as 
regards external payments. The current deficit posted a new record of 11.1% of GDP at 
the end of 2018. Favourable trends in tourist receipts and labour income could not 
offset the scope of the trade deficit’s worsening. The latter continues to stand at 
worrying levels. In the absence of a sound investment and a high competitiveness, the 
external sector’s ongoing deterioration is becoming structural, therefore of lasting 
nature. 

Moreover, the expansion of net external capital inflows helped Tunisia to regain a 
surplus general balance of payments and to raise the level of foreign currency reserves, 
expressed in dinars. As for the medium and long-term external indebtedness rate, it 
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grew, year on year, by 9 percentage points of the Gross National Disposable Income 
(GNDI). 

The main ills of the external sector are as follows: Firstly, an energy deficit which 
widened by 53.2% in 2018, contributing thus by more than 60% to the overall trade 
deficit’s widening. This deterioration is caused by the increase in international prices 
as well as the weak national fuel production level, against an ongoing evolution of 
demand. Secondly, the poor activity level of the phosphate and by-products sector led to 
a considerable shortfall in receipts from export. 

Like these two sectors, exports’ weakness, the recovery of which is slow to come, in 
spite of the dinar’s value depreciation, testifies to a supply problem. The latter is due to 
the decrease in both investment and output and has become structural. In fact, factors’ 
global output, which reached an average of 1.3% during the 2001-2010 decade, 
declined to -0.2% on average between 2011 and 2018. 

Another imbalance, no less important, is relevant to still growing inflationary pressure. 
The inflation rate posted 7.3% on average, at the end of 2018, against 5.3% in 2017. 
This increase bears the mark, on the one hand, of the Finance Law’s (FL 2018) tax 
provisions, notably raising by one percentage point the value added tax and the upward 
adjustment of fuel prices. On the other hand, the impact of the dinar’s depreciation is 
noteworthy. The national currency’s foreign exchange rate depreciated, on average, by 
12.9% against the euro and by 8.6% against the dollar. 

At the public finances’ level, the budgetary deficit improved, down from 6.1% of GDP 
in 2017 to 4.8% in 2018. Nonetheless, this deficit remains at a high level, if we take into 
account economic growth weakness. This raises the serious question of the said deficit’s 
sustainability, and concurrently, that of public debt which has been soaring since 2011, 
reaching 71.4% of GDP at the end of 2018. 

As regards taxation, there is an easing of the budgetary deficit thanks to several 
measures taken by the 2018 FL. 

These measures target mobilisation of new tax resources and a better allocation of 
public expenditure. Authorities' efforts are going on to resolve uncertainties about the 
taxation climate, in particular, and the business one, in general. 

Resurgent inflationary tensions and the balance of payments’ current deficit worsening 
have put further pressure on the country's assets in foreign currency as well as on the 
dinar’s foreign exchange rate against main foreign currencies. The Central Bank, 
which is entrusted with the mission of preserving prices stability, was brought to tighten 
its monetary policy. To do so, the key rate was raised twice respectively, in March and 
June 2018, by 75 and 100 basis points, up to 6.75% at the end of the first half of 2018. 
Taking into account the persisting nature of inflation, as reflected by core inflation 
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measures, the Central Bank decided a new raising over February 2019, bringing the 
key rate to 7.75%. The succession of restrictive measures has reduced monetary 
inflation and contributed to economic situation stabilisation, a prerequisite of a sound 
recovery of investment. These monetary policy measures were followed by other reserve 
management and foreign exchange policy measures which succeeded in maintaining, a 
certain stability in the dinar’s value over the first half of 2019 and curbing its 
depreciation, which could have been much more pronounced. 

Aware of the medium-term impact of these measures on economic growth which is still 
vulnerable, the Central Bank initiated a reallocation of its refinancing of banks. In fact, 
a long-term refunding window through 6-month calls for bids intended to productive 
investment was instituted towards the end of 2018. Worth to be pointed out that the 
overall volume of refinancing firmed up significantly, over 2018, reaching 
unprecedented levels, even beyond 16 billion dinars. 

Watching over financial stability, the Central Bank has established a new credit/deposit 
ratio, in order to curb the transformation risk and prevent against banks’ excessive risk 
taking. This decision was taken as per circular to banks n°2018-10 of 1st November 
2018, which stipulates that a bank should not keep this ratio higher than 120%. This 
entails a restriction that would rationalise credit lending by banks which will seek to 
improve clients’ deposits in order to reduce recourse to the Central Bank’s refinancing. 
Concurrently, collateral policy was rebalanced by privileging private claims’ 
counterparts to ensure a better contribution to real economy financing and to reduce 
the foreclosure effect. These measures enter into force within the framework of the 
prudential reforms process undertaken since 2012, the offsprings of which have already 
been visible: the banking sector managed to improve its financial soundness indicators 
and resilience capacity. This applies also to public banks, recently restructured. At the 
prudential level, the Central Bank of Tunisia will pursue, over 2019, its close oversight 
of the liquidity risk. The aim is to avoid any sideslip and preserve banks' financial 
balances. 

These stabilisation efforts led by both the Central Bank of Tunisia and the Government, 
notably in the financial sphere, gave a new dynamics to financial cooperation with the 
International Monetary Fund (IMF). In fact, the year 2018 was characterized by the 
successful conclusion of three reviews (second, third and fourth reviews) with respect to 
the Extended Fund Facility. This has brought cumulated disbursements since the 
beginning of this programme to 1.4 billion dollars for an approved amount of 2.9 
billion dollars. 

In an environment marked by uncertainties characterising the national and 
international economic and financial scenes, the Central Bank should be endowed with 
the most appropriate organisation. This effort set out in 2018 with a strategic insight 
which led to implementation of the first Strategic Plan spanning the 2019-2021 period. 
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It aims at raising the Central Bank of Tunisia to the level of international standards, 
notably with adoption of Specific, Measurable, Acceptable, Realistic and Time-bound 
(SMART) objectives and a modern reorganisation which abides by best practices in this 
regard. Besides, this new governance framework would help the Central Bank to 
optimise the use of its human capital to face up to this changing environment, full of 
opportunities and risks. The year 2018 ended up with vision validation, declined in itself 
into a set of strategic objectives to be met throughout this first plan. The strategic vision 
related to this period is "being a modern, proactive and efficient Central Bank, at the 
forefront of economic and financial shifts". The Central Bank aims at meeting this 
vision through adoption of three fundamental values: Integrity, Equity and 
Transparency. 

It is within this new approach that the Central Bank of Tunisia will undertake, in 
collaboration with the Government, reforms at the banking sector’s level to fight 
against fraud, money laundering and terrorism financing. In this respect, huge efforts 
have been made with the Tunisian Commission of Financial Analysis (CTAF) to 
establish shields in compliance with international standards against illicit transactions. 
The downsizing of parallel trade and cash use are also objectives targeted by these 
reforms. 

To this effect, the Central Bank of Tunisia carried on, over 2018, with its support for the 
development of payment systems and means. This effort tends to favour the emergence 
of innovative initiatives capable of enhancing the soundness and stability of payment 
services’ markets. Against this backdrop, the BCT has made the strategic choice of 
liberalising payment activities. Thus, a new professional body, exclusively devoted to 
the payment service, was created, namely the payment institution. The aim is to boost 
financial inclusion and make the payment market more competitive to help consumers 
have access to proximity payment services at affordable prices. These measures are 
part of a joint strategy with the Ministry of Finance, extended over the 2018-2022 
period. The approach will tend to exploit surveys recently elaborated by international 
and national institutions in order to measure the financial inclusion level in Tunisia. As 
a result of this reflection, the Central Bank was committed, over 2018, to implementing 
the Decashing plan which will be relevant to private as well as public enterprises. 
These will serve as an example to acquire new habits in terms of payment, 
characterised by more transparency. Here again, the rise of digitalisation and artificial 
intelligence and Blockchain-related technologies put new challenges in front of the 
Central Bank. This consists, notably, in conducting a digital transformation of the 
banking system so as to further get closer to clients and better manage operating 
charges. In this framework, it would be important to explore all the opportunities 
offered by these technologies devoted to finance (FinTech). Thus, following the success 
of Africa Blockchain Summit, the Central Bank set up a "Fintech Committee" to be at 
the forefront of these changes. Among the immediate projects of this Committee, are the 
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Fintech WEBSITE, the BCT-Lab and the regulatory Sandbox. The Central Bank's 
approach in terms of Fintech consists in playing the role of "Facilitator" towards this 
ecosystem. Concretely, this consists in protecting financial services’ users against risks 
related to technological development and bad practices, supporting financial stability 
and promoting Fintechs activity both inside and outside through regional and 
international cooperation. 

To be in tune with technological changes which lead inevitably to economic agents’ 
behavioural changes, the Central Bank is placed in relation to an international 
referential and collaborates with institutions that are originators of best practices. 
Aside from financial and technical cooperation with the IMF, the Central Bank of 
Tunisia collaborates with the Swiss State Secretariat for Economic Affairs (SECO) in 
the framework of the Bilateral Assistance and Capacity Building for Central Banks 
programme, as well as with the World Bank. On the other hand, the issuing institute 
intensified its collaboration with other Central Banks, as shown by the signature of 
technical cooperation conventions with Bank Al-Maghrib and, very recently, with 
Banque de France. 

The present international environment is henceforth characterised by exacerbated risks 
and uncertainties tied mainly to world trade’s unpredictability, non-control of climate 
changes, resurgence of regional conflicts and finally the rising dissatisfaction and even 
rage of young people, middle and deprived classes. 

This new environment is affecting growth worldwide, notably in Tunisia's partner 
countries, as shown by the latest forecasts of the IMF and the Organization for 
Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD). 

The Tunisian economy, which has been resilient since the 2008 international financial 
crisis, and especially in the aftermath of the 2015 terrorist attacks, should be capable of 
undertaking reforms as quickly as possible. The latter remain essential to accompany 
return of investment, export, growth and to achieve a sustainable integration of 
Tunisian businesses into regional and global value chains. 

 

 

Marouane EL ABASSI 

Governor 

(June 2019) 
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Chapter 1 – International environment 
16/06/2017 
08/07/2019 

1-1. International situation 
The international economic environment was marked by resumption of uncertainties over 2018, 
linked to rising trade tensions and protectionist threats, as well as emerging economies’ 
vulnerability and financial markets’ volatility.  

In this context, and in spite of its resilience over the first half of the year, thanks to an 
accommodating monetary policy and the budgetary recovery in the USA, economic growth was 
moderate in the main advanced economies over the second half of the year.  

Likewise, most emerging countries recorded a slight economic activity slowdown, in line with 
the weakness that marked trends in world trade, investment atony, as well as tightening of 
financial conditions, exacerbating the vulnerabilities of certain emerging economies, notably 
Argentina and Turkey. 

Thus, the world economy’s growth rate went slightly downwards by 0.2 percentage point 
compared to 2017, coming to 3.6%, however without reflecting neither growth paces’ 
disparities between countries and regions nor the divergence of activity between the first and 
second half of the year. With this relatively moderate growth pace, the unemployment rate 
worldwide remained virtually unchanged, corresponding to 5% in 2018 against 5.1% in the 
previous year. However, a drop was registered in advanced countries (5.1% against 5.6%), in 
line with a sound performance of the job market in the United States and the Euro Zone. 

As for the world trade, trade of goods and services evolved, in 2018, at a slower pace 
compared to the previous year, corresponding to 3.8% against 5.4% in 2017. This deceleration 
is directly attributable to the deterioration of bilateral trade relationships between the United 
States and China, and indirectly, to the climate of uncertainty stimulated by this dispute, hence 
reducing the contribution of the trade sector to the world economic growth.  

For their part, main International capital markets’ indexes declined, notably towards the end 
of the year, based on mounting concerns about rising trade and geopolitical tensions, inducing 
an increase in investors’ aversion to risks.  

On the International foreign exchange markets, the US dollar was supported by a better 
economic growth in the United States than in the Euro Zone, as well as by widening of the 
interest rate gap between the Federal Reserve and the European Central Bank, making 
investments in dollars more beneficial. Thus, at the end of 2018, the euro/dollar parity posted 
1.1467 dollars, corresponding to an appreciation of the dollar by about 4.5% compared to the 
previous year’s closure.  
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Graphic 1-1: Trends in certain international environment indicators 

Source: IMF World Economic Outlook (April 2019). 

 

1-1-1 Economic activity  
Economic growth was affected by tensions that marked the world scene over 2018, which 
deepened notably during the first half of the same year. In fact, the increase in trade tensions 
between the United States and China and the ongoing negotiations on the “Brexit” between the 
European Union and the United kingdom, on the one hand, and the less gradual than expected 
tightening of the main Central Banks’ monetary policies, along with a limited room for 
manoeuvre of the budgetary policy in many industrialized countries, on the other hand, were the 
major factors that contributed to reappearance of uncertainties, meaning a slowdown of the 
world trade and a weakening domestic demand in most industrialized countries.  

In fact, economic activity in the industrialized countries evolved in 2018 at different paces 
depending on countries. Hence, the accelerated economic expansion in the United States, 
supported by the pro-cyclical budgetary recovery programme, contrasted with the slowdown in 
other advanced countries, notably Japan and the Euro zone. Therefore, the growth rate in the 
developed countries came to 2.2% against 2.4% in 2017. 
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Table 1-1: Trends in certain economic indicators worldwide 

Description 
Economic growth  

(in real terms & in %) 
Unemployment  

(in % of working population) 
2017 2018 20191 2017 2018 20191 

WORLD 3.8 3.6 3.3 5.1 5.0 5.0 
Developed countries 2.4 2.2 1.8 5.6 5.1 5.0 
 of which :             
 United States 2.2 2.9 2.3 4.4 3.9 3.8 
 Japan 1.9 0.8 1.0 2.9 2.9 2.9 
 United Kingdom 1.8 1.4 1.2 4.4 4.1 4.2 
 Euro Zone 2.4 1.8 1.3 9.1 8.2 8.0 
  of which :             
- Germany 2.5 1.5 0.8 3.8 3.4 3.4 
- France 2.2 1.5 1.3 9.4 9.1 8.8 
- Italy 1.6 0.9 0.1 11.3 10.6 10.7 
Emerging & developing Countries2 4.8 4.5 4.4 .. .. .. 
  of which :             
- China 6.8 6.6 6.3 3.9 3.8 3.8 
- Russia 1.6 2.3 1.6 5.2 4.8 4.8 
- India 7.2 7.1 7.3 .. .. .. 
- Brazil 1.1 1.1 2.1 12.8 12.3 11.4 
- Morocco 4.1 3.1 3.2 10.2 9.8 9.2 
- Tunisia 1.9 2.5 2.7 15.5 15.5 .. 
Sources: IMF World Economic Outlook (April 2019), Ministry of development, investment and international 
cooperation and the National Statistics Institute. 
1 Forecasts. 
2 For this group of countries and as per estimates of the International Labour Organization, the unemployment rate 
varied in 2019 between a minimum of 3.6% in East Asia and the Pacific and a maximum of 11.8% in North Africa. 
 

In particular, the expansionary budgetary policy adopted in the United States since the 
beginning of the year 2018, helped to back up economic activity in spite of the decrease in 
American exports starting from the second half of the year. In fact, domestic demand was robust 
thanks to a strong employment market dynamics, to an investment-friendly environment and 
above all, to important public expenditure, which helped to consolidate the economic expansion 
of this country to 2.9% in 2018 against 2.2% a year before.  

In the Euro Zone, the accommodating monetary policy continued to sustain domestic demand 
which remains the main growth drive. However, weak foreign demand underlies the negative 
contribution of net exports to growth. Thus, the zone’s economic growth rate came to 1.8% 
against 2.4% in 2017. This slowdown was particularly significant in the major economies, 
notably Germany (1.5% against 2.5%), following exports’ pace slowdown, and Italy (0.9% 
against 1.6%), where economic weakness was stressed by uncertainties about the public debt 
crisis.  

In Japan, and despite an expansionary monetary policy, economic activity remained flat due to 
the natural disasters’ impact and a weakening foreign demand, notably from China. Hence, the 
growth rate in this country reached only 0.8% against 1.9% in 2017. 

The tightening of economic policies in the emerging and developing countries to prevent 
against capital flight associated with the depreciation of their national currencies against the  
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US dollar and the high inflation levels have weighed down on economic activity in several of 
these countries. Thus, this group’s growth rate posted 4.5% in 2018 against 4.8% a year earlier.  

Particularly in China, the trade dispute with the United States announced since January 2018, 
combined with the regulatory restrictions in both the real estate and financial intermediation 
sectors resulted in the Chinese economy’s growth slowdown over 2018, corresponding to 6.6% 
against 6.8% in the previous year. In India however, the ever-robust domestic demand, thanks 
to the structural reforms that have previously been undertaken, helped maintaining economic 
expansion at a high level, posting 7.1% against 7.2% in 2017. 

As for the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region, economic activity slowed down 
somehow over 2018 (1.4% against 1.8% in the previous year), in line with a weakening 
domestic demand in the main partner countries, and the geopolitical tensions in certain countries 
of the region. The Iranian economy, in particular, shrunk by 1.5% after a 3.7% growth in 2017 
following American sanctions.  

 
 
Graphic 1-2: Trend in certain economic situation 
indicators in developed countries 

Graphic 1-3: Trend in certain economic activity 
indicators in emerging and developing countries 

 
 

For 2019, many factors should continue to exert further pressure on the world economic 
activity, notably trade disputes as well as resurgent concerns about the Italian debt and Brexit 
agreement, as well as monetary policies’ tightening and the shrinking budgetary room for 
manoeuvre which caused economic growth slowdown in several advanced economies.  

1-1-2 World trade 
Despite the resilience that marked international trade over the first months of 2018, the world 
volume of trade closed the year with a remarkable deceleration. In fact, growing tensions 
between the United States and China affected, on the one hand, the bilateral trade relations 
between these two major actors, and generated protectionist measures worldwide, on the other 
hand. This climate of uncertainty amplified by the possible tightening of the trade conditions 
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between the European Union and the United Kingdom, in line with Brexit has affected 
investors’ confidence. 

In this context, the volume of world trade of goods and services progressed slowly over 2018, 
corresponding to 3.8% against 5.4% in the previous year. 

In particular, the world trade of goods evolved less rapidly than a year before: 3.9% against 
5.6%. Needed to be reminded that Chinese exports in volume decelerated substantially over 
2018: 4% against 9.1% in the previous year, while American exports evolved at a pace similar 
to the one of 2017 (4% against 3%). 

Expressed in dollars, world exports of goods reached 19.082 billion, up by 9.4% against 10.8% 
in the previous year, following the slower volume of trade of goods. 

Trends in terms of trade were more advantageous to emerging and developing countries (1.1% 
against the same rate in 2017), in line with the rise in international commodity prices, while 
they declined in industrialized countries (-0.7% vs. -0.1%), affected by the increase in energy 
prices. 

World exports of services consolidated by 7.8% in 2018 against 7.4% a year before, reaching a 
total of 5,756 billion dollars. This evolution is notably linked to the ongoing dynamism of the 
world tourist activity that grew by 6% compared to 2017 and concurrently, to the international 
passengers’ air traffic which rose by 6.4%. 

1-1-3 International investments 
Foreign direct investment flows (FDI) worldwide continued to dip and even worsened, 
notably in the developed countries, posting 1,188 billion dollars, less by 19% than the previous 
year when they dropped by 16%. 

In fact, the lack in profitability, mutations in the world value chains, along with protectionist 
fiscal, customs and trade measures were the major factors that contributed to this slump. 
However, they favoured a more advantageous geographical distribution for emerging and 
developing countries. 

In fact, the shrinking was noticeable in the industrialized countries (-40%) where FDI flows 
reached their lowest level since 2004, with a volume of 451 billion dollars and a share in the 
world total of 38% against 749 billion dollars and 51% respectively, in 2007. 

This drop was more important in Europe where these flows collapsed by 73% and were limited 
to 100 billion dollars in 2018. In addition to the European Union-specific factors, notably 
Brexit, several countries of the region were affected by the repatriation of the American 
multinational companies’ profits to benefit from tax incentives granted by the Government in 
the framework of its recovery plan. Germany (-59%) and France (-42%) were the most affected. 

The United States, first country to host FDI worldwide, also lost 18% of their flows which came 
to 226 billion dollars. 

However, emerging economies were more resilient and managed to maintain their attractiveness 
in terms of FDI with a 3% progression in flows over 2018, involving a package of 694 billion 
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dollars. These investments concerned mainly manufacturing industries in the South-East Asian 
countries, as well as extracting and refining industries and the technological sector in Africa. By 
region, FDI went upwards in Asia’s developing countries (+5%) and in Africa (+6%) but went 
downwards in Latin America and the Caribbean (-4%) in line with the slow economic recovery. 

As for Africa, Egypt and South Africa took up about 15 billion dollars of the continent’s FDIs 
worth 40 billion dollars in 2018, notably oriented towards the building, agro-food, oil and gas 
sectors as well as renewable energy ones. 

In 2018, corporate merger-acquisition operations worldwide surpassed the record levels 
reached over the 1980’s with a total of 4,016 billion dollars, higher by 19% than the one 
recorded in 2017. This dynamics is mostly attributable to the operations carried out over the 
first half of 2018 (an increase of about the two thirds compared with the same period of the 
previous year). Mainly American businesses reinvested in the surplus of liquidity yielded 
following tax incentives granted by the American administration to corporate merger-
acquisition contracts. Over the rest of the year, merger-acquisitions went downwards, notably 
over the last quarter, in line with the rise in trade tensions and the climate of uncertainty in 
many industrialized countries. 

By sector of activity, the energy sector regained the first rank of merger-acquisition operations 
with 704.6 billion dollars (+46%), followed by the high technology sector with a package of  
507 billion dollars (+5.3%). The year 2018 was also marked by the health sector’s upgrading to 
the third place (432.2 billion dollars) thanks to the merger-acquisition operations of businesses 
operating mainly in the medical technologies and biotechnology sectors. For their part, the 
industrial and financial sectors were ranked respectively fourth and fifth with 421.3 billion and 
381.7 billion dollars. 

Geographical breakdown shows a consolidated predominance of the North America region with 
a 45.5% share of the world volume (1,828.5 billion dollars, 1.725.3 billion of which went to the 
USA). The European continent comes in the second place with 1,006 billion dollars, mainly in 
the UK (238,6 billion dollars), Germany (145.5 billions) and Spain (105.4 billions). 

For 2019, The United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) estimates 
that trends in FDIs would be weak, in line with the expected slowdown in economic activity, 
protectionist measures and trade tensions. 

1-1-4 Monetary policies 
Major central banks have opted for a standardization of their monetary policies in 2018, though 
at different paces according to the economic context, notably recovery’s degree of maturity and 
prices dynamics which was more favourable in the United States than in the other industrialized 
countries. 

Thus, The American Federal Reserve (FED) continued the tightening of its monetary policy 
by raising, starting from March, its interest rates by 25 basis points four times in 2018, bringing 
it to a range of 2.25% -2.50 % at the end of the same year. The FED justified this tightening by 
economic activity’s firming up and the ongoing job creation at a sustained pace on the one hand, 
and the strong growth of household expenditure, while inflation (food and energy excluded) is 
close to its 2% target, on the other hand. 
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As for the European Central Bank (ECB), its room for manoeuvre was limited by the weak 
economic activity in the Euro Zone since the second half of the year. Thus, it decided to keep its 
key interest rates unchanged (close to 0%) at least till the end of summer 2019. However, the 
ECB ended its asset purchase programme in December, after reducing it from 30 billion to  
15 billion euros per month since September of the same year. This decision aims at supporting 
growth while ensuring a sustained trend in inflation on the medium term to get close to the 
ECB’s 2% target. 

Likewise, The Bank of Japan (BOJ) was committed, over July 2018, to keeping its 
accommodating monetary policy going on, by maintaining its negative key interest rate at the 
level of -0.1%. It also maintained its bond purchases programme worth 80,000 billion Yen per 
year in order to stimulate economic activity in a context marked by inflation levels that are well 
below its 2% target, combined with a sharp decrease in the Japanese State’s bond yields. 

For 2019, the ECB’s and BOJ’s monetary policies are expected to remain accommodating, 
taking into account inflation rates that are below their target. As for the FED, it should attenuate 
its monetary policy’s tightening pace, mainly in relation to the expected slowdown of the world 
economy in a context marked by the rise of uncertainties and deterioration of the business 
climate of several of their economic partners.  

1-1-5 Public finances 
Over the year 2018, the overall budgetary policy’s orientation marked significant differences 
between advanced countries. Thus, the budgetary deficit, as a whole, stood at 2.5% of GDP on 
average.  

In fact, the public finances situation was expansionary in the United States following the 
American authorities’ financing of the economic recovery programme, into force since 
beginning of the year, which includes tax exemption and reduction for households and 
businesses. The American budgetary deficit has reached its highest level since 2013: 4.7% of 
GDP against 3.8% in the previous year, reflecting a rise in public expenditure at a faster pace 
than the one of receipts. 

The Euro Zone’s budgetary deficit went slightly downwards (0.6% of GDP against 1% in 
2017), in line with its attenuation in certain countries, notably Portugal (0.7% of GDP against 
3%), and to a lesser degree in France (2.6% against 2.7%), along with the budget surplus 
consolidation in Germany (1.7% of GDP against 1%). It has to be mentioned that since 
September 2018, the European Commission’s disapproval of the 2019 expansionary Finance 
Law in Italy, has further deteriorated the business climate in the zone. 

As for public accounts’ deficit in Japan, it stood at 3.2% of GDP in 2018, resulting in a weak 
budgetary support of the economy, despite the rise in social expenditure related to population 
ageing. 

In the emerging and developing countries, the budget deficit level went downwards over 
2018, to 3.9% of GDP on average, against 4.2% in the previous year, thanks to better receipts, 
notably in oil-exporting countries.  
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Table 1-2: Trend in certain financial indicators worldwide 

Description 

Current account 
balance 

(in % of GDP) 

Budget balance 
 (in % of GDP) 

Inflation 
(variation of consumer 

prices in %) 
2017 2018 20191 2017 2018 20191 2017 2018 20191 

Developed countries 0.9 0.7 0.6 -2.1 -2.1 -2.4 1.7 2.0 1.6 
   of which :                   
 United States -2.3 -2.5 -3.0 -3.8 -4.7 -5.0 2.1 2.4 2.1 
 Japan 4.0 3.5 3.5 -3.2 -3.2 -2.8 0.5 1.0 1.1 
 United Kingdom -3.3 -3.9 -4.2 -1.8 -1.4 -1.3 2.7 2.5 1.8 
 Euro Zone 3.2 3.0 2.9 -1.0 -0.6 -1.0 1.5 1.8 1.3 
     of which :                   
- Germany 8.0 7.4 7.1 1.0 1.7 1.1 1.7 1.9 1.3 
- France -0.6 -0.7 -0.4 -2.7 -2.6 -3.3 1.2 2.1 1.3 
- Italy 2.8 2.6 2.9 -2.4 -2.1 -2.7 1.3 1.2 0.8 
Emerging & developing countries 0.0 -0.1 -0.4 -4.2 -3.9 -4.7 4.3 4.8 4.9 
     of which :                   
- China 1.4 0.4 0.4 -3.9 -4.8 -6.1 1.6 2.1 2.3 
- Russia 2.1 7.0 5.7 -1.5 2.8 1.0 3.7 2.9 5.0 
- India -1.8 -2.5 -2.5 -7.0 -6.7 -6.9 3.6 3.5 3.9 
- Brazil -0.4 -0.8 -1.7 -7.9 -6.8 -7.3 3.4 3.7 3.6 
- Morocco -3.6 -4.5 -4.1 -3.5 -3.7 -3.7 0.8 1.9 1.4 
- Tunisia -10.2 -11.2 -10.9 -6.1 -4.8 -3.9 5.3 7.5 .. 

Sources: IMF World Economic Outlook (April 2019) and the Ministry of Finance 
1 Forecasts. 
2 Excluding privatization and grants. 

 

For 2019, the IMF estimates that budgetary policies would be more or less neutral in most 
industrialized countries except for the United States which should allow deficits in order to 
finance its recovery plan. However, in the emerging and developing countries, the budgetary 
deficit should stand at a level close to the one recorded in 2018, in line with the budgetary 
support of certain emerging economies. 

1-1-6 Inflation 
Inflation rose slightly in the advanced economies, mainly due to decrease in unused production 
capacities, along with the increase in energy prices having virtually prevailed over the whole 
year of 2018. As for emerging and developing countries, prices’ acceleration pace was more 
pronounced. 

Thus, inflation in the advanced countries reached 2% on average, over 2018, against 1.7% a 
year earlier, corresponding to the highest rate for a decade. Particularly in the United States, 
inflation reached 2.4% against 2.1% in 2017, mainly in the wake of the expansionary budgetary 
policy which has strongly sustained domestic demand. Likewise, for the Euro Zone, the 
economic activity recovery that brought production to a level above its potential, as well as the 
euro’s depreciation, helped consumer prices to evolve at a faster pace (1.8% against 1.5% in 
2017). For Japan, inflation went upwards to 1% in 2018 against 0.5% in the previous year, in 
line with the ongoing ultra-accommodating monetary policy of the BOJ and the rise of energy 
prices. 
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Consumer prices in the emerging and developing countries grew by 4.8% against 4.3% in the 
previous year, following an increase in international prices of energy and foodstuff associated 
with the depreciation of national currencies in many countries of the region.  

According to the IMF’s forecasts, inflation in industrialized countries is expected to ease up 
somehow over 2019, in line with the expected slowdown of economic activity and the decrease 
in energy prices. However, the pace of prices’ increase in emerging and developing countries 
would be slightly faster, notably, in the wake of previous currency depreciations in certain 
countries of the region.  

1-2. Capital markets        08/07/2019 

1-2-1 Stock exchange markets 
After two years of stock market revival, the year 2018 was marked by a critical turning point for 
the world shares markets which renewed again with a trend decline. The normalisation of the 
Fed’s monetary policy, the world economic slowdown and trade tensions between China and 
the United States favoured the resumption of an exacerbated volatility. The MSCI world index 
decreased by 9.5% over the whole year.  

Despite their negative performances, the main American stock exchange indexes showed a 
greater resilience compared with European and British indexes, sustained by important fiscal 
stimulus. At Wall Street, Dow Jones and S&P indexes’ losses were limited to 5.6% and 6.2% 
respectively, while the Nasdaq Composite dropped by 3.9%. 

In Europe, however, the Parisian CAC 40 and German Dax indexes faced their worst year for 
ten years, registering a loss of 10.9% and 18.2% respectively. 

In Asia, the main stock exchange indexes declined in a more spectacular way, with a collapse of 
Shanghai Stock exchange index by 24.6% and by 12.1% for the Japanese index Nikkei, affected 
by the full blunt of trade tensions between China and the United States. 

1-2-2 Bond markets 
Bond markets were extremely volatile over 2018, in the wake of several combined factors, 
notably: 

 The disparate economic growth paces in the developed countries; 
 Trade tensions between the United States and China;  
 Political negotiations in the Euro Zone; 
 Recrudescent fears about public finances’ situation in Italy. 

Despite its versatile movement, the overall trend of the 10-year American yield has been 
upward until November with two threshold crossings of 3% in June (3.11%) and especially in 
November (3.24%), reaching its highest level since 2011. The recovery of US yields was fed by 
both the sound performance of macroeconomic indicators in the United States and the Fed’s 
optimistic tone as far as the ongoing monetary tightening is concerned. President Trump’s 
budgetary recovery policy and its consequences in terms of the higher supply of State securities 
also upheld the rise of yields. 

Stating from November, long American yields wiped out a good part of their increase recorded 
since the beginning of the year, notably the 10-year rate which dropped again below 3%, closing 
for 2018 at 2.68%. 
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The downward adjustment of long American yields was the immediate consequence of 
American economic indicators’ deterioration and the Fed’s much more cautious tone with 
regard to its ongoing policy of raising federal funds’ rates. 

In Europe, the Euro zone’s State borrowings’ yields went downwards on the whole over the 
year 2018, as eagerness for safe havens tied to uprising political risks and Brexit triggered a 
leakage movement towards sure values. Inflation weakness in the region has also contributed to 
the decline in yields. The yield of the 10-year German reference bond was down from a 0.43% 
to 0.24% over the whole year. 
 

 

Graphic 1-4: Trends in 10-year American and German yields over 2018  

 
 

1-3. International foreign exchange and gold markets 
Over 2018, the US dollar firmed up against most foreign currencies, except for the Japanese yen 
which remained structurally sustained by its safe haven status, the surplus of the Japanese 
current balance and political stability. 
The dollar won thus about 4.5% against the euro, moving from 1,2005 USD for one euro in the 
beginning of the year to 1,1467 USD for one euro at the end of the year, while the dollar/yen 
foreign exchange rate closed for 2018 at 109,69 after having set out with 112.63. 
Generally speaking, the dollar took profit from the positive growth and interest rate gaps 
compared with the other main foreign currencies, as well as from the trade tensions between the 
United States and China. The ensuing protectionist threats led to the volatility of several 
emerging countries’ currencies and were profitable to the dollar which played the role of a safe 
currency. 
The euro was penalised by both investors’ distrust in the Italian debt and the very pronounced 
economic and financial difficulties in Turkey, which revealed the vulnerability of several 
European banks. The increasingly reduced chances for the ECB to give up its quantitative 
easing policy have also weakened the euro. 
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Graphic 1-5: Trends in the EUR/USD and the USD/JPY foreign exchange rates over 2018 

 
 

As for gold, it came short to expectations as it hardly took advantage, over 2018, of its safe 
haven status, despite stock exchange markets’ setbacks and trade tensions worldwide. After 
having started the year at the price of about 1,300 $ per ounce, gold closed for 2018 at 1,282 $, 
posting thus a slight drop of about 1.5%. This virtual stability of gold is mainly attributable to 
the dollar’s firming up, bearing in mind the negative correlation between the prices of these two 
values. 

1-4. Commodity prices        14/05/2019 
Marked by a sustained increase over the first months of 2018, in the wake of economic activity 
dynamism, the international prices of most commodities eased up somehow over the second 
half of the considered year. In fact, resurgent concerns, mostly about the rise of trade tensions 
between China and the United States, monetary policies’ tightening and the US dollar’s 
depreciation have weighted down on international demand. 

In total, most commodity prices indexes set by the World Bank rose over 2018, notably for 
energy with a 27.8% progress against 23.7% in 2017 and metals although at a significantly 
slower pace than a year before (5.5% vs. 24.2%). As for the foodstuff prices index, it went 
slightly upwards (0.3% vs. 0.6%), mainly in the wake of the drop in oil seeds, while chemical 
fertilizers index recovered (11.1% vs. -4.5%). 
 

 

Graphic 1-6: Trend in commodity prices indexes 

Source: World Bank Commodity Prices 
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1-4-1 Foodstuff 
World foodstuff prices went through contrasting trends over 2018. In fact, the prices of main 
vegetable oils went downwards in line with their profuse stocks, along with better harvest levels 
for the 2017-2018 campaign, while the ones of cereals increased following adverse weather in 
producing countries. 

Thus, as per the latest estimates of the United Nations’ Food and Agriculture Organization 
(FAO), world cereal production should come to 2,611 million tonnes, over the 2018-2019 
campaign, down by 1.8% compared to the record level reached over the previous season. Thus, 
the world cereal stocks should come to 772 million tonnes at the closure of the current 
campaign, down by 5.6% compared to the previous season. 

Against this backdrop of shrinking supply, international wheat prices posted 210 dollars per 
tonne in 2018, on average, rising strongly compared to 2017 (20.5% vs. 4.5%), in line with the 
expected shrinking of the world production of wheat (728 million tonnes against 760 million for 
the 2017-2018 campaign), following adverse weather, notably drought in the United States, as 
well as the weak demand from the European Union, Russia and Australia. Worth of note that 
the narrowing prospects of supply in South America along with the tightening of Russia’s 
availabilities for export contributed to exacerbating pressure on prices over the second half of 
the year. 
 

 

Graphic 1-7: Monthly trends in world prices of wheat                                                         (In dollars/tonne) 

 
Source: World Bank Commodity Prices 

 

Likewise, international prices for rice were supported by high levels recorded over the first half, 
closing for 2018 on an average increase of 5.5%. Nonetheless, this trend should not hide the 
downward trend registered by rice prices starting from July 2018, following the exceptional 
harvests from South-East Asia. In fact, the world production of rice should reach a new record 
level of 514 million tonnes for the 2018-2019 campaign, up by 1.6% compared to the one of 
2017-2018. World stocks of this product should firm up by 2.8%, reaching 177.5 million tonnes. 

As for the world production of secondary cereals, it went downward by 23.4 million tonnes in 
2018, posting about 1,369 million tonnes, in line with adverse weather conditions especially in 
Argentina and the substitution of corn farming by soya in Brazil, aside from the reduction of 
planted areas in South Africa. Hence, production regression faced up with a boosted 
international demand exerted a certain pressure on these products’ world prices, particularly, a 
6.4% increase in corn prices, on average, against a drop by 2.9% in 2017. 

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

January February March April May June July August September October November December

2017 

2018 

        2016 



International environment 
 

Annual Report 2018 19 
 

As for vegetable oils, most of them went downwards over 2018, especially for palm oil  
(-10.6%) and soybean oil (-7.2%), and to a lesser degree, groundnut oil (-1%), in line with 
world demand weakness, notably the European one, and the comfortable level of stocks in the 
main producing countries thanks to good harvests in Argentina, India and the United States. 

Concerning olive oil, world production recovered significantly by 29.4% with respect to the 
agricultural campaign 2017-2018 against a drop by 19.4% in the previous campaign, reaching 
3,314 million tonnes, for a world consumption of 3,009 million tonnes, rising by 10.4% 
compared to the previous campaign. The strongest increase was registered in Tunisia with  
280 thousand tonnes, up by 180% compared to the previous year. Turkey has also experienced a 
good season with a production of 263 thousand tonnes. Thus, the increase in the world 
production of olive oil at a faster pace than the one of consumption favoured an easing of prices 
in the main producing countries, at the end of the campaign, except for Italy with an increase of 
5% against a drop in prices by 27% in Spain and by 16% in Greece. 

For the 2018-2019 campaign, the International Olive Oil Council expects a shrinking in the world 
production of olive oil by 5.5%, which may put pressure on prices upwards if consumption 
continues to rise at the same pace as the one of the 2017-2018 campaign. 

In their turn, international prices of coffee continued to decline at a more accentuated pace (-12% 
vs. -8% in 2017), in the wake, notably, of the record harvest in Brazil, first world producer, along 
with the depreciation of the Brazilian real. 

World prices for sugar also went downwards over the second half of 2018, closing for December 
on a downturn by 4.3%, reflecting the surplus position of the international market of sugar. 
 

Table 1-3: Average prices of foodstuff                                                                                  (In dollars/tonne) 

Products Places of quotation 
Averages for the period Variation in % 

Dec. 
2018 

Year 
2018 Q1-2019 Dec.2018 

Dec.2017 
2018 
2017 

Q1-2019 
Q1-2018 

Wheat Gulf Ports U.S. 211 210 212 14.8 20.5 10.1 
Corn Gulf Ports U.S. 167 164 167 12.4 6.4 2.3 
Rice Thailand 404 421 408 -0.5 5.5 -5.6 
Oil :       
 .Soybean Dutch Ports 728 789 757 -16.1 -7.2 -11.0 
 .Palm Malaysia 535 639 587 -20.4 -10.6 -16.9 
 .Groundnut Europe 1,435 1,446 1373 -5.0 -1.0 -4.2 
Sugar Brazil 370 386 370 -4.3 4.6 -7.5 
Coffee New York 2,800 2,925 2,798 -7.6 -12.0 -7.1 
Tea Sri Lanka 3,180 3,610 3,293 -22.6 -10.9 -19.1 

Source: World Bank commodity prices 
 

Concerning the year 2019, the World Bank forecasts account for a slight increase in the prices 
of most foodstuff, following mainly, the higher input cots, notably energy and fertilizers. 

1-4-2 Industrial raw materials 
Both the dollar's appreciation and the upsurge of trade tensions affected international demand 
for industrial raw materials, mainly the one of China, favouring thus a decrease in most of these 
products’ world prices starting from the second half of 2018. Therefore, over the year as a 
whole, international prices of most industrial raw materials slowed down remarkably, notably 
cotton and metals, except for lead, while phosphate continued to drop. 

Hence, world prices of cotton rose by 9.2% on average in 2018 against 12.6% a year before, 
posting 2,013 dollars per tonne. Worth to be mentioned that cotton prices reached, in June of the 
same year, their highest level since 2012: 2,150 dollars per tonne, following its cultivation 
shrinking, mainly in the United States, in favour of other cultivations such as corn, soya and 
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wheat, besides the lower volume of stocks in Asian countries, mainly in China. However, prices 
declined, over the last months of 2018, due to economic activity slowdown, along with the 
lower use of cotton, notably in China, Turkey and Pakistan. 

On the other hand, and according to the International Cotton Advisory Committee (ICAC), the 
harvest of fabric should drop over the 2018-2019 campaign, down to 26.1 million tonnes: less 
by 2% than in 2017-2018 but the impact on prices will depend on the trend in demand. 
 

Table 1-4: average prices of industrial raw materials                                                            (In dollars/tonne) 

Products Places of quotation 

Averages 
for the period Variation in % 

Dec. 
2018 Year 2018 Q1-2019 Dec.2018 

Dec.2017 
2018 
2017 

Q1-2019 
Q1-2018 

Cotton Liverpool 1,900 2,013 1,817 0.9 9.2 -9.0 

Natural rubber Singapore 1,437 1,565 1,656 -12.9 -21.6 -4.5 

Copper London 6,075 6,530 6,226 -11.1 5.8 -10.5 

Tin London 19,260 20,145 21,038 -1.1 0.4 -0.7 

Zinc London 2,616 2,922 2,709 -18.1 1.1 -20.7 

Lead London 1,972 2,240 2,035 -21.4 -3.2 -19.2 

Phosphate Casablanca 99 88 101 24.0 -2.0 22.8 

Source: World Bank Commodity Prices 
 

Likewise, the prices of most metals slowed down remarkably compared to the previous year, in 
the wake notably of the decrease in demand from China, which accounts for about half of the 
world demand for metals, in line with the downturn of its economy, the new environment 
regulation in this country, as well as its trade tensions with the United States. In fact, this 
deceleration was mainly relevant to tin (0.4% vs. 11.9%), zinc (1.1% vs. 38.3%) and copper 
(5.8% vs. 26.7% in 2017).  

Yet, world prices of lead went downwards in line with the increase in its world production, 
along with a slower activity pace in the building and automobile sectors. 

As for international phosphate prices, they carried on with the drop initiated since 2016, before 
recovering slightly over the last quarter of 2018. In fact, the world market was overfed by new 
capacities from Morocco which possesses more than 70% of the world phosphate reserves, and 
Saudi Arabia with discovery of new reserves. In this context of affluence, world prices for 
phosphate decreased by 2% on average in 2018. This drop is undoubtedly less rapid than the 
one recorded a year before (-20.1%). 
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Graphic 1-8: Monthly trends in world phosphate prices                                                             (In dollars/tonne) 

Source: The World Bank Commodity Prices 
 

 

International prices for metals should stabilise, over 2019, as per the World Bank forecasts, in 
line with the expected slowdown of the world economy and the possible exacerbation of trade 
tensions. 

1-4-3 Crude oil 
The international market of oil was marked, over 2018, by a significant increase in prices over 
the first ten months of the year, coming to high levels and even to an annual record, over 
October, of about 80 dollars for the barrel of Brent and 70 dollars for the US light. This 
happened before the outset, over the two last months of the year, of a sharp drop phase driven 
by world demand weakness tied to economic activity slowdown and the deepening of trade 
tensions between the United States and China. 

Fuel prices’ rocketing is particularly attributable to the agreement on oil production limitation 
between the members of the Organisation of Petrol-exporting Countries (OPEC) and its allies, 
notably Russia, in addition to the political turmoil in certain OPEC member countries such as 
Venezuela, Libya and Nigeria, as well as the resumption of American sanctions against Iran. 

Hence, over the whole year 2018, the barrel of Brent’s average price rose by 30.7%, reaching 
71.07 dollars, while the one of the US light grew by 27.3%, posting 64.82 dollars per barrel, 
bearing in mind that these prices closed for December of the same year on a slide from 12.1% 
and 15.5%, respectively to 56.46 dollars and 48.95 dollars. 

In this context, and in order to stamp out this drop in prices, OPEC member and non-member 
countries (notably Russia) decided, in the beginning of December, to reduce their production by 
1.2 million barrel per day, starting from January 2019. Hence, the lasted forecasts of the World 
Bank account for a consolidation of fuel prices in 2019, posting 74 dollars per barrel against a 
backdrop marked by a probably persisting volatility, in line with the uncertainty about the trend 
in demand and trade tensions’ intensification. 
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Table 1-5: Trend in crude oil average prices on the international market                                (In dollars/barrel) 

Description 2016 2017 2018 Q1- 
2018 

Q1- 
2019 

Variations in % 
2017 
2016 

2018 
2017 

Q1-2019 
Q1-2018 

Brent 44.05 54.39 71.07 67.0 63.3 23.5 30.7 -5.5 
US light 43.19 50.91 64.82 62.9 54.9 17.9 27.3 -12.7 

Source: The World Bank Commodity Prices 
 

 

 

Graphic 1-9: Monthly trend in world Brent prices                                                          (In dollars/barrel) 

 
Source: The World Bank Commodity Prices 
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 Chapter 2 – National economic 
and financial environment 

26/06/2019 

10/07/2017 
2-1. Overview 
The national economy’s recovery initiated in 2017 was confirmed in 2018, with a growth rate 
rising from 1.9% to 2.5%, from one year to the next, driven by agriculture and tourism. 
However, pressure on global balances exacerbated, notably, at the external sector and inflation 
level. 

In fact, growth took profit from an exceptional olive for oil harvest and a firmed up activity in 
market services, particularly tourism. However, the industrial sector’s growth continues to 
suffer from the shortfall due to the weak production of fuel and phosphate and by-products, two 
major foreign currency-providing sectors, as well as the deceleration of industrial activity in the 
Euro Zone, affecting Tunisia’s exports of main manufacturing industries. 

As for demand, growth was mainly driven by domestic demand despite the weak trend of public 
consumption at constant prices (0.3% in 2017 and 2018) and private consumption slowdown 
(2.1% vs. 2.4%) with a share that remains significant in GDP. As for the gross fixed capital 
formation (GFCF), it firmed up at both current prices (7.9% vs. 4.4%) and constant prices (2% 
vs. 0.3%), while the investment rate continued to fall, down from 18.8% to 18.5% of GDP, from 
one year to the next. Concurrently, the savings rate, which remains flat compared to historical 
averages and levels recorded in competitor countries, posted a virtual stagnation (9% of GNDI 
against 8.9% in 2017). This meant a widening of the financing gap between investment and 
savings. 

On the other hand, the external sector was marked by a worsening of the balance of current 
operations’ deficit, reaching a record of 11.1% of GDP against 10.2% in 2017. The positive 
trend in tourist receipts (+46.3%) and in the transfers of Tunisians living abroad (+10.1%) have 
offset only partially the worsening trade balance deficit, attributable, mainly, to the energy 
balance’s deficit. The latter widened by 53% in the wake of the higher world prices of fuel, 
along with the lower volume of national energy resources, against the ongoing upward trend of 
demand. 

As a consequence, net assets in foreign currency continued to dwindle in terms of days of 
import (84 days at the end of 2018 against 93 days a year before), although they progressed in 
terms of nominal value. Hence, pressure continued on the dinar’s foreign exchange rate which 
depreciated, on average in 2018, by 12.9%, against the euro and by 8.6% against the dollar. In 
this context of larger financing needs, amplified by an important foreign exchange effect, the 
outstanding balance of external debt went up, from 63.7% to 72.9% of GNDI, from one year to 
the next. 

As for public finances’ situation, it improved thanks to the increase in core resources, in line 
with a better tax collection and the measures stipulated in 2018 Finance Law, besides a certain 
monitoring of expenditure excluding equalisation ones which reached 4.6% of GDP, following 
the increase in oil prices. Thus, the budget deficit decreased to 4.8% of GDP against 6.1% in 
2017. 
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As for the job market, job creation was not enough to absorb the high unemployment level, the 
overall rate of which stood at 15.5%. Particularly for higher education graduates, and 
notwithstanding a slight drop, the unemployment rate is still worrisome (28.8% vs. 29.9%). 

As regards inflation, calculated on the basis of variation of the consumer prices index base 100 
in 2015, it posted 7.3% on average in 2018 against 5.3% in 2017. This acceleration bears the 
mark of multiple supply shocks, of which notably, the ones tied to tax measures, such as raising 
VAT rates, the adjustment upwards of prices at the pump, following the increase in the 
international prices of energy, along with the effect of the dinar’s depreciation against main 
foreign currencies. 

Concurrently, banks’ needs for liquidity followed an upward trend, coming to an average of  
16 billion dinars in December 2018 against less than 11 billion over the same month of 2017, 
reflecting the banking system’s increasing needs for foreign currency, in line with the current 
deficit’s worsening, and to a lesser degree, the Treasury’s recourse to domestic resources 
mobilisation to cover the budget deficit. 

Faced up with this situation, jeopardising the national economy’s stability and competitiveness, 
the Central Bank of Tunisia has tightened its monetary policy, notably by raising the key 
interest rate twice, in March and June 2018. In addition, the issuing institute introduced, in 
November, a new macro-prudential measure (the credit /deposit ratio), which contributes to 
monitoring trends in bank loans, and consumption as a result and implemented, in December of 
the same year, a new refinancing operation over 6 months to channel funds towards productive 
activities. 

For the year 2019, the first months were marked by persisting inflationary pressure which led 
to a new raising, in February, of the key interest rate, reaching 7.75%, so as to prevent against a 
slippage of inflation and ensure the conditions for a stabilised economy and the resumption of a 
sound and sustainable growth. Thus, a growth rate of 2.7% is expected for this year; in line with 
maintaining of the tourist activity’s momentum, the progress made by exporting manufacturing 
industries and recovery of the extracting activity. This would contribute to curbing the current 
deficit within more sustainable levels. Concurrently, the budgetary consolidation effort would 
help to continue monitoring the budget deficit and public indebtedness which would come to 
3.9% and 70.9% of GDP, respectively. 
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Table 2-1: Trend in main Tunisian economy indicators                            (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2016 2017 2018 2019* 
Variation in % 

2018 
2017 

2019* 
2018 

Accounts of the Nation 
-GDP growth in previous year prices 1.1 1.9 2.5 2.7   
  *Agriculture & fishing -8.5 2.0 9.8 0.5   
  *Agriculture and fishing excluded 2.2 1.9 1.8 3.3   
-GDP (in current prices) 89,792 96,325 105,535 115,866 9.6 9.8 
-Gross national disposable income (GNDI) 91,489 98,359 107,521 117,827 9.3 9.6 
-GNDI per capita (in dinars) 8,093 8,602 9,308 10,089 8.2 8.4 
-Overall consumption 82,885 89,628 97,854 107,292 9.2 9.6 
  *Public consumption 18,400 20,114 21,736 24,064 8.1 10.7 
  *Private consumption 64,485 69,514 76,118 83,228 9.5 9.3 
-Average propensity to consume (consump./GNDI) in 
%1 90.6 91.1 91.0 91.1 -0.1 0.1 

-Gross national savings 8,604 8,731 9,667 10,535 10.7 9.0 
-National savings rate (in % of GNDI)1 9.4 8.9 9.0 8.9 0.1 -0.1 
-Gross fixed capital formation (GFCF) 17,366 18,139 19,566 21,417 7.9 9.5 
-Investment rate (in % of GDP)1 19.3 18.8 18.5 18.5 -0.3 0.0 
Prices  
-Consumer price index (base 100 in 2015) 103.6 109.1 117.1  7.3  
        . Foodstuff and beverages 102.7 108.5 116.4  7.2  
        . Other than food products and services 104.0 109.4 117.4   7.3  
Employment 
- Created jobs (in thousand jobs) 34.7 43.3 27.6   -36.3  
-Unemployment rate in %1 15.5 15.5 15.5   0.0  
External payments 
-Rate of coverage (exports/imports in %)1 69.8 68.8 68.3  -0.5   
-Balance of trade deficit (FOB/CIF) 12,601 15,592 19,049  22.2   
-Tourist receipts 2,373 2,831 4,141  46.3   
-Worker remittances 3,912 4,574 5,035  10.1   
- Current deficit2 7,935 9,870 11,722  1,852  
 . In % of GDP1 8.8 10.2 11.1  0.9  
-Net capital inflows 2  6,793 9,868 13,375  3,507   
-Balance of the general balance of payments2 -1,142 -2 1,653  1,655   
-External debt service ratio (in % of current receipts)1 10.9 14.2 11.6  -2.6   
-Rate of external indebtedness (in % of GNDI)1 54.1 63.7 72.9  9.2  
Public finances 
-Tax burden (in % of GDP)1 20.8 22.0 23.2 23.2 1.2 0.0 
-Equipment and loan granting expenditure 5,692 5,855 6,141 6,270 4.9 2.1 
-Budget deficit in % of GDP1/3 6.1 6.1 4.8 3.9 -1.3 -0.9 
Monetary indicators4 
- M3 aggregate 66,883 74,484 79,409   11.4 6.6 
  .Liquidity rate of the economy (M3/GDP) in %1 71,0 72,0 72,3   1.0 0.3 
-Net claims abroad2 -949 -2,385 -4,114   -1,436 -1,729 
 of which : .Net assets in foreign currency2 12,935 12,885 13,974   -50 1,089 
 .In days of import5 112 93 84   -19 -9 
-Net claims on the State2 17,127 19,939 20,805   2,812 866 
-Financing of the economy 72,473 81,648 89,215   12.7 9.3 

 Sources: Central Bank of Tunisia, Ministry of Finance & the 
National Statistics Institute (INS) 

*Forecasts 
1 Variations in percentage points.  4 Financial system. 
2 Variations in MTD.  5 Variations expressed in days. 
3 Exclusive of debt amortisation, income from privatisation and grants. 
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2-2. Sectorial analysis of economic growth  25/06/2019 
Profiting from a good agricultural season and the progress made by market services, economic 
growth improved, up from 1.9% in 2017 to 2.5% in 2018. As for industrial activity, it continued 
to be affected by the lower production of fuel, mining, phosphate and by-products. 

In fact, the agriculture and fishing sector’s added value made a 9.8% progress, tied mainly to 
the exceptional increase in oil production which reached 1.6 million tonnes of olive for oil over 
the 2017-2018 season, corresponding to 325 thousand tonnes of oil against 100 thousand in the 
previous campaign. This increase offset the drop in the national production of cereals which was 
limited to 13.7 million quintals against 16.1 million for the 2016-2017 season. In total, this 
sector contributed by 0.9 percentage point to economic growth against 0.2 point in 2017. 

In their turn, manufacturing industries, pursued their weak evolution (0.6% vs. 0.5% in 2017), 
attributable mainly to the collapse of phosphate by-products’ production. On the opposite, 
certain manufacturing activities did well, notably agro-food industries (+4.1%) in favour of an 
important rise in olive oil production and to a lesser degree, the textile, clothing and leather 
industries (+1.2%) and mechanical and electrical ones (+1.6%), despite a certain slowdown 
reflecting the Euro Zone’s weak demand. 

As for non-manufacturing industries’ added value, it carried on with its downward trend, albeit 
at a less accentuated pace than the one of 2017: -1.2% against -3.4%. This trend concerned 
notably, the fuel branch’s added value (-2.9% vs. -12.3%), following the decline of natural gas 
production to 1763 kilotonnes of oil equivalent (Ktoe), against 1850 Ktoe in 2017 and  
2728 Ktoe in 2010, and a virtual stagnation of crude oil production which totalled 1824 thousand 
tonnes, corresponding to about the half of its 2010 level. This shrinking stems mainly from the 
natural dry-off of oil fields’ resources and technical malfunctions at the level of certain wells. 
Likewise, the mining sector’s added value, affected by social unrest on production sites, shrunk by 
12.9%. Thus, crude phosphate production collapsed by 15.6% after a certain improvement in 2016 
and 2017, down to 3.3 million tonnes: a level below the 8.1 million tonnes recorded in 2010. 

In line with these trends, the industrial production general index fell by 0.5% in 2018 against 
-0.9% a year earlier. This trend is attributable to production shrinking in the chemical industries 
sector (-8.6%), the energy products extraction (-2.7%) and non-energy products extraction  
(-13.1%) ones. 

As regards market services, they continued to move forward, taking advantage of a significant 
improvement of the hotels, coffee and restaurants sector, and concurrently, of transport, 
corresponding to 8.9% and 3.6% respectively. The evolution of financial services (5.2%), as 
well as telecommunications (2.1%) also sustained growth in the tertiary sector, the added value 
of which grew by 3.2% against 4.5% in 2017, corresponding to a contribution to growth by  
1.3 percentage points against 1.8 points a year before. 

At the level of the tourist sector, receipts in foreign currency made a 46.3% progress (29.4% 
excluding the foreign exchange effect), exceeding 4 billion dinars. This confirms the recovery 
initiated in 2017, in line with activity firming up which involved 6.9 million tourists against  
5.7 million in 2017 and bednights rising from 22 million to 27 million from one year to the next. 
This improvement is particularly attributable to the comeback of traditional European markets 
which have fallen since 2015. Thus, European tourists took up 16.8 million bednights against 
11.4 million in 2017 and should progressively resume the levels recorded in 2010:  
29.4 million bednights. 

Non-market services, which posted exceptional growth rates starting from 2011, grew at a 
moderate pace for the second year in a row: 0.3% after 0.7% in 2017. Their shares in current 
GDP, which was 15.6% in 2010, starts to stabilise, down from 19.6% to 19.3%, from one year 
to the next. 
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Table 2-2: Trend in the added value by sector of activity in real terms and contributions to economic 
growth  

Description 
Added value growth  

(in %) 

Contribution to economic 
growth 

(in percentage points) 
2017 2018 2019* 2017 2018 2019* 

Agriculture and fishing  2.0 9.8 0.5 0.2 0.9 0.1 
Industry -1.0 0.0 3.1 -0.2 0.0 0.7 
 Manufacturing industries 0.5 0.6 2.2 0.1 0.1 0.3 
  of which :           
  -Agricultural industries & foodstuff 0.9 4.1 2.5 0.0 0.1 0.1 
  -Building materials, ceramics and glass industries -5.4 -1.5 1.2 -0.1 0.0 0.0 
  -Mechanical & electrical industries 3.6 1.6 2.9 0.2 0.1 0.1 
  -Textile, clothing, leather & footwear industries 0.3 1.2 3.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 
  -Chemical industries -2.2 -8.4 -2.7 0.0 -0.1 0.0 
Non-manufacturing industries -3.4 -1.2 4.6 -0.3 -0.1 0.4 
  of which :           
  -Mining 10.3 -12.9 10.0 0.1 -0.1 0.0 
  -Oil and natural gas -12.3 -2.9 5.3 -0.3 -0.1 0.2 
Market services 4.5 3.2 3.8 1.8 1.3 1.6 
  of which :           
  -Trade 1.0 1.0 2.8 0.1 0.1 0.3 
  -Transport 7.1 3.6 4.8 0.5 0.3 0.3 
  -Communications 1.1 2.1 2.5 0.0 0.1 0.1 
  -Tourism 8.3 8.9 7.8 0.3 0.4 0.3 
  -Financial organisations 14.0 5.2 3.8 0.6 0.2 0.2 
Non-market services 0.7 0.3 0.4 0.1 0.1 0.1 
GDP at market price 1.9 2.5 2.7 1.9 2.5 2.7 

   Sources: National Statistics Institute, The Ministry of Development, 
Investment and International Cooperation. 

*Forecasts 
 

Forecasts for the year 2019 account for an economic growth of 2.7% based on an 
improvement of most sectors excluding the one of agriculture and fishing. The expected 
slowdown of the primary sector’s growth, in line with a remarkably poorer agricultural season 
than in 2018, will be offset by the ongoing upturn of market services and a recovery of the 
industrial sector, particularly fuel and mining, phosphate and by-products. 

2-3. Global demand  25/06/2019 
Economic growth for 2018 was mainly driven by domestic demand which rose by 2% at 
constant prices against 1.7% a year before, bringing its contribution to growth from  
1.8 percentage point to 2.3 points, from one year to the next. This trend is attributable to 
investment progress and consumption increase in spite of a certain deceleration. As for external 
demand’s contribution to growth, it amounted to 0.3 percentage point against 0.1 point in 2017, 
reflecting the growth of exports of goods and services in volume, as well as of imports, to a 
lesser degree. 
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Graphic 2-1: Contributions of different global demand components to economic growth 

 *Forecasts                                                             Source: BCT calculations based on data of the Ministry of 
Development, Investment and International Cooperation. 

 

2-3-1 Domestic demand 
The analysis of domestic demand by component over 2018, shows the ongoing slowdown of 
national final consumption, which grew by 1.7% in constant terms against 1.9% in 2017 and 
an average of about 3.8% between 2011 and 2016, reducing its contribution to growth to  
1.5 percentage point against 1.8 point and an average of 3.2 points, respectively.  

At current prices, consumption grew by 9.2%, maintaining the average propensity to consume at 
a high level: 91% of the gross national disposable income (GNDI) against 91.1% in 2017. 

Private consumption which accounts for about 78% of overall consumption posted a weak 
growth at constant prices for the second year in a row: 2.1% against 2.4% in 2017, whereas it 
grew by 9.5% against 7.8% at current prices. This trend is due to the economic activity 
downturn and a persisting unemployment at high levels, along with a sustained increase in 
consumer prices levels.  

As for public consumption, it continued to slow down at current prices (8.1 % vs. 9.3% in 
2017) and grew weakly at constant prices (0.3% in 2018, corresponding to the same rate as the 
previous year). This reflects public expenditure rationalisation notably operating expenses 
which rose by 10.5% against 16.3% in 2017. Accounting for 62.4% of the above-said 
expenditure and 14% of GDP, public remunerations grew by 3% against 9% in 2017, while 
equalisation expenditure progressed significantly by 40.3%, with a share of 20.7% in operating 
expenses and 4.6% of GDP. 

As regards gross fixed capital formation (GFCF), it made a 7.9% progress at current prices 
against 4.4% in 2017. Taking account of stock variation, investment grew by 15.6% against 
12.5% a year before. At constant prices, GFCF improved slightly (2% against 0.3% in 2017). 
However, the investment rate continued to drop, down from 18.8% to 18.5% of GDP, from one 
year to the next. 

The investment situation reflects, notably, private investment’s weak dynamism, despite a better 
security environment and a gradual renewal of confidence in the national economy, as shown by 
the 28.6% progress in foreign direct investment flows over 2018 against 12.1% in 2017, 
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accounting for 2.6% of GDP against 3.4% in 2010. On the other hand, the State’s capital 
expenditure made a weak 3.7% progress, coming to 5.6% of GDP against 5.9% of GDP in 2017 
and 6.8% in 2010. 

2-3-2 External demand 
Exports of goods and services speeded up in current terms (20.4% vs. 17.4% in 2017) as well 
as in constant terms (5.7% vs. 4.6%). This trend is notably attributable to the increase in sales of 
the agriculture and agrofood industries sector which enjoyed a good olive for oil harvest, and 
the ones of manufacturing industries, as well as the improvement of services receipts, in line 
with the tourist activity’s and air transport’s recovery. However, exports were affected by both 
the drop in energy and phosphate and by-products production and the decrease in the volume of 
sales of mechanical and electrical industries, in line with the deceleration of demand from the 
Euro Zone. 

As for Imports of goods and services, they made a 19.5% progress at current prices and 4% at 
constant prices against 18.7% and 3.5% respectively in 2017. This increase is mainly 
attributable to the one in the energy sector following the combined effects of the increase in 
international fuel prices, the depreciation of the dinar’s foreign exchange rate and the sustained 
rise in demand for energy against the ongoing decline of national production. 
 

 

Table 2-3: Trend in resources and uses at previous year prices                                                           (In %) 
Description 2016 2017 2018 2019* 

GDP at market prices 1.1 1.9 2.5 2.7 
Imports of goods and services 2.8 3.5 4.0 -1.7 
Total resources = total uses 1.7 2.5 3.0 1.0 
Final consumption 2.9 1.9 1.7 1.7 
  - Public 2.5 0.3 0.3 0.1 
  - Private 3.1 2.4 2.1 2.2 
GFCF 1.1 0.3 2.0 3.7 
Domestic demand 2.2 1.7 2.0 1.3 
Exports of goods and services 0.2 4.6 5.7 0.2 
* Forecasts.   Source: Ministry of Development, Investment and International Cooperation 
 

 

For the year 2019, the economic budget accounts for an improvement of economic growth 
based on a slight increase in the investment rate, the support of export efforts concurrently with 
a curbing of imports progress and a stabilisation of consumption, both public and private. 

2-4. Structure and financing of investments  25/06/2019 

2-4-1 Structure of investments 

The gross fixed capital formation (GFCF) went upwards, over 2018, by 7.9%, at current prices, 
against 4.4% in the previous year, amounting to 19,566 MTD. This trend is attributable to the 
progress made by investments in all sectors, excluding community facilities, notably non-
manufacturing industries (33.1% vs. 1.2% in 2017), agriculture and fishing (22.9% vs. -1.4%), 
manufacturing industries (8.6% vs. 14.5%), and to a lesser degree, services (4.9% vs. 3.2%). 

As a consequence, the share in overall GFCF firmed up for non-manufacturing industries 
(18.7% vs. 15.2%), particularly energy, building and civil engineering, as well for agriculture 
and fishing (7.8% vs. 6.9%). On the opposite, the share of commodity facilities’ investments 
dropped by 3.2 percentage points, coming to 13.3%, while the one of services declined by  
1.3 percentage point, to 48.5%, reflecting the drop in the trade and miscellaneous services 
branch, as well as the one of hotels, coffee and restaurants. As for the manufacturing industries’ 
contribution to total investments, it stood virtually at 11.7% 
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Table 2-4: Trends in gross fixed capital formation by sector of activity                              (in current prices) 
 

Description 
Value in MTD Variation in % Structure in % 

2017 2018 2019* 2018 
2017 

2019* 
2018 2017 2018 2019* 

Agriculture and fishing 1,245 1,530 1,700 22.9 11.1 6.9 7.8 7.9 
Industry 4,855 5,946 6,732 22.5 13.2 26.8 30.4 31.4 
 - Non manufacturing industries 2,754 3,665 4,200 33.1 14.6 15.2 18.7 19.6 
 - Manufacturing industries 2,101 2,281 2,532 8.6 11.0 11.6 11.7 11.8 
Market services 9,038 9,480 10,185 4.9 7.4 49.8 48.5 47.6 
Community facilities 3,001 2,610 2,800 -13.0 7.3 16.5 13.3 12.9 

Total 18,139 19,566 21,417 7.9 9.5 100 100.0 100.0 
* Forecasts.                                               Source: Ministry of Development, Investment and International Cooperation 
 

 

2-4-2 Financing of investments 
National savings rose by 10.7% in 2018 against 1.5% a year before, bringing the savings rate to 
9% of GNDI against an investment rate of 18.5% of GDP. Hence, the financing gap between 
investment and savings widened, posting 9.4% of GDP and 11.1%, taking account of stocks 
variation. 
 

Table 2-5: Domestic financing of investments                                          (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2016 2017 2018 2019* 
Variation in % 
2018 
2017 

2019 
2018 

Global GFCF 17,367 18,139 19,566 21,417 7.9 9.5 
  - In % of GDP 19.3 18.8 18.5 18.5     
Stocks variation -827 463 1,944 1,698   
Total financing needs 
  (GFCF + stock variation) 16,540 18,601 21,510 23,115 15.6 7.5 
National savings 8,604 8,731 9,667 10,535 10.7 9.0 
  - In % of GNDI 9.4 8.9 9.0 8.9   
Domestic financing rate         
- National savings/GFCF (in %) 49.5 48.1 49.4 49.2     
- National savings/total financing needs (in %) 52.0 46.9 44.9 45.6     
* Forecasts.                                               Source: Ministry of Development, Investment and International Cooperation 
 

Trends in savings over 2018 reflects a better economic growth against a certain drop in the 
external sector’s net contribution. In fact, the surplus balance of factor income and current 
transfers, which accounts for about 22% of national savings, dropped by 4.7%, in line with the 
increase in expenditure of transfers of income from foreign investments as well as of debt 
interests, despite the 10.1% increase in transfers of Tunisians living abroad, amounting to about  
5 billion dinars. 

Concerning Government savings, public finances’ consolidation in 2018 meant an improvement 
of the surplus of the State’s core resources and donations compared to current expenditure and 
debt interests. This surplus amounted to 1,464 MTD against about 200 MTD in 2017, 
corresponding to a rate of coverage of capital expenditure rising from 3.5% to 24.6% from one 
year to the next. 

On the other hand, GFCF’s domestic financing rate improved slightly (49.4% vs. 48.1% in 
2017), while the one of investment, including stocks variation, was down from 46.9% to 44.9%, 
from one year to the next. Thus, the economy’s financing needs were covered by recourse to 
external indebtedness, aside from the improvement of the balance of foreign investments. 
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For 2019, GFCF is expected to make a progress, notably in the electricity and gas, transport and 
manufacturing industries sectors. Concurrently, investment and savings sales as well as 
domestic financing of investment rate are expected to stand at low levels, close to the ones of 
2018. 

2-5. Job market and wages 09/07/2019 
Economic growth weakness, the persisting macro-economic imbalances and the delay in 
implementing strategic structural reforms did not help, over 2018, to meet the main challenge 
which Tunisia has been facing up for several years, namely the absorption of a high structural 
unemployment. In fact, the unemployment rate has been 15.5% since 2016, corresponding to 
about 645 thousand job seekers. This rate is more relevant to higher education graduates, 
constituting the most vulnerable category with an unemployment rate of 28.8% in 2018. Women 
are facing more difficulties than men to be integrated in job market with an unemployment rate 
of 22.9% against 12.5% for men. 

Moreover, the inadequacy between job seekers’ educational background and companies’ needs 
remain the main factor of unemployment persistence, aside from the weakness of net job 
creation which did not exceed 27.6 thousand job positions, accounting for just 4.3% of the total 
number of job seekers. 

Hence, and given the high unemployment level, two active labour market programmes have 
been implemented by the Government for several years in order to resolve this problem. The 
first one is devoted to training and integration of job seekers in working life. The second one 
aims at promoting independent work. These different programmes are characterized by a wide 
range of tools which target, basically, the reduction of young people’s (between 15 and 24 
years) unemployment rate which came to 33.4% in 2018. 

Nonetheless, this persisting high unemployment rate requires deeper reforms of the job market, 
notably the business climate’s improvement, establishment of an incentive legal framework for 
private initiative, simplifying the measures and approaches which encourage the transition from 
the informal sector to the formal one, aside from improving the industrial and logistical 
infrastructure, which is likely to offset regional disparities. It is also essential to further focus on 
improving the quality of both education and the learning system.  

Overall, active employment policies should target, more particularly, young graduates, women 
and other deprived areas where the unemployment rate reached worrisome levels. It is within 
this framework that a new National Employment Strategy should be launched on 30 June 2019 
and will span the 2020-2030 period. It aims at adapting both higher education graduates and 
professional training ones to the evolution of the job market needs by means of a set of 
programmes, accompanying mechanisms and budgets for which private initiative impetus is a 
priority. 

2-5-1 Job Market 
Since 2010, the Tunisian economy has been suffering from a serious problem as regards its job 
creation capacity given the moderate pace of economic growth. In fact, annual job creation 
collapsed from about 70 thousand jobs, on average per year, between 2000 and 2010, to about  
29 thousand jobs per year between, 2011 and 2018. Thus, and despite economic activity recovery 
in 2018, with a growth rate of 2.5% against 1.9% a year before, net job creation decelerated 
significantly, down from about 43 thousand job positions in 2017 to about 28 thousand jobs, in the 
following year. By sector of activity, job losses exacerbated in the agricultural sector  
(-14.2 thousand jobs against -12.2 thousand in 2017), the activity of which seems increasingly 
oriented towards less labour-intensive farming. As for net job creation in manufacturing 
industries, they were limited to 8.7 thousand jobs (against 19 thousands a year before), posting a 
slowdown, in line notably with job losses in agrofood industries (-1.7 thousand against  
3.7 thousand jobs), and their deceleration in mechanical and electrical industries (4 thousand 
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against 6.4 thousand, despite their firming up in the textile, clothing and leather industries  
(9.1 thousand against 4.5 thousand jobs). Likewise, employment progress in non-manufacturing 
industries went downwards (8.8 thousand against 17.1 thousand jobs), with a strong focus on 
building and public works (8.9 thousand vs. 20.7 thousand jobs). As for services, job creation 
came to 10.7 thousand jobs against 32.1 thousand in 2017, following mainly, job losses in trade  
(-7.8 thousand vs. 5.6 thousand), and in administrative services (-5.6 thousand vs. 2.9 thousand), 
while job creation firmed up in the tourist sector (17.3 thousand vs. 15.5 thousand). 
 

 

Table 2-6: Net job creation                                                                                                                    (In thousands) 

Description 2015 2016 2017 2018 
Agriculture and fishing  -11.6 0.9 -12.2 -14.2 
Mining and energy -6.5 4.8 -3.6 -0.1 
Construction and civil engineering 2.4 13.5 20.7 8.9 
Manufacturing industries -1.6 -7.0 19.0 8.7 
Transport and communications  -10.6 0.5 -0.9 4.4 
Tourism -21.5 8.7 15.5 17.3 
Other market services 40.1 13.2 1.9 8.2 
Public service -2.4 0.1 2.9 -5.6 

Total -11.7 34.7 43.3 27.6 
Source: National Statistics Institute 

 

At another level, the regional disparities that marked unemployment breakdown persisted over 
2018. In fact, the North East and Centre-East district continued to record the weakest 
unemployment rates (9.7% and 10% respectively), while the South-East and South-West areas 
recorded the highest unemployment rates (23.9% and 26.3% respectively). By gender, the 
unemployment rate of men and the one of women stagnated, over 2018, from one year to the 
next (12.5% and 22.9% respectively). Disparities are even more noticeable at the level of higher 
education graduates, the rate of whom went downwards, on the whole (28.8% vs. 29.9% in 
2017), reaching 38.8% for women and 17.2% for men. 
 

Table: 2-7: Main job indicators                                                           (In thousands unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Variation 
in % 

2017 
2016 

2018 
2017 

- Working age, 15 years and more 8,530 8,639 8,745 8,834 1.2 1.0 
- Total active population 4,021 4,069 4,119 4,153 1.2 0.8 
- Global activity rate (in %) 47.1 47.1 47.1 47.0   
- Employed Labour force 3,402 3,437 3,480 3,508 1.3 0.8 
- Employment rate (in %) 39.9 39.8 39.8 39.7   
- Job creation -11.7 34.7 43.3 27.6 24.8 -36.3 
- Unemployed workforce* 619 633 639 645 0.9 0.9 
- Global unemployment rate (in %)* 15.4 15.5 15.5 15.5   
of which :       
Unemployment rate among higher education graduates  
(in %)* 31.2 31.6 29.9 28.8   

*As per norms of the International Job Bureau.                                                          Source: National Statistics Institute 
 

 

As for demographic trends over 2018, working age population (15 years and more) grew by 1%, 
slightly down compared to the previous year, reaching 8.8 million people. Both the overall 
activity rate and the employment rate stood virtually, over the same year, at 47% and 39.7% 
respectively. As for the number of unemployed workforce, 645 thousand, it grew at virtually the 
same pace as the one of active population, while higher education graduates’ unemployment 
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went downwards (261.1 thousand vs. 264.1 thousand), notably for holders of senior technician 
diploma or equivalent (53.7 thousand vs. 58.7 thousand) and graduates in pure sciences  
(75.2 thousand vs. 82.9 thousand), while the number of other jobless graduates (in medicine, 
pharmacy, engineering, and holders of the Master’s degree) increased (49.2 thousand against  
42 thousand). 
 

 

Graphic 2-2: Trend in some indicators relative to the job market 

Source: National Statistics Institute 
 

2-5-2 Salaries 
In order to preserve wage earners’ purchasing power, negotiations between the government and 
its social partners were undertaken, over 2018, and led to legal salary increases in both the 
public and private sectors. Thus, the guaranteed minimum inter-professional wage (SMIG) was 
raised by 6% for the 48-hour per week regime and by 5.8% for the 40-hour one, up to  
378.560 dinars and 323.439 dinars per month respectively. 

Likewise, the guaranteed minimum daily agricultural wage (SMAG) was raised by  
824 millimes, up to 14.560 dinars per day. Besides, specialized and qualified agricultural 
labourers will benefit from a premium worth 776 millimes and 1,460 millimes, respectively. 

On the other hand, salary increase conventions were concluded over September and October 
2018 in the private and public sectors, respectively, and in February 2019 for the civil service. 

For the private sector, the agreement consists in an increase by 6.5% which will enter into force 
starting from May 2018, and an increase with an equivalent rate starting from May 2019. 

Concerning the public sector, negotiations led to a salary increase ranging from 65 to 90 dinars 
according to categories with a retroactive effect as of May 2018 and an increase by the same 
amount starting from 1 January 2019 and 2020. 

For the civil service agents, category A1 and A2 employees should benefit from an increase in 
three tranches. The first one of which amounts to 90 dinars as of December 2018, 40 dinars in 
July 2019 and 50 dinars in January 2020, corresponding to a total of 180 dinars, in order to 
avoid pressure on public finances. Likewise, for the A3 category employees, an increase by  
80 dinars would be applicable as of December 2018, by 40 dinars in July 2019 and by 50 dinars 
in January 2020, corresponding to a total of 170 dinars. As far as the employees of B and C 
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categories, the increase is worth 75 dinars starting from December 2018, 35 dinars in July 2019 
and 45 dinars in January 2020, corresponding to 155 dinars in total. Labourers of the civil 
service will have a salary increase of 70 dinars starting from December 2018, 30 dinars in July 
2019 and 35 dinars in January 2020, corresponding to 135 dinars in total. 
 

 

Table 2-8: Trends in minimum legal salaries                                      (In dinars unless otherwise indicated) 

Description May 
2014 

November 
2015* 

June 
2017 

August 
2018 

Variation in % 

June 2017 
Nov .2015 

Aug.2018 
June 2017 

Guaranteed minimum inter-professional 
wage (SMIG)       

 -Hourly SMIG (in millimes)       

. 48-hr / week 1,538 1,625 1,717 1,820 5.7 6.0 

. 40-hr / week 1,584 1,671 1,763 1,866 5.5 5.8 

-Monthly SMIG       

. 48-hr / week 319.904 338.000 357.136 378.560 5.7 6.0 

. 40-hr / week 274.559 289.639 305.586 323.439 5.5 5.8 
Guaranteed minimum daily agricultural 
wage (SMAG) 12.304 13.000 13.736 14.560 5.7 6.0 

Source: Official Journal of the Tunisian Republic 
 

Worth of note that a 6.5% increase in both the SMIG and SMAG, starting from May 2019, was 
decreed on the occasion of the 2019 international labour day. This increase should pass on to the 
private sector’s retirement pensions, reporting to the National Social Security Fund and building 
sites’ workers. 

2-6 Public finances1        09/07/2019 
Public finances management was characterized, over 2018, by ongoing budget consolidation 
reforms helping to raise new tax resources and better orient public expenditure. In fact, the 
measures adopted within the framework of the 2018 finance law aim, basically, at rebalancing 
the State budget’s structure by improving soundness of the tax system and State’s core 
resources’ collection, intensifying the fight against informal economy and tax evasion, as well 
as rationalising current expenditure notably the one of remuneration and the subsidies system. 
Worth to be reminded that these measures are part of the 2016-2020 national programme of 
major reforms which aim particularly at reducing the budgetary deficit and the wage bill 
compared to GDP. 

Therefore, the year 2018 ended up with a sharp drop in the budget deficit, reaching 4.8% of 
GDP against 6.1% a year before. 

2-6-1 State budget resources 
Over 2018, the State budget’s total resources continued to grow at an important pace: 10.1% or 
3,454 MTD compared to 2017, reaching 37,746 MTD. This trend is notably attributable to the 
sound performance of tax and non-tax receipts, despite the shrinking of borrowing and treasury 
resources. 

As a consequence, resources structure was characterized by core resources’ predominance with 
a share of 74% of total in 2018 against 69.7% in the previous year, helping thus to reduce 
recourse to borrowing, the contribution of which declined by 4.8%, in compliance with the 
target of bringing the indebtedness rate to a sustainable level. 

                                                           
1 Source: Ministry of Finance 
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Table 2-9: State budget balance                                                                 (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2017 2018* 2019** 
Variation in % 
2018 
2017 

2019 
2018 

Core resources and grants 23,891.4 27,942.3 30,719.0 17.0 9.9 
Tax receipts  21,186.5 24,503.3 27,080.0 15.7 10.5 
Non-tax receipts  2,704.9 3,439.0 3,639.0 27.1 5.8 
Borrowing and treasury resources 10,400.1 9,803.5 10,142.0 -5.7 3.5 
Total resources 34,291.5 37,745.8 40,861.0 10.1 8.3 
Expenditure excluding debt principal 29,546.2 32,619.2 34,691.0 10.4 6.4 
- Operating expenditure 21,432.0 23,680.0 25,284.0 10.5 6.8 
- Debt interests 2,259.6 2,798.2 3,137.0 23.8 12.1 
- Capital expenditure and net loans of the Treasury 5,854.6 6,141.0 6,270.0 4.9 2.1 
Debt amortization 4,745.3 5,126.6 6,170.0 8.0 20.4 
Total Expenditure 34,291.5 37,745.8 40,861.0 10.1 8.3 
Primary balance excluding privatization and  grants -3,727.1 -2,252.0 -1,375.0   
In % of GDP -3.8 -2.1 -1.2   
Budget balance excluding privatization and grants -5,986.7 -5,050.2 -4,512.0   
In % of GDP -6.1 -4.8 -3.9   
*Provisional figures 
**Forecasts 
 

2-6-1-1 Core resources and grants 
Tax receipts went upwards by 15.7% in 2018, posting 24,503 MTD. This upward trend 
emanates mainly from the increase in direct taxes (5.9%), in line with the establishment of new 
tax measures such as the social solidarity contribution intended to financing social security 
funds. 

However, this increase was counterbalanced by renewal of the «tax credit» facility applied since 
2017 with respect to all the civil service’s salary increases, on the one hand, and the absence of 
renewal of the Exceptional Conjunctural Contribution, on the other hand. Worth of note that this 
measure, initially instituted in 2017 is still into force for banks, insurances companies, as well as 
financial institutions except for payment ones. 

In addition, indirect levies and taxes went upwards (22.3%), following particularly, the progress 
of customs duties, in the wake of higher imports and the improvement of yield on value added 
tax (VAT) brought about by the increase in different VAT rates by one point. Thus, the tax 
burden amounted to 23.1%. 
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Table 2-10: Core resources and grants                                                       (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2017 2018 2019 
Variation in  

2018 
2017 

2019 
2018 

Tax receipts 21,186.5 24,503.3 27,080.0 15.7 10.5 
- Direct taxes 8,560.0 9,065.2 10,047.0 5.9 10.8 
*Income tax 6,204.7 6,359.1 7,003.0 2.5 10.1 
*Corporate tax 2,355.3 2,706.1 3,044.0 14.9 12.5 
- Indirect levies and taxes  12,626.5 15,438.1 17,033.0 22.3 10.3 
   of which      
 *V A T 6,092.0 7,424.8 8,303.0 21.9 11.8 
 *Consumer duties 2,492.9 2,863.6 3,214.0 14.9 12.2 
Non-tax receipts 2,704.9 3,439.0 3,639.0 27.1 5.8 
of which      
*Gas royalty  555.1 605.4 515.0 9.1 -14.9 
* Income from shareholding  261.8 631.5 879.0 141.2 39.2 
*Privatization grants, and confiscated income 331.9 373.3 540.0 12.5 44.7 
Core resources and grants 23,891.4 27,942.3 30,719.0 17.0 9.9 

Source: Ministry of Finance 
 

As for non-tax receipts, their trend speeded up significantly over 2018: 27.1% against 6.4% in 
the previous year. This progress was backed by the increase in income from shareholdings 
which evolved at a considerably slower pace than a year before: 141 % in line with 
budgetisation of Central Bank of Tunisia’s profits, followed by ETAP. 

For 2019, forecasts account for a 5.8% increase in non-tax receipts, notably in the wake of 
better income from shareholdings, grants and oil revenues, despite an expected regression in 
receipts of royalties on the pipeline carrying the Algerian gas towards Italy via Tunisia. 

2-6-1-2- Borrowing resources  
The budgetary deficit’s improvement had a positive impact on recourse to borrowing resources 
which regressed by 5.7%, posting 9,804 MTD, against 10,400 MTD a year before. 

This is the same for external borrowings which collapsed by 15.3% over 2018, down from 
8,338 MTD to 7,063 MTD, from one year to the next. 

On the opposite, the Treasury moved towards an intensified recourse to domestic borrowing 
resources by 25% against a 15.3% decline in external financing. 

In fact, the recourse to drawings on external resources reached 6,233.4 MTD, 1685.8 MTD of 
which were raised on the international capital market. The remaining part (4,547.6 MTD) 
corresponds to the different multilateral budgetary support programmes concluded with the IMF 
as well as with the World Bank and the European Union. 

As for indebtedness on the domestic market, it was constituted by bonds equivalent to Treasury 
bonds, up to 69% of the overall package of domestic borrowings. 
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Table 2-11: Borrowings, and treasury resources                                       (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2017 2018 2019 
Variation in % 
2018 
2017 

2019 
2018 

Domestic borrowings 1,946.8 2,433.1 2,350.0 25.0 -3.4 
- 52-week Treasury bonds 89.2 26.6 100 -70.2 275.9 
- Bonds  equivalent to Treasury bonds  1,857.6 1,670.2 2,250.0 -10.1 34.7 
- Others  0.0 736.3 0.0 
External Borrowings 8,337.6 7,063.4 7,792 .0 -15.3 10.3 
- Budgeted drawings 7,433.6 6,233.4 0.0 -16.1 
- Earmarked external borrowings 673.0 705.0 568.9 4.8 -19.3 
External loans retroceded to public enterprises   231.0 125.0 120.0 -45.9 -4.0 
Borrowed resources 10,284.4 9,496.5 10,142.0 -7.7 6.8 
-Treasury resources 115.7 307.0 0.0 165.3 
Total 10,400.1 9,803.5 10,142.0 -5.7 3.5 

Source: Ministry of Finance 
 

 

2-6-2- State budget expenditure 
The Central Government’s overall expenditure decelerated over 2018, down from 17% in 2017 
to 10.1% posting 37,746 MTD. This level remains, however, largely beyond the one provided 
for by the initial finance law. This trend emanates, mainly, from the significant increase in the 
debt service and salary and wage increases in the civil services, aside from measures of a social 
nature taken on behalf of needy families, as well as those related to equalisation, notably for 
basic consumer products and fuel. 
 

2-6-2-1 Expenditure excluding the debt service 
Expenditure excluding the debt service decelerated over 2018: 9.3% against 13.2% in the 
previous year, reaching 29,821 MTD.  
 

 

Table 2-12: Expenditure excluding the debt service                                  (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2017 2018 2019 
Variation in %  

2018 
2017 

2019 
2018 

Operating expenditure  21,432.0 23,680.0 25,284.0 10.5 6.8 
of which  
Salaries and wages  14,352.0 14,776.0 16,516.0 3.0 11.8 
Equalisation 3,492.2 4,900.0 4,350.0 40.3 -11.2 
     * Commodities 1,494.0 1,750.0 1,800.0 17.1 2.9 
     * Fuel 1,550.0 2,700.0 2,100.0 74.2 -22.2 
     *Transport 448.2 450.0 450.0 0.4 0.0 
Capital expenditure  5,729.6 5,943.0 6,150.0 3.7 3.5 
of which :  
Direct investments 2,570.3 2,792.0 2,563.0 8.6 -8.2 
Public financing 1,826.8 1,717.0 1,967.0 -6.0 14.6 
Net Treasury Loans 125.0 198.0 120.0 58.4 -39.4 

Total 27,286.6 29,821.0 31,554.0 9.3 5.8 
Source: Ministry of Finance 
 

Concerning operating expenditures, they grew by 10.5% in 2018, reaching 23,680 MTD. This 
trend is attributable to the increase in wages and salaries affected by the combined effect of the 
renewal of «Tax credit» facility with respect to all salary increases for 2018 and the 
establishment of the early retirement programme, as provided for by law n° 2017-51 of 28 June 
2017 for the civil servants who would reach the retirement age over the January 2018-31 
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December 2020 period. Likewise, the rise of equalisation expenditure contributed to the 
increase in the afore-said expenses. 

In fact, the Government’s wage bill increased, over 2018, by 3%, up to 14,776 MTD, 
corresponding to 14% of GDP. This level is still high and does not help neither to shift 
expenditure towards investment nor to reduce indebtedness. 

Equalisation expenditure which is ranked second in the use of budget resources continues to 
grow at a sustained pace, notably for fuel, posting 4,900 MTD. Expenditure with respect to the 
equalisation of basic products and transport increased at the respective rates of 17.1% and 0.4%. 

On the other hand, and despite the ongoing reform in energy subsidies which revolve around 
several axes (prices adjustments, cost monitoring…), the fuel equalisation expenditure went 
significantly upwards by 74.2%. 

In this context, a strategic approach helping to establish a programme to rationalise equalisation 
expenditure turns out to be necessary in order to better target the population in question and 
yield the budgetary resources likely to help increase public investments so as to support growth 
and job creation. 

For the year 2019, forecasts account for a deceleration of operating expenditure: 6.8%, the 
structure of which would be characterized by the ongoing increase in the wage bill. The latter 
should, however, be slightly offset by shrinking equalisation expenditure notably the one of 
fuel. 

As for capital expenditure, it accounted for 15.7% of overall expenses in 2018 and 27.6% of 
overall investment, recording thus a 3.7% increase, up to 5,943 MTD. Worth to be mentioned 
that the implementation rate of these expenses was beyond 0.8 percentage point compared to the 
2018 supplementary finance law’s anticipations. Worth of note that expenditure which is part of 
the State budget was dominated by social expenses (43.8%), public services expenses (33.5%) 
and economy-related expenses (23%). 

For the year 2019, the package allotted to capital expenditure should reach 6,150 MTD or about 
27% of investment, up by 3.5% compared to the amount achieved a year before. 

2-6-2-2 Debt service 
Expenditure allotted to debt reimbursement decelerated over 2018: 13.1% against 34.7% a year 
before, involving an amount of about 7,924.8 MTD: 21% of the State budget. This trend means 
a strong progress made by the domestic debt service which was partly offset by a decline in 
external debt reimbursement. 
 

 

Table 2-13: Debt service                                                                           (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2017 2018 2019 
Variation in % 

2018 
2017 

2019 
2018 

Domestic debt 2,384.4 3,396.7 2,908.0 42.5 -14.4 
Principal  1,128.8 1,880.5 1,310.0 66.6 -30.3 
Interests 1,255.6 1,516.2 1,598.0 20.8 5.4 
External debt 4,620.5 4,528.1 6,399.0 -2.0 41.3 
Principal  3,616.5 3,246.1 4,860.0 -10.2 49.7 
Interests 1,004.0 1,282.0 1,539.0 27.7 20.0 
Total 7,004.9 7,924.8 9,307.0 13.1 17.4 
Principal 4,745.3 5,126.6 6,170.0 8.0 20.4 
Interests 2,259.6 2,798.2 3,137.0 23.8 12.1 
Source: Ministry of Finance 

For the year 2019, the debt service should rise by 17.4%, posting 9,307 MTD with a drop in 
domestic debt-related expenditure. 
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2-6-3 Financing the budget deficit and trends in the outstanding balance of public 
debt 
The firming up of the State’s core resources over 2018, along with expenditure monitoring 
helped to reduce the budgetary deficit, the level of which excluding privatisation and grants 
dropped, from 6.1% to 4.8% of GDP, from one year to the next. The financing of this deficit 
was ensured by both domestic (2,433.1 MTD) and external (3,817.3 MTD) borrowings, as well 
as by mobilisation of treasury resources, receipts from privatisation and grants. 
 

Table 2-14: Financing of the budget deficit                                                            (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2017 2018 2019 
Variation in % 
2018 
2017 

2019 
2018 

Net domestic financing 933.7 859.6 1,040.0 -7.9 21.0 
Domestic borrowings (+) 1,946.8 2,433.1 2,350.0 25.0 -3.4 
Reimbursements (-)  -1,128.8 -1,880.5 -1,310.0 66.6 -30.3 
Treasury resources (+) 115.7 307.0 0.0 165.3 
Net external financing  4,721.1 3,817.3 2,932.0 -19.1 -23.2 
External borrowings (+) 8,337.6 7,063.4 7,792.0 -15.3 10.3 
Reimbursement (-) -3,616.5 -3,246.1 -4,860.0 -10.2 49.7 
Privatization grants and confiscated income  331.9 373.3 540.0 12.5 44.7 
Source: Ministry of Finance 
 

 

The public indebtedness rate pursued its upward trend, rising by 6.5 percentage points, up to 
76.7% against 70.2% in 2017. This increase is mainly due to the dinar’s depreciation against 
main lenders’ currencies. 
The structure of the outstanding balance of public debt shows a consolidation of the share of 
external debt, up from 69% to 74%, from one year to the next. By donors, this debt stems, up to 
36.6% from the international capital market, 50.4% from multilateral cooperation and 13% from 
bilateral cooperation. By foreign currency, the structure of the outstanding balance of debt is 
still marked by the euro’s dominance (52.1%), then the dollar (30.8%) and the Japanese yen 
(11.2%). 
 

 

Table 2-15: Outstanding balance of public debt                                        (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 
2017 2018 2019 

In MTD In % 
of total In MTD In % 

of total In MTD In % 
of total 

 Domestic debt 20,997.3 31 21,131.7 26 23,490.0 28.3 
In % of GDP 21.7    19.9    20.1    
 External debt 46,832.7 69 60,213.5 74 59,400.0 71.7 
In % of GDP 48.5    56.8    50.8    
Total 67,830.0 100 81,345.2 100 82,890.0 100 
In % of GDP 70.2 76.7 70.9   
Source: Ministry of Finance 
 

 

For 2019, forecasts account for a budget deficit excluding privatization and grants of 3.9%. 
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2-7. Total indebtedness       10/07/2019 

In an international environment marked by a modest economic activity recovery and the effort 
made by the State to reduce its budget deficit, total indebtedness1 grew at a decelerated pace in 
2018. However, its level remains relatively high, following mainly the energy prices increase, 
the Tunisian dinar’s depreciation against other main foreign currencies and the current deficit 
widening. 

As a corollary to these developments, mobilization of both domestic and external resources to 
ensure financing of the economy has been felt, as shown by the deceleration in total 
indebtedness growth pace, the rate of which went down from 17.8% in 2017 to 13.8% in 2018. 
This slowdown results, mainly, from that of domestic indebtedness (7.7% in 2018 vs. 13.1% in 
2017) and to a lesser extent from external indebtedness (24.8% during the considered year 
against 27.5% in 2017).  

This decline affected indebtedness of both State and other non-financial economic agents, the 
growth pace of which decreased from 23.7% and 13.9% in 2017 to 18.7% and 10.2%, 
respectively, in 2018. 
 

 

Table 2-16: Trends in total indebtedness                                             (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2016 2017 2018 
Variation in % 

2016 
2015 

2017 
2016 

2018 
2017 

Domestic indebtedness (DI) 89,430  101,158 108,980 11.0 13.1 7.7 
- State 20,557 23,441 24,155 15.8 14.0 3.0 
- Other non-financial economic agents 68,873 77,717 84,825 9.6 12.8 9.1 

 From the financial system 85,887   97,566 105,533 11.3 13.6 8.2 
- State   17,127 19,939 20,805 18.6 16.4 4.3 
- Other non-financial economic agents 68,760 77,627 84,728 9.6 12.9 9.1 

- On capital markets 3,543 3,592 3,447 3.4 1.4 -4.0 
- State 3,430 3,502 3,350 3.3 2.1 -4.3 
Other non-financial economic agents 113 90 97 5.6 -20.4 7.8 

* Money market 23   15  15  9.5 -34.8 0.0 
- State 0 0 0 - - - 
- Other non-financial economic agents 23 15 15 9.5 -34.8 0.0 

* Bond market 3,520 3,577 3,432 3.3 1.6 -4.0 
- State 3,430 3,502 3,350 3.3 2.1 -4.3 
- Other non-financial economic agents 90 75 82 4.7 -16.7 9.3 

External indebtedness (EI) 43,678 55,671 69,486 19.9 27.5   24.8 
- State * 32,905 42,702 54,341 20.2 29.8 27.3 
- Other non-financial economic agents 10,773 12,969 15,145 19.1 20.4 16.8 

Total indebtedness (TI) 133,108 156,829 178,466 13.8 17.8 13.8 
- State ** 53,462 66,143 78,496 18.5 23.7 18.7 
- Other non-financial economic agents 79,646 90,686 99,970 10.8 13.9 10.2 

Sources: BCT, Capital Market Council (CMF) and Ministry of Development, Investment and International Cooperation. 
(*)The State’s external indebtedness including non-residents’ subscriptions to Treasury bonds. 
(**) End of period stocks including State resources held in its accounts at the BCT and used by the Treasury. 
 

 

On the other hand, the share of external indebtedness in total indebtedness continued to 
increase, up from 29% in 2011 to 35.5% in 2017 and 39% in 2018, at the expanse of financing 
on domestic markets which is getting scarcer and scarcer, mainly due to the lack of liquidity and 

                                                           
1 As a wide financing aggregate, total indebtedness (TI) encompasses all loans (traditional loans or issues 
on monetary and/or bond markets) obtained by resident non-financial economic agents, including the 
State, whether owed to residents or non-residents. Financing in the form of capital securities issues or 
boosted core funds is excluded from TI. 
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the capital market’s exiguity. This external indebtedness soaring, has mainly affected the State 
as the most important resource-mobilizing non-financial economic agent. 

2-7-1 Domestic indebtedness  

The deceleration of all economic agents’ domestic indebtedness in 2018 (7.7% against 13.1% in 
2017), results from the combined effect of the slower financing granted by the financial system 
(8.2% vs. 13.6%) which takes up more than 97% of total financing, and the decline of the one 
on capital markets (-4% vs. +1.4%) which remains very marginal, due to the requirements and 
access conditions deemed very rigorous on this market.  

In fact, domestic indebtedness of other non-financial economic agents from the financial 
system, evolved at a less sustained pace during the considered period: 9.1% vs. 12.9% in 2017, 
due mainly to the slower growth rate of the portfolio-discount at banks. It is worth noting that 
this deceleration would have been more important, had it not been for the increase in the 
outstanding balance of fixed assets as well as the current account receivable. 

The other non-financial economic agents’ recourse to capital markets recovered slightly over 
2018 (+7.8% vs. -20.4% in 2017), following, on the one hand, a weak package in loss of inter-
corporate financing on the money market, and on the other hand, a modest resumption of 
recourse to financing on the bond market (+9.3% vs. -16.7%), where only two borrowings were 
issued on this market for 35 MTD and closed for at 21.45 MTD. 

Moreover, the State’s domestic indebtedness from the financial system as well as on capital 
markets, decreased in 2018, compared to the growth rate recorded in 2017 (3% vs. 14%), under 
the combined effect of the strong deceleration of its indebtedness from the banking system 
(4.3% vs. 16.4%) and the drop of its recourse to the capital market (-4.3% vs. +2.1%). In fact, 
although the State intensified its Treasury bonds issues in comparison with the ones issued a 
year before (3,186 MTD vs. 1,952 MTD), reimbursements in this regard during the same period 
were quite important (2,844 MTD vs. 813 MTD in 2017), yielding thus, net positive 
subscriptions of 342 MTD and 1,139 MTD, respectively. 
 

 

Graphic 2-3: Trend in total indebtedness by 
financing origin 

Graphic 2-4: : Trend in internal indebtedness 
by financing source 
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2-7-2 External indebtedness  

In 2018, external indebtedness, posted a slight deceleration (24.8% against 27.5% in 2017) 
reflecting a slower pace in that of the State (27.3% vs. 29.8% in 2017) and in a higher 
proportion the external indebtedness of other non-financial economic agents (16.8% vs. 20.4% a 
year before), the scope of which is not very significant since it only represents about 22% of this 
indebtedness category’s total against 78% for the State.  

It is worth noting that in spite of the important external resources package mobilized in 2018, 
notably through the encashment of the debenture loan issued on the international capital market 
in October 2018, loans granted by the IBRD, ADB, AMF and the tranches of the IMF loan in 
the framework of the Extended Fund Facility, reimbursements of the external debt services were 
of a much bigger scope (9,000 MTD against 6,700 MTD a year before).  
 

 

Graphic 2-5: Trend in external indebtedness by economic agent  

 

 

Although the State gave foreigners and/or non-residents the possibility to subscribe up to a 
maximum of 20% of the overall indicative amount of the bi-annual BTA issues, this investment 
category does not seem to attract the afore-mentioned investors as shown by the insignificant 
subscribed amounts in the past and their absence from this market over 2018.  

The external indebtedness of other non-financial economic agents grew during the considered 
period at a less sustained pace than the one recorded in 2017, corresponding to 16.8% against 
20.4% in the previous year. The non-financial economic agents other than the State that had 
recourse to external financing are mainly the STEG and ETAP. 

2-7-3 Main financing indicators  

The total indebtedness ratio compared to GDP at current prices pursued its upward trend over 
2018, up by 6.3% percentage points, posting 169.1% against 162.8% in 2017. This resumption 
reflects the increase in the external indebtedness ratio, which went up from 57.8% to 65.8%, 
from one year to the next. However, the domestic indebtedness ratio decreased over the same 
period, down from 105% to 103.3%.  

Coming to 64.6% at the end of 2018, the external indebtedness ratio grew by 8 percentage 
points compared to GNDI, resulting from the external indebtedness’ evolution at a much more 
accelerated pace than the one of GNDI in current prices. 

Hence, the level of this ratio has so far remained within sustainable proportions, giving room to 
the State for resorting, if need be, to external indebtedness to finance its budget with respect to 
2019. 
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Table 2-17: Trend in main financing indicators                                        (In % unless otherwise indicated) 
Description 2016 2017 2018 

Total indebtedness/GDP in current prices 148.2 162.8 169.1 
 *State 59.5 68.7 74.4 
 *Other non-financial economic agents 88.7 94.1 94.7 
 Domestic indebtedness/GDP 99.6 105.0 103.3 
 *State 22.9 24.3 22.9 
 *Other non-financial economic agents 76.7 80.7 80.4 
 External indebtedness/GDP 48.6 57.8 65.8 
 *State 36.6 44.3 51.5 
 *Other non-financial economic agents 12.0 13.5 14.3 
State domestic indebtedness/Domestic indebtedness 23.0 23.2 22.2 
Domestic indebtedness of other non-financial economic agents/Domestic 
indebtedness 77.0 76.8 77.8 

External indebtedness /GNDI 47.7 56.6 64.6 
GDP in current prices (in MTD) 89,792 96,325 105,535 
GNDI in current prices (in MTD) 91,489 98,359 107,521 
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Chapter 3 – External payments 
22/07/2019 
06/07/2018 

3-1. Balance of payments 
Despite premises of a stamping out of the negative spiral affecting certain economic activities, the 
external sector continued, over 2018, to be a real source of concern. The vulnerable improvement of 
economic growth, driven mainly by the good performance of the agriculture and tourism sectors, 
was not enough to redress the alarming imbalance of current payments, the balance of which was 
ceaselessly plummeting over the previous years. Investment weakness and the energy bill’s 
explosion were the main causes of exports’ stagnated progress pace and imports’ soaring. 

This is how the current deficit reached a historically high level of 11.7 billion dinars in 2018, 
corresponding to 11.1% of GDP, attributable to deterioration of the balance of trade balance, which 
worsened by about 22% over a year, reaching an outstanding deficit of 19 billion dinars. 
Notwithstanding the decline of the food deficit, in favour of a cyclical increase in olive oil exports, 
the trade imbalance is mainly attributable to the energy balance widening, the contribution to deficit 
of which reached more than 60%, based on the recrudescence of international prices for energy 
products and dwindling of national production of crude oil. Above all, the drop in phosphate 
production led by persisting unrest on production and transport sites has further accentuated the 
shortfall of this sector’s exports. However, the trade balances’ slippage was covered, albeit timidly, 
by firmed up tourist receipts which resumed their past level, culminating to more than 4.1 billion 
dinars. This is an undeniable sign of a sustainable recovery of a sector which has been damaged for a 
long time following the terrorist attacks committed in the country after the revolution. Consolidation 
of the transfers of Tunisians living abroad, with receipts of more than 5 billion dinars over 2018, 
helped to ease up pressure on current payments. 
 

 

Graphic 3-1: Trends in the main balances of the balance of payments 
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On the other hand, the firming up of net capital inflows, which posted 11.8 billion dinars in 2018, up 
by 33.4% compared to 2017, helped to widely cover the current balance deficit, owing to the 
significant rise of the surplus balance of loan-borrowing capitals and FDI inflows. 

As a consequence, the general balance of the balance of payments shifted into a positive territory, 
with a net surplus of 1,653 million dinars, helping to boost the level of assets in foreign currency to 
13,974 million dinars or 84 days of imports. 
 

 

Table 3-1: Main balances of the balance of external payments                     (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Current payments -7,369 -7,552 -7,935 -9,870 -11,722 

 Current deficit/GDP (in %) -9.1 -8.9 -8.8   -10.2 -11.1 

 Goods (FOB-FOB) -11,324 -9,867 -10,323 -12,841 -15,747 

 Services 2,448 594 687 739 1,897 

 Factor income & current transfers 1,507 1,721 1,701 2,232 2,128 

In capital and financial operations  8,739 8,132 6,329 8,880 11,847 

 Capital transactions 510 441 204 445 340 

 Foreign investments 1,862 2,203 1,215 1,807 2,509 

 Other investments 6,367 5,488 4,910 6,628 8,998 

Adjustment operations (net flows) 225 202 464 988 1,528 

General balance  1,595 782 -1,142 -2 1,653 

Net assets in foreign currency 13,097 14,102 12,935 12,885 13,974 

In days of import 112 128 112 93 84 
 
 

3-1-1 Current Balance 

The balance of current payments yielded a deficit of 11,722 MTD over 2018, corresponding to 
11.1% of GDP (against -9,870 MTD and 10.2%, respectively, a year before). This result is 
attributable to the trade deficit (FOB/FOB)’s widening by 2,906 MTD or 22.6%, reaching about 
15.8 billion dinars in 2018. As for the balance of services, it yielded a surplus which improved 
significantly, to reach 1,897 MTD in 2018 against 739 MTD a year before. The surplus balance of 
factor income and current transfers shrunk by 104 MTD, posting 2,128 MTD in 2018. 

Moreover, the rate of coverage of the trade deficit by tourist receipts and worker remittances 
grew slightly, posting 48.2% in 2018 (against 47.5% in 2017), largely below the one recorded in 
2010: 78%. This drop is mainly attributable to the sustained progress of imports over the 
previous years. 
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Graphic 3-2: Trend in the coverage rate of the trade deficit (FOB-CIF) by tourist receipts and transfers of 
Tunisians working abroad  

 
 

For the year 2019 as a whole, BCT forecasts account for a current deficit which should ease up 
compared to 2018 (-10.3% of GDP against -11.1% in 2018). This situation would be sustained 
by the progress of exports of goods and services at a more pronounced pace than the one of 
imports (+11.1% and +8.8% respectively). In particular, tourist receipts’ indicators should 
continue to perform, notably for receipts which should rise by more than 25%. On the other 
hand, receipts from worker remittances should follow the same trend growing at a more 
sustained pace than the one of 2018 (+11.1%). As for external financing, it should be further 
consolidated over 2019 in line with intensified drawings on medium and long term borrowing 
capitals, the expected level of which should exceed 12 billion dinars. Following these trends, net 
assets in foreign currency would post more than three months of import. 

3-1-1-1 Trade balance 
The trade balance further deteriorated over 2018, yielding thus a (FOB/CIF) deficit which 
widened by 3,457 MTD or 22.2%, posting 19 billion dinars or 17.9% of GDP, corresponding to 
a record that has never been reached before. This widening is due to imports’ progress at a pace 
exceeding the one of exports (+20% and +19.1% respectively). The rate of coverage dropped, as 
a result, by 0.5 percentage point, coming to 68.3%. 
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Graphic 3-3: Trends in trade (2008-2018) 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Table 3-2: Main foreign trade indicators                                                   (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

FOB exports  28,406.7 27,607.2 29,145.6 34,426.6 40,986.2 

Variation in % 2.5 -2.8 5.6 18.1 19.1 

CIF imports  42,042.6 39,609.7 41,746.8 50,018.7 60,035.2 

Variation in % 6.4 -5.8 5.4 19.8 20.0 

Trade deficit (FOB-CIF) 13,635.9 12,002.5 12,601.2 15,592.1 19,049.0 

In % of GDP 16.9 14.2 14.0 16.1 17.9 

 Rate of coverage (in %) 67.6 69.7 69.8 68.8 68.3 

 Opening rate (in %) 87.2 79.4 79.0 87.7 95.6 

 Effort rate at export (in %) 35.2 32.6 32.5 35.7 38.8 

 Dependency rate (in %) 52.0 46.8 46.5 51.9 56.8 

 Penetration rate (in %) 44.5 41.0 40.8 44.7 48.1 

Source: National Statistics Institute 
 

 

On the other hand, trends in the trade balance over 2018 was mainly marked by the food balance 
deficit’s attenuation, shrinking by 854 MTD compared to 2017, down to -501 MTD thanks to 
the conjunctural expansion of exports of olive oil and dates while imports continued to progress, 
yet at a more decelerated pace than the one of 2017. As for the energy balance deficit, it 
widened substantially, moving from 4 billion dinars to 6.2 billion dinars from one year to the 
next: a worsening by 2,146 MTD or 53.2%, contributing thus by about 62% to the overall trade 
deficit widening. This situation is due to the combined effect of the increase in energy products’ 
prices on international markets (+30.7%)1, as well as the limited national crude oil production 
level over 2018 (just 38,400 barrels / day against 80,000 barrels / day in 2010)2. 
 

                                                           
1 The average price of the barrel of Brent posted 71.1 US dollars against 54.4 dollars in 2017. 
2 As per the Energy Watch’s available data. 
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Graphic 3-4: Trends in the balances of the food balance and the energy balance  

  
 

 

As regards geographical breakdown, Tunisia's overall trade deficit stems mainly from deficits 
recorded with China (-5,422 MTD), Italy (-2,890 MTD) and Turkey (-2,307 MTD). On the 
other hand, trade surpluses were mainly registered with France (+3,456 MTD) and Libya 
(+1,174 MTD). 

Sectorial breakdown of exports over 2018, shows the sound performance of the 
manufacturing industries sector’s sales (+17%) in line, notably, with the dinar’s depreciation 
mainly against the euro representing thus a factor of competitiveness. Sales of the agriculture 
and agro-food sector also continued their take-off set out since 2017. On the opposite, exports of 
the mining, phosphates and by-products sector posted a new drop, which remains however 
minimal. 

Concerning the manufacturing industries sectors, particularly exports of mechanical and 
electrical industries, they carried on their upward trend over 2018 (+14.1%), while in terms of 
volume, they posted a 0.4% drop. On the other hand, exports of textile, clothing and leather 
followed the same trend, rising by 18.6% compared to 2017. Likewise, shippings of the other 
manufacturing industries sector, which were marked by a greater diversification of exported 
products over the previous years, speeded up (+26.4% vs. +15.1% a year before), in line notably 
with the performance of plastic industries’ sales (+24.3%) and the one of paper and cardboard 
(+19.5%). 

Concurrently, sales of the agriculture and agro-food industries sector have evolved by 45.2%, 
following the increase in olive oil sales (2.1 billion dinars against 1 billion dinars in 2017), 
those of dates (+33.5%) and fishing products (+29.8%). 

On the other hand, exports of the energy sector took profit of the higher prices of energy 
products on international markets, posting thus a 13.7% increase compared to 2017, despite the 
drop in exported quantities (-19% for crude oil and -32.8% for refined products). 

As for sales of the mining, phosphates and by-products, the activity of which is still modest due 
to social unrest on production and transport sites, they declined by 2.7%, following mainly the 
decrease in DAP exports (-32.9%). 
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At the level of imports, all product groups made a progress at sustained paces. 

Particularly, purchases of energy products rose (+39.9%), in the wake of the increase in 
purchases of refined products (+47.5%) and natural gas (+41.4%), while procurements of crude 
oil stagnated despite the drop in imported quantities (-37.8%). 

Imports of foodstuff also grew significantly (+15.7%), in line mainly with the 30.2% increase in 
cereal products purchases (wheat and barley), amounting to a record level of 1.7 billion dinars. 
As for imports of sugar and vegetable oils, they dropped by 10.4% and 6.6% respectively.  

Concurrently, purchases of raw materials and semi-finished products made a 22.5% progress 
compared to 2017, in line with the ongoing increase in procurements of manufacturing 
industries the exports of which increased considerably. Imports of capital goods speeded up  
(+15.6% vs. +9.7% a year earlier), following notably the increase in acquisitions of electrical 
and mechanical machinery (+19.7%). 

Purchases of consumer goods, which continued to progress over 2018, rose by 12.5% to  
14.3 billion dinars. This trend was mainly relevant to textile and clothing products (+14.3%), 
electrical and mechanical appliances intended to consumption (+16.6%) and pharmaceutical 
products (+16.3%), while imports of private cars regressed by 2.3%. 
 

Table 3-3: Trends in trade by regime                                                        (In MTD, unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 
Variation in % 

2017 
2016 

2018 
2017 

FOB exports  28,406.7 27,607.2 29,145.6 34,426.6 40,986.2 18.1 19.1 

  General regime 9,586.8 8,773.1 7,689.1 8,715.4 11,137.0 13.3 27.8 

 Offshore regime 18,819.9 18,834.1 21,456.5 25,711.2 29,849.2 19.8 16.1 

CIF imports   42,042.6 39,609.7 41,746.8 50,018.7 60,035.2 19.8 20.0 

 General regime 30,029.0 27,794.3 28,325.5 33,905.7 40,333.4 19.7 19.0 

 Offshore regime 12,013.6 11,815.4 13,421.3 16,113.0 19,701.9 20.1 22.3 
Trade balance FOB-
CIF* -13,635.9 -12,002.5 -12,601.2 -15,592.1 -19,049.0 -2,990.9 -3,456.9 

 General regime* -20,442.2 -19,021.2 -20,636.4 -25,190.3 -29,196.4 -4,553.9 -4,006.1 

 Offshore regime* 6,806.3 7,018.7 8,035.2 9,598.2 10,147.3 1,563.0 549.1 
* Variation in MTD.                                                                                                   Source: National Statistics Institute 
 

 

Analysis of trade by regime shows the ongoing deterioration of the trade balance under the 
general regime, the deficit of which widened by 4 billion dinars, posting 29 billion dinars, 
despite the significant increase in exports (+27.8%) compared with the one of imports (+19%). 
The progress made by exports under this regime concerned, particularly, the agriculture and 
agro-food industries sector (+57.6%), and to a lesser degree, the one of manufacturing industries 
(+25.6%). At the off-shore regime level, imports progressed at a more accentuated pace than 
exports: 22.3% and 16.1% respectively. However, the trade surplus firmed up by 549 MTD, in 
line with the good performance of manufacturing industries, the sales of which increased by 
16.3%. 
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Table 3-4: Trends in trade over 2018                                                         (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Sector 
 

Trade 

Agri. and 
agrofood 
industries 

Energy 
& 

lubricant 

Mining, 
phosphates 

and by- 
products 

Textile, 
clothing, 

and 
leather 

Mecha- 
nical and 
electrical 
industries 

Other 
miscella- 

neous 
industries 

Total 

Exports at current prices 5,410.1 2,328.5 1,373.6 8,972.3 18,196.5 4,705.1 40,986.2 
Trend in % (1) 45.2 13.7 -2.7 18.6 14.1 26.4 19.1 
Trend in % (2) 42.1 -17.3 -14.2 2.6 -0.4 4.9 3.8 
Imports at current prices 6,474.6 8,507.9 1038.3 7,102.1 25,614.3 11,298.1 60,035.2 
Trend in % (1) 11.9 39.9 23.6 15.7 17.6 20.3 20.0 
Trend in % (2) 0.4 1.0 -6.5 1.0 0.1 3.6 1.1 
Trade balance at current 
prices -1,064.5 -6,179.4 335.3 1,870.2 -7,417.8 -6,593.0 -19,049.0 

(1) Variation at current prices.                                                                                   Source: National Statistics Institute 
(2) Variation at constant prices calculated according to the price indexes of the base year 2015. 
 

 

Assessed in constant prices, trade increased for exports and imports by 3.8% and 1.1% 
respectively. Moreover, the increase in prices at import at a more accentuated pace than the one 
at export (+18.7% and +14.7% respectively) led to a deterioration in terms of trade by 3.4 % 
compared to 2017. This trend concerned, particularly, the ones of mining, phosphates and by-
products (-14.2%) and agriculture and agro-food industries (-8.4%). 
 

 

Table 3-5: Trends in exports’ and imports’ price indexes by sector 

Sector 
 
Price indexes (1) 

Agri. And 
agrofood 
industries 

Energy 
& 

lubri- 
cant 

Mining. 
phosphates 

and by- 
products 

Textile. 
clothing 
&leather 

Mecha- 
nical and 
electrical 
industries 

Other  
miscella 
-neous 

industries 

Total 

XPI*               
2017 115.8 103.7 90.1 124.2 123.5 114.6 118.6 
2018 118.4 142.7 102.1 143.5 141.4 138.0 136.1 
Trend in %  (2018/2017) 2.2 37.5 13.4 15.6 14.5 20.4 14.7 
IPI*               
2017 113.1 102.4 103.6 123.5 118.1 119.1 116.1 
2018 126.2 141.8 137.0 141.5 138.8 138.2 137.8 
Trend in %  (2018/2017) 11.5 38.6 32.2 14.5 17.5 16.1 18.7 
Terms of trade *               
2017 102.4 101.3 86.9 100.5 104.6 96.2 102.2 
2018 93.8 100.6 74.6 101.5 101.9 99.8 98.8 
Trend in %  (2018/2017) -8.4 -0.7 -14.2 0.9 -2.6 3.7 -3.4 
(1) Price indexes are calculated according to the base year 2015.                             Source: National Statistics Institute 
 

On the other hand, the trend in the value of trade was negatively affected over 2018 by the 
foreign exchange and price effects, which were however offset by the volume effect which had 
a beneficial impact. 

Concerning the negative foreign exchange effect which results from the Tunisian Dinar’s 
depreciation against main settlement foreign currencies (the euro and the US dollar)1, it was 
evaluated at 1,655 MTD. The value of imports, which was in fact amplified by 6,508 MTD, 
was mainly relevant to products of the manufacturing industries sectors (+5,043 MTD) and 
energy products (+758 MTD). For exports, the foreign exchange effect had a positive impact by 
4,853 MTD, driven mainly by the mechanical and electrical industries sector (+2,263 MTD) 
                                                           
1 -12.9% and -8.6% respectively in annual variation of the annual average interbank foreign exchange 
rate. 
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and the textiles, clothing and leather one (+1,153 MTD), as well as the agriculture and agro-
food industries sector (+573 MTD). 

As for the price effect, it also had a negative impact on the trend in foreign trade over 2018, 
involving an amount worth 2,539 MTD. The increase in international prices has substantially 
amplified the purchases bill (+3,094 MTD), particularly energy products (+1,662 MTD), and to a 
lesser degree mechanical and electrical industries’ products (+937 MTD). For exports, the price 
effect was beneficial by just 555 MTD, relevant to most sectors except for the one of agriculture 
and agro-food industries, which was negatively affected by higher price (-449 MTD). 

Concerning the net positive volume effect, it was evaluated at 738 MTD, a result brought about 
by the significant progress in volume of the agriculture and agro-food industries sector’s sales 
which amounted to 1,560 MTD while the volume of imports grew by just 414 MTD in terms of 
cash. 

3-1-1-2 Balance of services  
The balance of services yielded a surplus which improved strongly, up to 1,897 MTD in 2018 
against 739 MTD a year before. This progress is mainly due to the considerable growth of the 
surplus balance of travel (+1,088 MTD), taking profit of firmed up receipts generated by the 
tourist activity over 2018. Moreover, the balance of transports yielded a deficit which shrunk 
slightly (-5.3%), affected mainly by firmed up receipts from passenger tickets. However, the 
balance of other services yielded a surplus on a decline by 10.7%, compared with its level 
recorded a year before. 

Concerning the surplus balance of travel, it improved significantly over 2018 to 2,321 MTD 
against 1,233 MTD in 2017. Related receipts evolved at a sustained pace (+46%) while related 
expenses rose by just 18.9%. 

As for receipts, the ones drained by tourist activity, main component of travel, rose significantly 
(+46.3%) reaching 4,141 MTD in 2018. Excluding the foreign exchange effect, these flows 
would have increased by 29.3%. In fact, the depreciation of the dinar’s foreign exchange rate 
against main foreign currencies constituted a quite important factor for this sector’s 
competitiveness. 

As far as non-resident entries are concerned, they progressed remarkably (+20.5%), reaching 
more than 6.9 million people at the end of 2018, 62.3% of which are from the Maghreb. Entries 
of tourists from the Maghreb evolved by 11% in 2018 and concerned particularly the Algerians 
(+9.2%) and the Libyans (+14%). Europeans’ entries made a significant progress (+42%), 
following the notable improvement of the security situation and removal of travel restrictions 
towards Tunisia by certain major partner countries. This recovery concerned virtually all 
markets, particularly traditional ones1 (+47.9%), as well as the Russian market which continues 
to preserve its position (+16.1%). 

In their turn, non-residents bednights improved by 34.9% compared with their level a year 
before, amounting to 21.2 million units in 2018. Accounting for about 80% of overall bednights, 
Europeans’ bednights grew at a more accelerated pace (+46.3% in 2018 against +19.5% in 
2017). Particularly, the ones related to traditional markets, characterized by a strong spending 
capacity, evolved by about two thirds in 2018. As for the Maghreb market, bednights rose by 
just 2.1% in 2018 compared with their 2017 level. 

  

                                                           
1 These are the four countries: France, Germany, Italy and Great Britain. 
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Graphic 3-5 :Trends in main tourist indicators 

 
 

 

As for receipts with respect to medical care, they firmed up by about the half, up to 283 MTD 
in 2018 against 192 MTD a year before. This trend was mainly sustained by the higher number 
of patients from border countries, European countries, as well as West Africa countries. This 
type of visitors considers Tunisia as a destination with a considerable comparative advantage, 
which makes the export prospects of these services highly promising. Also, its dynamics would 
help to make Tunisia a reference regional platform in this field. With developed medical 
services, world-renown competences and competing medical welfare, the Tunisian medical 
tourism is gaining ground and attracting new clients. 

As for travel-related expenses, they pursued their upward trend (+18.9%), amounting to  
2,288 MTD, in line mainly with the increase in tourism-related expenditure (+24.1%) posting 
1,374 MTD: 60% of total travel expenditure. As for expenses related to scholarships and 
internships and those related to business travel, they posted respective increases of 6.8% and 
14.6%, reaching 384 MTD and 262 MTD. Likewise, expenditure related to «Pilgrimage and 
Omra» grew by 17%, up to 242 MTD in 2018. 

As for the balance of transports’ deficit, it shrunk slightly to 871 MTD over 2018 against  
919 MTD a year before. This trend is attributable to the progress of related receipts (+27.9%) at 
a more accentuated pace than the one of expenses (+18.6%). 

As for receipts, they continued their strong record, up from 2,363 MTD in 2017 to 3,023 MTD 
over 2018, concurrently with the tourist sector’s sound performance. In particular, receipts from 
passenger tickets, which account for more than the half of total transport receipts, firmed up by 
32.9%, posting 1,533 MTD, in line with the increase in non-resident entries, notably, from 
Europe. Concurrently, receipts with respect to freight rose by 16.1%, posting 382 MTD in 2018. 
As for the gas royalty paid to the Tunisian State with respect to crossing of transcontinental 
pipelines relating Algeria to Italy, it carried on with its upward trend recorded since 2016, 
reaching 535 MTD against 437 MTD a year before. 
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Table 3-6: Trends in the gas royalty 

Year 
In cash In kind Total 

In MTD In 
MTD 

In % 
of total 

In 
MTD 

In % 
of total 

2012 164 21.9 586 78.1 750 

2013 87 18.2 391 81.8 478 

2014 28 11.9 208 88.1 236 

2015 36 19.9 145 80.1 181 

2016 150 43.9 192 56.1 342 

2017 92 21.1 345 78.9 437 

2018 76 14.2 459 85.8 535 

Sources: BCT and SOTUGAT 
 

 
 
 

Graphic 3-6: Receipts from transport over 2018 

 
 
 
 

Expenditures with respect to transport grew by 18.6%, up to 3,895 MTD in 2018. This trend is 
mainly caused by the 20% increase in freight-related expenses, amounting to 2,972 MTD, in the 
wake of the sustained progress of imports. Disbursements of passengers’ tickets also rose by 
29.8%, posting 238 MTD in 2018. 

As for the surplus balance of other services, it decreased by 76 MTD, down to 630 MTD in 
2018. This trend reflects the increase in receipts at a less accelerated pace than the one of 
expenses: 6.7% and 13.8% respectively. 

Worth of note that receipts from large-scale works and technical services firmed up (+9.8%), to  
748 MTD in 2018, bearing in mind that the main part of provided services in this respect is 
mainly, intended to African countries. In this framework, the ones profiting to Libya shrunk 
considerably due to the security situation’s deterioration since the revolution. 

As for receipts inherent to commercial charges and international trade, they went up in their turn 
by 8.6%, posting 434 MTD in 2018. However, there was a 13.7% drop in flows from 
communication services, down to 496 MTD in 2018. 

Flows related to data processing and information services firmed up significantly, over the 
previous years, reaching 223 MTD in 2018: up by 34.2% compared to 2017. In fact, the new 
information and telecommunication technologies industry remains a promising sector for 
Tunisia given its numerous advantages in this field, notably, qualified labour force and an 
increasingly important foreign demand for this kind of services. 
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As for flows from insurance premiums and allowances and the ones related to financial services, 
they posted respective increases of 15.8% and 9.9%, posting 175 MTD and 176 MTD in 2018. 
Receipts from office expenses went slightly upwards, amounting to 112 MTD over 2018 against 
100 MTD a year before. 

As for expenses related to other services, they carried on with their upward trend (+13.8%), 
reaching 1,959 MTD in 2018. In particular, expenses with respect to large-scale works and 
technical services went up by 18.1% to 670 MTD in 2018, in line with the achievement of 
public investment projects. As for expenses with respect to insurance premiums and allowances 
and the ones related to commercial fees and international trade, they went slightly upwards, 
posting 459 MTD and 227 MTD, respectively, against 443 MTD and 203 MTD a year before. 
Expenditure in the framework of financial services and communication ones grew respectively 
to 194 MTD and 162 MTD in 2018, against 158 MTD and 119 MTD a year ago. 

3-1-1-3 Balance of factor income and current transfers 

The surplus balance of factor income and current transfers dropped by 4.7%, posting 2,128 MTD 
in 2018. This trend is attributable to the increase in related expenditure at a more accentuated pace 
than the one of receipts (+16.3% and +8.1%, respectively). 
 

 

Graphic 3-7: Trends in the main headings of the balance of factor income and current transfers 

 
 

As for receipts, flows from worker remittances firmed up by 10.1% compared with their level 
recorded a year before, reaching 5,035 MTD in 2018: 4.8% of GDP. This trend is brought about 
by the increase in cash transfers, while contributions in kind dropped in 2018. Moreover, the 
number of Tunisians settled abroad was further consolidated to more than 1.4 million people at 
the end of 2018, about 88% of which live in Europe. 

As for cash flows, they progressed by 14.7% (against +19.1% a year before), posting  
4,121 MTD in 2018. This level was amplified by the foreign exchange effect, resulting mainly, 
from the Tunisian dinar’s depreciation against the euro and the US dollar1. Excluding the 
foreign exchange effect, worker remittances in cash would have increased by just 1.4% 
Moreover, their share in total worker remittances firmed up over 2018, accounting for 81.8% 
(against 78.6% a year before). 

                                                           
1 In terms of annual average, the Tunisian dinar depreciated against the euro and the US dollar by 12.9% 
and 8.6% respectively. 
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Contributions in kind dropped by 6.8%, down to 914 MTD in 2018, affected by the regulatory 
measures stipulated by decree n° 236 of 13 March 2018, governing the sale of vehicles under 
the FCR regime1. This measure consists in further boosting financial transfers. 

In this framework, it worth mentioning that several information actions targeted Tunisians 
living abroad to introduce the new banking and financial products to them, as well as to promote 
the investment opportunities offered in Tunisia, while learning from good international practices 
as regards mobilisation of savings from Tunisians settled abroad. 
 

 

Table 3-7: Worker remittances by transfer mode  

Year 
Total Contribution in cash Contribution in kind 

In 
MTD 

Variation 
in % 

In 
MTD 

In% 
of total 

In 
MTD 

In % 
of total 

2012 3,539 25.4 2,634 74.4 905 25.6 
2013 3,721 5.2 2,719 73.1 1,002 26.9 
2014 3,984 7.1 2,896 72.7 1,088 27.3 
2015 3,867 -2.9 2,863 74.0 1,004 26.0 
2016 3,912 1.2 3,017 77.1 895 22.9 
2017 4,574 16.9 3,593 78.6 981 21.4 
2018 5,035 10.1 4,121 81.8 914 18.2 

 

 

Receipts from current transfers decreased by 5%, down to 766 MTD in 2018. In fact, the drop 
in transfers in favour of the public sector (-16.5%) was partially offset by the increase in the 
ones of the private sector (+7.8%). 

As for expenditure, there was particularly a 16.4% increase in transfers with respect to income 
from foreign capital, up to 3,912 MTD in 2018, following mainly the combined effect of 
firmed up payments related to transfers of income from foreign direct investments and the 
increase in expenses with respect to medium and long-term debt interests. 

As for income from foreign direct investments, it rose by 13.5% to 2,089 MTD in 2018, 
accounting thus for more than the half of total expenditure with respect to capital income. This 
trend is mainly attributable to the increase in transfers of income from corporate investments by 
companies operating in the energy field (+ 26.1%), reaching 899 MTD in 2018 in line mainly 
with the progress of energy products’ prices on international markets. Likewise, transfers of 
income from direct investments achieved by the other sectors, notably the industrial and 
telecommunications ones, made a 5.5% progress, posting 1,190 MTD in 2018. 

Concurrently, expenditure to honour medium and long-term debt interests rose by 17.9% 
reaching 1,537 MTD in 2018: 39.3% of total expenditure with respect to capital income. The 
ones carried out by the Government and the monetary authority, which accounted for 81.6% of 
total payments in this respect, posted 1,254 MTD. The remaining part (283 MTD) concerned 
corporate settlements. 

3-1-2 Balance of in capital and financial operations  
The balance of in-capital and financial operations continued its expansion over 2018, yielding a 
surplus of about 11.8 billion dinars, against 8.9 billion a year before, in favour of a significant 
firming up of the surplus balance of loan-borrowings and other liabilities, which increased from 
6.6 billion dinars to 9 billion dinars, from one year to the next. 

  

                                                           
1 Decree n°236 of 13 March 2018 stipulates in its article one that vehicles benefiting from partial 
exemption of customer duties and taxes will be registered under the FCR regime with the mention on the 
car’s registration document of the prohibition of sale during a one-year period starting from the date of 
duties and taxes settlement. 
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Table 3-8: Trends in the main balances of the balance of in capital and financial operations         (In MTD) 
Description 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

- In capital operations 510 441 204 445 340 
- Foreign investment (FDI+portfolio) 1,862 2,203 1,215 1,808 2,509 
- Other investments1 6,367 5,488 4,910 6,628 8,998 
Balance of in capital and financial operations  8,739 8,132 6,329 8,881 11,847 
 

 

 

Graphic 3-8: Trends in net external capital inflows by type of financing 

 
 

After having reached 445 MTD in 2017, the surplus of the balance of in capital operations 
dropped to 340 MTD in 2018. The main part of inflows with respect to in-capital operations 
concerned donations granted by the European Commission, up to 222 MTD. 

However, the surplus balance of foreign investments firmed up, over 2018, for the second year 
in a row, making a progress by about 39% to 2,509 MTD against 1,808 MTD in 2017, boosted 
mainly by the increase in inflows from FDI. 
 

 

Table 3-9: Receipts from foreign investments (Liabilities)                                                              (In MTD) 
Sector 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Energy 892 970 796 810 910 
Manufacturing industries 454 566 802 975 1,129 
Tourism and real estate 52 86 107 130 134 
Telecommunications 83 98 103 76 103 
Financial sector 226 156 5 84 386 
Others 99 91 88 57 80 
Foreign direct investments 1,806 1,967 1,901 2,132 2,742 
Portfolio investments 161 401 88 116 124 
        Total 1,967 2,368 1,989 2,248 2,866 
 

 

In fact, foreign direct investment flows going to Tunisia were intensified by 28.6% in 2018 up 
to 2,742 MTD, accounting thus for a share of 23.4% of total medium and long-term external 
financing (against 16.1% in 2017). In this framework, reforms have already been undertaken, 
including the promulgation of the new investment law2 and actions were taken to improve the 
business climate. Moreover, the resumption of Tunisia's ranking in Doing Business in 2019 
would help to restore investors' confidence in the Tunisian site. 
                                                           
1 This involves financial operations tied to medium and long term loan-borrowing capitals, long term 
deposits carried out at the BCT, short-term assets and liabilities as well as SDR allocations. 
 

2 Law n°2016-71 of 30 September 2016 related to the investment law.  
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On the other hand, foreign direct investments flows, excluding the energy sector, led to the 
achievement of 565 investment operations relevant to 455 extension projects and 110 creation 
projects for the respective values of 1,733 MTD and 99 MTD. These flows helped to create 
11,469 new job positions over 2018. 

As for the sectorial breakdown of these investments, it highlights a significant progress, over 
2018, of the ones going to the financial sector and telecommunications one, a less pronounced 
increase in investments in favour of the energy and manufacturing industries sectors, as well as 
a slight advance of FDI intended to tourism and the real estate sector. 
 

 

Graphic 3-9: Trends in FDI by sector of activity 

 
 

After a slight progress over 2017, flows in favour of the energy sector continued their strong 
record, up by 12.3% to 910 MTD in 2018. However, their share was down from 38% to 33.2% 
from one year to the next.  

As for FDI flows going to the manufacturing industries sector, they grew by 15.9% to  
1,129 MTD in 2018, accounting for 41.2% of total flows raised in this regard. These 
investments concerned creation of 62 new projects for a package of 35 MTD. Extension 
operations were relevant to 421 projects for an amount of 1,095 MTD. The expansion of FDI in 
the industrial sector were mainly relevant to the mechanical, metallic and metallurgical sector 
(183 MTD against 125 MTD in 2017), the agro-food sector (129 MTD vs. 45 MTD in 2017), as 
well as the plasturgy sector (123 MTD vs. 48 MTD in 2017). However, FDI flows going to the 
electrical and electronic industries sectors, which took up the greatest part of FDI inflows 
excluding energy, and the ones in favour of the building materials sector declined, down from 
531 MTD and 106 MTD respectively in 2017 to 491 MTD and 25 MTD in 2018. 
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Graphic 3-10: Breakdown of FDI in favour of manufacturing industries by branch of activity 

 
 

As for FDI going to services, virtually doubled over 2018, up from 321 MTD to 626 MTD from 
one year to the next, driven mainly by investments achieved in the financial sector. 

In fact, FDI going to the financial sector rebounded from 84 MTD to 386 MTD from one year to 
the next, following the Tunisian State’s transfer of 69.15% of Banque Zitouna capital to the 
Qatari group MAJDA for an amount of 370 MTD. 

FDI going to the tourism and real estate sectors stood virtually at 134 MTD over 2018. As for 
foreign direct investments in favour of the telecommunications sector, which consist in 
contributions in the form of capital goods, they grew by 36%, reaching 103 MTD. 

FDI-related expenses declined by about 11.9% over 2018, down to 172 MTD against 195 MTD 
a year before. 

The balance of portfolio investments’ deficit regressed by 30%, down to 108 MTD in 2018, 
mainly in the wake of the drop in investment expenditure from 271 MTD in 2017 to 232 MTD 
in 2018. However, receipts progressed slightly from 116 MTD in 2017 to 124 MTD in 2018. 
Moreover, the Stock exchange activity closed the year 2018 on a positive note, with 
TUNINDEX rising by 15.76%. This contributed to maintaining the dynamics of shares traded 
by foreigners on Tunis Stock Exchange. 

As far as the surplus balance of other investments is concerned, it pursued its expansion over 
2018, up from 6,628 MTD to 8,998 MTD from one year to the next. 
 

 

Table 3-10: Breakdown of MLT debt drawings and amortisation by type of cooperation              (In MTD) 
Description 

 
Drawings Amortisation Net flows 

2016 2017 2018 2016 2017 2018 2016 2017 2018 
Total 5,359 10,958 8,811 3,372 5,568 5,151 1,987 5,390 3,660 
 Administration 3,320 7,787 5,025 1,382 3,012 1,876 1,938 4,775 3,149 
 Monetary authorities 653 768 1,959 836 859 1,681 -183 -91 278 
 Businesses 1,386 2,403 1,827 1,154 1,697 1,594 232 706 233 
 
 

Constituting the main source of MLT external financing, drawings on medium and long-term 
borrowing capitals dropped over 2018 to 8,811 MTD after having culminated to 10,958 MTD 
in 2017. Contracted for the most of them with multilateral development institutions within the 
framework of the budget support programme, funds raised by the Government decreased to  
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5,025 MTD in 2018 after having reached 7,887 MTD in 2017. This includes mainly a loan 
worth 412 million euros (1,342 MTD) granted by the World Bank, a package worth 122 million 
euros (358 MTD), granted by the African Development Bank, a loan worth 120 million dollars 
(288 MTD), granted by the Arab Monetary Fund and a package of 100 million euros  
(298 MTD) contracted from the German Bank for development and reconstruction "KFW". 
Concurrently, a debenture loan was issued on the international capital market for a package of 
500 million euros (1,634 million dinars), as part of the budget support programme. 

concerning drawings going to the monetary authority (BCT), they exacerbated over 2018, up 
from 768 MTD to 1,959 MTD from one year to the next, corresponding to the mobilisation of 
the third, fourth and fifth tranche of the loan granted within the framework of the Extended 
Fund Facility agreement concluded with the IMF for respective amounts of 208 million euros 
(614 MTD) in March 2018, 249 million dollars (651 MTD) in July 2018 and 247 million dollars 
(693 MTD) over October 2018. Worth to be reminded that this facility came to back up 
Tunisia's programme of economic and financial reforms. This programme involves a total 
package of 2.9 billion US dollars to be disbursed over nine tranches within four years. The 
reimbursement duration is expected for ten years, of which a grace period of 4 years and a half 
for each drawing with a variable lending rate tied to the IMF market rate. 

Drawings going to businesses went downwards by about 24% to 1,827 MTD, accounting thus 
for 20.7% of total MLT drawings against 21.9% a year before. 
 

Graphic 3-11: Trends in medium and long-term borrowing capitals 

 

 

As for expenses, reimbursements of medium and long-term debt principal dropped over 2018 
to 5,151 MTD, down by 7.5% compared to the previous year. Settlements carried out by the 
Government decreased hence from 3,012 MTD in 2017 to 1,876 MTD in 2018. 
Reimbursements of medium and long-term debt achieved by businesses declined by 6.1% in 
2018, posting 1,594 MTD. However, payments carried out by the monetary authority over 2018 
doubled compared to the previous year, reaching 1,681 MTD, 1,356 MTD of which related to 
reimbursement of the Stand-by loan principal granted by the IMF. 

  

0
1,000
2,000
3,000
4,000
5,000
6,000
7,000
8,000
9,000

10,000
11,000
12,000

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

MLT borrowing  net capital inflows Drawings on MLT borrowing capital
MLT debt amortisation

( In MTD) 



External payments 
 

Annual Report 2018 61 
 

 

 
Table 3-11: Trends in receipts and expenditure with respect to in-capital and financial operations 

(In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

 2015 2016 2017 2018 
Variation in % 

2017 
2016 

2018 
2017 

Current balance* -7,551.7 -7,935.4 -9,870.6 -11,722.2 -1,935.2 -1,851.6 

Receipts 39,228.9 41,199.1 48,431.6 57,767.1 17.6 19.3 

Expenditure 46,780.6 49,134.5 58,302.2 69,489.3 18.7 19.2 

Trade balance (FOB)* -9,866.6 -10,323.4 -12,841.1 -15,747.1 -2,517.7 -2,906.0 

Export (FOB) 27,607.2 29,145.6 34,426.6 40,986.2 18.1 19.1 

Import (FOB) 37,473.8 39,469.0 47,267.7 56,733.3 19.8 20.0 

Services balance* 594.4 687.5 738.6 1,897.2 51.1 1,158.6 

Receipts 6,812.4 7,345.8 8,320.5 10,637.8 13.3 27.9 

Expenditure 6,218.0 6,658.3 7,581.9 8,740.6 13.9 15.3 

Transport balance* -964.0 -734.9 -919.4 -871.1 -184.5 48.3 

Receipts 1,728.1 2,036.8 2,363.3 3,023.4 16.0 27.9 

Expenditure 2,692.1 2,771.7 3,282.7 3,894.5 18.4 18.6 

Travel balance* 1,344.3 1,046.8 1,232.5 2,321.0 185.7 1,088.5 

Receipts 2,708.7 2,655.2 3,156.8 4,608.6 18.9 46.0 

Expenditure 1,364.4 1,608.4 1,924.3 2,287.6 19.6 18.9 

Government operations balance* -269.4 -274.1 -280.3 -182.7 -6.2 97.6 

Receipts 333.4 388.0 373.5 416.8 -3.7 11.6 

Expenditure 602.8 662.1 653.8 599.5 -1.3 -8.3 

Other services balance* 483.5 649.7 705.8 630.0 56.1 -75.8 

Receipts 2,042.2 2,265.8 2,426.9 2,589.0 7.1 6.7 

Expenditure 1,558.7 1,616.1 1,721.1 1,959.0 6.5 13.8 
The balance of factor income and 
current transfers* 1,720.5 1,700.5 2,231.9 2,127.7 531.4 -104.2 

Receipts 4,809.3 4,707.7 5,684.5 6,143.1 20.7 8.1 

Expenditure 3,088.8 3,007.2 3,452.6 4,015.4 14.8 16.3 

* Variation in MTD. 
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Table 3-12: Trends in receipts and expenditure with respect to in-capital and financial operations  

(In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

 2015 2016 2017 2018 
Variation in % 
2017 
2016 

2018 
2017 

Balance of in capital and financial operations* 8,131.5 6,328.8 8,880.6 11,847.1 2,551.8 2,966.5 

Receipts 10,988.5 10,544.5 16,450.7 18,004.1 56.0 9.4 

Expenditure 2,857.0 4,215.7 7,570.1 6,157.0 79.6 -18.7 

In capital operations balance* 440.7 203.5 444.7 339.8 241.2 -104.9 

Receipts 456.1 229.4 485.9 383.3 111.8 -21.1 

Expenditure 15.4 25.9 41.2 43.5 59.1 5.6 

Financial operations balance* 7,690.8 6,125.3 8,435.9 11,507.3 2,310.6 3,071.4 

Receipts 10,532.4 10,315.1 15,964.8 17,620.8 54.8 10.4 

Expenditure 2,841.6 4,189.8 7,528.9 6,113.5 79.7 -18.8 

- Foreign investment balance* 2,203.3 1,215.2 1,807.5 2,509.5 592.3 702.0 

Receipts 2,405.4 2,032.8 2,273.4 2,913.7 11.8 28.2 

Expenditure 202.1 817.6 465.9 404.2 -43.0 -13.2 

- Other investment balance* 5,487.5 4,910.1 6,628.4 8,997.8 1,718.3 2,369.4 

Receipts 8,127.0 8,282.3 13,691.4 14,707.1 65.3 7.4 

Expenditure 2,639.5 3,372.2 7,063.0 5,709.3 109.4 -19.2 

Adjustment operations (net flows)* 201.8 464.7 987.8 1,528.1 523.1 540.3 

General balance* 781.6 -1,141.9 -2.2 1,653.0 1,139.7 1,655.2 

*Variation in MTD. 
 
 

3.2. Overall external position  
Tunisia's overall external position yielded net liabilities towards abroad of 170,189 MTD, at the 
end of 2018, against 142,221 MTD at the end of 2017, pursuing thus an ascending trend from 
one year to the next. This increase is mainly due to the growth of gross liabilities at a more 
accelerated pace than the one of gross assets: 18.9% and 12.7% respectively compared to the 
end of 2017. 
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Table 3-13: Tunisia’s overall external position                                                                                (In MTD) 

Description 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Direct investment (net) -63,970.5 -66,608.1 -71,223.0 -78,835.2 
 -Assets 592.1 1,079.4 1,235.2 1,357.9 
 -Liabilities -64,562.6 -67,687.5 -72,458.2 -80,193.1 
Portfolio investment (net) -4,443.3 -4,598.9 -4,969.0 -5,956.1 
 -Assets 117.6 120.0 124.7 133.6 
 -Liabilities -4,560.9 -4,718.9 -5,093.7 -6,089.7 
Other investments (net) -54,636.6 -65,360.9 -79,923.5 -102,827.7 
 -Liabilities -57,912.9 -68,345.1 -83,062.7 -106,525.5 
  -Medium and long-term liabilities -44,573.6 -52,374.4 -64,725.5 -82,291.7 
   Loans1 -42,303.1 -49,801.7 -63,159.6 -80,408.5 
    Government -27,608.6 -33,181.8 -43,133.4 -55,052.7 
    Monetary authorities -3,693.8 -3,662.4 -4,047.1 -6,678.0 
    Financial sector -1,831.3 -2,085.5 -2,650.3 -3,367.6 
    Other sectors -9,169.4 -10,872.0 -13,328.8 -15,310.2 
   Currency and deposits -1,509.6 -1,727.7 -613.6 -749.2 
    Monetary authorities -1,509.6 -1,727.7 -613.6 -749.2 
   Other medium and long-term liabilities -760.9 -845.0 -952.3 -1,134.0 
  -Short-term liabilities -13,339.3 -15,970.7 -18,337.2 -24,233.8 
   Currency and deposits -8,888.7 -9,836.8 -11,342.1 -13,782.1 
    Monetary authorities -170.7 -212.5 -169.2 -636.9 
    Government 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
    Financial sector -8,718.0 -9,624.3 -11,172.9 -13,145.2 
    Other sectors 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
   Trade credits -4,450.6 -5,948.8 -6,995.1 -10,451.7 
    Other sectors -4,450.6 -5,948.8 -6,995.1 -10,451.7 
   Other short-term liabilities 0.0 -185.1 0.0 0.0 
 -Assets 3,276.3 2,984.2 3,139.2 3,697.8 
  -Medium and long-term assets 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
  -Short-term assets 3,276.3 2,984.2 3,139.2 3,697.8 
   Currency and deposits 2,002.0 1,945.5 1,806.9 2,175.6 
    Financial sector 2,002.0 1,945.5 1,806.9 2,175.6 
   Trade credits 1,274.3 1,038.7 1,332.3 1,522.2 
    Other sectors 1,274.3 1,038.7 1,332.3 1,522.2 
   Other short-term assets 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
Reserve assets 15,038.3 13,896.4 13,894.2 15,547.2 
 -Monetary gold2 285.6 356.5 424.4 512.9 
 -Special drawing rights 349.3 76.1 77.3 85.1 
 -Reserve position at IMF 153.1 345.9 400.6 423.9 
 -Foreign currency 14,250.3 13,117.9 12,991.9 14,525.3 

Total -108,012.1 -122,671.5 -142,221.3 -170,188.6 
1In considering accrued but not yet falling due interests. 
2Gold holdings were reassessed according to the gold price at end of period of London fixing market. 
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Graphic 3-12: Structure of Tunisia’s stock of gross liabilities 

 

 

3-2-1 Liabilities 

3-2-1-1 Foreign investments 
Accounting for 45.2% of total liabilities, the stock of gross liabilities with respect to foreign 
investments amounted to 86,283 MTD at the end of 2018, up by 11.3% against 77,552 MTD 
and 7.1 % at the end of 2017. This progress recorded from the end of 2017 to the end of 2018 is 
attributable to the combined effect of the increase in the stock of direct investments as well as 
the one of portfolio investments. 

As for the stock of gross liabilities in the form of FDIs, it rose by 10.7% at the end of 2018 
reaching 80,193 MTD. This trend reflects, particularly, the impact of the volume effect in line 
with the firming up of FDI inflows by 28.6%, along with a reassessment due to the foreign 
exchange and price effects. 

Concurrently, gross liabilities in the form of portfolio investments led to a 19.6% increase, from 
the end of 2017 to the end of 2018, up to 6,090 MTD following the 15.76% progress of the 
stock exchange index TUNINDEX at the end of 2018 and the firmed up share of foreigners in 
Stock capitalisation, up from 23.31% to 24.85% from one year to the next. 

3-2-1-2 Other investments 
At the end of 2018, gross liabilities with respect to other investments went upwards by 26% 
reaching 104,642 MTD. This result is attributable to the higher stock of MLT liabilities, 
particularly the outstanding balance of medium and long-term external debt, along with the 
increase in short-term gross liabilities. 

Accounting for 75% of total gross liabilities with respect to other investments, the outstanding 
balance of MLT external debt went upwards by 24.3% to 78,525 MTD at the end of 2018. This 
trend is mainly attributable to net positive flows yielded by the balance of MLT borrowing 
capitals which posted 3,660 MTD and the positive impact of the foreign exchange effect 
brought about by the dinar’s depreciation against main foreign currencies, contributing with 
about 16% from the end of 2017 to the end of 2018, to the amplification of the outstanding 
balance of MLT debt1. 

                                                           
1 The dinar depreciated against the euro and the dollar by 14% and 17% respectively at the end of 2018 
compared to the end of 2017. 

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

(In
 M

TD
)

Direct investments Portfolio investments Outstanding balance of MLT Debt Short term liabilities



External payments 
 

Annual Report 2018 65 
 

Breakdown of the outstanding balance of MLT external debt by institutional sector shows a 
27.6% increase in the one of the Government, up to 55,053 MTD at the end of 2018. This sector 
takes up, alone, more than 70% of MLT external debt’s stock of liabilities. Likewise, the 
monetary authority stock of MLT debt went upwards by 18.5% to 4,795 MTD following firmed 
up drawings going to the monetary authority. Concurrently, the outstanding balance of corporate 
debt (financial and non-financial) grew by 16.9%, amounting to 18,678 MTD at the end of 
2018. 

The MLT external indebtedness rate expressed in % of GNDI continued to amplify at the same 
high pace as the one recorded in 2017, amounting to 72.9% at the end of 2018. This trend 
resulted from the impact of the volume and foreign exchanges effect. 
 
 
Table 3-14: Main parameters of medium and long term external debt 

(In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 
Outstanding balance of medium & long-term debt1 36,512 42,009 49,460 62,625 78,370 
Rate of MLT indebtedness (in % of GNDI) 44.4 48.7 54.1 63.7 72.9 
Drawings on medium & long-term borrowing capital 6,156 7,020 5,359 10,958 8,811 
Medium & long-term debt service 2,979 3,243 4,477 6,872 6,688 
Principal 2,114 2,283 3,372 5,568 5,151 
Interest 865 960 1,105 1,304 1,537 
Debt service ratio2 (In %) 7.1 8.3 10.9 14.2 11.6 
1Outstanding balance of debt excluding incurred but not yet falling due interests. 
2Calculated with reference to current receipts. 
 
 

As for short-term liabilities, they made a 32.2% progress at the end of 2018, up to 24,234 MTD, 
accounting for 12.7% of total gross liabilities. This increase concerned particularly liabilities 
with respect to trade credits which rose significantly (+49.4%) compared to 2017, up to  
10,452 MTD in line with imports’ growth pace under the general regime. Likewise, short-term 
financial liabilities in the form of currency and deposits grew by 21.5%, following mainly the 
20.7% firming up of non-resident deposits. 
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Table 3-15: Trends in short-term liabilities and assets                              (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Heading  2015 2016 2017 2018 
Variation 

in%  
2018/2017 

Short-term liabilities -13,339 -15,971 -18,337 -24,234 32.2 
* Currency and deposits -8,889 -9,837 -11,342 -13,782 21.5 
 of which : non-resident deposits -6,739 -7,494 -8,954 -10,809 20.7 
  Bank correspondents outside Tunisia -1,979 -2,131 -2,219 -2,336 5.3 
*Trade credits -4,450 -5,949 -6,995 -10,452 49.4 
Short-term assets 3,276 2,984 3,139 3,698 17.8 
* Currency and deposits 2,002 1,945 1,807 2,176 20.4 
 of which : bank correspondents 1,365 1,246 1,094 1,439 31.5 
*Trade credits 1,274 1,039 1,332 1,522 14.3 
Net liabilities -10,063 -12,987 -15,198 -20,536 35.1 
Reserve assets 15,038 13,896 13,894 15,547 11.9 
Net liabilities/reserve assets (in %) 1 -66.9 -93.5 -109.4 -132.1 -22.7 
1Variations in percentage points. 
 
 

3-2-2 Assets 

At the end of 2018, gross assets rose by 12.7% to 20,737 MTD, following mainly the increase in 
reserve assets which constitute the main component with a share 75% of total assets. The 
reserve assets’ level was in fact up from 13,894 MTD to 15,547 MTD (+11.9%) at the end of 
2018. 

As for net assets in foreign currencies, they grew by 11.8% to 14,525 MTD at the end of 2018. 
As regards the other components, the IMF reserve position and special drawing rights, went 
upwards by 5.8% and 10.1%, respectively, reaching 424 MTD and 85 MTD. Concurrently, 
reserves in monetary gold rose by 89 MTD, up to 513 MTD. 

The level of net assets in foreign currency amounted to 13,974 MTD and 84 days of import at 
the end of 2018 against 12,885 MTD and 93 days at the end of 2017. 

As for short-term assets, they went upwards by 17.8% compared to their level recorded at the 
end of 2017, reaching 3,698 MTD. This increase is attributable to the firming up of short-term 
financial assets in the form of currency and deposits (+20.4%) and trade assets (+14.3%) from 
the end of 2017 to the end of 2018. 

  



External payments 
 

Annual Report 2018 67 
 

 
 
Tunisia’s external payments: Trend in current receipts and capital inflows (5thedition)              (In MTD) 

Heading 2015 2016 2017 2018 

A – Current receipts 39,228.9 41,199.1 48,431.6 57,767.1 
Export of Goods (FOB) 27,607.2 29,145.6 34,426.6 40,986.2 
Services 6,812.4 7,345.8 8,320.5 10,637.8 

 Transport 1,728.1 2,036.8 2,363.3 3,023.4 

  Freight 259.4 283.4 328.6 381.5 

  Passengers 956.7 1,000.6 1,153.1 1,532.6 

  Other transports 512.0 752.8 881.6 1,109.3 

   Of which : gas royalty 180.6 341.7 437.3 534.8 

 Travel 2,708.7 2,655.2 3,156.8 4,608.6 

  Tourism 2,414.7 2,373.4 2,831.0 4,141.2 

  Business and official travel 68.4 61.6 71.2 106.2 

  Studies and training 34.5 36.2 49.2 56.3 

  Medical care 178.5 172.3 191.5 283.0 

  Other living expenses 12.6 11.7 13.9 21.9 

 Government transactions 333.4 388.0 373.5 416.8 

  Tunisian government 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

  Foreign governments 333.4 388.0 373.5 416.8 

 Other services  2,042.2 2,265.8 2,426.9 2,589.0 

  Insurance premiums and benefits 104.0 130.3 151.0 174.8 

  Office costs 107.4 96.6 99.5 112.2 

  Commercial & international trade costs 350.5 366.8 399.9 434.4 

  Large-scale works & technical services 597.1 649.8 680.7 747.7 

  Communication services 524.8 588.3 574.3 495.6 

  Financial services 126.5 134.9 159.8 175.6 

  Data processing and information services 95.7 118.1 165.8 222.5 

  Royalties and licence rights 42.7 48.9 50.2 62.8 

  Staff and cultural services  23.1 21.5 23.5 29.5 

  Miscellaneous 70.4 110.6 122.2 133.9 

Factor income 4,177.9 4,202.0 4,878.0 5,376.7 

 Capital income 310.8 289.9 304.5 341.6 

  Interest on loans and investment 222.5 202.6 218.1 244.4 

  Dividends and profits 10.1 17.4 17.9 24.5 

  Direct investment income 78.2 69.9 68.5 72.7 

 Labour income 3,867.1 3,912.1 4,573.5 5,035.1 

  Worker remittances 3,241.9 3,216.6 3,734.2 3,990.9 

  Other labour income 625.2 695.5 839.3 1,044.2 

Current transfers 631.4 505.7 806.5 766.4 

  Tunisian private sector 283.9 318.4 383.0 412.9 

  Tunisian public sector 347.5 187.3 423.5 353.5 
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(In MTD) 
Heading 2015 2016 2017 2018 

B-In capital and financial operations  10,988.5 10,544.5 16,450.7 18,004.1 
In capital operations 456.1 229.4 485.9 383.3 
Financial operations 10,532.4 10,315.1 15,964.8 17,620.8 
 Direct investments 2,004.4 1,945.0 2,157.2 2,789.6 
  Assets 37.4 43.6 25.7 47.6 
  Liabilities 1,967.0 1,901.4 2,131.5 2,742.0 
   Shareholdings 1,959.7 1,893.3 2,122.3 2,732.2 
   Other 7.3 8.1 9.2 9.8 
 Portfolio investments 401.0 87.8 116.2 124.1 
  Public sector 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
   Assets 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
   Liabilities 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
   Private sector 401.0 87.8 116.2 124.1 
   Assets 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
   Liabilities 401.0 87.8 116.2 124.1 
 Other investments 8,127.0 8,282.3 13,691.4 14,707.1 
  Liabilities 7,943.7 7,990.2 13,552.8 14,707.1 
   Medium and long-term liabilities 7,215.2 5,358.8 10,957.9 8,810.5 
    Loans and trade credits 7,019.5 5,358.8 10,957.9 8,810.5 
     General government  4,885.1 3,319.8 7,786.8 5,025.1 
     Monetary authorities 637.5 652.6 767.7 1,958.5 
     Financial sector 298.2 174.2 742.4 744.5 
     Other sectors 1,198.7 1,212.2 1,661.0 1,082.4 
    Currency and deposits 195.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 
     General government 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
     Monetary authorities 195.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 
    Other medium and long-term liabilities 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
   Short term liabilities 728.5 2,631.4 2,594.9 5,896.6 
    Currency and deposits 728.5 948.1 1,548.6 2,440.0 
    General government 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
     Monetary authorities 48.0 41.8 0.0 467.7 
     Financial sector 680.5 906.3 1,548.6 1,972.3 
     Other sectors 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
    Trade credits 0.0 1,498.2 1,046.3 3,456.6 
     Other sectors 0.0 1,498.2 1,046.3 3,456.6 
    Other short-term liabilities 0.0 185.1 0.0 0.0 
  Assets 183.3 292.1 138.6 0.0 
   Medium and long-term assets 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
   Short-term assets 183.3 292.1 138.6 0.0 
    Currency and deposits 0.0 56.5 138.6 0.0 
     Financial sector 0.0 56.5 138.6 0.0 
    Trade credits 183.3 235.6 0.0 0.0 
     Other sectors 183.3 235.6 0.0 0.0 
C – Adjustment operations (net flows) 201.8 464.7 987.8 1,528.1 

 General total 50,419.2 52,208.3 65,870.1 77,299.3 
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Tunisia’s external payments: Trends in current expenditure and capital outflows (5thedition)     (In MTD) 

Heading 2015 2016 2017 2018 
A – Current expenditure 46,780.6 49,134.5 58,302.2 69,489.3 
Import of goods (FOB) 37,473.8 39,469.0 47,267.7 56,733.3 
Services 6,218.0 6,658.3 7,581.9 8,740.6 
 Transport 2,692.1 2,771.7 3,282.7 3,894.5 
  Freight 1,962.9 2,067.4 2,475.9 2,971.7 
  Passengers 138.5 158.0 183.5 238.1 
  Other transport 590.7 546.3 623.3 684.7 
 Travel 1,364.4 1,608.4 1,924.3 2,287.6 
  Tourism 768.8 941.8 1,107.1 1,374.3 
  Professional and official travel 166.1 196.5 228.7 262.0 
  Studies and training 238.1 262.3 359.4 383.9 
  Medical care  17.5 16.7 19.3 21.8 
  Other living expenses 173.9 191.1 209.8 245.6 
 Government transactions 602.8 662.1 653.8 599.5 
  Tunisian government 602.8 662.1 653.8 599.5 
   -technical assistance 45.7 2.6 86.1 60.0 
   -other 557.1 659.5 567.7 539.5 
  Foreign governments 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
 Other services 1,558.7 1,616.1 1,721.1 1,959.0 
  Insurance premiums and benefits 408.4 417.7 443.3 459.4 
  Office costs 11.1 9.1 9.5 13.0 
  Commercial costs & international trade  183.5 191.5 203.3 227.0 
  Large scale works & technical services 546.2 554.0 567.4 670.2 
  Communication services 106.6 115.3 118.6 161.6 
 Financial services 126.7 133.7 158.2 193.7 
  Computer and information services 75.2 83.0 88.8 89.3 
  Royalties and licence rights 41.1 37.6 40.1 46.9 
  Staff and cultural services 16.5 29.1 39.5 34.6 
  Miscellaneous 43.4 45.1 52.4 63.3 
Factor income 3,045.0 2,983.5 3,433.0 3,983.5 
 Capital income 2,993.1 2,924.6 3,362.2 3,912.1 
  Interest on medium & long-term loans 959.6 1,104.7 1,304.3 1,537.3 
  Interest on short term loans 95.2 103.6 144.3 170.4 
  Dividends and profits 54.6 64.3 73.1 115.4 
  Direct investment income 1,883.7 1,652.0 1,840.5 2,089.0 
 Labour income 51.9 58.9 70.8 71.4 
  Worker remittances 28.3 32.0 42.7 48.1 
  Other labour income 23.6 26.9 28.1 23.3 
Current transfers 43.8 23.7 19.6 31.9 
 Tunisian private sector 43.6 23.6 19.6 31.9 
 Tunisian public sector 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 
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(In MTD) 
Heading 2015 2016 2017 2018 

B – In-capital and financial operations  2,857.0 4,215.7 7,570.1 6,157.0 
In-capital operations 15.4 25.9 41.2 43.5 
Financial operations 2,841.6 4,189.8 7,528.9 6,113.5 
 Direct investments 100.6 607.7 195.2 172.0 
  Assets 60.9 518.8 138.8 90.0 
  Liabilities 39.7 88.9 56.4 82.0 
   Shareholdings 32.2 63.4 37.6 48.4 
   Other 7.5 25.5 18.8 33.6 
 Portfolio investments 101.5 209.9 270.7 232.2 
  Public sector 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
   Assets 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
   Liabilities 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
  Private sector 101.5 209.9 270.7 232.2 
   Assets 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
   Liabilities 101.5 209.9 270.7 232.2 
 Other investments 2,639.5 3,372.2 7,063.0 5,709.3 
Liabilities 2,402.2 3,372.2 6,769.4 5,150.7 
 Medium and long-term liabilities 2,282.8 3,372.2 6,726.1 5,150.7 
  Loans and trade credits 2,282.8 3,372.2 5,567.7 5,150.7 
   General government 1,176.2 1,382.0 3,012.2 1,876.0 
   Monetary authorities 152.5 836.2 858.4 1,681.3 
   Financial sector 275.7 285.0 579.5 656.3 
   Other sectors 678.4 869.0 1,117.6 937.1 
  Other medium and long-term liabilities 0.0 0.0 1,158.4 0.0 
 Short term liabilities 119.4 0.0 43.3 0.0 
  Currency and deposits 0.0 0.0 43.3 0.0 
   General government 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
   Monetary authorities 0.0 0.0 43.3 0.0 
   Financial sector 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
   Other sectors 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
  Trade credits 119.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 
   Other sectors 119.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 
  Other short-term liabilities 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
Assets 237.3 0.0 293.6 558.6 
 Medium and long-term assets 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
 Short-term assets 237.3 0.0 293.6 558.6 
  Currency and deposits 237.3 0.0 0.0 368.7 
   Financial sector 237.3 0.0 0.0 368.7 
  Trade credits 0.0 0.0 293.6 189.9 
   Other sectors 0.0 0.0 293.6 189.9 
C – adjustment operations (net flows) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

General total 49,637.6 53,350.2 65,872.3 75,646.3 

Balance 781.6 -1,141.9 -2.2 1,653.0 
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3-3. Trend in competitiveness indicators     09/07/2019 

3-3-1 Trend in exports’ market share  
The market share of Tunisia’s exports intended to the European Union (EU)1 posted 0.51% in 
2018, for the second year in a row, against an average of 0.55% between 2011 and 2016 and 
0.62% in 2010. Tunisia’s exports in euros towards this geographic zone2 rebounded (9.3% 
against -0.8% in 2017) despite total EU imports’ slowdown (6.6% against 8.7%). However, 
trend in Tunisia’s exports over the 2010-2018 period was limited to 6.5% and could not keep up 
with the European imports’ growth pace which increased by 29.3% during the same period. 
 

 
Graphic 3-13: Trend in Tunisia’s market share on the European Union market                                          (In %) 

 

Source: Eurostat and BCT calculations 
 

 

By group of products3, the market share of commodities improved, up from 0.49% to 0.73% 
from one year to another, notably in line with the progress in olive oil exports which more than 
doubled following an exceptional harvest. Likewise, market shares consolidated slowly with 
respect to «other manufactured goods» (0.86% in 2018 against 0.83%), benefiting from 
increased exports of «textile, clothing, leather and footwear» as well as of «mineral fuels, 
lubricants, and related materials» (0.16% against 0.14%), in spite of the low exported quantities 
of crude and refined oil. 

However, the market shares of “chemicals and related products” decreased slightly (0.13% vs. 
0.15%), affected by a shrinking in the phosphate and by-products production, as well as of 
«machinery and transport equipment” (0.64% against 0.65%). It should be recalled that the 
market shares of Tunisian exports have experienced a downward trend since 2011 in most 
sectors, excluding agriculture and agro-food production which is still dependent on climate 
variations. Mechanical and electrical industries also showed some resilience in spite of the slight 
contraction of exports in volume in 2018. In fact, this sector remains the first exporting one with 
a 44.4% share of total exports in 2018, followed by textile, clothing, leather and footwear with a 
21.9% share. 

                                                           
1 The market share of a country in the EU is measured by the ratio between this country’s exports over this region 
and extra-EU imports 
2 BCT calculations as per to Eurostat data 
3 As per the international trade standard classification established by the United Nations 

0.66 0.67 0.66 

0.58 
0.56 

0.62 
0.6 

0.65 

0.62 

0.57 

0.53 
0.55 0.55 0.55 0.54 

0.51 0.51 

0.40

0.45

0.50

0.55

0.60

0.65

0.70



Chapter 3 
 

Annual Report 2018 72 
 

Tunisia’ specialization in these industries, mainly off-shore ones in the form of foreign direct 
investments, justifies the predominance of the European market which took over 73.4% of 
Tunisian exports in 2018, 57.2% of the sales of which are intended to France, Germany and 
Italy. Other geographic zones remain hardly exploited, notably the African continent which 
presents only 10.5% of Tunisian exports, 7.4%, of which are channelled to Libya, Algeria and 
Morocco. 
 

Graphic 3-14: Trend in Tunisian exports’ market shares by group of products (In %) 

 
 Source: Eurostat and BCT calculations 

 

As for Tunisia’s competitor countries in the European market, China remains the first exporter 
on this market despite a slight decrease in its share over 2018. It should be pointed out that the 
competitiveness continued to intensify especially with other countries having the same 
specialization as Tunisia, notably Morocco, Bangladesh, Turkey and certain Central and Eastern 
Europe countries. 

In particular, Morocco improved its market share between 2010 and 2018, notably for 
«machinery and transport equipment» up from 0.3% to 1.1% and preserved its share of 
«chemicals and related products» and of «other manufactured goods», mainly phosphate and 
by-products and textile and clothing ones, in addition to its important agricultural production. 

 

 

Table 3-16: Trends in Tunisia’s market share of goods and in its main competitors in the EU (In %) 
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

China 12.58 13.60 14.31 16.12 15.71 17.41 18.54 17.06 16.24 16.60 17.90 20.33 20.62 20.21 19.93 

Turkey 3.20 3.06 3.06 3.27 2.92 2.95 2.81 2.82 2.71 3.00 3.22 3.57 3.90 3.76 3.84 

India 1.60 1.62 1.65 1.84 1.87 2.06 2.19 2.31 2.09 2.18 2.20 2.29 2.30 2.38 2.31 

Bangladesh 0.42 0.35 0.39 0.35 0.35 0.47 0.46 0.52 0.55 0.65 0.73 0.89 0.96 0.91 0.90 

Morocco 0.64 0.77 0.53 0.56 0.54 0.53 0.51 0.51 0.52 0.60 0.65 0.72 0.81 0.81 0.81 

Tunisia 0.66 0.58 0.56 0.62 0.60 0.65 0.62 0.57 0.53 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.54 0.51 0.51 

Egypt 0.41 0.44 0.56 0.49 0.52 0.50 0.47 0.56 0.47 0.47 0.51 0.42 0.39 0.44 0.43 

Source: Eurostat and BCT calculations 
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3-3-2 Trend in the dinar’s foreign exchange rate 
The dinar’s foreign exchange rate depreciated, at the end of 2018 and compared with its value at 
the end of the previous year, by 17% against the US dollar and by 14% against the euro. The 
depreciation of the national currency’s foreign exchange rate is mainly attributable to pressures 
on external balances, notably of the current deficit widening which reached a record level over 
2018. Besides, the speeded up depreciation of the dinar against the dollar, as of May, reflects the 
evolution of the dollar against the euro in the international exchange market which closed for 
the year with a rise of about 4.5%.  

In terms of annual averages, the dinar depreciated by 12.9% against the euro and by 8.6% 
against the US dollar.   
 

 

Graphic 3-15: Comparative trends in foreign exchange rates 

 
 

Hence, and in line with the depreciation of the dinar’s foreign exchange rate against main 
partner and competitor countries’ currencies, the effective nominal foreign exchange rate 
dropped by 13.3% in December 2018 compared to the same month of the previous year. As for 
the effective real foreign exchange rate, it depreciated by 8.7% over the same period, reflecting 
the widening of the inflation differential which was close to 5.5 percentage points with the Euro 
Zone and the United States. 
 

 

Graphic 3-16: Trend in the dinar’s foreign exchange rate indexes (Base 100 in 2010) 
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Chapter 4 – Money, Credit 
and Monetary Policy 

14/07/2017 
4-1. Money and sources of monetary creation    17/05/2019 
After having evolved at an exceptionally high rate of 11.4% in 2017, the M3 money supply 
resumed its usual pace at the end of 2018, rising by 6.6%. This slowdown reflects, mainly, the 
trend recorded both at the level of net claims on the State and financing to the economy; while 
net claims abroad continued to evolve into a negative territory that began in April 2016.  

4-1-1 Money aggregates  
In terms of average, the growth rate of M3 money aggregate in 2018 went up at a faster pace 
(10.1% against 8.8% in 2017). Thus, the improvement in economic activity expressed by GDP 
at current prices (9.6% in 2018 against 7.3% in 2017) compared to the annual average of M3 
money supply, has led to a narrowing of the gap between these two indicators without having a 
noticeable impact on money circulation velocity which has remained virtually unchanged, going 
from 1.389 in 2017 to 1.382 in 2018. Regarding the liquidity rate of the economy which is the 
inverse ratio of the latter, and though it has remained virtually unchanged between 2017 and 
2018, it continues still to move higher, from 65% in 2010 to 70.5% in 2013 and 72.3% in 2018, 
reflecting an increased fluidity of economic activity compared to the mass of money in 
circulation. In this respect, the share of banknotes and coins in circulation in GDP at current 
prices went down by 0.4% to reach 11.8% at the end of 2018. All these trends are to be seen in 
conjunction with the level of the average inflation rate which closed for 2018, at its highest 
level, registered during the last ten years: 7.3% against 5.3% in 2017.  
 

 

Table 4-1: Trends in certain macro-economic indicators 
Description 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Average money supply M3 (in MTD) 56,959 59,799  63,741  69,358 76,341 
M3 average growth rate (in %) 7.7 5.0  6.6 8.8 10.1 
GDP in current prices (in MTD) 80,816 84,689 89,792 96,325 105,535 
GDP growth rate in current prices (in %) 7.5 4.7 6.0 7.3  9.6 
Average inflation rate (in %) 4.9 4.9 3.7 5.3  7.3 
Money circulation velocity 1.419 1.416 1.409 1.389  1.382 
 
 

As in the previous year, the level of the overall volume of refinancing of banks from the BCT, 
which reflects the pressure on bank liquidity prevailing in the money market, has been 
increasing since 2011. In fact, the issuing Institution’s liquidity support to the banking sector 
has reached a record level, peaking at 16,725 MDT over the first ten days of December 2018, 
closing for the year at 15,805 MTD against 10,962 MTD at the end of 2017. Worth of note that 
the BCT has launched since November 2018 a new, longer-term refinancing window through a 
6-month call for bids1 meant for refinancing medium and long-term credits to finance 
investment projects in productive sectors. 

                                      
1 Information notice of 15 November 2018, pursuant to the provisions of BCT circular to banks No.  
2017-02 of 10 March 2017. 
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It should be noted that pressure on bank liquidity that has become structural reflects, in 
particular, the incompressible demand for currency to finance the various imports that 
contributed to the widening of the current account deficit (-11.2% of GDP in 2018 against  
-10.2 % in 2017). 

In the same context, and to counteract inflationary pressures, the BCT initiated corrective 
actions through its preferred instrument, namely the key interest rate, raising it by 75 and  
100 basis points, respectively, in March and June 2018. In addition, and with a view to 
mobilizing long-term resources and encouraging savings, it was decided to increase the savings 
remuneration rate by 100 basis points in January 2018, up to 5%. .  
 

 

Graphic 4-1: Trend in the money market rate and the overall volume of average refinancing  

 
 

Given a volatile economic environment, the structure of monetary aggregates has been strongly 
affected, leading to adjustments within the M3 money supply. Indeed, the slowdown in the 
growth rate of M3 aggregate  in its broad sense during 2018 is attributable in particular to the 
sharp deceleration in the growth rate of both bank money (2.4% vs. 18.1%) and fiduciary 
money (5.6% vs. 14.7%), which was only partially offset by the modest acceleration of 
available quasi- money (9.9% vs. 8%). 
 

 

Graphic 4-2: Trend in main M3 components 
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Banknotes and coins in circulation, which represent the main component of fiduciary money, 
increased only by 6.1% or 721 MTD in 2018 against 15% or 1,534 MTD in 2017, closing for 
the financial year under review at 12,453 MDT. This deceleration reflects, in particular, the 
beginnings of fallouts from the Decashing strategy launched in late 2017 by the BCT together 
with the various actors in the payment ecosystem, but also a better confidence among economic 
agents in the national economy to which is added the effect of the increase in the savings 
remuneration rate in January 2018. 

Thus, the sub-annual variations of this monetary aggregate have been strongly influenced by the 
impact of its seasonal effects, as evidenced by the significant decline recorded in September 
2018 (-507 MTD) following the return of cash to the banking sector, which is usually observed 
after massive withdrawals by households during June (+254 MTD), July (+250 MTD) and 
August (+719 MTD) following exceptional expenditure in Ramadan, summer season, manual 
change, and religious holidays, respectively.  
 
 
Table 4-2: Trend in the financial system’s resources and counterparts                         (End of period figures) 

Description In MTD Variation in %  
unless otherwise indicated 

 Dec. 2017 Dec. 2018 Dec.2017 
Dec.2016 

Dec.2018 
Dec.2017 

Money supply M3  74,484  79,409 11.4 6.6 
of which : Banknotes and coins in circulation 11,732 12,453  15.0  6.1 
 Sight deposits at banks  17,622  18,111 15.5 2.8 
 Forward deposits and other financial products 11,523 12,889 5.2 11.9 
 Certificates of deposits 3,464 3,408 -6.4 -1.6 
 Savings accounts1 23,217 25,840 11.0 11.3 
Other resources 24,718 26,497 13.6 7.2 
Total resources=total counterparts 99,202 105,906 11.9 6.8 
Net claims abroad2  -2,385  -4,114 -1,436 -1,729 
of which : Net assets in foreign currency2 12,885 13,974  -50 1,089 
 (Number of days of import) 3 (93) (84)   (-19)   (-9) 
Net claims on the State2 19,939 20,805 2,812 866 
of which : Treasury bonds and national borrowing2  9,289  8,858  588 -431 
 Treasury current account2 466 668 257 202 
Financing of the economy 81,648 89,215 12.7 9.3 
of which : loans to the economy  77,642  84,743 12.9 9.1 

1
 This heading includes special savings accounts, housing savings accounts, project-savings accounts, investment 
savings accounts, other savings accounts and the savings account at the Postal savings center. 

2 Variations expressed in MTD. 
3 Variations expressed in days. 

 

As for bank money, it posted in 2018 a sharp deceleration with a progress rate that fell from 
18.1% at the end of 2017 to 2.4% the following year. This trend is marked by the slowdown in 
outstanding sight deposits both at banks (2.8% or 489 MTD vs. 15.5% or 2,363 MTD) and at 
the Postal Cheque Center (1. 3% or 26 MTD vs. 51.8% or 673 MTD). In addition, erratic 
evolutions have been recorded throughout the year 2018, in particular, the sharp increase in 
February (+ 439 MTD), September (+606 MTD) and December (+1,022 MTD) following, 
mainly, deposits made by public enterprises, private companies and individual businesses. Yet, 
significant declines were recorded in January (-806 MTD), April (-219 MTD) and October  
(-1,220 MTD), mainly due to withdrawals by private companies. 
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Quasi-monetary deposits firmed up in 2018 (9.9% or 3,962 MTD against 8% or 2,970 MTD) 
due mainly to sound performance both in terms of forward deposits and other financial 
products (11.9% or 1,366 MTD vs. 5.2% or 566 MTD) and savings deposits at the Postal 
Savings Center (14.4% or 740 MTD vs. 14% or 630 MTD) and finally deposits in special 
savings accounts at banks (10.9% or 1,749 MTD vs. 11.2% or 1,627 MTD). On the other 
hand, outstanding certificates of deposit pursued as from the beginning of 2018 a quasi-bearish 
trend with a decreasing range that was less important than the one recorded a year before (-1.6% 
or -56 MTD against -6.4% or - 237 MDT over 2017). This decline reflects, essentially, non-
renewal of securities falling due, initially subscribed for relatively short maturities by certain 
public companies, in particular the social security organizations, given liquidity dry up on the 
money market and the market outbidding practiced by some local banks. 

4-1-2 Sources of monetary creation  
Financing to the economy, the main counterpart of M3 money supply, contributed significantly 
to the growth of this aggregate by 10.2% followed by net claims on the State (1.2%); while net 
claims abroad continued to fall back.   

The financial system financing to the economy, posted a significantly slower pace in 2018 
compared to 2017, increasing by 9.3% or 7.567 MTD against 12.7% or 9,175 MTD a year 
earlier, despite the improvement in economic activity expressed in nominal terms (9.6% in 2018 
against 7.3% in 2017). 

In fact, this aggregate was strongly affected during the period under-review by fallouts from the 
monetary conditions’ tightening; in particular the two-time increase of the BCT's key rate for 
2018 in order to curb inflationary tensions. This situation has led to tightening of access 
conditions for economic agents to bank loans and / or difficulties in honoring their contractual 
commitments within the given deadlines, leading to an increase in non performing loans (1,349 
MTD vs. 512 MTD) and debit current accounts (1,058 MTD vs. 770 MTD) concomitantly with 
a deceleration in the progress pace of outstanding loans in portfolio discount at banks (4,354 
MTD vs. 6,388 MTD).  
 

 

Graph 4-3 :Contribution of counterparts to M3* 
growth  

Graph 4-4 :Trend in the structure of loans by 
financial institution  

 

*M3= Net claims abroad + Net claims on the State + Financing of the economy - Other net items. 
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Moreover, the credit structure by financial institution confirms the soaring needs of banks to the 
resources of the BCT whose share in the additional package has increased from 34.8% in 2017 to 
47.3% in 2018 on the one hand, and the expected effects of the transmission of successive 
increases in the key rate on the evolution of loans granted by banks (3,536 MTD vs. 5,021 MTD) 
as well as by other lending institutions (203 MTD against 761 MDT) on the other hand. 

Worth of note in this context that the increase in new loans net of reimbursements granted to 
professionals1 in 2018 (+6,030 MTD) has benefited all sectors of the economy to varying 
degrees, notably, services (+ 2,955 MTD) and industry (+2,980 MTD). Heavily impacted by 
soaring real estate prices and worsening household indebtedness subsequent to the increase in 
the key rate, loans provided by lending institutions to individuals in 2018 recorded a sharp 
deceleration, increasing by 1,185 MTD vs. 2,154 MTD a year earlier. 

As for net claims abroad , they continued their downward trend in 2018 at a pace comparable to 
that recorded a year earlier (-1,729 MTD in 2018 against -1,436 MTD in 2017). While remaining in 
a negative territory since 2016, the latter posted a record low level of -6,036 MTD in July 2018, 
reflecting certainly the extent of external liabilities of the financial system in relation, mainly, with 
external debt service in the year under review but also the persistent and exceptionally high level of 
the trade deficit.   

However, the mobilization of external resources mainly with respect to loans granted by the 
World Bank (412 M Euro), a debenture loan issued on the international financial market in the 
framework of budget support program (500 M Euro) and release of portions of the IMF 
Extended Fund Facility for respective amounts of 208 M Euro, 249 M Euro and 247 M Euro 
partially offset the extent of this decline.    

Thus, net assets in foreign currency closed for the year under review at 13,974 MTD, corresponding 
to 84 days of imports compared to 12,885 MTD and 93 days, respectively, at the end of 2017.  
 

 
 

Graph 4-5: Trend in net assets in foreign currency 

 
M: Month 

 

  

                                      
1 Source: Risk Unit at the Central Bank of Tunisia 
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As for State’s net indebtedness from the financial system, it recorded at the end of 2018 a 
significantly slower progress pace compared to the previous year (4.3 % or 866 MTD vs. 16.4% 
or 2,812 MTD) under the combined effect of the increase in outstanding Treasury bonds 
purchased firm by the BCT in the framework of Open-Market operations ( 678 MTD vs.  
177 MTD) and the counterpart of savings deposits at the Postal Savings Center (740 MTD vs. 
631 MTD) and the decline in outstanding Treasury bonds in banks' portfolio (-251 MTD vs.  
769 MTD) and the restrictive effect exerted by the increase of the Treasury current account  
(202 MTD vs. 257 MTD). It should be noted that the latter has evolved during the year under 
review within an erratic movement, posting a record level of 1,218 MTD in March 2018 
following, notably, encashment of important tax revenues and profits of certain public 
companies.   

Furthermore, the global volume of Treasury bond issues at the end of 2018 was significantly 
higher than the one raised in the previous year, ie 3,186 MTD compared with 1,952 MTD in 
2017. At the same time, repayments in this respect during the financial year under review were 
more important (2,844 MTD vs. 813 MTD in 2017), yielding net positive subscriptions of  
342 MTD vs. 1,139 MTD a year earlier.  

4-2. Monetary policy1        
The Tunisian economy was faced, in 2018, with an international context marked by accentuated 
instability of the geopolitical environment, rising protectionism and volatile raw materials and 
financial markets. Added to all this, the normalization of monetary policy in the major advanced 
countries, with the Federal Reserve's pursuit of monetary tightening cycle and start-up by the 
European Central Bank of the gradual reduction of its securities purchases, without giving an 
end to its high level of monetary support. 

At the national level, 2018 was marked by a gradual strengthening of economic growth, thanks 
to good performance by the agricultural sector and sounder evolution of tourism. This led to 
better growth quality compared to previous years. However, persisting difficulties in the 
extractive sectors and the weakness of foreign demand addressed to Tunisia have meant that 
export-oriented sectors, formerly providers of foreign currency, do not have the same 
contribution to growth, with all the repercussions on the country's external position and its 
budget balance. Moreover, the worsening of the current deficit of the balance of payments 
(11.1% of GDP in 2018) that reflects mainly the unprecedented trade deficit, along with a 
budget deficit of about 5% of GDP, continue to affect foreign currency stock, the dinar 
exchange rate and bank liquidity; bearing in mind their impact on debt indicators.  

As for inflation, price pressures recorded in 2017 continued throughout 2018, while firming up. 
The inflation rate (base 100=2010) came to 7.5%, on average in annual shift, compared to 5.3% 
the year before. In fact, the slippage has been felt since the beginning of the year and the rate of 
inflation went quickly beyond 7%, in March, peaking at 7.8% in June; its highest level over 
more than two decades. 

Anticipating this rise in inflation, the Central Bank, whose mandate is to preserve price stability, 
has tightened its monetary policy, raising the key rate by 75 basis points in March, then  
100 basis points, in June; and this to act on inflation expectations, considering the persistence of 
inflation which is very detrimental to the economic recovery. Inflation erodes not only the 
consumer's purchasing power but also his savings, and compromises investment decisions. 

At the same time, the Central Bank ensured greater consistency in its intervention instruments 
on the money market by reducing the outstanding amount of foreign exchange swaps used for 
monetary policy purposes (which were basically meant as one-off liquidity provision 
operations). Also, starting from 5 December 2018, the Central Bank introduced a new longer-

                                      
1 Figures for inflation and growth for this section are expressed in 2010 base. 
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term refinancing operation (6 months) for banks granting medium- and long-term loans to 
finance investment projects in productive sectors. On the other hand, and with the aim of further 
directing banks towards financing the productive sectors, supporting growth and streamlining 
recourse to refinancing, the Central Bank introduced a new breakdown of refinancing collaterals 
by requiring a fixed 40% portion in the form of negotiable public securities and 60% portion in 
claims on the private sector. 

At the prudential level, and in order to ensure a better adequacy between resources and uses, 
which would make it possible to control the risk of maturity transformation, the Central Bank 
has established a "Loan to Deposit" ratio. To this end, according to circular 2018-10 of 1st 
November 2018, banks whose "Loan to Deposit" ratio is at a level above 120% at the end of a 
given quarter, are required to take the necessary measures to reduce the ratio by 2 percentage 
points at the end of the following quarter till bringing it to the desired level. 

For 2019, the outlook for economic activity would remain moderate. The rise of uncertainties 
around activity in the Euro Zone, Tunisia's main trading partner, and the persistence of internal 
fragilities, would be the main impediments to growth in 2019. 

As for inflation, the persistence of consumer prices at high levels, supported by tensions on 
international commodity and energy prices, and the effects of the depreciation of the dinar and 
past wage increases with their impact on production costs motivated the Central Bank's decision 
to raise its key interest rate by 100 basis points in February 2019, bringing it to 7.75%. This 
proactive action, accompanied by targeted communication, should help to better anchor the 
expectations of economic agents and gradually reduce pressure on consumer prices in the 
forthcoming period. 

4-2-1 Liquidity management 
In 2018, bank liquidity was affected by difficult economic conditions, which largely contributed 
to increasing needs of banks in liquidity, reflecting the restrictive effects exerted on the one 
hand by foreign currency assets, as a result of worsening current account deficit, and on the 
other hand, the significant financing of the budget deficit on the domestic market. 

Analysis of liquidity during 2018, shows that the average need of banks in liquidity1 has recorded 
a substantial increase of 57% against a rise of 42% in 2017 and 27% in 2016. This need has, 
indeed, reached 14,524 MTD in 2018 against 9,223 MTD a year earlier. (cf. graph 4-6). 
 

 

Graphic 4-6: Trend in banks’ need for liquidity (daily averages in MTD) 

 
 

 

                                      
1 Banks’ need in liquidity = Autonomous Factors effects + required reserve. 
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This trend is mainly due to banks’ important net purchases of foreign currency on the 
foreign exchange market from the Central Bank . These purchases, which totalled 
7,180 MTD in net, corresponding to almost the same amount recorded in 2017, had a 
commensurate restrictive effect on bank liquidity. These operations were used, in 
particular, to finance the current account, whose deficit widened by 1,852 MTD, 
compared with 2017, to reach 11,722 MTD1 in 2018 (cf. graph 4-7). 
 

 

 

Graphic 4-7: Balance of the current account and its effect on bank liquidity (In MTD) 

 
 

It should be pointed out that the non-implementation in time of the resource mobilization 
program, in particular external resources, yielded pressure on the State's liquidity. Indeed, 
although the increase in outstanding Treasury issues was only 162 MTD compared to 2017, the 
Treasury's commitments vis-à-vis the economy remain at very high levels of 13,614 MDT at the 
end of 2018 (cf. graph 4-8).  
 
 

Graphic 4-8: Trend in the outstanding balance of Treasury issues (In MTD) 

 
 

                                      
1 Provisional figure. 

-3012 

-4766 

-5812 

-6302 

-7369 

-7552 

-7935 

-9870 

-11722 

-2160 

-5020 

-3503 

-5045 

-3192 

-5254 

-4200 

-7182 

-7180 

-12000-10000-8000-6000-4000-20000

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

Net effect of purchases of currencies by banks from the central bank on liquidity (annual flow) Balance of current account (annual flow)

Last data : year 2018 

6953 
7674 8280 

9441 
10238 

12494 
13452 13614 

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

14000

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Long-term Treasury bonds Short-term Treasury bonds
 National debenture loan Total government domestic debt

Last data: year 2018 Source: Tunisie Clearing 



Money, credit and monetary policy  
 

Annual Report 2018 83 
 

 

Infra-annual analysis shows that banks' need for liquidity has grown almost continuously 
throughout 2018 (cf. graph 4-9). 
 

 

Graphic 4-9: Daily trend in banks’ needs for liquidity in 2018 and Q1-2019 (In MTD) 

 

 

Indeed, during the period from January to August 2018, the needs of the banks went from 
11,389 MTD to 16,064 MTD, an increase of more than 41%, bearing the mark of the evolution 
of the autonomous factors of liquidity. Net purchases of foreign currency from the Central Bank 
totalled 5.004 MTD against 4.568 MTD in the same period of 2017. Concomitantly, the 
Treasury had resorted extensively to domestic financing. 

It should be noted that the Treasury's commitments vis-à-vis the economy have remained at 
very high levels (ranging from a minimum of 13,457 MTD in January to a maximum of  
14,346 MTD in May 2018) because they were maintained by recurring bank subscriptions to 
short-term Treasury bonds’ issues with 3-month maturity, during March and June 2018, for 
respective amounts of 600 MTD and 475 MTD. (cf. graph 4-10). 
 

 

Graphic 4-10: Monthly trend in the outstanding balance of Treasury issues (In MTD) 
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The above-mentioned restrictive effects were further exacerbated by the seasonal effect of 
massive cash withdrawals just before AID IL IDHA (over 360 MTD), the highest amount of the 
year. 

Over the period from September to December 2018, which can be described as stabilization 
phase, banks’ needs have been established at around 16 billion dinars, on average. This situation 
was favoured by massive return of banknotes to the banking system immediately after AID IL 
IDHA, the reimbursement, in December 2018, by the Treasury of 3-month short term treasury 
bonds to which the banks subscribed in September for a nominal value of 380 MTD, without 
renewal of maturities falling due and the decline, in December, of net purchases of foreign 
currency by banks, bearing the mark of the measures taken by the Central Bank 1. 

In response to the increased needs of banks in liquidity, the BCT's interventions 2 firmed-up in 
2018, standing at 11,334 MTD on average, compared with 8,558 MTD in 2017 (cf. graph 4-11). 
This increase did not concern interventions in the form of 7-day call for bids operations, the 
amount of which remained almost unchanged compared to the previous year, at around 7,000 
MTD, thus constituting almost 62% of these interventions during the year under review. 
 
 
 

Graphic 4-11: Annual trend in BCT interventions 
on the money market (In MTD) 

Graphic 4-12: Trend in the outstanding balance of 
foreign exchange swap (In MTD) 

 
 

Foreign exchange swaps (for monetary policy purposes) have almost quadrupled in 2018, going 
from an average of 648 MTD to 2,574 MTD. It should be mentioned that since 20 June 2018, 
the Central Bank has stopped offering foreign exchange swaps at 1 month. (cf. graph 4-12). 

  

                                      
1 In particular, entry into force of the loan to deposit ratio, as per circular to banks n ° 2018-10 of 
1st November 2018 and the tightening of monetary policy. 
2 BCT interventions = monetary policy operations initiated by the BCT, which are currently the main refinancing 
operations, longer-term refinancing operations (3 months and 6 months), outright operations and foreign exchange 
swaps for monetary policy purposes. 
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Table 4-3: Trend in the main indicators on the money market (Average data in MTD) 
 2015 2016 2017 2018 Q1-2018 Q1-2019 
Main refinancing operations 4,590 5,617 6,890 7,049 7,194 7,000 
outright operations 300 304 1,020 1,234 900 1,739 
Foreign exchange swaps for monetary policy purposes 119 553 648 2,574 2,029 1,977 
Longer term refinancing operations (3 months) - - - 336 154 0 
Longer term refinancing operations (6 months) - - - 141 0 1,943 
BCT interventions 5,009 6,474 8,558 11,334 10,277 12,659 
Autonomous liquidity factors 4,932 6,357 9,070 14,354 12,100 15,970 
Required reserves 168 142 153 170 167 168 
Banks’ needs 5,100 6,499 9,223 14,524 12,267 16,138 
Surplus(+) or deficit(-) on money market -91 -25 -665 -3,190 -1,990 -3,479 
24h-Deposit facility  52 56 10 1 4 0 
24h-Marginal lending facility  157 102 700 3,209 2,016 3,500 
Surplus reserves 14 21 25 18 23 21 
 
 

In the wake of liquidity drying up, the Central Bank has, in 2018, reshaped its intervention 
means to make available to the banks financings that are more adapted to the structural nature of 
their need for liquidity. First, it reactivated the longer-term refinancing operations with a 
maturity of 3 months, which came to 336 MTD on average over the considered year. Then, 
towards the end of the year, it introduced operations at 6 months for a package of 1,943 MTD. 
These operations were aimed at encouraging the refinancing of new investment projects granted 
at relatively more favourable terms. The introduction of operations at 6 months helped reduce 
banks' reliance on 24-hour lending facilities. 

In 2018, the Central Bank had also recourse to outright purchases of Treasury bonds. Its 
interventions totalled 1,234 MTD, on average, up by 214 MTD compared to 2017. 

In considering what proceeds, the BCT's interventions totalled 11,334 MTD, on average, but 
were not enough to cover the average banking need of 14,524 MTD, which maintained 
throughout the year a standing liquidity deficit on the money market 1 of some 3,190 MTD, on 
average. Banks have tried to cover this deficit by resorting to marginal lending facilities, the 
amount of which has steadily increased, reaching 3,209 MTD, on average, in 2018. 

  

                                      
1 Surplus / deficit of liquidity on the money market = The interventions of the BCT – Banks’ need in liquidity.  
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Graphic 4-13: Trend in BCT interventions and in 
banks’ needs (daily data in MTD) 

Graphic 4-14: Liquidity surplus and deficit on the 
Money market (daily data in MTD) 

 
 

 

The situation of the money market was characterized, between January and April 2018, by a 
relative stability of the liquidity deficit, thanks to presence of the Central Bank on the said- 
market, in particular through the exchange rate swaps (cf. graphs 4 -13 and 4-14). Nevertheless, 
the quantitative tightening that took place between May and August contributed significantly to 
the accentuation of this deficit. This was followed by a stabilization phase, marked by a 
moderating effect that was led, until November, by the autonomous factors of liquidity. The latter 
were affected in turn by the new monetary policy measures and the impact of the "Loan to 
deposit" ratio. Furthermore, the launch in December of longer-term operations (6 months) was 
added to the measures mentioned above, contributing thus to reduction of liquidity deficit on the 
money market. 

In 2018, the average interbank outstanding balance breakdown between sight and forward 
transactions was 48% and 52% respectively. Although this market seems to have an almost 
equal distribution between the two maturities, we can still notice a clear focus and a greater 
momentum on day-to-day interbank transactions (cf. graph 4-15) given the number of actors 
and daily transactions on the two terms. This breakdown remains almost the same as the one 
observed in 2017 and results, on the one hand, from the limited visibility of banks with risk 
averse behaviour that still tend to shorten their traded maturities and on the other hand, the lack 
of depth of the market where the number of structurally lending banks is reduced, but also 
where most other banks depend on refinancing and are inclined to exchange surpluses according 
to their share in the amount allocated to them by the BCT, as part of the monetary policy 
operations. This naturally affected the liquidity and depth of the interbank market. 
As for the first quarter of 2019, it appears that in February and in terms of averages, banks have 
slightly reduced their liquidity trading on the day-to- day transactions with 43% against 57% for 
forward transactions, corresponding to a transverse differential of 14% between the mentioned 
shares. This easing on day-to-day liquidity transactions, compared to that of forward 
transactions, fell sharply with disclosure then effective application of the increase in the key rate 
at the end of February. In fact, the average outstanding sight interbank transactions went to 45% 
in March compared to 55% for forward transactions, corresponding to levels usually displayed 
over the period under review. 
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Graphic 4-15: Trend in the average interbank outstanding balance in MTD 

 
 

 

The trend in the average interbank outstanding balance compared to the overall volume of 
refinancing, traced in the graphic below, reflects a high ongoing dependence of banks on the 
Central Bank which was intensified in 2018 and the first quarter of 2019, as evidenced by the 
fall in the ratio of the average interbank outstanding balance compared to the average overall 
volume of refinancing, posting averages of 6% and 5% respectively, compared with a much 
higher level posted in 2017, coming to some 8%. (cf. graph 4-16). 

 

Graphic 4-16: Trend in the average interbank outstanding ratio/overall volume of refinancing 
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The graphic below shows that most of the market involves two maturities: day-to-day and 
weekly maturities (cf. graph 4-17). This shows high focus on short-term maturities, with 
around 61% at the end of the first quarter of 2019, 64% at the end of 2018 compared to 69% and 
81% at the end of 2017 and 2016 respectively. For the rest of the maturity spectrum, there is a 
virtual absence of interbank transactions and, consequently, references based on real 
transactions beyond the 3-month horizon.  
Graphic 4-17: Structure by term of the interbank outstanding balance (figures of end of period) 

 
 

 

In view of these findings on the interbank market, the Central Bank published at the end of 
2018, a new circular on liquidity exchange on the interbank market in dinar. 

 
Box 4-1: The Interbank Market Reform 
 
The monetary policy conducting framework has undergone a major reform in three areas: 
The first component was monetary policy implementing framework (BCT circular to banks No. 
2017-02 relative to implementation of monetary policy by the Central Bank of Tunisia of 10 March, 
2017) ); 
- The second part relates to the interbank market (cf. BCT circular to banks No. 2018-12 relative 

to the interbank market in dinar of 28 November 2018); 
- The third and final component, in the technical implementation phase, after development of the 

diagnostic phase, focuses on the market for negotiable debt securities. 
 
As per the circular governing the interbank market, which essentially revises the liquidity exchange 
modalities, the recently introduced logistic and operational procedures have significantly improved 
its functioning by promoting, on the one hand, the best conditions for exchange of liquidity between 
banks and, on the other hand, by responding to the Central Bank's needs in terms of monitoring and 
controlling the trend in short-term interest rates, the operational targets of monetary policy. 
 
With publication of the mentioned circular, all market players must comply as best as possible with 
the requirements introduced by the reform undertaken in order to make the market more transparent 
while securing the negotiated interbank transactions. This is likely to make the interbank market 
deeper and more liquid and ultimately allow it to comply with international best practices, by 
bringing the current operational system in line with international benchmarks. 
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Circular 2018-12 obviously provided for all the practices allowing for the reinforcement of its 
operational framework in order to bring to it the necessary improvements. The main requirements 
that have been introduced for this purpose are: 
- Boosting reliability of quotations posted by banks; 
- Generalizing the obligation to display quotations for Islamic banks; 
- Improving reporting by banks (comprehensiveness, accuracy and frequency); 
- Introducing trading platforms; 
- And developing new reference rates. 
 
Indeed and given the high concentration of real transactions on very short maturities (day-to-day 
and week) as described in the section above, the Central Bank was able to make a complete 
monetary curve composed of two sources of data : 
- The Average rate, which is defined as the daily weighted average interest rate and which is 

derived from the rates applied to real day-to-day transactions, 
- The TUNIBOR, calculated from quotations of the rates provided by banks of the panel of 

contributors1 
The above data are calculated and published each working day and will serve as a reference for all 
market actors. 
As for TUNIBOR, this index has been able to capture, since its launching over September 2016, all 
the changes made, and on the key rate and on the corridor. 
 

 
Graphic 4-18: Interbank rates’ dynamics (TUNIBOR) 

 
 

                                      
1 The panel of contributors to TUNIBOR is made up of the most active banks on the dinar money market which meet 
the eligibility conditions of counterparties to monetary policy operations as provided for in Article 2 of Circular  
No 2017-02 of 10 March 2017 relating to implementation of monetary policy by the Central Bank of Tunisia. 
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To stick to the year 2018 and the first quarter of 2019, and as underpinned by the graph above, the 
TUNIBOR by maturity has undergone a concomitant increase on the one hand to widening of the 
corridor announced in early 2018 and on the other hand has also reflected the changes in the key 
rate made during the recent period. This reflects its strong sensitivity to all the signals launched by 
the Central Bank and even more so to any event that may occur in the future (cf. graph 4-18). 
Structure by term is consistent and well respected, including the expectations of contributing banks 
on the evolution of interbank rates and on expected liquidity premiums. 

Banks have managed to provide differentiated quotations by maturity, despite the scarcity of 
interbank transactions, which is likely to improve visibility on the market, by associating each 
maturity with an appropriate short interest rate. 

This new TUNIBOR benchmark index, under the aegis of the Central Bank, complements the 
monetary rate curve, which will serve as an anchor for short-rate expectations of all market players 
by allowing them to better understand the market future path of interest rates. 

4-2-2 Trend in interest rates and transmission of monetary policy actions to bank 
rates 

The tightening of monetary policy that has started since 2017 continued in 2018. In fact, and 
despite the increase in the key rate and the capping of the main refinancing operations at  
7,000 MTD, the factors underlying inflation remained very active. In addition, the control of the 
budget deficit led to higher tax rates (VAT, consumer duties and customs duties) which weighed 
heavily on consumer prices, bringing inflation to a record high for more than two decades. 

Faced with this situation, the Central Bank has decided to take a set of measures to counter the 
inflationary threats looming on the horizon and which are increasingly of a structural nature. As 
a first step, it was decided to raise the minimum rate of remuneration applied to special savings 
accounts to 5% and to widen the interest rate corridor to 200 bps while maintaining the cap on 
the main refinancing transactions. By these actions, the Central Bank has issued a clear signal 
on its appreciation of the stance of monetary policy best suited to the short and medium-term 
prospects of inflation, warning signal of an imminent rise in the key interest rate, the increase of 
which was decided in March 2018 (+75 pbs) followed by a second increase (+100 pbs) in June 
2018, bringing the key rate up to 6.75%. 

A package of measures1 that fall under both monetary policy and financial stability areas has 
helped to keep the money market rate above the key rate. The monetary market rate rose from 
5.23% at the end of 2017 to 6.04% in March 2018 and then to 6.72% in June, before stabilizing 
at around 7.25% in the second half of 2018 (cf. graph 4-19).  

  

                                      
1 Cf. introduction of the “Monetary Policy” section. 
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Graphic 4-19: Trend in the main monetary policy and in interest rates 

 
 

The increasingly restrictive stance of monetary policy combined with drying up liquidity and 
the accentuation of overbid behaviour quickly spread to bank conditions. 

Remunerations of new deposit contracts concluded by banks both with households and with 
private enterprises have, since the beginning of 2018, reached unprecedented levels. For 
households, the one-year increase1 in the money market rate of 202 bps resulted in a more than 
one-time increase in the forward deposits  rates at less and more than one year, by 253 bps and 
231 pbs respectively (cf. graph 4-20) . Also, and for the same maturities, the deposit rates of 
private enterprises increased by 242 bps and 255 bps respectively (cf. graph 4-21). 
 

 

Graphic 4-20: Trend in the money market rate and 
in the rates applied on the new deposit contracts of 
individuals (quarterly averages) 

Graphic 4-21: Trend in the money market rate and 
in the rates applied on the new deposit contracts of 
private enterprises (quarterly averages) 

 
 

 

                                      
1 Between Q4-2017 and Q4-2018. 
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This upward momentum, despite the stability of the money market rate throughout the second 
half of 2018, reflects an ongoing of the frenzied run, led by some local banks, for the 
mobilization of stable resources. The ongoing over-bidding on forward deposits reflects a 
problem of bank liquidity becoming more and more structural, which results fundamentally 
from the deterioration of macroeconomic indicators (twin deficits, debt, etc.). This behaviour 
also reflects a wide disparity in the Tunisian banking landscape that has become apparent after 
the introduction of prudential measures. 

As for the rates applied to new loans granted to both households and private businesses, all 
categories combined, saw the rising costs of resources, particularly the money market rate, the 
main reference for the indexation of most banking lending rates. This served to ensure a rapid 
transmission, most of the time almost complete of restrictive impulses of monetary policy. 
 

 

Graphic 4-22: Trend in the money market rate and 
in the rates applied on the new credit contracts to 
individuals (quarterly averages)  

Graphic 4-23: Trend in the money market rate and 
in the rates applied on the new credit contracts to 
private enterprises (quarterly averages) 

 
 

Concerning households, bank lending rates (cf. graph 4-22) continued to increase, albeit at a 
slower pace than deposit rates. Over a year, they grew at a rate below that of the money market 
rate (202 bps) recording, in the fourth quarter of 2018, an increase of 166 bps for maturities of 
less than 3 years, 188 bps for maturities between 3 and 7 years and 139 bps for maturities going 
beyond 7 years. The relatively low sensitivity of this last category of credits can be justified by 
the fact that it is composed mainly of housing loans, much of which is served at a fixed rate. 

Similarly, the rates applied to new loans granted to private businesses (cf. graphic 4-23) 
increased by 139 bps for loans at less than one year, by 204 bps for loans of 1 to 3 years,  
223 pbs for loans of 3 to 7 years and 145 pbs for loans over 7 years. For the latter category, the 
partial transmission is explained, on the one hand, by the absence of a benchmark, and on the 
other hand by the bargaining power of the businesses, compared to households. 

These generalized upward trends in bank lending rates (in terms of deadlines and transmission 
amplitudes) applied to both households and private businesses reveal the degree of effectiveness 
of the restrictive actions taken by the Central Bank to constrain the debt capacity of economic 
agents, which should, all else being equal, act on demand and counteract inflationary slippages. 
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Regarding bank interest rate spreads (with reference to money market rate), the tightening of the 
financing conditions on the money market (price and quantity), the persistence of the liquidity 
tightening, and the slow pace of new resources mobilization, would have exacerbated pressures 
on the money market rate, thus impacting bank balance sheet liabilities in terms of external 
resource costs.   

On the credit side, the evolution of spreads was strongly affected by an increasingly active 
monetary policy - resulting in an increase in the money market rate and a slowing of the demand 
for credit - and regulatory ceilings on excessive rates1 that constrain the pricing of banks (with 
the pricing taking into account the rising cost of resources). This resulted in a contraction of 
intermediation margins, prompting banks to move to other sources (commissions collected and 
others) to compensate for this shortfall. 
 
 
 
 

 

Graphic 4-24: Trend in spreads on rates applied to 
individuals’ new credit contracts (Quarterly averages)  

Graphic 4-25: Trend in spreads on rates applied to 
private enterprises’ new credit contracts (Quarterly 
averages) 

 
 

3 

For households, the corresponding spread levels (cf. graph 4-24), all categories included, have 
continued to narrow since the end of 2017. Regarding the spread levels of private businesses (cf. 
graph 4-25), they experienced a contraction always marked by a high volatility. 

This increasingly restrictive context should encourage banks to promote more rigorous asset and 
liability management. 

  

                                      
1 Law No.99-64 of 15 July 1999, on excessive interest rates, as amended by Law No. 2008-56 of 4 August 2008: 
“Constitutes a loan granted at an excessive interest rate any conventional loan granted at a global effective interest 
rate that exceeds, at the time it is granted, by more than one-fifth the average effective rate applied in the preceding 
six-month period by banks and financial institutions for operations of the same nature”.        
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4-3. Monetary policy and inflation 1 

4-3-1 Trend in inflation 
Inflation, measured by the annual growth rate of the consumer price index "CPI", has 
experienced, in recent years and especially since the beginning of 2016, a radical change in its 
dynamics, resulting in a disruption of its cycle and the maintenance over the last three years of a 
clearly bullish trend linked to succession of supply shocks. 

On monthly average, the CPI expressed in base year 2010, increased in 2018, by 0.6% against 
0.5% in 2017 and by only 0.3% in 2016. Consequently, inflation has risen since January 2018, 
reaching a record 7.8% in June 2018 compared to 6.4% in December 2017 and only 4.8% in 
June 2017. 

Inflation firming up has affected all sectors and has resulted mainly from a multitude of 
supply shocks. This series of shocks pushed inflation towards a new level, bringing it in 2018 
to 7.5% on average against 5.3% in 2017, an increase of more than 2 percentage points  
(cf. graph 4- 26). The most important shocks relate mainly to the measures approved by the 
Finance Law of 2018 raising a number of levies and taxes (VAT, consumer duties and 
customs duties) which were combined with adjustments of prices of certain regulated 
commodities, in particular, fuel prices, which were raised four times during 2018. Moreover, 
the more pronounced depreciation of the dinar has maintained price pressures for the rest of 
the year. In addition, a specific shock on the prices of fresh products (in particular, the rapid 
rise in the prices of eggs, poultry and meat) was observed during October, in line, mainly with 
non-scheduled export of some products and illegal trade activity with neighbouring countries. 
 

Graphic 4-26: Monthly trend in headline inflation 
in monthly variation and in annual shift 

Graphic 4-27: Trend in the inflation of regulated and 
unregulated products’ prices (in annual shift) 

 

Sources: National Statistics Institute and BCT calculations 
 

The acceleration of prices was particularly noticeable in manufactured goods and foodstuff. 
Services’ inflation, on the other hand, has grown at a faster pace but remains moderate 
compared to other sectors. 
 

                                      
1 The data in this section relating to GDP, CPI, industrial sale price index and import prices are expressed in the base 
year 2010. Cf. National Statistics Institute (INS). 
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Table 4-4: Trend in the inflation of some group of products       (In %) 

Description weight 
in% 2016 2017 

2018 
Q1* Q2* Q3* Q4* Year 

General index 100.0 3.7 5.3 7.2 7.8 7.4 7.5 7.5 
By group of products         

-Foodstuff 28.1 2.6 5.6 8.1 8.9 7.0 6.1 7.5 
 Fresh foodstuff 13.9 2.5 5.5 8.8 10.9 7.5 6.1 8.3 
 Processed food products 14.2 2.8 5.6 7.3 6.7 6.5 6.2 6.7 

-Manufactured products 36.6 3.6 5.9 9.0 9.6 9.2 9.8 9.4 
-Services 35.3 4.9 4.5 4.5 4.8 5.8 6.0 5.3 
By price-setting regime          
- Unregulated prices 73.7 4.6 6.1 8.0 8.6 8.3 8.2 8.3 
- Regulated prices  26.3 1.0 2.7 4.5 4.9 4.5 4.8 4.7 
      of which : energy 6.6 -1.0 2.7 4.3 5.8 7.2 9.1 6.6 

* Variation in annual shift.                                                Sources: National Statistics Institute and BCT calculations 
Q: Quarter. 
 

By price-setting regime, the resurgence of inflationary pressures came from the acceleration of 
both unregulated product prices and regulated ones, which pushed inflation upwards, registering 
a significant rise from 6.1% and 2.7% on average, in 2017 to 8.3% and 4.7% in 2018. Most of 
this acceleration was noted during the first quarter of that year (cf. graph 4-27). With regard to 
the prices of regulated products, they felt the direct and indirect impact of repeated upward 
review of fuel prices (+11.5% against +2.5%). On the other hand, prices of unregulated products 
were marked mainly by acceleration of fresh food prices (+8.3% vs. +5.5%) and by those of 
unregulated manufactured products (+10% against +6.7%). 

By sector of activity, manufactured products inflation was strongly affected by the 
aforementioned supply shocks, registering a sharp acceleration in 2018 (+9.4% in 2018 
compared to +5.9% in 2017). Its evolution is mainly attributable to the combined effect of the 
firming up of inflation of building and maintenance materials for housing (+14.6% vs. +5.9%), 
household equipment (+8.6% against +2.2%) and that of other manufactured products (+10.4% 
against 6% in 2017). In addition, inflation of clothing and footwear, despite its relative easing 
(+7.4% vs. +8%), remained at a high level (cf. graph 4-28). 

Food inflation firmed up as well, to reach an average of 7.5% in 2018, compared with 5.6% a 
year earlier. This rise was mainly due to disruptions affecting the distribution channels, the 
higher cost of imported inputs as well as the insufficient supply of certain fresh products in 
connection with the low level of rainfall observed during the first half of 2018. As a result, fresh 
product inflation increased significantly (+8.3% vs. +5.5%), that mainly affected the prices of 
eggs, poultry and meats for which inflation was high at 18.3%, 15.3% and 11.3% in 2018 
respectively compared to 6.1%, 4.8% and 1.7% in 2017 (cf graph 4-29). At the same time, 
processed food inflation continued to grow at a more sustained pace of 6.7%, on average, in 
2018 compared to 5.6% in the previous year. 
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Graphic 4-28: Monthly trend in manufactured 

products inflation 

Graphic 4-29: Monthly trend in fresh foodstuff 

inflation 

.                                               Sources: National Statistics Institute and BCT calculations 
 

 

Services’ inflation has also increased, in terms of annual average, from 4.5% in 2017 to 5.3% 
in 2018. The rise in service inflation was noticeable especially in the second half of the year and 
concerned, at the same time, the inflation of public tariffs (+2.8% against +2.3%), in particular 
those of transport (+4.8% against +1.2%) which have followed the rise in prices of fuels, other 
services (+8.0% vs. +5.5%), particularly insurance services (+7.3% vs. +1.8%), hotel 
accommodation ( + 11.1% vs. +4%), services related to catering (+10% vs. +7%), training 
courses (+6.6% vs. +4.2%) as well as health services (+6.4% vs. +5.1%). 
 

 

Table 4-5: Contributions to inflation                                                                                        (In percentage points) 

Description weight 
in% 2016 2017 

2018 
Q1* Q2* Q3* Q4* Year 

General index 100.0 3.7 5.3 7.2 7.8 7.4 7.5 7.5 
By group of products         

-Foodstuff 28.1 0.8 1.6 2.4 2.7 2.1 1.9 2.2 
 Fresh foodstuff 13.9 0.4 0.8 1.4 1.7 1.2 1.0 1.3 
 Processed foodstuff 14.2 0.4 0.8 1.0 1.0 0.9 0.9 0.9 

-Manufactured products 36.6 1.3 2.2 3.3 3.5 3.4 3.6 3.5 
- Services 35.3 1.6 1.5 1.5 1.6 1.9 2.0 1.8 
By price-setting regime          
- Unregulated prices 73.7 3.5 4.7 6.2 6.7 6.4 6.4 6.4 
- Regulated prices  26.3 0.2 0.6 1.0 1.1 1.0 1.1 1.1 
     of which : energy 6.6 -0.1 0.2 0.3 0.4 0.5 0.6 0.4 

* Variation in annual shift.                                                Sources: National Statistics Institute and BCT calculations 
Q: Quarter. 
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In terms of contributions to headline inflation (cf. graph 4-32), the share of prices of 
regulated products increased in 2018, to reach 14.3% against 11.8% a year earlier, to the 
detriment of that of the prices of unregulated products (+85.7% against +88.2%) and this is 
mainly in line with the more frequent and larger fuel price adjustments. By sector of activity, 
contributions to headline inflation were marked in 2018 by disparate developments. Indeed, the 
contribution of manufactured goods increased (+46.3% against +40.5%), boosted by the 
increase in the contribution of building materials and home maintenance (+3.3% against 
+1.9%), to the detriment of the contribution of services which experienced a marked 
deceleration (+23.7% against +28.7%). As for the contribution of food inflation, it almost 
stabilized (+30% against +30.8%).  
 

 

Graphic 4-30: Monthly trend in base effect Graphic 4-31: Monthly trend in inflation (with 
and without base effect) 

              Sources: National Statistics Institute and BCT calculations 
 

 

Over 2018, inflation was significantly affected by base effects (cf. graphs 4-30 & 4-31). 
Indeed, the monthly base effects were favourable (bearish) over the whole year, and were much 
more felt during April, July, October and November, impacting downward inflation by 0.3 
percentage point, on average. As a result, the cumulative base effect reached -1.5 percentage 
point over the year. Without taking into account the base effect, inflation would have closed for 
the year 2018 at a rate of 9% instead of the 7.5% recorded. 
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Graphic 4-32: Monthly trend in contributions to 
Inflation (Annual shift) 

Graphic 4-33: Trend in core inflation (Annual 
averages) 

.                                               Sources: National Statistics Institute and BCT calculations 
 

 

The main measurement of core inflation, calculated starting from the annual shift of the price 
index "excluding fresh products and regulated price products", continued its rise, to reach 8.3% 
in 2018 against 6.3% in 2017, reflecting the acceleration of inflation of unregulated 
manufactured products and that of processed unregulated food. Similarly for inflation excluding 
food and energy, which is another measurement of core inflation followed by central banks 
around the world, and which has seen the same upward trend, from 5.5% in 2017 to 7.5% in 
2018 (cf. graph 4-33). 

4-3-2 Determinants of Inflation 
Despite the absence of tension on the factors of production in relation to sluggish domestic 
demand and moderate price trends in partner countries, inflation has increased at a steady pace 
in 2018, by 7.5 % on average against 5.3% a year earlier. This rise in inflation was driven by 
both its volatile component, especially fresh food (+8.3% vs. +5.5%), which is very sensitive to 
disruptions in distribution channels and to rainfall level over the year, but also by its 
fundamental component, in particular, manufactured goods (+9.4% vs. +5.9%) and processed 
food products (+6.7% vs. +5.6%) having borne the impact of multiple supply shocks. Also, core 
inflation, to which the Central Bank attaches prime importance, persists to high and worrying 
levels, due in large part to the combined effects of the dinar’s depreciation, upward adjustment, 
as per 2018 finance law, of certain duties and taxes (VAT, customs duties and consumer duties) 
as well as more frequent and larger increases in fuel prices over the considered period.  

At constant prices in 2010, economic activity strengthened in 2018, registering a growth of 
2.5% compared to 1.8% in 2017. This evolution bears the mark of the good performance of 
market services (+3.3% against +4.5% in 2017), particularly for the hotel and restaurant sectors 
(+8.9% vs. +8.3%) and transport (+3.6% vs. +7.1%) in line with confirmation of recovery of 
tourism sector which was the highlight of the year 2018. Also, growth took advantage of the 
sound performance in the agricultural sector (+9.8% against +2%) which was supported by the 
exceptional olive season. For the industrial sector, the contribution to growth was weakly 
positive for all manufacturing sectors (+0.6% vs. +0.3%) and quite negative for non-
manufacturing ones (-1.1% vs. -4%). 
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Given these trends, the gap between GDP and its estimated potential level would have narrowed 
steadily in 2018 (cf. graphs 4-34 & 4-35). Hence, even if excess production capacity remains, 
in the economy, the latter are gradually absorbed, without exerting generalized pressures on 
production capacity and subsequently on the general level of prices, removing all inflationary 
pressure from demand. 
 

 

Graphic 4-34: Trend in GDP compared to its 
tendency  (annualized quarterly data) * 

Graphic 4-35:  Trend in the output gap (annual data, 
in %) 

Sources: National Statistics Institute and BCT calculations 
* Output potential used to calculate the output gap was estimated through two methods: the first method uses a 
Hodrick–Prescott filter with a correction of side effects. The second rather resorts to a Kalman filter integrated 
within the BCT’s medium term forecasting model. 
 

 

Wage costs in 2018 increased at a similar pace to that of the previous year in both the public and 
the private sectors (cf. graphs 4-36 & 4-37). In fact, wages continued to grow around 6.5% for the 
third year in a row, contributing to an increase in production costs and, consequently, in consumer 
prices. These increases have, in fact, maintained pressures on prices. 
 

 

Graphic 4-36: Quarterly trend in wages in non-
agricultural private sector (NAPS) 

Chart 4-37: Annual change in inflation and wages 
and salaries in the public sector1  

  
Source: Ministry of Finance and INS                                Source: National Statistics Institute and BCT Calculations 

 

                                      
1 Including the tax loans 
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As for the monetary gap, a closure or even positive spreads were recorded in 2018, indicating 
growing risks of inflationary pressures of monetary origin (cf. graphs 4-38 & 4-39). In fact, the 
M3 money aggregate evolved from year to year at an average rate of 10.1%, compared to 8.8% 
in 2017, reflecting the acceleration of loans to the economy (+11.3% vs. +10.8%), which 
benefited mainly professionals. As for net claims on the State, they maintained a sustained 
growth rate, although lower than that of 2017 (+14.8% against +16.2%). 
 

 

Graphic 4-38: Trend in inflation and in the M3-
GDP gap (quarterly data) 

Graphic 4-39: Trend in money encashment gaps 
(quarterly data)  

 

Sources: BCT and National Statistics Institute             Source: BCT 
 

 

It should be noted that despite the slight acceleration of the money supply within the meaning of 
M3 (+ 10.1%) in 2018, the evolution of the latter remains relatively consistent with the trend in 
the economic activity (+9.6% for nominal GDP). 

The acceleration of inflation partially reflects the more sustained trend than in the past, of 
industrial sale prices, which recorded, in 2018, a significant increase of 7.9% against 4.6% a 
year earlier. (cf. graphs 4-40 and 4-41), driven by the acceleration of the industrial sale price 
index for manufacturing industries (+8.9% vs. +4.2%) and more particularly, construction 
materials, ceramics & glass (+7.1% vs. +2.6%), mechanical and electrical industries (+9.1% vs. 
+6.9%), chemical industries (+15.0% vs. -0.9%) ) and those of the agro-food industries indexes 
(+7.1% vs. +6.7%). The same is true for the industrial sale price index excluding mining and 
chemical industries, the component that affects most consumer prices, which posted also an 
acceleration but less pronounced(+6.9% vs. +5.7% in 2017), reflecting the latent tensions on 
inflation. 
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Graphic 4-40: Trend in the industrial sale 
price index 

Graphic 4-41: Trend in the main components of 
industrial sale prices index 

 
Sources: National Statistics Institute and BCT calculations 

 

 

 

Table 4-6: Trend in the industrial sale price index                                                                 (Variation in %) 

Description Weight 
in % 2016 2017 2018 

Overall index 100 1.4 4.6 7.9 
Manufacturing industries 84.8 1.2 4.2 8.9 

- Agrofood industries 18.6 1.6 6.7 7.1 
- Building materials, ceramics and glass industries 5.1 3.2 2.6 7.1 
- Mechanical and electrical industries 25.9 0.9 6.9 9.1 
- Chemical industries 14.2 -0.8 -0.9 15.0 
- Textile, clothing and leather  14.8 2.6 2.8 5.2 
- Miscellaneous industries 6.2 1.1 3.6 9.5 

Mining 1.5 -0.1 -0.7 -0.3 
Energy 13.7 2.8 7.5 3.6 

- Fuel extracting 7.8 5.9 9.9 8.1 
- Oil refining 1.4 1.8 -1.8 13.9 
- Electricity production and distribution  4.0 0.0 3.1 9.1 
-Water catchment, treatment and supply 0.4 12.5 7.9 0.0 

Sources: National Statistics Institute and BCT calculations 
 

 

Regarding import prices, they were marked by a steady increase in 2018, going up by 18.4% 
against 16.5% a year earlier. This trend was the result of the almost general price increase, 
especially for mining, phosphates and by-products, which rebounded 26.6% compared with 12% 
in 2017, those of the textile and clothing and leather industries (+18.4% vs. +15%) and those of 
mechanical and electrical industries (+18.3% vs. +15,2%). As for energy and lubricant prices and 
prices in the agriculture and agro-food industries, they continued their steady growth but at a more 
moderate pace (+17.8% and +14% respectively compared to +27.7% and +16.2%).  

In terms of annual shift, a certain easing of import prices between the beginning and the end of 
2018is noticed, from 22.7% in January to 14% in December thanks to a slowdown in import 
prices of the mechanical and electrical industries and other manufacturing industries (+ 25.1% 
and + 30% in January against + 11.5% and + 12.7% in December 2018 respectively).  
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Despite this easing, the steady pace of import prices necessarily had an upward effect on 
domestic prices during the period under review. (cf. graphs 4-42 and 4-43). 
 

 
Graph 4-42: Monthly trend in import prices 
(annual shift) 

Graph 4-43: Monthly trend in  the Barrel of 
Brent’s price 

 
Sources: National Statistics Institute and BCT calculations  Sources: World Bank and BCT calculations  

 

Regarding the exchange rate, the dinar continued in 2018, its downward trend vis-à-vis major 
currencies. Indeed, in terms of annual averages, the dinar experienced a sharp depreciation of 
12.9% against the euro and 8.6% vis-à-vis the US dollar, against depreciations of 12.8% and 
11.3% respectively in 2017. This trend had a significant effect on consumer prices (cf. graphs 
4-44 and 4-45), especially manufactured products such as cars and spare parts  
(+15% and +20.8% against +12.4% and +8.0% respectively) as well as on the prices of 
unregulated processed food products (+8.9% against +8.3%). 
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Graphic 4-44 : Trend in the dinar’s exchange rate 
against the US dollar (quarterly shift) 

Graphic 4-45: Trend in the dinar’s exchange rate 
against the euro (quarterly shift) 

 
Sources: National Statistics Institute and BCT calculations 

 

 

Box 4-2: Adoption of a new base year for the CPI 

From January 2019, the National Statistics Institute officially published the index of household 
consumer prices for a new base year (base 100 in 2015). This index replaces the pervious one (base 
100 in 2010). The structure of this index is determined starting from the last survey on household 
consumption, conducted in 2015. Historically, it is the 9th series of indexes of consumer prices 
following those of 1962 - 1970 - 1977 - 1983 - 1990 - 2000 - 2005 and 2010. 

Goods and services entering the basket of the new index are classified into similar categories 
according to a hierarchical classification system: Divisions / Groups / Classes / Sections / Products/ 
Varieties. This classification, consistent with the COICOP nomenclature, is structured into 12 
divisions, 48 groups, 114 classes, 169 sections and 720 products and services. 

The weighting system is reviewed in the light of results of household consumption survey as 
indicated in the following table:  

Table 1: Weights of grouping of products and services by base year 

Description 

 
Weigh in 
base year 

2005 

 
Weigh in 
base year 

2010 

 
Weigh in 
base year 

2015 
01. Food and non alcoholic beverages 32.6 28.1 26.2 
02. Alcoholic beverages and tobacco 2.5 2.9 2.8 
03. Clothing and footwear items 9.2 8.4 7.4 
04. Housing, water, electric and other fuels 14.0 17.0 19.0 
05. Furniture, household items and household maintenance 7.8 6.8 6.0 
06. Health 6.3 5.6 5.8 
07. Transport 11.3 12.1 12.7 
08. Communication 3.6 5.6 4.6 
09. Leisure and culture 2.5 2.0 2.1 
10. Teaching 1.7 2.4 3.2 
11. Restaurant and hotels 4.6 4.3 4.6 
12. Miscellaneous goods and services 3.8 4.9 5.6 

Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 

Source: National Statistics Institute  
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Box 4-2:  

This table shows that the change in the base year gave less weight to food products, clothing and 
footwear, and communication services. On the other hand, higher weights were allocated to 
housing, home energy, transport and education. 

It should be noted that compared to the 2010 benchmark base index, which covers 1,030 products, 
the new base covers 720 products, but with a large expansion of product varieties to 5,174 
varieties. 

The other observation is the substantial increase in the number of sales outlets which went from 
3,452 for the base year 2010 to 4,062 for 2015. This increase mainly concerned supermarkets, 
stores and public and private service outlets. 

Changes in the weights, the number of varieties of products and services, and the geographic 
coverage have led to changes in the history of the CPI series and, consequently, differences in 
monthly changes and annual shifts between the two bases (2010 and 2015). The differences 
between the two bases are more noticeable in the prices of food products and services than in the 
prices of manufactured goods. 

Graphic 1: Annual shifts in the CPI by base year 

 
The change in the base year has led to a downward review of annual averages of headline inflation 
and core inflation since 2011. Hence, inflation calculated on 2015 basis, has been came in 2018,   at 
7.3% against 7.5% in the 2010 base. 

Tab 2 : Annual averages of inflation & core inflation by base year 

 Headline inflation Core inflation* 
 Base 2010 Base 2015 Base 2010 Base 2015 

2011 3.5 3.2 3.6 3.4 
2012 5.1 4.6 4.9 4.5 
2013 5.8 5.3 5.5 5.2 
2014 4.9 4.6 5.4 5.0 
2015 4.9 4.4 5.3 5.0 
2016 3.7 3.6 5.2 4.9 
2017 5.3 5.3 6.3 6.2 
2018 7.5 7.3 8.3 8.2 

* Excluding fresh products & products with regulated prices 
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In perspective, the pace of economic growth in 2019 is expected to be slightly lower than the 
previous year, in relation with the expected decline in value added in the agricultural sector, 
following the excellent harvest of olives for oil recorded in 2018. Excluding agriculture, the 
economy would continue to firming up gradually, keeping the growth rate on a gradual upward 
trend. 

By main activity sectors, the forecasts for moderate GDP growth reflect the following sectoral 
outlooks:  

 Agricultural sector output is expected to fall in 2019 after a sharp rise of 9.8% in 2018, due 
to the significant drop in olive for oil production (750 thousand tonnes after 1.6 million 
tonnes in 2018). The expected increase in cereal production (estimated at 23.3 million 
quintals for 20191 after 14.1 million in 2018) should somewhat mitigate the decline in value 
added in agriculture for the current year. 

 The industrial production should continue to rise moderately, after the counter-
performance of the previous year (Impact of the fall in the production of automotive 
industries in the Euro Zone on the production of mechanical and electrical industries in 
Tunisia). The recovery of imports from offshore industries, during the last quarter of 2018, 
foreshadows an increase in production during the coming months. Besides, the outlook for 
other manufacturing industries would remain mixed, given weaknesses in several subsectors. 
In particular, production in the agro-food industries would decline mainly as a result of 
declining olive production and ongoing slowdown in the production of other food products 
due to higher production costs. Also, the relatively weak prospects of phosphate production 
(Tense social climate in extraction zones, deterioration of production capacity, loss of market 
shares), would continue to weigh on the activity of chemical industries.  

 The decline in oil production is expected to continue, as a result of natural decline in the 
main fields. Uncertainty about the entry into production of NAWARA gas field, in 2019, is 
becoming increasingly important and suggests a still negative and significant contribution of 
the entire "Extraction of oil and natural gas" sector to economic growth and to current 
payments. 

 In terms of market services, the maintenance of security stability should favour further 
restoration of the tourism sector and related activities, with a promising tourism campaign. 
As for the commercial sector, the main sector of market services, its real dynamic would be 
felt by the high level of inflation which should keep it at relatively low levels. 

 The prospects for the added value of public administration would be almost nil, in relation 
with the State orientation towards the control of budget balances through a reduction of the 
deficit, reducing it from -4.9% in 2018 to - 3.9% in 2019. 

Potential growth in, 2019, remains below 2% (at constant 2010 prices) because of the moderate 
prospects for real investment. Maintaining effective growth (excluding agriculture) above 
potential growth would favour the gradual closing of the negative output gap (-0.9% in 2019 
after -1.1% in 2018) but would fuel pressure from global demand on the state of production and 
prices in the coming period.  

In terms of consumer prices2, recent forecasts point to a slight easing of inflation in 2019 (7% 
on average compared to 7.3% in 2018), while remaining at historically high levels on the short 
and medium term, because of persistent inflationary pressures from the main determinants of 
inflation.   

  

                                      
1 By the BCT departments 
2 Forecasts are established in the new 2015 base. 
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By major price components, the following changes are expected: 

 Inflation of regulated price products (26.5% of the basket) should evolve, in 2019, at a 
pace comparable to that of the previous year. Forecasts expect a rate of around 4.6% on 
average in 2019, almost the same rate recorded in 2018. The adjustment, on several 
occasions, of the prices at the pump, as well as the rise in prices of electricity and natural gas 
would be the main sources of tension on this consumer price component. Nevertheless, the 
move towards maintaining unchanged of the prices of several commodities and prevailing 
public tariffs should help to attenuate the pace of price growth of this component.  

 The surge in fresh food prices (12.7% of the basket) since 2018 is expected to continue in 
2019. After reaching 8.2% in 2018, fresh products are expected to be close to 9% in 2019. 
Pursuit of the progress pace of these prices above its usual rate (5% on average) bears the 
mark of the almost generalised increase in production and distribution costs (imported inputs, 
wage costs, energy). In addition, the expected improvement in market garden produce could 
ease price pressures relatively. 

 The outlook for core inflation (60.8% of the basket), as measured by the consumer price 
index excluding freshfood products and regulated prices products, remains a matter of 
concern, despite the slight deceleration expected in 2019. According to recent forecasts, the 
headline inflation rate would stand at 7.5% compared with 8.2% a year earlier, which 
remains, however, at a level well above its long-term level of 4%. Easing of depreciation of 
the dinar exchange rate and the restrictive stance of monetary policy (a 100 bp increase in the 
key interest rate in February 2019) would favour this relative easing of core inflation. 
However, this downward trend may be hampered by other key inflationary factors such as 
expected increases in international commodity prices and fresh and regulated commodities 
(like energy), which should continue to spread their effects indirectly in the coming months.  

Maintaining core inflation at still high levels, compared with growth potential of less than 2% 
over the forecast horizon, could delay recovery of global balances on the medium term.    
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4-4. Distribution of credit     12/26/06/2019 

4-4-1 Trends in the outstanding balance of loans 
The outstanding balance of loans excluding surety bonds granted by banks and financial 
institutions to the economy, as recorded by the Risk Unit and the Central Unit for loans to 
individuals reached about 88.9 billion dinars at the end of 2018, going up by 8.8% compared to 
13.4% a year earlier. 

 

 

Graphic 4-46 : Trend in the overall outstanding 
balance of loans by category of beneficiaries 

Graphic 4-47 : Trend in the overall outstanding 
balance of loans by term 

 
 

 

By category of beneficiaries, the deceleration of loans to the economy is attributable both to the 
5.3-percentage point drop in the outstanding balance of loans to individuals’ growth pace, 
relevant mainly to housing loans, and the 4.4-percentage point  drop in  the outstanding balance 
of loans to professionals. 

By term, the slower pace of the outstanding balance of loans originates basically from the 
significant deceleration of medium and long-term loans granted to professionals. 

This slowdown would go on in 2019, with set up of the «credit/deposit» ratio1, a new macro-
prudential norm allowing for a better adequacy between resources and uses as well as control of 
the risk relative to maturity transformation.  

  

                                      
1 Circular to banks n°2018-10 of 10 November 2018 relative to «credit/deposit» ratio. 
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Table 4-7: Breakdown by beneficiary, sector and term of the outstanding balance of loans to the economy 
(In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2016 2017 2018 
Variation in % 

2017 
2016 

2018 
2017 

Loans to businesses and to professionals 51,478 58,994 65,022 14.6 10.2 
      Short term 28,123 32,826 37,372 16.7 13.8 
      Medium & long term 23,355 26,168 27,650 12.0 5.7 

- Agriculture & fishing1 2,336 2,650 2,745 13.4 3.6 
Short term 1,330 1,515 1,582 13.9 4.4 
Medium & long term 1,006 1,135 1,163 12.8 2.5 

- Industry 18,428 21,480 24,443 16.6 13.8 
Short term 12,246 14,676 17,448 19.8 18.9 
Medium & long term 6,182 6,804 6,995 10.1 2.8 

- Services 30,714 34,864 37,834 13.5 8.5 
Short term 14,547 16,635 18,342 14.4 10.3 
Medium & long term 16,167 18,229 19,492 12.8 6.9 
Loans to individuals 20,559 22,713 23,897 10.5 5.2 

- Consumer loans 11,304 12,318 12,853 9.0 4.3 
Short term 2,556 2,839 3,098 11.1 9.1 
Medium & long term 8,748 9,479 9,755 8.4 2.9 

- Housing loans 9,255 10,395 11,044 12.3 6.2 
Medium & long term 9,255 10,395 11,044 12.3 6.2 
Total 72,037 81,707 88,919 13.4 8.8 
Short term 30,679 35,665 40,470 16.3 13.5 
Medium & long term 41,358 46,042 48,449 11.3 5.2 

1 This involves loans granted directly to farmers and fishermen. 
 

 

The share of loans granted to both enterprises and professionals in the outstanding balance of 
loans to the economy continues to go up to the detriment of the one of loans to individuals, 
which posted a rather more pronounced slowdown.  
 
 
Graphic 4-48: Breakdown of the outstanding balance of loans granted by categories of beneficiaries 
(from 2016 to 2018) 
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4-4-2 Trend in the outstanding balance of loans to professionals 
4-4-2-1 Breakdown of the outstanding balance of loans to professionals  

Deceleration of the outstanding balance of loans to professionals is due to the combined effect 
of the slower progress pace of the outstanding balance of loans to private and public enterprises, 
down by 4.1% and 9.2% respectively.  
 
 

Table 4-8: Breakdown of the outstanding balance of loans between public and private enterprises and by 
sector                           (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2016 2017 2018 
Variation in % 
2017 
2016 

2018 
2017 

Agriculture & fishing 2,336 2,650 2,745 13.4 3.6 
Public companies 96 109 116 13.5 6.4 
Private companies 2,240 2,541 2,629 13.4 3.5 

Industry 18,428 21,480 24,443 16.6 13.8 
Public companies 936 1,429 1,679 52.7 17.5 
Private companies 17,492 20,051 22,764 14.6 13.5 

Services 30,714 34,864 37,834 13.5 8.5 
Public companies 2,738 3,045 3,357 11.2 10.2 
Private companies 27,976 31,819 34,477 13.7 8.4 

Loans to businesses and to professionals 51,478 58,994 65,022 14.6 10.2 
Public companies 3,770 4,583 5,152 21.6 12.4 
Private companies 47,708 54,411 59,870 14.1 10.0 

 
 

The slower growth pace of the outstanding balance of loans granted to public enterprises is 
attributable to the decrease in liabilities of the Tunisian company of Refining Industries (STIR), 
the Tunisian Enterprise of Oil Activities (ETAP) and Tunisie Télécom (TT) and this despite a 
significant increase in liabilities of the Tunisian Enterprise of Electricity and Gas (STEG), the 
Cereals Board (OC) and the Central Pharmacy of Tunisia (PCT). 
 
 
Graphic4-49: Trend in the breakdown of the outstanding balance of professional loans between public 
and private companies 
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The outstanding balance of loans granted to enterprises that are part of business groups evolved 
from 30.5 billion dinars in 2017 to 33.8 billion dinars in 2018: up by 10.8%. The share of these 
loans in the overall outstanding balance of loans to professionals increased very slightly, going 
from 51.7% in 2017 to 51.9% in 2018. 

Public banks contributed to financing of the economy, up to 24.4 billion dinars against  
21.5 billion dinars a year before, recording a growth rate of 13.5% against 14.6% in 2017. They 
could, thus, increase their market share which went from 36.4% in 2017 to 37.5% in 2018. 

The Banque Nationale Agricole (BNA) covered 35.6% of loans granted directly to the 
agriculture and fishing sector. The Société Tunisienne de Banque (STB) ensured more than 
33.7% of loans granted to tourism and Banque de l’Habitat (BH) covered 26.7% of loans 
granted to the real estate sector. 
 
 
Graphic 4-50: Trend in the breakdown of the outstanding balance of professional loans between public 
banks and private ones 

 
 

On the other hand, activity of the National Fund to Promote Handicraft and Small Trades 
(FONAPRAM) has, as of its creation obtained from the banking sector approval of  
75,527 projects for an amount of investment worth 1,208 MTD financed up to 724.4 MTD by 
medium term bank loans, 402 MTD by budget allocations and other external resources and  
81.6 MTD by self-financing. 

As for the Banque Tunisienne de Solidarité (BTS), specialized in financing small-scale projects, 
it approved of 190.672 projects for an overall cost of 2.159 MTD which should create more than 
316 thousand jobs, 53,820 projects of which were approved in the framework of FONAPRAM 
for a global cost of 810 MTD, likely to create more than 214 thousand jobs.   

Besides, from its creation and till the end of 2018, the Banque de Financement des Petites  
et Moyennes Entreprises (BFPME) has financed 1,621 projects for an overall investment cost of 
1.3 billion dinars, likely to create more than 29.9 thousand jobs.  

4-4-2-2 Breakdown of the outstanding balance of loans to professionals by sector of 
activity  

Sectoral breakdown of the outstanding balance of loans to professionals shows a drop in the 
share of loans granted to the services and agriculture and fishing sectors in favour of the 
industry one. 
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Graphic 4-51: Trend in the share of the outstanding balance of professional loans by sector of activity 

 
 

4-4-2-2-1 Financing agriculture and fishing sector 
Bank financing granted to this sector encompasses, aside from loans granted directly to farmers 
and fishermen, indirect loans granted to agricultural products and material marketing structures 
and retroceded with the same conditions to farmers and fishermen. 

The outstanding balance of loans granted whether directly or indirectly to the agriculture and 
fishing sector grew by 9% at the end of 2018 against 10.7% in 2017. This deceleration is 
attributable, mainly, to the drop in the progress pace of the outstanding balance of direct loans, 
offset by an acceleration in that of indirect loans. 

The deceleration in direct loans is attributable, to a decrease in areas planted with large-scale 
farming and the exceptional production of olives over 2017-2018 campaign, which helped to 
pay farmers’ debt maturities. 

It should be pointed out that some measures were taken for granting supplementary loans to 
cover expenditure related to adjuvant weeding and fertilisation with respect to the large-scale 
farming 2017-2018 campaign1 and the ones relative to rescheduling decided for farmers hit by 
drought over the 2017-2018 agricultural campaign2. 

The speeded up outstanding balance of indirect loans is mainly attributable to the increase in 
commitments granted to the Cereals Board and the National Oil Board with respect to strategic 
products’ supply. 

  

                                      
1 Note to banks n°2018-03 of 1st February 2018 relative to fixing the amount of supplementary loans to 
cover expenditure related to adjuvant weeding and fertilisation with respect to the large-scale farming 
2017-2018 campaign. 
2 Note to banks n°2018-29 of 26 October 2018 relative to rescheduling debts of farmers hit by drought in 
2017-2018 agricultural campaign. 
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Table 4-9: Outstanding balance of loans granted to the agriculture and fishing sector            (In MTD) 

Description 
Short term loans Medium & long 

term loans Total 

2016 2017 2018 2016 2017 2018 2016 2017 2018 

Direct loans 1,330 1,515 1,582 1,006 1,135 1,163 2,336 2,650 2,745 

Indirect loans 1,000 1,071 1,315 264 264 284 1,264 1,335 1,599 

Agricultural products marketing structures 1,000 1,071 1,315 99 94 116 1,099 1,165 1,431 

of which :National Oil Board 96 107 112 54 46 31 150 153 143 

 Cereals Board 639 714 969 0 0 0 639 714 969 
 SMCSAB (ex. Central Wheat  Cooperative)1 28 29 10 2 8 4 30 37 14 

 SMCSAGC (ex. Central Cooperative 
for Large Scale Cropping)2 72 78 83 18 12 9 90 90 92 

Agricultural material marketing companies 0 0 0 165 170 168 165 170 168 

Total 2,330 2,586 2,897 1,270 1,399 1,447 3,600 3,985 4,344 
1 Central mutual company for agricultural services of wheat (SMCSAB). 
2 Central mutual company for agricultural services of large-scale farming (SMCSAGC). 
 
 

4-4-2-2-2 Financing of the industrial sector  
Totalling 24,443 MTD at the end of 2018 against 21,480 MTD in the previous year, the 
outstanding balance of loans granted to the industrial sector made a 13.8% progress against 
16.6% a year before. This deceleration was relevant to the medium and long term outstanding 
balance of loans and to a lesser degree that of short-term loans. 

The 7.3% slowdown in the outstanding balance of medium and long term loans was mainly due to 
a drop in the outstanding balance of loans to metallurgy and metal work branch (-1% vs. +20.9% 
in 2017), as well as the one of construction (-2.1% vs. +19.2% in 2017). 

As for the growth pace of the outstanding balance of short-term loans, it regressed slightly by 
0.9%. This decrease is mainly relevant to the branches of agrofood (+14.5% vs. +26.4 in 2017), 
and that of non-metallic mineral products (+9.3% vs. +14.1% in 2017). 
 
 

 
Table 4-10: Breakdown of the outstanding balance of loans granted to the industrial sector by branch of 
activity                                   (In MTD) 

Description 
Short term loans Medium & long term 

loans Total 

2016 2017 2018 2016 2017 2018 2016 2017 2018 

- Agrofood industries 3,586 4,533 5,189 1,261 1,452 1,605 4,847 5,985 6,794 
- Other non- metal mineral 
product manufacturing 1,437 1,621 2,248 431 521 516 1,868 2,142 2,764 

- Construction 1,361 1,574 1,768 838 999 978 2,199 2,573 2,746 
- Metallurgy and metal work 1,028 1,173 1,282 1,464 1,478 1,404 2,492 2,651 2,686 
- Chemical industries 852 983 1,216 460 480 584 1,312 1,463 1,800 
Paper/cardboard and 
publishing/printing 575 681 861 335 341 358 910 1,022 1,219 

Rubber and plastics industries 623 761 883 298 294 279 921 1,055 1,162 
- Other industrial branches 2,784 3,350 4,001 1,095 1,239 1,271 3,879 4,589 5,272 
Total 12,246 14,676 17,448 6,182 6,804 6,995 18,428 21,480 24,443 
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4-4-2-2-3 Financing of the services sector 
Financing granted to the services sector, which accounts for more than 58% of loans to the 
economy, posted a slower growth pace, down from 13.5% in 2017 to 8.5% in 2018.  

This deceleration concerned mainly the outstanding balance of medium and long term loans 
which went down by 5.9%, involving financial activities, transport and communication as well 
as trade.  

The outstanding balance of management loans grew at a slower pace by 4.1%, involving real 
estate, financial activities and tourism branches. 
 

 

Table 4-11: Breakdown of the outstanding balance of loans granted to the services sector by branch of 
activity                     (In MTD) 

Description Short term loans Medium & long 
term loans Total 

2016 2017 2018 2016 2017 2018 2016 2017 2018 
- Trade, automobile repair 
and household items 7,924 9,236 10,374 3,025 3,478 3,832 10,949 12,714 14,206 

- Real estate, renting & service to  
   businesses 1,937 2,260 2,225 4,180 4,324 4,800 6,117 6,584 7,025 

- Hotels and restaurants 1,970 2,054 1,967 2,525 2,580 2,566 4,495 4,634 4,533 
- Transport & communications 992 1,004 1,318 2,949 2,982 2,758 3,941 3,986 4,076 
- Financial activities 857 1,112 1,250 1,760 2,298 2,723 2,617 3,410 3,973 
- Health & social services 186 199 391 221 873 843 407 1,072 1,234 
- Collective, social and personal  
  services 128 150 161 772 888 1,017 900 1,038 1,178 

- Public administration 406 451 495 470 539 623 876 990 1,118 
- Education 34 52 40 137 137 200 171 189 240 
- Other services  113 117 121 128 130 130 241 247 251 

Total 14,547 16,635 18,342 16,167 18,229 19,492 30,714 34,864 37,834 
 

 

4-4-2-3 Unpaid and disputed claims 

The outstanding balance of unpaid or disputed claims grew at a faster pace, going up from  
7,919 MTD in 2017 to 8,878 MTD in 2018. Thus, the rate of unpaid or disputed claims grew 
from 13.4% in 2017 to 13.7% in 2018, compared to an increase in loans to professionals that 
came to 14.6% and 10.2% from one year to the next.  
 

 

Graphic4-52:Trend in unpaid or disputed claims 
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Table 4-12: Breakdown of the outstanding balance of unpaid and disputed claims by sector 
(In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 

2017 2018 Share in total 
(in %) 

Unpaid 
& 

disputed 

Total 
loans 

Share 
(in %) 

Unpaid 
& 

disputed 

Total 
loans 

Share 
(in %) 2017 2018 

Agriculture and fishing sector 642 2,650 24.2 666 2,745 24.3 8.1 7.5 
Agriculture, hunting 
and forestry activities 556 2,368 23.5 585 2,460 23.8 7.0 6.6 

Fishing and fish breeding 86 282 30.5 81 285 28.4 1.1 0.9 
Industrial sector 2,546 21,480 11.9 2,850 24,443 11.7 32.2 32.1 
- Agrofood industries 539 5,985 9.0 667 6,794 9.8 6.8 7.5 
- Metallurgy and metal work 190 2,142 8.9 205 2,764 7.4 2.4 2.3 
- Construction 445 2,573 17.3 478 2,746 17.4 5.6 5.4 
- Other non- metallic mineral 
products  298 2,651 11.2 325 2,686 12.1 3.8 3.7 

- Chemical industries 104 1,463 7.1 112 1,800 6.2 1.3 1.3 
- Paper/cardboard and 
publishing/printing 115 1022 11.3 128 1,219 10.5 1.5 1.4 

-Rubber and plastic industries 154 1,055 14.6 150 1,162 12.9 1.9 1.7 
Other industrial sectors 701 4,589 15.3 785 5,272 14.9 8.9 8.8 
Services sector 4,731 34,864 13.6 5,362 37,834 14.2 59.7 60.4 
- Trade, automobile repair 
and household items 1,413 12,714 11.1 1,611 14,206 11.3 17.8 18.1 

- Real estates, rent and services  
  to businesses 1,040 6,584 15.8 1,122 7,025 16.0 13.1 12.6 

- Hotel and restaurants 1,529 4,634 33.0 1,475 4,533 32.5 19.3 16.6 
- Transport and communications 292 3,986 7.3 628 4,076 15.4 3.7 7.1 
- Financial activities 110 3,410 3.2 165 3,973 4.2 1.4 1.9 
Public Administration 1 1,072 0.1 1 1,234 0.1 0.0 0.0 
- Health and social services 57 1,038 5.5 65 1,178 5.5 0.7 0.7 
- Collective, social and personal  
  services 213 990 21.5 218 1,118 19.2 2.7 2.5 

- Education 23 189 12.2 25 240 10.4 0.3 0.3 
-Other services 53 247 21.5 52 251 20.7 0.7 0.6 
Total 7,919 58,994 13.4 8,878 65,022 13.7 100.0 100.0 

 

 

Breakdown of the outstanding balance of unpaid or disputed professional claims by sector of 
activity shows a slight decrease in the share of the agriculture and fishing sector, down from 
8.1% in 2017 to 7.5% in 2018, and the sector of industry which regressed from 32.2% in 2017 
to 32.1% in 2018.  

However, the share of the sector of services went up from 59.7% to 60.4% between 2017 and 
2018. 

Worth of note also that the financing budget line meant to back up financial restructuring of 
small and medium-sized businesses1 set up in the framework of 2018 finance law and by 
government decree n°2018-324 of 29 March 2018, would support businesses having economic 
difficulties and consequently reduce the outstanding balance of unpaid or disputed claims. 

                                      
1 Note to banks n°2018-05 of 29 May 2018 relative to management terms for the budget line meant to 
back up financial restructuring of small and medium-sized businesses.     
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Graphic4-53: Breakdown of unpaid and disputed claims by branch of activity 

 
 

Worth of note also that five activity branches took up 5,541 MTD or about 62.3% of the overall 
outstanding balance of unpaid or disputed professional claims which are broken down as 
follows: 

 Trade, automobile repair and household items: 1,611 MTD or 18.1%, 

 Hotels and restaurants: 1,475 MTD or 16.6% 

 Real estate, renting and services to businesses: 1,122 MTD or 12.6%, 

 Agrofood industries: 667 MTD or 7.5%, and 

 Agriculture, and fishing: 666 MTD or 7.5%.  

 

4-4-3 Financing of individuals 
Individuals’ overall indebtedness from the banking sector totalled 23,897 MTD in 2018 against 
22,713 MTD in the previous year: up by 5.2% against 10.5 % in 2017. This deceleration is 
attributable to monetary policy tightening as well as macro-prudential measures and concerned 
housing loans and consumer loans. 

On the other hand, the “First House”1 programme established within the framework of the 2017 
finance law helped to finance the acquisition of 764 houses for a total amount of use worth  
19.8 million dinars at the end of 2018, corresponding to 9.9% of allocated funds. Worth of note 
that in January 2019 certain terms relative to this programme were eased to increase 
attractiveness, results are expected in 2019. 

  

                                      
1 Note to banks n°2019-05 of 22 February 2019 modifying note to banks n°2017-19 of 11 April 2017, relative to 
terms practiced in use of the financing line of 200 million dinars allocated to cover self-financing in order to acquire 
first housing. Cf. provisions of article 61 of law n°2016-78 of 17 December 2016, providing for the finance law of 
2017. 
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Table 4-13: Breakdown of the outstanding balance of loans granted to individuals by financing category 

(In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2016 2017 2018 
Variation in % 

2017 
2016 

2018 
2017 

Housing loans 9,255 10,395 11,044 12.3 6.2 
Consumer loans 11,304 12,318 12,853 9.0 4.3 
Housing fitting out 8,375 9,085 9,373 8.5 3.2 
Vehicles 299 322 315 7.9 -2.1 
Solar water heating 60 59 56 -1.7 -4.6 
Family computer 9 8 7 -13.0 -8.9 
University loans 5 5 3 -6.4 -32.6 
Other  2,556 2,839 3,098 11.1 9.1 
Total 20,559 22,713 23,897 10.5 5.2 
 
 

Moreover, the growth pace of the outstanding balance of unpaid and disputed claims regressed 
by 3.8 percentage points. This deceleration is mainly attributable to the slower growth pace of 
the outstanding balance of disputed loans offset by the faster pace of the outstanding balance of 
unpaid claims. 
 
 
Table 4-14: Breakdown of the outstanding balance of unpaid and disputed claims concerning loans to 
individuals by financing category               (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description December 
2016 

December 
2017 

December 
2018 

Variation 
2017 
2016 

2018 
2017 

In 
MTD In% In 

MTD In % 

Disputed claims 408 457 459 49 12.0 2 0.4 
Total Overdue 400 428 477 28 7.0 49 11.4 

- Unpaid housing 243 255 278 12 4.9 23 9.0 
- Unpaid consumption 157 173 199 16 10.2 26 15.0 
of which :  
Unpaid housing fitting out 91 106 126 15 16.5 20 18.9 

Total (unpaid + disputed claims) 808 885 936 77 9.5 51 5.8 
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Chapter 5 – Activity and operating 
of banks and financial institutions 

16/06/2018 

15/07/2019 
At the end of 2018, the number of authorized banks and financial institutions in Tunisia stood at 
42 units. These are broken down between 23 resident banks, 8 leasing institutions,  
2 factoring companies, 2 merchant banks and 7 non-resident banks.  

Over 2018, the activity of these institutions slowed down compared to 2017, as shown by the 
progress of total assets by 10.3% in 2018 compared to 12.4% in 2017. The share of banks’ and 
financial institutions’ assets in GDP went up by 50 basis points, up to 125.7%. 

Concurrently, the bank branches’ network increased by 53 branches over 2018, up to  
1,913 branches, corresponding to one branch per 6,038 inhabitants against a branch per  
6,154 inhabitants at the end of 2017. 
 
 

Table 5-1: Main indicators related to banks and financial institutions 
 2016 2017 2018* 

Structure and size    
Number 43 42 42 
Resident banks 23 23 23 
Non-resident banks 7 7 7 
Leasing institutions 8 8 8 
Factoring institutions 3 2 2 
Merchant banks 2 2 2 
Total assets (in MTD) 107,691 121,029 133,482 
Resident banks’ share (in %) 91.9 91.7 91.8 
Total assets/GDP in current prices (in %) 118.9 125.2 125.7 
Loans to customers (in MTD) 70,044 78,898 86,324 
Customers deposits (in MTD) 58,086 64,772 70,515 
Banking services indicators    
Bank branch network 1,774 1,860 1,913 
Number of inhabitants per bank branch 6,369 6,154  6,038 
*Provisional data. 
 
 

5-1. Resident banks 

5-1-1 Activity 

5-1-1-1 Trend in resources 
In 2018, banking resources grew less significantly than the previous year, coming to  
6,056 MTD or 8.9% compared to 6,759 MTD or 11.1%. This deceleration concerned 
customers’ deposits (8.7 % in 2018 vs. 11% in 2017), as well as medium and long-term 
borrowing resources (11.6% in 2018 vs. 12.2% in 2017). 
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Table 5-2: Raised operating resources                                                 (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

 2016 2017 2018* 

Variation 
2017 
2016 

2018 
2017 

In 
MTD 

In 
% 

In 
MTD 

In 
% 

Customers deposits 56,518 62,739 68,221 6,221 11.0 5,482 8.7 

Sight deposits and other sums due 22,804 26,539 28,430 3,735 16.4 1,891 7.1 

Savings deposits 16,687 18,440 20,401 1,753 10.5 1,961 10.6 

Forward accounts 13,386 14,444 16,155 1,058 7.9 1,711 11.8 

Certificates of deposits 3,641 3,316 3,235 -325 -8.9 -81 -2.4 
Medium and long term 
borrowings’ resources 4,426 4,964 5,538 538 12.2 574 11.6 

Special resources 3,286 3,603 4,050 317 9.6 447 12.4 

Ordinary debenture loans 990 1,013 875 23 2.3 -138 -13.6 

Other borrowings 150 348 613 198 132.0 265 76.1 

Total operating resources 60,944 67,703 73,759 6,759 11.1 6,056 8.9 
* Provisional data. 
 

 

By category of deposits, this depreciation concerned mainly sight deposits, the growth pace of 
which decreased by more than a half compared to 2017: 7.1% or 1,891 MTD in 2018 against 
16,4% or 3,735 MTD in 2017. Certificates of deposits continued to drop at a less sharp pace:  
-2.4% in 2018 compared to -8.9% in 2017. However, the year 2018 recorded an improvement of 
the growth paces of forward accounts (11.8% or 1,711 MTD vs. 7.9% or 1,058 MTD in 2017) 
and savings deposits (10.6% or 1,961 MTD vs. 10.5% or 1,753 MTD in 2017).  

By category of depositors, the slower growth of the outstanding balance of deposits concerned 
all depositors, mainly private companies and institutionals. 
 
 

Table 5-3: Trend in deposits by category of depositors                                 (In %) 
Category 2017 2018 

Private companies 11.7 4.0 
Private individuals  10.2 9.9 
Institutionals  -1.1 -8.2 
Non-residents 19.1 17.0 
 
 

These trends had an impact on the deposits structure with a consolidation of the share of 
forward deposits (+0.7 percentage point) and savings deposits (+0.5 percentage point) against a 
decrease in the share of certificates of deposit and sight deposits by 0.6 percentage point 
respectively.  
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Graphic 5-1: Trends in the structure of deposits 
 (In %) 

Graphic 5-2: Raised deposits by category of 
depositors (In %) 

 

 

By category of depositors, the deposits structure posted a decrease in the share of institutionnals’ 
deposits (-1.4 percentage point) and of private companies (-1 percentage point) against an increase 
in the shares of non-residents (+1.5 percentage point) and private individuals (0.9 percentage 
point).  

In 2018, medium and long term borrowing resources rose at a less important pace than the one 
recorded in 2017: 11.6% against 12.2%. This trend results from the decrease in bond 
borrowings by 138 MTD or 13.6% and the decelerated progress pace of the other borrowings, 
corresponding to 76.1% against 132% in 2017, while special resources recorded an increase of 
12.4% compared to 9.6% a year before. 

5-1-1-2 Trend in uses  

Resident banks’ uses grew at a decelerated pace (7,369 MTD or 8.4% against 9,607 MTD or 
12.3% in 2017) which concerned loans to customers (7,194 MTD or 9.8% against 7,950 MTD 
or 12.2% in 2017) as well as securities portfolio (175 MTD or 1.2% against 1,657 MTD or 
12.8% in 2017).  

Consequently, banks recorded an average «Credits/Deposits» ratio1 of about 130.7%, at the end 
of 2018, corresponding to a higher level than the one recorded in 2017 (127.4%). 

  

                                      
1 As provided for by circular to banks n° 2018-10 of 01 November 2018. 
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Table 5-4: Uses                                                                                    (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

 2016 2017 2018* 

Variation 
2017 
2016 

2018 
2017 

In 
MTD 

In 
 % 

In 
MTD 

In  
% 

Loans to customers 65,264 73,214 80,408 7,950 12.2 7,194 9.8 
Securities portfolio  12,926 14,583 14,758 1,657 12.8 175 1.2 
of which        

Shareholding and similar securities  3,156 3,429 3,888 273 8.7 459 13.4 
Transactions and placements securities 789 739 952 -50 -6.3 213 28.8 
Bonds 346 328 282 -18 -5.2 -46 -14.0 
Treasury bonds 7,749 8,523 8,267 774 10.0 -256 -3.0 

Overall uses 78,190 87,797 95,166 9,607 12.3 7,369 8.4 

*Provisional data. 
 

Compared to 2017, the rates applied to credit operations increased overall, involving all 
categories of loans, influenced by an increase in the money market rate by 184 basis points.  
 
 

Table 5-5: Trends in average effective rates (AER) by category of loan* 

Description 2016 2017 2018 

Variation 
2017 
2016 

2018 
2017 

In % In % 

Average money market rate 4.25 4.86 6.70 0.61 1.84 

AER/Housing loans 7.63 8.20 9.53 0.57 1.33 

AER/Overdrafts 8.60 8.97 10.16 0.37 1.19 

AER/Long term loans 6.92 7.66 9.10 0.74 1.44 

AER/Medium term loans 7.14 7.56 9.17 0.42 1.61 

AER/Consumer loans 8.64 9.06 10.57 0.42 1.51 

AER/Short term loans 6.61 7.20 8.76 0.59 1.56 

*Rates of the second half of the year.  
 
 
 

5-1-2 Operating results 
Net Banking Proceed (NBP) of resident banks progressed by 690 MTD or 16.8% in 2018 
compared to 639 MTD or 18.4% in 2017, coming to 4,807 MTD, as a result of the significant 
progress of the interest margin (434 MTD or 21.2% in 2018 compared to 275 MTD or 15.5% in 
2017) and income from investment securities portfolio (196 MTD or 50.4% in 2018 compared 
to 91 MTD or 30.5% in 2017). 
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Table 5-6: Operating results                                                                 (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2016 2017 2018* 

Variation 

2017 
2016 

2018 
2017 

In 
MTD 

In % In 
MTD 

In % 

Interest margin 1,770 2,045 2,479 275 15.5 434 21.2 

Net commissions 837 941 1,054 104 12.4 113 12.0 

Gains on commercial securities-portfolio 573 742 689 169 29.5 -53 -7.1 

Income from investment securities portfolio 298 389 585 91 30.5 196 50.4 

Net banking proceed 3,478 4,117 4,807 639 18.4 690 16.8 

Operating costs 1,701 1,958 2,286 257 15.1 328 16.8 

   of which : wage bill 1,283 1,484 1,586 201 15.7 102 6.9 

* Provisional data. 

 

Following these trends, the NBP structure was marked by consolidation of the contribution of 
income from investment securities-portfolio and the interest margin (2.8 percentage points and 
1.9 percentage points respectively), compared to a drop in the contribution of income from 
gains on commercial securities-portfolio (3.7 percentage points) and commissions (1 percentage 
point).  
 

Graphic 5-3: Trend in NBP structure 

 
 

 

Influenced by the money market rate increase, the average yield of loans and the average cost of 
deposits went up respectively by 1.4 and 0.7 percentage points. As a result, the net 
intermediation margin improved by 0.7 percentage points, coming to 3.9% at the end of 2018. 
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Graphic 5-4: Trend in the banking intermediation margin 

 
 

Despite the increase in operating costs by 16.8%, the operating ratio of 2018 stood at the same 
level as the one of the year before: 47.6%, following an important increase in NBP. 

5-2. Leasing institutions 

5-2-1 Activity  
In 2018, the activity of leasing sector slowed down. In fact, the outstanding balance of leasing 
increased by only 4.8% against 21.5% in 2017, coming to 4,507 MTD at the end of 2018, 
funded up to 74.3% by borrowing resources, of which 52.7% are bank borrowings and 30.9% 
are bond borrowings. Worth of note, that this sector raised 117.7 million dinars of bond 
resources in 2018 compared to 158.3 million dinars in 2017: down by 25.7%.   
 

 

Table 5-7: Trend in the outstanding balance of leasing and borrowing resources  
 (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

 

Description 2016 2017 2018* 
Outstanding balance of leasing 3,542 4,302 4,507 
Borrowing resources 2,612 3,121 3,349 
       of which : Bank resources (in %) 48.4 49.1 52.7 
                        Bond resources (in %) 39.2 34.4 30.9 

*Provisional data. 
 

 

5-2-2 Operating results  
Leasing institutions’ net proceed decreased by 5.4% or 10 MTD compared to an increase of 
18.6% or 29 MTD recorded a year before, in the wake of a decrease by 7.8% or 13 MTD in the 
interest margin.  
 
 

Table 5-8: Operating indicators                                                                     (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2016 2017 2018* 

Interest margin 143 167 154 
Net proceed 156 185 175 
Operating costs 59 75 79 

* Provisional data. 
 

6.0 
6.5 

7.9 

3.1 3.3 
4.0 

2.9 3.2 
3.9 

2016 2017 2018

In
%

 

Average yield of loans Deposits cost Net intermediation margin



Activity and operating of lending institutions 

Annual Report 2018 123
 

The operating ratio deteriorated in 2018 by 4.6 percentage points, going from 40.5% in 2017 to 
45.1% in 2018. 

5-3. Non-resident banks 

5-3-1 Activity 

5-3-1-1 Operating resources 

The outstanding balance of non-resident banks’ resources decreased in 2018: 4.8% or  
92.4 M$US compared to an increase by 3.4% or 62.5 M$US a year earlier. The structure of 
resources is made up, mainly, of customers’ deposits (37.5% vs. 38.1% in 2017), bank borrowings 
(23% vs. 26.1% in 2017) and equity (20% vs. 13.9% in 2017) 
 

 
Graphic 5-5: Non-resident banks’ resources at the 
end of 2017 

 

Graphic 5-6 : Non-resident banks’ resources at the 
end of 2018

 
 

 

 

 

 

Table 5-9: Trends in non-resident banks’ resources                               (In M$ U.S unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 
In million $ US 

Variation 
2017 
2016 

2018 
2017 

2016 2017 2018* In M$ US In % In M$ US In % 
Banks borrowings 472.2 503.0 420.8 30.8 6.5 -82.2 -16.3 
Based in Tunisia 175.4 181.8 172.2 6.4 3.6 -9.6 -5.3 
Based abroad 296.8 321.2 248.6 24.4 8.2 -72.6 -22.6 
Customers’ deposits 670.5 734.2 686.6 63.7 9.5 -47.6 -6.5 
Resident 10.1 54.6 23.2 44.5 440.6 -31.4 -57.5 
Non-resident 660.4 679.6 663.4 19.2 2.9 -16.2 -2.4 
Other resources 237.5 162.4 256.9 -75.1 -31.6 94.5 58.2 
Equity  239.5 267.8 366.6 28.3 11.8 98.8 36.9 
Provisions 243.1 257.9 102.0 14.8 6.1 -155.9 -60.4 
Total resources 1,862.8 1,925.3 1,832.9 62.5 3.4 -92.4 -4.8 

* Provisional data. 
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5-3-1-2 Trend in uses  
Non-resident banks’ uses declined by 6.9% or 135.4 M$US compared to an increase by 5.4% or 
100.6% M$US in 2017. This drop concerned, notably, loans granted to residents (-123.1 M$US 
or -37.3%). 

The share of consumer loans in total uses fell by 2.1 percentage points to 22.2%. 
 

 

Table 5-10: Trends in non-resident banks’ uses                                    (In M$ U.S unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 
In million $ US 

Variation 
2017 
2016 

2018 
2017 

2016 2017 2018* In M$ 
US In % In M$ 

US In % 

Treasury operations 1,126.5 1,233.9 1,105.2 107.4 9.5 -128.7 -10.4 

of which : placements at banks 797.3 852.3 759.3 55 6.9 -93 -10.9 

Based in Tunisia 300.3 413.1 375.1 112.8 37.6 -38 -9.2 

Based abroad 497 439.2 384.2 -57.8 -11.6 -55 -12.5 

Loans 419.4 477.4 405.6 58 13.8 -71.8 -15.0 

to residents 196.3 329.9 206.8 133.6 68.1 -123.1 -37.3 

to non-residents 223.1 147.5 198.8 -75.6 -33.9 51.3 34.8 

Securities portfolio 179.6 169.0 159.0 -10.6 -5.9 -10 -5.9 

Other uses 137.3 83.1 158.2 -54.2 -39.5 75.1 90.4 

Total operating uses 1,862.8 1,963.4 1,828.0 100.6 5.4 -135.4 -6.9 

* Provisional data. 
 

 
 

 
 

Graphic 5-7: Non-resident banks’ uses at the 
end of 2017 

Graphic 5-8: Non-resident banks’ uses at the end 
of 2018 

 

 

Surety bonds went down by 26.9% or 164.5 M$US due mainly to a decrease in both documentary 
credits confirmation and approvals and guarantees by 40.5% or 100.7% M$US and 18.5% or  
32.3 M$US respectively. 
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Table 5-11: Trend in non-resident bank’s surety bonds                                (In M$ U.S unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 
In million $ US 

Variation 
2017 
2016 

2018 
2017 

2016 2017 2018* In     
M$ US 

In % In      
M$ US 

In % 

Total surety bonds 521.1 611.4 446.9 90.3 17.3 -164.5 -26.9 
  of which :          
Documentary credit confirmation 188.2 248.9 148.2 60.7 32.3 -100.7 -40.5 
Opening of documentary credit 33.6 15.7 10.6 -17.9 -53.3 -5.1 -32.5 
Approval and guarantee 163.4 174.6 142.3 11.2 6.9 -32.3 -18.5 
*Provisional data. 
 

 

5-3-2 Operating results 
The interest margin resulting from non-resident banks’ activity grew at a decelerated pace (5.2% 
compared to 15.8% in 2017) posting 22.4 M$US at the end of 2018. 

The operating ratio improved by 4.5 percentage points, coming to 37% in 2018.   
 

 

Table 5-12: Operating indicators                                                                      (In M$US unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 
In million $US 

Variation 
2017 
2016 

Variation 
2018 
2017 

2016 2017 2018* In M$ US In % In M$ US In % 
Interest margin  18.4 21.3 22.4 2.9 15.8 1.1 5.2 
Net banking proceed 59.4 66.5 67.5 7.1 12.0 1.0 1.5 
Operating costs 26.1 27.6 25.0 1.5 5.7 -2.6 -9.4 
* Provisional data. 
 

 

5-4. Merchant banks 
Despite the persisting economic environment marked by a weakening domestic and foreign 
investment, merchant banks’ indicators showed signs of a slight improvement. 
 
 

Table 5-13 Main indicators                                                                               (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2017 2018* 

Variation 
2018 
2017 

In MTD In % 
Operating proceeds 0.9 1.0 0.1 11.1 
Net banking proceed 0.9 1.0 0.1 11.1 
Operating costs  0.9 0.8 -0.1 -11.1 
- Wage bill 0.5 0.5 0.0 0.0 
- General operating costs 0.4 0.3 -0.1 -25.0 
*Provisional data. 
 

 

5-5. Factoring companies 

5-5-1 Activity 
Following the take-over of Tunisie factoring by its parent company Tunisie Leasing in 2017, the 
outstanding balance of financing of the factoring sector continued to drop in 2018: -0.6% or  
-1.2 MTD, coming to 194.3 MTD against to 195.5 MTD at the end of 2017. 
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Table 5-14: Factoring activity indicators                                                   (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

*Provisional data. 
 

The shares of bank borrowings, other borrowings and bond borrowings consolidated by  
1.4, 4.2 and 0.2 percentage points respectively compared to a drop in the share of Treasury 
bills by 5.8 percentage points. 
 
 

Table 5-15: Trend in resources                                                                         (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 
 

2016 
 

 
2017 

 
2018* 

Variation  
2018 
2017 

In MTD In % 
Equity  45.9 56.0 62.2 6.2 11.1 
Borrowing resources 141.7 95.0 89.0 -6.0 -6.3 
Bank borrowings (in %) ** 52.0 36.8 38.2 - 1.4 
Treasury bills (in %) ** 15.0 31.6 25.8 - -5.8 
Debenture loans (in %) ** 26.7 18.9 19.1 - 0.2 
Other borrowings (in %) 6.3 12.7 16.9 - 4.2 
* Provisional data 
** Variation in percentage points. 
 

 

 

5-5-2 Operating result 
The year 2018 was marked by an increase in the interest margin of 2.9 MD or 44.6%, which 
affected positively the net factoring proceed (+3.5 MD or +28%). 
 
 

Table 5-16: Operating indicators                                                                     (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 
 

2016 
 

 
2017 
 

2018* 

Variation 
2018 
2017 

In MTD In % 
Interest margin  9.3 6.5 9.4 2.9 44.6 
Net factoring proceed 19.2 12.5 16.0 3.5 28.0 
Operating costs 9.0 4.8 5.2 0.4 8.3 

* Provisional data.  

 

Description 2016 2017 2018* 

Variation  
2018 

2017 
In MTD In % 

Outstanding balance of financing 257.0 195.5 194.3 -1.2 -0.6 
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Chapter 6 – Capital market 

17/07/2019 
Over 2018, the Tunisian capital market’s activity was marked by the improvement of main 
stock exchange indicators, reflecting, particularly, the confirmation of economic growth’s 
upward trend and listed companies’ overall income firming up, notably the ones of the financial 
sector. 

However, the Stock Exchange Market’s activity, which gave a significant boost over the first 
eight months of 2018, concurrently with good performance of banking shares, entered a trend 
adjustment phase, over the rest of the year, following notably information on the Central Bank 
of Tunisia’s intention to tighten banks’ prudential norms which aim at making them establish a 
sound transformation risk management and a better adequacy between resources and uses. This 
drop was notably relevant to banking shares which weighed down on the market’s general trend. 

Thus, the Tunisian capital market’s activity was influenced, over 2018, by pressure on bank 
liquidity, as well as by the increase, twice, in the key interest rate which has strongly affected 
investment choices and savings movements. 

In this context, TUNINDEX ,the reference index grew by 15.8% (against 14.4% in 2017), while 
stock capitalisation firmed up by 11.6%, posting 24,380 MTD: 23.1% of GDP at the end of 
2018. 

The Stock exchange quotation’s main market was also enriched by listing of « Tunisie Valeurs» 
company over September 2018. This brings the number of listed companies to 82. 

On the other hand, the issues market was characterized by the Treasury’s ongoing recourse to 
domestic indebtedness with a consolidated volume of raised amounts with respect to Treasury 
bond auctions, up to 2,732 MTD. This increase is mainly attributable to the accentuation of 
short-term Treasury bond issues (BTCT) which offset the drop in the issues of bonds equivalent 
to Treasury bonds (BTA). 

It is also worth mentioning that, within the framework of budgetary financing sources 
diversification, the Treasury signed, over the first quarter of 2019, a syndicated loan in foreign 
currency convention with twelve local banks for an amount worth 356 million euros 
reimbursable over 3 years. Worth to be reminded that the Treasury had carried out a similar 
operation, in July 2017 which helped to raise 250 million euros from thirteen local banks. 

On the other hand, the primary market made companies drain just 441 MTD through public call 
for savings, a dropping volume compared to the one recorded in 2017. This amount was solely 
raised within the framework of debenture loan issues, in the absence of capital securities issues 
for the year 2018. 

On the secondary market, the volume of transactions carried out on the Stock exchange 
quotation increased by 4.7%, posting 2,521 MTD. This led to average daily volume of trade 
worth 10.1 MTD against 9.6 MTD a year before. 

Moreover, net assets held by OPCVMs went downwards by 9.3%, totalling 3,956 MTD at the 
end of 2018. This decrease was only relevant to bond OPCVMs notably due to the increase in 
bank deposits’ remuneration at a higher pace than the one of placements at OPCVMs. 

At the fiscal level, the 2018 finance law provided for a higher tax rate with respect to allocated 
profits, up from 5% to 10% for dividends paid starting from 1st January 2018 regardless of the 
year to which the profit is related. 
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Table 6-1: Main stock exchange indicators                                                (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2016 2017 2018 1st Q. 2019 

State issues1 3,373 2,079 2,732 546 
- Bonds equivalent to Treasury bonds (BTA) and Zero-
coupon Treasury bonds (BTZ)* 3,297 1,985 1,216 244 
- Short-term Treasury bonds (BTCT) 76 94 1,516 302 
Outstanding balance of Treasury bonds (End of period) 12,493 13,452 13,614 13,780 
- BTA and BTZc 11,471 12,585 12,975 12,890 
- BTCT 76 101 54 305 
- National borrowing  946 766 585 585 
Outstanding balance of Treasury bonds/GDP (In %) 13.9 14.0 12.9 13.13 
Corporate issues through public call for savings     
Approved amounts 514 568 365 414 
- Capital increase 42 153 20 359 
- Debenture loans 472  415 345 55 
Raised Funds2 507 691 441 91 
- Capital increase 31 167 0 0 
- Debenture loans 476 524 441 91 
Amount of transactions on the stock quotation 1,741 2,408 2,521 501 
- capital securities (a) 1,651 2,243 1,899 417 
- Claim securities 90 165 622 84 
Number of listed companies (In units) 79 81 82 82 
Stock market capitalisation (b) 19,300 21,852 24,380 23,164 
Stock market capitalisation/GDP (In %) 21.5 22.7 23.1 21. 93 
TUNINDEX in points (Base 1,000 on 31 December 1997) 5,488.77 6,281.83 7,271.65 6,861.49 
Annual rotation rate (a/b) (In %) 8.6 10.3 7.8 1.8 
Liquidity rate (In %)4 46 41  45 42 
Amount of transactions on the off-list  79 64 166 51 
Amount of registries and declarations 945 1,008 1,151 495 
OPCVM (Exclusive of FCPR)5     
- Operating units 125 123 124 123 
- Net assets 4,544 4,361 3,956 3,885 

                                       Sources: Tunis Stock Exchange Market (BVMT) and Capital Market Council (CMF) 
1 Calculated on the basis of auction dates. 
2 Calculated on the basis of subscriptions’ closing date. 
3 Calculated on the basis of 2018 GDP. 
4 The liquidity rate is defined as being the volume of traded securities compared to the volume of securities 

offered for sale on the official Stock quotation. 
5 FCPR: Venture capital mutual investment funds. 

(*) Excluding Treasury bonds substitution auctions.  
 

 

6-1. State and investment financing  
The year 2018 was marked by a firming up of State issues contrasting with a sharp decrease in 
corporate issues through public call for savings. 
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6-1-1 State issues  
After having declined over the previous year, the overall volume of Treasury bond issues went 
upwards by 31.4%, totalling 2,732 MTD with respect to 2018 against an estimated amount of  
2,200 MTD, reviewed upwards to 2,340 MTD by the 2018 supplementary finance law. 

On the other hand, the year 2018 was marked by a change in issues structure with a firming up of 
funds raised with respect to short-term Treasury bonds (BTCT) which amounted to 1,516 MTD, 
corresponding to 55.5% of the total package of issues against a drop in the issues of bonds 
equivalent Treasury bonds (BTA). In fact, the latter went downwards by 38.7% compared to their 
2017 level, reaching 1,216 MTD at the end of 2018 with a focus on the «BTA 6.1%- November 
2021» line which took up about 31% of the overall amount of BTA auctions. 

Change in issues structure brought the average lifetime of Treasury bonds to 4 years and 35 weeks 
and 3 days in 2018 against 5 years and 2 weeks in 2017. 

Besides, it is worth mentioning that over 2018, three Treasury bond substitution auctions were 
achieved over January, August and September, involving the «BTA 5.3% -January 2018» and «BTA 
5.5% -October 2018» lines for an amount worth 297 MTD against other lines with longer maturities, 
in order to ease up pressure on the Treasury’s liquidity. 

In addition and following the increases in the key interest rate that took place over 2018, the 
weighted average rates upon the issue of Treasury bonds moved upwards. 
 

 

Graphic 6-1: Trend in the Treasury bonds issues  

 

 

Over the first quarter of 2019, the Treasury’s recourse to domestic indebtedness went on with a total 
package of State issues worth 546 MTD, while there was an ongoing predominance of BTCT issues 
(55.3% of total issues). In addition, a trade substitution of BTA was achieved over March 2019. This 
operation substituted the «BTA 5.5%-March 2019» line worth 290 MTD with other longer-maturity 
bonds. 

On the other hand, the Treasury signed, over March 2019, a syndicated loan in foreign currency 
convention with twelve local banks for an amount worth 356 million euros payable over 3 years. 

6-1-2 Corporate issues through public call for savings 
The primary market was characterized, over 2018, by the absence of issues of capital securities 
through public call for savings, as well as by a regression of issues on the bond market which 
were uneven and particularly focused on the first months of the year. This reflects liquidity dry-
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up on the market. 

Like the previous years, issues on the bond market were the privilege of banks and leasing 
companies. In fact, over 2018, the Capital Market Council (CMF) granted its visa for the issue 
of 12 debenture loans (6 of which are subordinate borrowings) emanating from 6 leasing 
companies, 3 banks and a factoring company for a cumulated package of 345 MTD likely to be 
brought to 450 MTD. 

As for the amount raised on the bond market, it went downwards by 15.8%, amounting to  
441 MTD with respect to 14 debenture loans, 220 MTD of which related to borrowings from 
banks. The remaining part was initiated by leasing companies (215 MTD) and a factoring 
company (6 MTD). 

Moreover, CMF granted its visa for the capital increase in cash of «Tunisie Leasing and 
Factoring »1 company, up to 6.75 MTD, through the issue of 1,350,000 new shares at the price 
of 15 dinars per share. This operation would help to raise 20.3 MTD on the market.  

At another level, the year 2018 was marked by the absence of corporate capital increase in cash 
through public call for savings. 

Over the first quarter of 2019, corporate issues through public call for savings went on with a 
raising of funds worth 91 MTD2 with respect to debenture loans, bearing in mind that the CMF 
granted, over this quarter, its visa for two capital increase operations worth a cumulated package 
of 359 MTD3 and two debenture loans for an overall volume of 55 MTD likely to be brought to 
a maximum of 80 MTD. 

6-2. The Stock Exchange Market 
The Stock Exchange quotation was enriched, over September 2018, by listing of the financial 
intermediary company « Tunisie Valeurs » on the main market via a firm-priced bid and a private 
placement at the price of 31 dinars per share with capital opening to the public up to 35.2%, 
bringing the number of listed companies to 82 at the end of 2018. 

However, the listing of Tunisia’s Steelwork Company «SIDENOR » was postponed, following 
the company’s management’s decision, bearing in mind that the Stock Exchange Market’s 
Executive Board, approved in July 2018, of its admission to the main market of the quotation. 

On the other hand, trends in TUNINDEX index was characterized, over 2018, by succession of 
two phases. In fact, this index went through a consolidation phase over the first eight months of 
2018 by cumulating a gain of 34.3% at the end of August 2018, when it culminated to its 
highest historical level of 8,431.64 points on 28 August 2018. This increase was relayed by a 
decline which was extended over the last four months of 2018 during which the reference index 
dropped by 13.6% and closed for 2018 at 7,271.65 points. As a consequence, the index’s annual 
performance was just 15.8%. 

The regression noticed over the last months of the year constituted a reaction to information 
about the BCT’s adoption of a prudential policy targeting a better adequacy between deposits’ 
collection and distribution of credit4. 

  

                                      
1 It is worth recalling that «Tunisie Factoring » company was absorbed by «Tunisie Leasing » company in December 
2017. 
2 This involves the debenture loans issued by « CIL » (15 MTD) and « HL » (15.5 MTD) and  two subordinate 
borrowings issued by « BH » (40 MTD) and « TL » (20.5 MTD). 
3 These involve the capital increase in cash operations through public call for savings of « BNA » (338 MTD) and 
« ATL » (21 MTD). 
4 Circular n°2018-10 of 1st November 2018 establishing the « credits/deposits » prudential ratio. 
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This trend was also fed by "Moody's", the rating agency decision, published on 19 October 2018, 
which, while maintaining the ratings of five listed banks’ reference credit (Amen Bank, ATB, BT, 
BIAT and STB), it downgraded the prospects of long-term deposits ratings, from stable to 
negative. "Moody's" decision was driven by «a deterioration of the Tunisian Government’s 
capacity to provide banks with support if need be, as shown by the negative prospect attributed to 
the sovereign rating B2». 

Other events have affected the banking index movement over December 2018, notably the 
proposal of a provision in the 2019 finance law establishing a 1% exceptional contribution on the 
turnover of banks, insurance companies, oil and telecommunications businesses on behalf of 
social security funds1. The unfruitfulness of the call for bid related to the transfer of the bloc of 
shares of the confiscated company « Carthage Cement »’s capital, heavily indebted from listed 
banks, has exacerbated this decline movement of Tunindex. 

 

 

Graphic 6-2 : Trends in TUNINDEX and TUNBANK indexes 

 

 

In this framework, trends in the prices of all listed shares, over 2018, was upward overall. In 
fact, 46 shares posted annual positive yields ranging between 0.4% (ATTIJARI LEASING) and 
550.5% (ICF), while 36 other shares’ prices dropped at rates ranging between 0.7% (CIL) and 
47.9% (ELECTROSTAR).  

The annual evolution of banking shares’ prices was mitigated with the progress made by the 
prices of seven listed banks and the drop of those of five other banks, leading thus, to a yield of 
the TUNBANK sectorial index of 10.6% against 19.5% a year before. The best performance 
was achieved by BNA (+35.1%), then BT (+28.8%). However, the BTE share posted the 
sharpest decline (-34.7%). 

Trends in sectorial indexes were positive on the whole, over 2018, with an increase in eight 
indexes and a drop in other five ones. Hence, the best performance was achieved by the 
«Basic material» index (+84.1%) driven by the gain achieved by the « ICF » share, while the 
most important counter-performance was suffered by the «household and personal care 
products» index (-18.4%). 

                                      
1 Worth of note that entry into force of the supplementary article n°22 of 2019 finance law was postponed for 2020. 
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Moreover, the market’s upward trend along with the firmed up Stock capitalisation of five listed 
companies, namely SFBT (+1,280 MTD), PGH (+396 MTD), BT (+340 MTD), ICF (+317 MTD) 
and Attijari Bank (+223 MTD) propelled stock capitalisation by 2,528 MTD or 11.6% compared 
to the end of 2017, posting 24,380 MDT at the end of 2018. 

Concerning transactions carried out on the Stock Exchange quotation, their annual volume rose 
slightly by 4.7% compared to 2017, up to 2,521 MTD (1,899 MTD or 75% of which on capital 
securities). This yielded a daily average volume of trade of 10.1 MTD against 9.6 MTD a year 
before. This trade was particularly fed by transactions carried out on SFBT, BIAT, BNA and 
Attijari Bank shares which took up more than one third of the cumulated volume of transactions 
on capital securities carried out over 2018. 

As for the volume of transactions on the off-list market, it more than doubled, up from 64 MTD to 
166 MTD from one year to the next.  

Registry operations and reporting also went upwards, from 1,008 MTD in 2017 to 1,151 MDT in 
2018. 

Despite the Tunis Stock Exchange’s good performances, the year 2018 was marked by an outflow 
of foreign investors. Thus, despite their higher share in stock capitalisation (24.9% against 23.3% 
in 2017), transactions carried out on the Stock Exchange quotation in favour of these investors 
yielded a net negative balance of 108 MTD (transfers up to 273 MTD against acquisitions of  
165 MTD), bearing in mind that transfers were focused on « SFBT » share which took up about 
56% of the overall volume of transfers. 

Over the first quarter of 2019, there was an ongoing downward movement of Tunindex index 
which closed for March at 6,861.49 points, corresponding to a negative yield of 5.6% since the 
beginning of the year against a 13.7% performance over the same period of 2018. This has 
negatively affected stock capitalisation which dropped by 1,216 MTD or 5% compared to its level 
recorded at the end of 2018. The volume of transactions carried out on the Stock Exchange 
quotation posted 501 MTD for the first quarter of 2019, corresponding to a daily volume of trade 
of 8.2 MTD against 9.8 MTD over the same period of 2018.  

The first quarter of 2019 was also characterized by the ongoing outflow of foreign investors in 
portfolio as well as by the weaknesses of their Stock exchange investments. Thus, their share in 
stock capitalisation came to 24.6% at the end of March 2019 with a net balance of transactions 
carried out on the Stock exchange quotation of -48 MTD. 

6-3. Activity of mutual funds investing in securities (OPCVMs)  
Over 2018, OPCVMs’ activity was marked by a drop in net assets held by operating units which 
regressed by 405 MTD or 9.3%, totalling 3,956 MTD at the end of 2018, regressing thus below 
the 4,000 MTD threshold for the first time since 2008.  

This drop is particularly attributable to a disinvestment movement of bond units, the share of 
which in the whole collective savings market was down from 87% at the end of 2017 to 85% at 
the end of 2018. This movement reflects a migration of savings invested in OPCVMs towards 
banking placements seeking after the best yields offered by forward deposits and certificates of 
deposits, the remuneration rate of which rose sharply over the last quarter of 2018. 

Yet, the net assets of mixed and shares-type units rose slightly by 4.1% and 5.5% respectively, 
bearing in mind that these units’ net assets decreased over the last quarter of 2018, in line with 
the Stock exchange adjustment movement recorded since September 2018. 
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Graphic 6-3 : Variation of OPCVMs’ net assets and trends in their share in bank savings 

 
 

 

On the other hand, over 2018 the CMF granted its visa for the constitution of a mixed-type 
mutual investment fund (FCP) « FCP VALEURS INSTITUTIONNEL II » and a bond-type 
SICAV « FIDELITY SICAV PLUS » as well as for the anticipated liquidation of three mixed-
type FCP1 and another FCP following expiry of its lifetime2 As a consequence, the number of 
operating OPCVMs3 posted 124 units at the end of 2018 against 123 units a year before. 

In the same framework, the CMF granted its visa for the category change of three SICAVs and 
a mixed-type FCP4. 

The CMF also gave its visa for the constitution of three start-up funds5 and a venture capital 
mutual investment fund (FCPR)6 for a cumulated amount of 55 MDT as well as for the visa 
withdrawal of a start-up fund and an FCPR7. 

Bearing the mark of the increase in key interest rates, the yield of all OPCVMs, with respect to 
2018, posted 5.2% against 4.3% with respect to 2017. 

Over the first quarter of 2019, operating OPCVM’s net assets continued their downward 
movement, dropping by 71 MTD to 3,885 MTD at the end of March 2019, bearing in mind that 
the number of these vehicles came to 123 units. Their yield was 0.9% with respect to the first 
quarter of 2019 against a performance of 1.9% over the same period of the previous year 

 

                                      
1 This involves the FCP: « FCP IRADETT 20 », « FCP IRADETT 100 », « FCP SMART CROISSANCE ». 
2 This is the FCP « VALEURS QUIETUDE 2018 ». 
3  Excluding Venture Capital Mutual Investment Funds (FCPR). 
4 Respectively « UBCI-UNIVERS ACTIONS SICAV », « SICAV AMEN » and « SICAV BH PLACEMENT » as 
well as « BNA CONFIANCE FCP ». 
5 These are the start-up funds: « START UP MAXULA SEED FEED » (10.2 MTD), « CDC AMORCAGE »  
(10 MTD) and « CAPITAL’ACT SEED FEED » (15 MTD). 
6 This is « FCPR MAXULA JASMIN PMN » (20.04 MTD).  
7These are the start-up funds « ATLAS SEED FUND » and « FCPR A.T.I.D FUND II ». 
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Chapter 1 – Strategic Plan 2019-2021 
12/07/2019 
 
 
 
Over 2018, the Central Bank of Tunisia set out its first three-year strategic plan 2019-2021. This 
project was launched by the Governor few months after his nomination at the head of the Bank 
in order to identify priority strategic axes and goals; and to boost the Bank’s governance 
framework. 

Based on a fundamental principle which stipulates that change is a context-specific action1 
initiated by and for the staff, the Bank was engaged in a collective reflection process which 
targets the whole staff’s adherence and commitment in order to ritualise innovative thinking and 
entrench diversity around the vision and strategic axes for the three years to come by referring 
to the Bank’s mandates as set by Law 2016-35 of 25 April 2016 establishing the Central Bank 
of Tunisia’s Statute. 

The aim is to be endowed with a clear frame of reference with SMART2 objectives and 
scheduled projects3, within a participatory dynamics targeting the Bank’s transformation by 
boosting and modernising its governance framework, helping thus to improve its efficiency 
notably in achieving its missions.  

1-1. Strategic planning approach 

1-1-1 Benchmarking and feedback 

As per the strategic planning approach adopted by the Bank, the first step involved 
Benchmarking and Feedbacks on foreign experiences. 

 Studying international Central Banks’ experiences as regards strategic planning;  

 Departments’ participation in a primary reflection on strategic planning; 

 Presentations by foreign experts; 

 Study visits for the task force members4 in charge of strategic planning.  

                                                           
1 A process that is not subject to a specific orthodoxy. 
2 Specific, measurable, accessible, realistic and time-based. 
3 Scope, deadline, budget, risk etc… 
4 Constitution of a task force made up of 23 members representing all the Bank’s departments. 
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1-1-2 Organisational diagnosis  

This strategic analysis phase consists in elaborating SWOT1 and PESTEL2 analyses by 
department, targeting the establishment of an action plan and pertinent decision-making. This 
organisational diagnosis covers internal and external aspects.  

At the internal level, the aim of this analysis is to: 

 define the Bank’s strategic potential: the forces and advantages on which it can rely to define 
its strategic orientations and set its competitive advantages. 
 pin down its weakness so as to be able to act on it. 
 draw important lessons about : 

- the improvement opportunities to be followed. 
- the good practises to be perpetuated. 
- the points to be rectified. 

At the external level, the aim of this analysis is to assess the external environment where the 
Bank is evolving in order to identify potential opportunities and threats for both micro and 
macro-environments. 

Above all, a staff survey has been conducted, dealing with several aspects, namely internal 
diagnosis, environment diagnosis, BCT vision and values. This survey generated a report with 
valuable teachings and conclusions such as the values adopted in the strategic plan, namely 
transparency, integrity and equity. 

1-1-3 Target identification by department 

This task consisted in organising workshops with all the Bank’s departments in order to identify 
the respective challenges and targets, with the facilitation of two external experts. 

  
                                                           
1 Strengths - Weaknesses - Opportunities – Threats. 
2 Political, Economic, Sociological, Technological, Ecological, Legal. 

Graphic 1: Planning of the adopted approach 
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1-1-4 Staff Retreat and Validation  

The staff retreat1, organised when drawing up the Bank’s first strategic plan aimed mainly at 
defining the vision and refining the list of strategic goals for the 2019-2021 period.  

As regards strategic planning, reflection workshops2 were held for departments’ top managers, 
by external speakers and some members of the strategic planning group, in order to adjudicate 
upon the strategic identification stage’s outputs. Concurrently, the other staff retreat participants 
benefited from personal and collective development coaching sessions. Moreover, this staff 
retreat programme has also included feedbacks and «soft skills» sessions. 

 

Graphic 2: Strategic card 2019-2021 

 
This stage was crowned with the validation of the strategic plan 2019-2021’s slogan:  
« one Bank », a vision and 12 strategic goals divided into two axes as shown in the above-
mentioned graphic. 

  

                                                           
1 110 BCT executives took part in the staff retreat. 
2 World Café exercise. 
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Box: transformation, the underlying asset of strategic planning !  

In a cutting-edge logic, according to which strategy consists in formulating strategic goals and 
implementing the best means and practises to achieve them, it is crucial to accommodate the Bank’s 
processes, skills and culture with financial, economic, technological and cultural shifts. This is 
transformation which is defined as a « sustained adjustment process which helps to keep in touch with 
the perpetual changes of one’s ecosystem and materialise one’s vision. » 

So diverse as we may think of, we may oppose several transformation typologies: evolution and 
revolution, convergence and redirecting, reform and redesign, etc. Although every implementation of a 
major change is highly context-specific, it embodies a paradigm according to which change is likely to be 
fundamental and brings about a sudden transformation of activity, or be more progressive, conducted 
within a more temporising logic. 

Likewise, there is the persisting misconception that change takes the shape of a linear dynamics, which is 
not real as long as practise is continuously demonstrating that the path takes rather an iterative 
movement which switches between the various main phases of change, namely, inertia, resistance, 
hesitation, adherence and commitment. 

The key word for a winning transformation is to accompany it well, by means of an exhaustive change 
management feature which integrates both the technical aspects generated by both the strategic plan 
and the human dimension, undoubtedly a key factor given that every transformation is achieved for and 
by the staff. 

Definetely, transformation institutionnalisation is the cornestone in conducting a wished-for change, as 
well as its anchoring in the Central Bank of Tunisia’s rituals given its importance in legitimising the 
actions to be undertaken. 

In this framework, the Transformation Unit will be in charge of ensuring the missions outlined below:  

 To initiate, contribute and coordinate the establishment of strategic planning, 
 To ensure the sound achievement of strategic goals, 
 To back up the execution of departments’ operational improvement projects, 
 To convey the transformation culture. 

Inescapably, every strategic change implies a double-sided game, namely success or failure, stimulated 
by endogenous variables which consist notably in the absence of communication on a reasonable change, 
the lack of coherence with culture, the shortage of watchfulness and strategic control. To this effect, our 
transformation’s management paradigm has already followed a context-specific, ongoing, participatory, 
non-linear, temporised and strategic process. 

 

1-1-5 Operational Declination 

Operational declination consists in deriving the already identified strategic goals into scheduled 
strategic projects. In fact, the iterative, participatory and continuous task consists in what 
follows: 

i. Analysing and listing chosen projects 
  Identification of the projects proposed by the departments, 
  Macro estimation of costs and needs for resources, 
  Bringing departments’ top managers together in order to analyse, score, prioritise and 

validate suggested projects depending on several criteria (Feasibility, Impact, Cost, 
Added value...), 

  Validation by departments’ top managers of the list of chosen strategic projects. 
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ii. Elaborating a road map 
  Drawing up a 3-year roadmap for execution of validated projects (43 projects). 
 Setting and validation of the 2019 budget related to strategic and operational projects, 

1-2. Communication on strategic planning 

Communication on strategic planning has taken several forms, namely intranet, electronic 
mailing and meetings in order to: 

  create a framework to accompany change through acceptance and adherence, notably 
in a transformation period which has an in-depth effect on the Bank 

  get the staff to be committed in an effective way during all the phases of the strategic 
planning process, 

  endow the staff with a better understanding of strategic planning and of the different 
steps of its process. 

In fact, communication is a capital instrument to conduct change soundly and accompany the 
implementation of strategic projects, beyond the technical aspects which should not capture the 
attention at the expense of the human dimension, which is a guarantee of success.  

 





 
 

Annual Report 2018 143 

 

 

Chapter 2 – BCT initiatives to promote Fintech 
in Tunisia 

 

11/07/2019 

 

As defined by the Financial Stability Council in 2017, Fintech is a technology-enabled 
innovation in financial services that could result in new business models, applications, processes 
or products with an associated material effect on the provision of financial services. 

2-1 The BCT’s policy regarding Fintech: 
Aware of the opportunities offered by Fintech, and concerned about watching over potential 
risks inherent to innovative financial solutions, the BCT has set as its policy to play the role of 
« Facilitator » with these actors while preserving a sound operating of the financial system. 

The objectives assigned to this policy include mainly favouring financial inclusion, protecting 
financial services’ users against uncertainties related to new technology-based innovation 
supporting financial stability and promoting Fintech activity both nationwide and worldwide 
through regional and international cooperation. 

In this framework and since 2018, the BCT has closely collaborated with the Fintech ecosystem 
to create a development-friendly environment and remove potential barriers which hamper their 
promotion. 

2-2 The BCT’s prominent initiatives to promote Fintech 

In order to make the BCT’s policy as a Fintech facilitator concrete, several initiatives have 
recently been initiated:  

 The Fintech Committee: launched since 9 January 2019, the Fintech Committee plays the 
role of an innovation Hub or a focal point which helps to make it easier for Fintech to interact 
with the BCT’s departments. Presided over by the Governor of the BCT, the Fintech Committee 
is made up of a coordinator, an assistant and twenty assignment correspondents. Ten meetings 
were organised with Fintech in the presence of relevant departments to discuss several Regtech 
solution, E-KYC, Big Data, E-wallet, Instant payments, etc... 

 Website: The Fintech Committee is currently preparing a call for bids for the development 
and establishment of a Website, a data base application to manage Tunisian Fintech, as well as a 
specific logo. The aim of this initiative is to give external visibility to Tunisian Fintech and BCT 
initiatives in favour of these actors. 

 BCT-Lab: The Fintech Committee is finalising a specifications book for the launching of a 
call for bids related to fitting out and layout of a space dedicated to a laboratory or a modern 
technical platform allowing the BCT to issue calls for candidates to Fintech to digitalise some of 
its internal processes. The establishment of the BCT-Lab reflects the Bank’s Governing Board’s 
vision to set up a new dynamics in order to convey an open and progressive image of the BCT, 
by transforming the Central Bank’s professions as well as relationships with its environment. 

 Regulatory Sandbox: The Fintech Committee is in the stage of finalising crucial points 
before the effective implementation of the regulatory Sandbox with the support of the World 
Bank. 
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The regulatory Sandbox’s basic idea is to provide for a safe space to make a full-scale test of 
innovative solutions with volunteer clients and for a limited period of time under the BCT’s 
oversight.  

This initiative will help the regulator to understand the complexity of the technology used in 
financial innovation, and to adjust the regulatory framework, if needs be. Concurrently, this 
initiative will help Fintech to be aligned with the regulatory requirements into force.  

 Cooperation and coordination initiatives: aware of regional and international coordination 
and cooperation benefits1, the BCT is currently finalising a Memorandum of Understanding 
with a Central Bank to exchange experiences as regards collaboration with Fintech. 

On the other hand, the BCT took part, over March 2019, in the Maghreb Fintech Committee 
works under the auspices of the Board of Arab Maghreb Central Banks’ Governors. A  
« Maghreb Fintech Agenda » was elaborated. 

In the same framework, the BCT is an active member of the Regional Fintech Working Group 
which brings together representatives from all the Arab Monetary Funds’ adherent countries in 
charge not only of promoting the innovation ecosystem by establishing a regulatory framework 
favourable to development of these activities but also by working on other regional initiatives 
such as the establishment of a Common Platform and is currently studying the appropriateness 
of launching a « Regional  Sandbox ». 

 

 
 

                                                           
1The World Bank and the IMF insisted in the « Bali’s Fintech Agenda» on the necessity of regional and 
international coordination and cooperation as regards new technology-based financial innovation. 
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Chapter 3 – Role of the BCT as regards 
promotion of financial inclusion and protection 

of banking services consumers 
12/07/2019 

 
Financial inclusion, in the same way as protection of banking services consumers, are 
henceforth at the core of the regulator's concerns, aware of the importance of including large 
sections of deprived populations within the formal system and providing clients with the 
knowledge and know-how capable of making them take enlightened decisions with a view to 
improving their financial conditions and being able to defend their interests. 
 

3-1 Financial Inclusion in Tunisia 
 
Financial inclusion constitutes a major economic development challenge through the 
opportunity it offers to both individuals and businesses to have access, at reduced cost, to 
financial products and services adapted to their needs, of which financing, savings, payment 
means and insurance. The challenge is therefore substantial, leading to the recognition of 
financial inclusion as one of development pillars worldwide. 
 
In Tunisia, regulatory authorities’ interest in financial inclusion took concrete form through the 
establishment of a National Financial Inclusion Strategy (2018-2022) to which all the relevant 
intervening parties have contributed and which was validated by the Select Ministerial Council 
on 25 June 2018. 
 
The National Financial Inclusion Strategy has defined financial inclusion in the Tunisian 
context as being: "the possibility for poorly served or non-served individuals or businesses to 
have access to a whole line of financial or non-financial products and services, which best suits 
their needs offered by multiple formal actors ". 
 
This aforesaid strategy revolves around the following axes: 

 Digital finance: Promoting financial inclusion by enlarging the range of mobile 
financial services and developing their use. 

 Micro insurance: Establishing a responsible micro insurance offering proximity 
services adapted to the needs of a low-income population and of very small, small and 
medium-sized businesses so as to protect their economic capital against damages and 
offer them additional economic opportunities. 

 
 Refinancing: Establishing a diversified refinancing system adapted to Microfinance 

Institutions’ needs which allows access to a larger population at a lower cost and targets 
Microfinance Institutions’ continuity. 

 Social and solidarity-based economy: Building a consensual culture on social and 
solidarity-based economy which favours the development of solutions that allow for the 
financial inclusion of the actors of this economy (businesses, cooperative and mutual 
structures, etc.). 

 Financial education: striving to disseminate a teaching which helps individuals and 
households to adopt good financial behaviour allowing them to be financially stable, 
capable of choosing and making decisions in total confidence and awareness with 
regard to their financial needs. 
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 Measuring the socio-economic impact of the National Financial Inclusion Strategy by 

following and assessing undertaken actions. 
 

Represented by several of its departments in most composed think tanks, the Central Bank of 
Tunisia has actively taken part in formulating the logical framework of this strategy. 
 

3-2 The findings from the national financial inclusion survey  
 

Over the previous years, several studies have been conducted to measure the financial inclusion 
level in Tunisia such as the Global Findex or the World Bank survey. The latest one is the 
national survey achieved in 2018.   
 
This study suggested an innovative approach in so far as precise data were collected based on a 
large sample throughout the Tunisian territory, so as to measure the financial inclusion level 
among both Tunisian adult population and micro-businesses. This demand-based approach is 
complementary to an approach based on the supply of financial service providers and helps to 
obtain a photography of financial inclusion in Tunisia. 
 
The study results helped to draw the following portrait for individual customers: 
 

 A low use of accounts open at formal institutions: despite a good physical access to 
financial services (86% of Tunisians live/work within less than 30 minutes from an 
access point), 91% of individuals achieve less than three transactions per month on their 
accounts open at formal financial institutions.   

 
 A pronounced preference for cash: Only 17% of Tunisians use payment means other 

than cash at least once per month and 3% of Tunisians have already used a financial 
service via mobile phone. 

 
 A shaken confidence doubled by a poor perception of services quality: Most 

Tunisians consider that financial services are expensive and ill-adapted to their needs, 
and only 53% of Tunisians trust formal financial Institutions. 

 
 A transparency and protection problem: Only 27% of Tunisians estimate that they 

have enough information to protect themselves or bring an action in case of a dispute 
related to financial services. 

 
 Financial knowledge below average: Tunisians obtained an average score of 3,1/7 in 

the financial knowledge test. 
 

As for micro-businesses, the findings are the following: 
 

 A weak activity of accounts: Only 25% of micro-businesses achieve at least 3 monthly 
transactions on their micro-businesses accounts. 
 

 A preponderance of cash operations: 34% of micro-businesses use a payment means 
monthly in substitution for cash and only 4% of micro-businesses have already used a 
financial service via mobile phone. 

 Lack of information: 70% of micro-businesses consider that they do not have enough 
information to be protected or bring an action in case of a dispute related to financial 
services. 
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 A bad perception of quality: 37% of micro-businesses consider that financial services 
correspond to their needs and 49% see these services as fast. 

 A need for financial education: Micro-businesses managers obtained an average score 
of 4.0 / 7 in the financial knowledge test. 

 
Based on these findings, improving the quality of banking services turns out to be an imperative 
for which all efforts have to be mobilised in order to come to an adequacy of supply to demand 
and an adjustment of the components of products and services’ costs. 
 
Likewise, with regard to these results, the Central Bank of Tunisia decided to make from 
protection of banking services consumers, transparency boosting and financial knowledge 
improvement priorities for the forthcoming years. 
 

3-3 Protection of banking services consumers 
 

A new mission of the BCT was stipulated by article 8 of law n° 2016-35 of 25 April 2016, 
related to the BCT statute and article one of law n° 2016-48 related to banks and financial 
institutions states the protection of depositors and users of banking services. 
 
Aware of the importance of this new mission, the BCT set to putting together all human and 
material resources so as to establish a regulatory and control facility relevant to the different 
aspects of protection and which favours anchoring of best commercial practices. 
 
It is within this objective and in the framework of its restructuring project that it created the 
Financial Inclusion and Protection of Banking Services Consumers Unit which will be involved, 
in collaboration with other departments, in implementing the different aspects of the banking 
services consumers protection. 
 
The conceptual framework and the working principles set at the international level as regards 
consumers protection concern different aspects of the commercial relationship, which is 
judicious to inspire from. They are notably relevant to: 
 

 The legal, regulatory and control framework: The conception and establishment of such 
a facility has to be based on imperatives capable of conferring the required performance 
to it, such as compliance with the specificities of financial products and consumers, or 
the possibility to adjust to financial engineering and new digital technologies. 

 
 The role of control authorities: Financial service providers, who are directly dealing 

with consumers, must be subject to an appropriate control in order to watch over the 
sound implementation of deontological texts and rules. Therefore, control authorities 
that are explicitly in charge of watching over consumers protection are to be 
established. 

 
 The fair and equitable treatment of clients from which consumers have to benefit at all 

the stages of their relationship with service providers. 
 
 Disclosure to present and potential clients of essential information timely in order to 

be informed about the main advantages, risks and conditions associated with products. 
 
 Financial education and awareness raising which are part of a global framework 

targeting populations’ financial inclusion improvement which is one of the levers. They 
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are also an integral part of the consumer protection axes. The BCT, as a regulatory 
authority, is called upon to define and implement its own strategy as regards financial 
culture, taking account of the banking market’s specificities. 

 
 Management of complaints and judicial remedies which lie first and foremost on service 

providers who must provide their clients timely with the adequate mechanisms to 
manage complaints and appeals that are low-priced, impartial, fair, reliable and 
efficient. 
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Chapter 4 – Payment Systems  
and Fiduciary Circulation 

13/06/2019 
 
4-1. Payment systems and means  

4-1-1 Net payment systems or interbank clearing 
These systems encompass electronic clearing, manual clearing and electronic banking. 

4-1-1-1 Electronic clearing 
The electronic clearing system involving transfers1, direct debits, cheques and bills of exchange 
connects twenty six adherents (The Central Bank of Tunisia, The National Post Office and 
twenty four local banks), along with the Interbank Clearing Company (SIBTEL) created at the 
end of 1999. 

Over 2018, 60 million values were cleared for an amount of 162 billion dinars, up by 6.9% in 
number and by 15.9% in amount compared to 2017. This trend differs from one cleared value to 
another as summed up in the table below: 
 
 
Table 4-1: Trends in clearing activity  

Values 
2017 2018 Variation in % 

(2018/2017) 
Number in 

millions 
Amount in 

MTD 
Number in 

millions 
Amount in 

MTD Number Amount 

Transfers 25 27,435 28 31,902 12 16.3 

Direct debits 3 11,277 4.2 14,390 40 27.6 

Cheques 26 80,001 26 91,554 0 14.4 

Bills of exchange 2.5 21,243 2.2 24,425 -12 15 

Total 56.5 139,956 60.4 162,271 6.9 15.9 
 

 

The upward trend of both the volume and value of cleared direct debits over 2018 is mainly 
attributable to the BCT’s authorization of 6 new direct-debit issuing institutions, reaching  
101 issuers at the end of 2018 against 95 a year earlier. 

The relatively important increase in the amount of cleared transfers is due to leasing companies’ 
conversion of their bills of exchange portfolios into claim securities and direct debits and this 
when VAT rate changed from 18% to 19% as of 2018. 

2018 was marked by finalising of the project for processing all civil servants’ salaries through 
clearing. Hence, 9.4 million transfers of these salaries were cleared in 2018 for 8.5 billion 
dinars. 

                                                 
1Only transfers worth less than 100 thousand dinars are exchanged for businesses and individuals through clearing. 
The remaining part has been processed via Tunisia’s Gross Amounts Transfer System (SGMT) since 6 November 
2006.  
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On the other hand, breakdown of cleared values over 2018 as summed up in the graphics below 
shows that transfers predominate in number and cheques in amount all cleared payments. 
 
 

Graphic 4-1 : Breakdown in volume of cleared 
values  

Graphic 4-2 : Breakdown in amount of cleared 
values (In MTD) 
 

 

 

As for rejections of cleared values, the payment means which have the highest rejection rates 
over 2018 are direct debits (52%) and bills of exchange (17%) in volume. The most frequent 
rejection reasons are defaults on provision for direct debits, cheques and bills of exchange and 
closed accounts for transfers. The annual trend in rejection rates by cleared value is outlined in 
the following table: 
 
 
Table 4-2: Trend in rejection rates by cleared value 

Values 
2017 2018 

Variation in % 

(2018/2017) 

Number  Amount  Number  Amount  Number  Amount  
Transfers 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0 0 
Direct debits 46.1% 4.9% 52% 7.1% 12.8 44.9 
Cheques 1.7% 2.8% 1.8% 3% 5.9 7.1 
Bills of exchange 19.3% 9.9% 17.3% 10.3% -10.4 4 
 

 

4-1-1-2 Manual clearing 
Non-standardized cheques’ and bills of exchange’s manual clearing activity is getting weaker. 
Thus, manually-cleared cheques and bills of exchange account for 0.6% and 0.3%, respectively, 
of the overall number of these values at the end of 2018. 

4-1-1-3 Monetic system  
Electronic banking activity’s main indicators over 2018 pursued their evolution at a sustained 
pace, bringing to light a new emerging culture in favour of modern payment means. This trend 
is summed up in the following table: 
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Table 4-3: Trend in monetics’ indicators 

Description 2017 2018 Variation in % 
(2018/2017) 

Local cards in millions 3.6 4.64 27% 
ATMs 2,602 2,694 4% 
POS 18,919 21,622 14% 
Electronic transactions     

Number in millions 71.6 82.3 15% 
Amount in million dinars 9,851 11,907 21% 

 

 

Behavioural analysis of monetic operations carried out in Tunisia over 2018 shows that card 
holders would rather make cash withdrawals from cash dispensers (GAB and DAB) than make 
payments by means of electronic payment terminals. The BCT, the banking community and 
Tunisia’s Monetics’ Company (SMT) are aware of the need to boost the monetic payments’ 
activity by making more efforts. Moreover, the said holders prefer to go much more to the 
ATMs of the issuing institutions of their cards to make withdrawals in cash, rather than to the 
ones of other institutions. All these attitudes are illustrated by the following graphics: 
 
 

Graphic 4-3 : Breakdown between inter-bank and 
intra-bank of the volume of monetic transactions  

Graphic 4-4 : Breakdown between inter-bank and 
intra-bank of the value of monetic transactions  

  
 

 

 
 

Graphic 4-5 : Breakdown between withdrawals and 
payments of the volume of monetic transactions  

Graphic 4-6: Breakdown between withdrawals and 
payments of the value of monetic transactions 
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As for electronic commerce achieved in Tunisia over 2018, it continued to grow at a sustained 
pace for the number of commercial websites1 (it rose from 1,423 in 2017 to 1,648 sites in 2018, 
up by 16%), as well as for the number of carried out transactions (it reached 4 million 
transactions against 2.4 million transactions a year earlier: up by 66.7%), and the turnover  
(it made some 29% progress, posting 214.4 million dinars in 2018). 

This double-digit evolution of e-commerce indicators is mainly led by e-enrolment, as of October 
2018, of students (via mobile and internet). This initiative comes within the implementation of a 
Tunisian digital economy strategy, one of the components of which is E-Gov. 

4-1-2 Gross payment system or Tunisia’s large amounts Transfer system (SGMT)  
The SGMT stands for a payment infrastructure of systemic importance managed by the BCT 
since 6 November 2006. It allows for the execution, both in gross mode and in real time, of the 
settlement of amounts denominated in Central bank money, notably interbank transfers in 
favour of individual customers2 and, settlement of the exogenous systems’ balances of SIBTEL, 
the SMT, Tunisia Clearing and the Tunis Stock Exchange Market. Data exchange between 
banks and the SGMT are carried out via the SWIFT network rescued by the private one. 

At the end of 2018, the SGMT processed 198 thousand operations for an amount of  
3,284 billion dinars, up by 4% in volume and by 59.3% in value compared to the previous year. 
This trend is mainly attributable to participating banks’ growing needs for liquidity. 

4-2. Oversight and development of payment systems and means 

4-2-1 Trend in the regulatory system 
Oversight of payment systems and means is a mission assigned to the Central Bank in the 
framework of financial stability promotion. It consists in evaluating payment and settlement 
infrastructures with regard to the standards applicable to them and issuing recommendations to 
introduce the required changes therein. It targets payment and settlement systems, whether they 
are used by the BCT or by another party, as well as issuers of payment tools. 

The BCT was entrusted with the oversight mandate as per provisions of its organic law  
n°35-2016 of 25 April 2016 which stipulates that the BCT sees to guaranteeing payment 
systems’ stability, soundness and efficiency, as well as payment means’ safety. Likewise, article 
17 of the said law acknowledges the BCT’s oversight power on systems and means of payments 
as well as the financial instruments settlement and delivery systems, in collaboration with the 
Capital Market Council. 

Worth of note that the committee on Payments and Market Infrastructures (CPMI) of the Bank 
for International Settlement (BIS) and the International Organization of Securities Commissions 
(IOSCO) published on 16 April 2012 a set of standards used at the international level to 
oversight infrastructures: these are the principles for financial markets infrastructures (PFMI). 

This set of norms concerns all financial markets infrastructures-FMI (ie. The payment systems, 
central securities depositories, securities settlement systems, clearing systems and trade 
repositories); and involves 24 principles. 

The assessment framework used by the BCT to assure its infrastructure oversight missions rests 
on these principles as well as on the assessment methodology of their conformity. 

  

                                                 
1 Of which websites managed by the SMT and the National Post office. 
2 Only transfers in favour of individual customers, the amount of which is equal to or higher than 100 thousand dinars 
are processed at the SGMT. 
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4-2-2 Evolution of the oversight operational framework  

4-2-2-1 Oversight of payment systems  
The year 2018 was marked by special focus on boosting the regulatory framework of oversight, 
notably, application of the Bank for International Settlements recommendations with respect to 
responsibilities of central banks that should be endowed with appropriate resources to carryout 
oversight activity. These responsibilities cover the following axes: 

• Responsibility « A » : Regulation, control and oversight of « FMI » ; 

• Responsibility « B » : Authority and resources to carry out responsibility «A» ; 

• Responsibility « C » : Communicating objectives and policies relevant to  « FMI » policies; 

• Responsibility « D » : Application of « FMI » principles; 

• Responsibility « E » : Cooperation with the other authorities. 

In this framework, the BCT prepared a draft circular fixing terms of implementation of 
Tunisia’s oversight systems and means of payment that it sees to publish over 2019. 

The application text will help formalize the oversight mission of systems and means of 
payments entrusted to the BCT, a better understanding and applicability of articles 8 and 17 of 
law 2016-35 and also give the elements needed to carry out the oversight mandate as per 
«PFMI» and the best international practices. 

In this framework, the BCT defines the oversight orientations by fixing its relevant systems, the 
list of systems concerned by oversight and the criteria for FMI eligibility to this function and the 
oversight procedure that describes the process for carrying out an oversight mission with respect 
to each system, be it managed by the BCT or any other institution. 

4-2-2-2 Oversight of payment means  
Payment means’ safety is a required condition to maintaining the confidence of the public in 
money and sound operating of the economy. 

The Central Bank is responsible for payment means’ safety based on assessing the compliance 
with the safety criteria that it can establish or the ones defined by interbank norms and 
conventions. In this framework, the Bank favours the exchange of information and concerted 
efforts between all relevant parties through sound operating of payment means and fraud 
combating. 

The Bank acknowledges the benefit of both an on-site and an offsite assessment which should 
be dealt with on a varied panel of payment means and should target system managers and 
issuers of payment means at the same time. To this effect, it is working to establish conditions 
and modalities to carry out this mission, while complying with the provisions of article 17 of 
law 2016-35 setting the BCT’s Statute and which provides for the fact that the Bank sees to the 
safety of payment means and makes sure of the soundness of norms applicable to them. 

4-2-3 Development of payment systems 
The BCT ensures a driving role in the development of the payments’ market, by favouring 
emergence of innovating solutions that help to improve efficiency and stability of the payment 
service markets but also to combine robustness with respect to security, simplicity of use for its 
users and interoperability at the national level.  

In this regard, the development function’s objectives are: 

 To increase payment services’ availability and reduce their overall macroeconomic cost;  
 To create new, more accessible payment channels for users; 
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 To support the national effort which aims at boosting the financial inclusion of segments 
poorly served by the classical financial services sphere. 

 To integrate interregional payment systems. 

To reach these objectives, the BCT was significantly involved in facilitating dialogue with the 
relevant parties relative to payments’ ecosystem, to coordinate the best adapted actions to 
stimulate implementation of the project to develop systems and means of payment. 

4-2-3-1 Development of payment and securities settlement systems 
The year 2018 was marked by ongoing implementation of the portfolio of strategic projects of 
modernization and reform of financial markets infrastructure initiated in 2016. 

 Project to reform Tunisia gross amount transfer system 

In the framework of reforming this system to modernize it and put it line with the international 
standards applicable to major payment systems, the BCT launched an international call for bid 
early in 2017. The leading principles of this reform are integration of new technologies, better 
management of risk in line with international standards and participation of new institutions like 
the National Post Office and Tunisie Clearing. 

After opening tenders, a foreign editor was retained. The BCT is currently testing the new 
solution. 

Entry into effect of the new solution for Tunisia gross amount transfer system is expected for 
2020. 

 Project to reform the National clearing system 

The main axes of this reform involve integration of new technologies (N-tier architecture…) 
compliance with international standards with respect to efficiency, security, certification by the 
National agency of electronic certification relevant to the Electronic clearing centre managed by 
SIBTEL, and elimination of the manual clearing house. 

The technical committee (whose members are the BCT representatives, SIBTEL and local 
banks) started assessment of financial, functional and technical offer by the editor. 

 Project to modernize the system of settlement of securities transactions of 
Tunisie clearing 

Worth of note that the Tunisian Central Depository launched in June 2016 a project to 
modernize its system that led in May 2017 to signature of a contract for implementing a new 
solution with the Software editors aiming to acquire a new depository system in line with 
international recommendations and norms in the area of security and transparency of the 
payment systems and securities settlement. Moreover, after drawing up the initial report, the 
development and personalization initiated by the software editor yielded a first batch of 
deliverables (11 delivered functionalities out of 21 ones, corresponding to 52% of total 
functionalities) to help carry out internal tests as per an agreed number of sprints between the 
two parties. 

 National Switch for monetics and mobile payment activities 

The BCT continues to closely follow up the banking community initiative to implement a 
mobile payment solution contributing to digitalisation, diversification of means of payment and 
support of financial inclusion. This involves establishment of a supplementary solution to USSD 
solutions meant for smartphones / tablets. A one which is independent from Telecoms operators 
but that must satisfy the conditions of security (PCI-DSS conformity), inter-bancarity and 
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interoperability (national switch) for interbank operations, while offering innovative digital 
financial services with high added value to consumers and traders. 

 Reflexion and road map to digitalize payments in Tunisia  

Driven by a global strategic orientation of the economy’s digitalization, the BCT started up in 
2018, implementation of the Decashing plan through: 

 Steering committee in charge of coordination and follow up of execution of works on a study 
entitled «Digitalizing payment in Tunisia», launched by the World Bank on behalf of the 
Tunisian government (Ministry of communication technologies and digital economy) with 
the objective to carry out a diagnosis of the digital payment sector and draw up 
recommendations and a road map for its development; 

 Elaborating a regulatory framework governing the payment institutions which supports 
innovation, competitiveness digitalization of financial services, main target of payment 
instrument security, and maintaining users’ confidence; 

 Conducting works and discussions led with six interdepartmental sub-commission1 in charge 
of payment systems and monetics. This is to concretize execution of decashing plan by the 
BCT and more particularly set up a road map to capitalize quick wins, 

 Pursuing initiated actions to promote digitalization of electronic payments with respect to 
public institutions through implementation of a project providing and setting a payment 
service on electronic payment terminals and via internet for card holders, a payment system 
via mobile through credit card debiting to pay road fines, taxes and levies as well as 
enrolment fees at schools. The technical, accounting and operational aspects were set in 
conventions between the different relevant parties (BCT, SMT, Banks, Ministry of Finances, 
Telephone Operators). 

 Transition of the dematerialization project of cautioned bonds to its last phase requiring 
paper-free payment means both for customs revenue when clearing goods, and at the level of 
banks when carrying payments on the due date. This will help eliminate manual clearing 
with the above-mentioned reform project. Furthermore the collection deadline will be 
optimized and generated costs will be saved; 

 Involvement in the technical assistance programme assured by the World Bank to develop 
the BCT competences with respect to examining approval files and payment institutions’ 
oversight. To this is added a back-up to finalize the regulatory and operational frameworks 
of systems and means of payment oversight; 

 Contribution to works and consulting required by the Government of the Bank about the 
payments market and its relevant parties, the target being to provide the necessary expertise 
that would help decision making, to maintain a sound and efficient payment infrastructure, 
and to analyse the economic models on which rests today the payment means functioning; 

 Taking part in several work groups relative to the project for implementing the inter-Arab 
regional system of clearing and settlement. In fact, being member of the Arab committee in 
charge of setting the inter-Arab regional system of clearing and settlement, coordinators at 

                                                 
1 The six sub-commissions conducted works on the following items: Interoperability, commercial and technical 
availability and security, diversification of payment means offers, tarification, development of financial culture, 
oversight and development of payment infrastructures and securities settlement. Similarly, a work group derived from 
the steering committee was in charge of rethinking the strategy to adopt by the banking community with respect to 
visa and MasterCard.  

 



Chapter 4 

 

Annual Report 2018 156 

 

the level of the BCT were largely requested to bring their expertise to periodic meetings 
through follow up of execution of the road map for the project of governance system, 
constitution of legal entity and the organizational structure, legal and regulatory aspects, 
diagnosis of the systems’ technologies, acquisition of technical solutions as well as 
construction of the system and its launching. 

4-3. Fiduciary circulation  

4-3-1 Trend in fiduciary circulation of banknotes and coins 
As of 31 December 2018, fiduciary circulation posted a 6% annual increase compared to 2017, 
reaching thus 12,453 MTD (banknotes account for 97% against 3% for coins). 
 

 

Graphic 4-7 : Trend in fiduciary circulation (end of period figures) 

 
 

 

 
 

4-3-1-1 Fiduciary circulation of banknotes  
As at 31 December 2018, fiduciary circulation of banknotes amounted to 12,083 MTD, 
corresponding to 690 million banknotes: up by 5% in number and 6% in value compared to end 
2017. Since 2011, the annual average growth rate is 10%. 

Breakdown in value, by denomination shows that the shares of 20-dinar and 5-dinar banknotes 
increased by 9 points and 1 point respectively, reaching 49% and 1% respectively of the 
fiduciary circulation structure. 

In addition, the shares of 50-dinar and 10-dianr banknotes went down by 5 and 4 percentage 
points respectively of the structure of fiduciary circulation. 
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Graphic 4-8: Fiduciary circulation of banknotes  

 

(In number) (In amount) 

  
 
 

 

4-3-1-2 Fiduciary circulation of coins 
Fiduciary circulation of coins reached 369 MTD at the end of 2018, corresponding to  
1,944.6 million coins: up by 2.6% in number and 7.8% in value compared to 2017. 
 
 

Graphic 4-9 : Fiduciary circulation of coins  
(In number) (In amount) 

 

 
M= Millimes ; D = Dinar 

 

 

4-3-2 Issue of banknotes and coins      04/06/2018 

4-3-2-1 Issue of banknotes 
 

Over 2018, banknotes’ issue came to 1,892 million dinars, corresponding to 98 million 
banknotes, up by 23 in value and down by 37% in number compared to 2017. 
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Table 4-4: Trend in the issue of banknotes  
Value 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Number in 
millions 123 107 189 217 54 65 156 98 

Amount in 
MTD 1,770 2,574 4,178 2,701 729 803 1,535 1,892 
 

 

The most important issues over this period concerned the 20-dinar type 2017 banknote (96% in 
value and 92% in number), then the 10-dinar type 2013 banknote (3% in value and 5% in 
number). 
 
 

Graph 4-10: Issue of banknotes (In MTD) 

 
 

 
4-3-2-2 Issue of coins 
During 2018, the issue of coins totalled 43 million coins for an amount of 11 million dinars, 
increasing thus by 258% in number and 120% in value compared to 2017. 
 

Table 4-5: Trend in the issue of coins  
Value 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

In millions coins 61 76 145 75 38 9 12 43 

In millions dinars 14 18 22 50 25 2 5 11 
 
 

In value, the most important issues concerned 2 dinars and 1/2 dinar coins with respective 
proportions of 45% and 36%. 
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4-3-3 Destruction of banknotes 
The total number of shredded banknotes totalled, over 2018, 15.1 million banknotes, of which 
5% are banknotes withdrawn from circulation. 
 

 

Table 4-6: Trend in destruction of banknotes                   (In units) 

  Destruction 
2014 

Destruction 
2015 

Destruction 
2016 

Destruction 
2017 

Destruction 
2018 

Banknotes in 
circulation 

50 d 2011 878,442 519,660 490,000 560,000 409,000 
20 d 2011 3,155,945 1,527,836 1,790,000 1,700,000 5,364,791 
10 d 2013 1,527,209 1,670,279 1,270,000 1,180,000 6,879,000 
5 d 2013 206,864 931,445 3,630,000 1,520,000 1,710,000 

S/TOTAL 5,768,460 4,649,220 7,180,000 4,960,000 14,362,791 

Banknotes drawn 
from circulation 

50 d 2008 11,221,031 174,417 57,720 60,995 90,819 
30 d 1997 12,378,290 73,550 50,775 99,997 100,631 
20 d 1992 57,741,171 561,445 201,652 210,793 192,872 
10 d 1986 122,030,227 66,932 - - 1,000 
10 d 1994 30,858,548 9,504,119 313,338 146,778 108,853 
10 d 2005 190,698 54,511,836 1,976,200 969,360 280,147 
5 d 1993 23,417,943 207,000 10,000 - 10,000 
5 d 2008 2,000,000 16,097,803 198,417 121,905 - 

S/TOTAL 259,837,908 81,197,102 2,808,102 1,609,828 784,322 
Total 265,606,368 85,846,322 9,988,102 6,569,828 15,147,113 

 
 

4-3-4 Annual movements with branches 
Over this period, the central cash department carried out 109 convoys of funds towards in-land 
branches and 82 money remittances to Tunis branch. The latter took up, alone, 37% of 
banknotes dispatches and 23% of coins dispatches. 
 

Table 4-7: Annual movements with branches                (Amount in dinars) 

Branches 
Sent to Branches Received from Branches 

Banknotes % Coins % Banknotes % Coins % 

Tunis 702,750,000 37% 9,717,106 61% 141,061,900 23% 0 0% 
Bizerte 85,750,000 5% 880,944 5% 14,613,510 2% 0 0% 
Gabes 27,000,000 1% 355,640 2% 15,562,240 2% 0 0% 
Nabeul 28,000,000 1% 439,184 3% 78,677,060 13% 0 0% 
Sfax 197,000,000 10% 472,590 3% 127,296,960 20% 0 0% 
Sousse 121,000,000 6% 667,728 4% 102,059,990 16% 0 0% 
Gafsa 234,500,000 12% 298,928 2% 20,075,580 3% 0 0% 
Kasserine 16,000,000 1% 422,864 3% 104,910 0% 0 0% 
Kairouan 60,000,000 3% 135,464 1% 7,171,640 1% 0 0% 
Medenine 37,000,000 2% 852,990 5% 34,523,830 6% 0 0% 
Jendouba 300,000,000 16% 803,388 5% 31,664,690 5% 0 0% 
Monastir 83,750,000 4% 986,781 6% 52,555,360 8% 0 0% 

Total 1,892,750,000  16,033,607  625,367,670  0  
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Chapter 5 – Management of international 
reserves 

27/08/07/2019 
5-1. Trends in reserves 
As at 31 December 2018, gross assets in foreign currency posted 14,525.3 MTD against 
12,991.9 MTD on the same date in 2017, up by 1,533.4 MTD. Expressed in US dollar, reserves 
decreased, however, by 445.8 million dollars, totalling 4,847.2 million dollars at the end of 
December 2018.   
 

 

Table 5-1: Trends in foreign exchange reserve items                                                      (In millions) 

International reserves items 
2017 2018 Variation 2018/2017 

in value 

TND USD TND USD TND USD 

Gross assets in foreign currency 12,991.9 5,293.0 14,525.3 4,847.2 1,533.4 -445.8 

Assets and investment in SDR 77.3 31.5 85.1 28.4 7.8 -3.1 

IMF Reserve position 400.6 163.2 423.9 141.5 23.3 -21.7 

Gold holdings 424.3 172.9 512.9 171.2 88.6 -1.7 

Total international reserves  13,894.2 5,660.6 15,547.2 5,188.2 1,653.0 -472.4 

 

 

Expressed in days of imports, assets reached 84 days of import at the end of 2018 against  
93 days at the end of 2017. 
 

 

Graphic 5-1: Monthly trend in assets in foreign currency (In days of import) 
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5-2. Reserves’ performance 
At the end of December 2018, the overall rate of return on foreign currency assets came to  
51.4 basis points for the aggregate benchmark. 
 

Graphic 5-2: Reserves’ performance by tranches 

 
 

The performance of the reserves’ yield was ensured by the liquidity Tranche’s high 
performance, then the one of the Investment Tranche and the Working Capital.  

For the three tranches, it was investments in dollar and Sterling pound that produced the best 
performances thanks to the relatively high level of their monetary and bond interest rates. 

Investments in US dollar and in sterling pound recorded a performance of 166,7 basis points 
and 29.3 basis points respectively at the end of December 2018 against -9.19 basis points for the 
euro because of the negative interest rates payable on the euro over a good part of the yield 
curve. 

5-3. Risk analysis 

5-3-1 Market risk 
At the end of December 2018, assets in foreign currency had an average duration of  
10.1 months against 11.6 months at the end of 2017. The duration reached its highest level of 
14.2 months in April, following purchases of bond securities, as part of the 2018 investment 
strategy. 
 

 

Graphic 5-3 Trend in the overall duration of reserves  
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On the other hand, analysis of Key Rate Duration (KRD), measuring the portfolio’s sensitivity 
following the 1% variation of a given sector of the yield curve, shows an important exposure of 
the bond portfolio to the 1-3 years sector, as per the investment strategy set in 2018 which has 
aimed, since the beginning of 2018, at preventing against the anticipated increase in bond yields 
(particularly Americans) which genuinely marked a good part of the previous year. 

5-3-2 Credit risk  
Breakdown of assets by instrument (bank deposits and securities) remained relatively stable 
throughout 2018. 
 

 

Graphic 5-4: Trend in the structure of assets by instrument  
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Chapter 6 – Activity of BCT Branches 
06/07/2017 

26/06/2019 

6-1. Activity in dinar 
Withdrawals of banknotes by BCT clients (Banks, Treasury and ONP) reached 9,048.7 MTD 
over 2018, representing a counter-value of 603.6 million banknotes, down by 1.2% in value and 
by 12.5% in volume compared to 2017. 

However, deposits of banknotes recorded at BCT branches totalled 8,310.1 MTD, as a counter 
value of 570.8 million banknotes, showing an increase both in value and volume by 8.7% and 
5.2%, respectively compared to 2017. 
 
 
Graphic 6-1: Movements of banknotes in value Graphic 6-2: Movements of banknotes in volume 

 
  

As for coins, withdrawals posted 76.9 MTD in 2018 for a counter-value of 70.3 million coins, 
increasing thus significantly both in value and in volume by 53.2% and 16% respectively 
compared to the previous year.  

Likewise, deposits of coins came to 49.1 MTD and 20.8 million coins in 2018, improving by 
36% in value, but regressing by 42.4% in volume by reference to the previous years. 

Regional breakdown of deposits and withdrawals shows a disparity between the fiduciary 
movements carried out in certain governorates, notably, of Tunis, Jendouba, Gabes and mainly 
Gafsa which were marked by the importance of withdrawals compared to deposits whereas other 
regions like Sfax, Sousse, Nabeul and Monastir, posted a reversing trend, by draining banknotes 
inflows to the BCT. 
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Graphic 6-3 Deposits and withdrawals of banknotes in value and by branch in 2018 

 

 
As a result of banknotes and coins movements, total fiduciary circulation increased by 6.2%, 
posting 12,453.6 MTD at the end of 2018 against 11,731 MTD at the end of 2017, meaning a 
significant preference for cash at the expense of other already-established scriptural and 
electronic payment means. 

Over 2018, Tunisian banknotes sorting out operations involved 530.7 million banknotes, 
totalling 7,952.9 MTD against 559.7 million banknotes, and 7,940.1 MTD in the previous year, 
recording a 5.2 % decrease in terms of volume while maintaining almost the same value (0.2%), 
covering 93% of banknotes deposits recorded over 2018. 

The total valid banknotes for re-circulation obtained at the end of these sorting out operations 
came to 489.4 million banknotes: 92.2% of the total volume of sorted out banknotes. 

Destruction of unfit banknotes performed by Tunis branch concerned 4.1 million banknotes in 
2018, for 76.3 MTD, showing thus more than six times and three times progress respectively 
compared to volume and value of destroyed banknotes in the previous year. 
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Table 6-1: Summary of activity indicators in dinars                              

Description1 2017 2018 Variation in % 
Banknotes withdrawals 
In value 9,160.9 9,048.7 -1.2 
In volume 690.0 603.6 -12.5 
Coins withdrawals 
In value 50.2 76.9 53.2 
In volume 60.6 70.3 16.0 
Banknotes deposits 
In value 7,642.7 8,310.1 8.7 
In volume 542.4 570.8 5.2 
Coins deposits 
In value 36.1 49.1 36.0 
In volume 36.0 20.8 -42.2 
Banknotes sorting out  
In value 7,940.1 7,952.9 0.2 
In volume 559.7 530.7 -5.2 

Banknotes shredding 
In value 10.6 76.3 619.8 
In volume 0.9 4.1 355.6 
1 Value: In million dinars (MTD). 
  Volume: in millions of banknotes and in millions of coins. 
 

 

6-2. Activity in foreign currency 
Total purchases of foreign currency by BCT over 2018 amounted to 3,830 MTD, up by 28.9% 
compared to 2017, attributable to 42.8% increase in purchases with respect to holders of non-
resident accounts and 23.3% progress in purchases with respect to tourism and worker remittances 
which accounted for 68.3% of total purchases in foreign currency over the same year. 

The improvement of foreign currency purchases would be explained by recovery in Tourism, 
initiated with removal of travel restrictions imposed by certain European countries on the 
Tunisian destination, yielding an increase in the number of non-resident bednights; up by 34.9% 
in 2018 compared to 2017. 

On the other hand, foreign currency sales reached 1,012 MTD over 2018, down significantly by 
30.2% compared to 2017, in line with the decrease in sales in favour of holders of non-resident 
accounts and in sales carried out in the framework of tourism and business travel, by 25.4% and 
41.8% respectively.  

Worth of note that foreign currency sales over 2018 accounted for about 26.4% of foreign 
currency purchases recorded over the same year. 
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Graphic 6-4: Trend in foreign currency activity indicators 

 
 
 
As usual, the most important providers of foreign currency were the branches of Tunis, Sousse, 
Medenine and Nabeul. They took up 81.5% of total purchases of foreign currency and posted a 
surplus of about 2,209 MTD (purchases-sales). 
 
 
Graphic 6-5: Foreign currency purchases and sales by branch in 2018 
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respect to sales on the international foreign exchange markets or euro remittances to their 
countries of origin: about 76.7% of currency purchased over the same year, and this following 
the surplus yielded by the 28.9% increase in foreign currency purchases in the wake of the 
30.2% drop in foreign currency sales over the same period. 
 
 
Table 6-2: Summary of foreign currency activity data                    (In MTD unless otherwise indicated) 

Description 2017* 2018* Variation in % 

Foreign currency purchases 2,971.6 3,830.0 28.9 
Purchases from non- residents accounts holders 850.8 1,215.3 42.8 
Other purchases (tourism & workers remittances) 2,120.8 2,614.7 23.3 

Foreign currency sales  1,450.2 1,012.0 -30.2 
Sales to non- residents accounts holders 1,026.8 765.7 -25.4 
Other sales (tourism & business travel) 423.4 246.3 -41.8 

Transactions with correspondents   
Currency purchases 522.6 173.4 -66.8 
Currency remittance 1,670.1 2,936.2 75.8 

* At the exchange reference rate of 31/12/2018. 
 

 

6-3. Decentralised operations 
At the level of their assignments, BCT branches, except for that of Tunis, are entitled to process 
certain files, tied to foreign exchange, for the Information unit and the banking supervision. This 
is to bring BCT services closer to the economic operators set up in the regions. 

Thus, 44,528 operations were executed by branches in 2018, posting 14.2% improvement 
compared to 2017. This was mainly supported by exchange-related operations’ increase, in the 
wake of the delegated authority to branches as from November 2016, to process certain files to 
regularize situations with respect to tourist allocation that was not followed by a travel and not 
even retroceded in the regulatory deadlines. 

Requests for services tied to the Information Unit were also predominating in 2018 with 86.7% 
of total files processed over the same period. Worth of note that in the framework of digitalizing 
its services, the BCT intends to make available to its clients the remote consultation service of 
the information Unit, through personal access identifiers in order to provide better service 
quality and available information at any time. 
 

 
Table 6-3: Summary of decentralized operations                                                 (In number of operations) 

Operations 2017 2018 Variation in % 

Foreign exchange 2,729 3,633 33.1 

Foreign trade 0 0 - 

Information Unit 34,091 38,612 13.3 

Regional development 82 85 3.7 

Banking supervision 752 815 8.4 

Files sent to the Headoffice 1,347 1,383 2.7 

TOTAL 39,001 44,528 14.2 
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6-4. Processing civil servants’ salaries 
The BCT uses as of 2013 a new channel to process civil servants’ salaries, notably the national 
clearing system, known for celerity in transferring salaries within 24 hours, thanks to projects set 
up with the relevant parties (Treasury, CNI, the Clearing department). 

This project has recorded a significant success, denoting an upward trend in the volume and value 
of transfers of cleared salaries: up by 23.2% and 25.6% respectively in 2018 compared to 2017, 
thanks to total adherence of all ministries to this new system. 
 
 

Table 6-4: Statistics of Civil servants’ salary transfers 
Description 2017 2018 Variation 

in % 

Number of transfers of electronically cleared salaries 7,623,900 9,395,514 23.2 

Amount of salaries transferred through the electronic clearing system  
(In MTD) 6,752.8 8,478.9 25.6 

Number of salary transfer rejected at the electronic clearing system 3,133 3,678 17.4 

Amount of transfer of salaries rejected (In thousand dinars) 2.0 2.2 10.0 

Rejection rate (in %) 0.04 0.04 0.0 

 
 
 
 
Graphic 6-6: Trend in Civil servants’ salary transfers via the National Clearing System 
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Chapter 7 – International cooperation 
04/07/2017 
25/06/2019 

Over 2018, the Central Bank of Tunisia continued, aside from its ongoing cooperation with 
international and regional institutions, to foment and develop partnership relations in order to 
favour exchange of experiences and sharing of expertise and know-how. 

As regards financial cooperation with international monetary organisations, the IMF continued 
to provide Tunisia with financial support, within the framework of the economic programme 
backed up by a four-year arrangement with respect to the Extended Fund Facility. 

As far as technical assistance is concerned, the BCT has benefited from both the support and 
technical expertise of its partners such as the IMF’s Middle East Technical Assistance Centre, 
(METAC), the Swiss State Secretariat for Economic Affairs (SECO) within the framework of 
the Bilateral Assistance and Capacity Building for Central Banks programme, as well as the 
World Bank. In addition, the BCT has intensified its collaboration with other Central Banks by 
signing a technical cooperation convention with Bank Al Maghreb. 

On the other hand, the BCT has actively participated in a number of miscellaneous events 
organized by international and regional organisations, which involved notably exchange of 
viewpoints about issues of common interest, as well as capacity boosting and sharing of 
experiences in different fields. 

On another level, the BCT hosted, over 2018, the 4th session of the International Conference for 
the Central Banks of the Mediterranean, which was jointly organized with the Bank of Spain 
and the European Institute of the Mediterranean, as well as the 8th session of the Board of 
Governors of the Arab Maghreb Union countries’ Central Banks, the latest meeting of which 
dates back to 2008. 
 

7-1. Financial cooperation with monetary organisations 

7-1-1. Financial cooperation with the IMF 
The International Monetary Fund’s (IMF) Executive Board achieved, on 6 July 2018, the third 
review of the Extended Fund Facility (EFF) programme which was held from 17 to 30 May 2018. 
The achievement of this review has allowed Tunisian authorities to encash an amount worth  
249.1 million dollars with respect to the first tranche of the EFF. 

Likewise, the achievement of the fourth review which was held from 15 to 31 August 2018 led to 
disbursement of the 5th tranche of the EFF worth 245 million dollars, bringing thus total 
disbursements with respect to this arrangement to 1,4 billion dollars. 

Within the framework of the preparation of the EFF programme’s fifth review, discussions 
between the IMF departments and the Tunisian authorities continued on the occasion of two staff 
visits held successively over October and November 2018. 

7-1-2. Financial cooperation with the AMF 

Within the framework of financial cooperation between Tunisia and the AMF, the Central Bank of 
Tunisia signed, in the margins of Arab financial institutions’ annual meetings held on 10 April 
2018 in Jordan, two loan agreements related to the 3rd compensatory loan and the small and 
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medium enterprise’s conductive environment support facility, as part of an AMF programme to 
finance Arab trade, for an amount worth 18.532 million Arab dinars for each loan. 

7-2. Participation and representation of the BCT in meetings and assemblies 
organised by international and regional monetary organizations 
Over 2018, the BCT took part in several events and meetings organised by international and 
regional monetary organizations, of which notably: 

 The meeting of the North Africa Sub-region’s Technical Committee, reporting to the 
Association of African Central Banks, which was held on 8 and 10 February 2018 in Khartoum 
(Sudan); 

 The Annual Assemblies of Arab Financial Institutions which took place on 10 and 11 April 2018 
in Jordan; 

 The Association of African Central Banks’ Continental Seminar which took place from 14 to  
16 May 2018 in N’Djamena (Republic of Tchad), on «Financial technologies innovations, cyber 
criminality: challenges for Central Banks». 

 The Annual Meetings of the Association of African Central Banks held on 8 and 9 August in 
Sharm El Sheik (Egypt); 

 The 42nd ordinary session of the Board of Governors of Arab Central Banks and monetary 
institutions, in which the Governor of the Central Bank of Tunisia was elected as a member of the 
Committee to oversee the regional system of Arab and interarab payments clearing and settlement 
project, as well as the high-level workshop on «Growth of modern financial technologies: 
opportunities and challenges in Arab countries» which took place on 17 and 18 September 2018 
respectively in Amman (Jordan). 

 The 6th Annual Conference of the BCC Programme which was held on 27 and 28 September 
2018 at the Graduate Institute (IHEID) in Geneva on «Coping with spillovers from policy 
normalisation in advanced economies»; 

 The IMF’s and World Bank’s Annual Assemblies held from 11 to 15 October 2018 in Bali-Nusa 
Dua (Indonesia). 

7-3. Cooperation and technical assistance 

7-3-1 Bilateral cooperation with the IMF’s Middle East Technical Assistance 
Centre (METAC) 
The IMF’s Regional Middle East Technical Assistance Centre (METAC) continued to make 
efforts over 2018, in order to support the BCT in boosting its staff members’ capacities by 
providing it with the expertise and know-how of its experts. 

In this context, two technical assistance missions, led by two METAC experts, took place in 
Tunis over February and April 2018, respectively, with a view to assisting the General 
Department of Banking Supervision’s executives in setting up a framework for the international 
core funds adequacy assessment process (ICAAP). 

7-3-2 Bilateral cooperation with the Swiss Secretariat of State for Economic 
Affairs (SECO) 
The first phase of the «Bilateral Assistance and Capacity Building for Central Banks» (BCC) 
programme, financed by the Swiss Secretariat of State for Economic Affairs (SECO) jointly 
with the High International and Development Studies Institute (IHEID), for the 2014-2017 
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period, was successfully achieved. In fact, the capacity development goals of the Central Bank 
of Tunisia’s executives were met, notably in the modelling and financial stability fields. 

Over 2018, the second phase of the BCC programme for the period, 2018-2022, was approved 
by the SECO. In this framework, and with a view to elaborating a new activity plan, an 
assessment mission of the Geneva Institute, led by a BCC programme official, visited Tunis 
from 9 to 10 May 2018 in order to analyse and identify the BCT’s priority needs as regards the 
technical assistance to be scheduled in the above-said activity plan. 

As far as scientific research is concerned, two BCT executives were admitted to the distance 
coaching programme with two research papers entitled «The role of the interest rate channel in 
the monetary transmission mechanism framework: case of Tunisia» and «The Monetary Policy 
Transmission Mechanism in Tunisia: A Structural Gap Model». 

7-3-3 Bilateral cooperation with the World Bank 
In its project «Support of Tunisia for its financial sector modernisation», the World Bank was 
committed, within the framework of the second phase of the « Moussanada» Fund (2017-2020), 
to accompany the BCT in five priority axes outlined below:  

 Training the executives of the BCT’s General Department of Banking Supervision to 
assess and control local banks’ internal rating system; 

 Training and boosting the skills of the BCT’s General Department of Banking 
Supervision executives on the IFRS international referential; 

 Support of the BCT for the implementation of the law on credit bureau; 

 Support of the BCT in the «Digital Finance» project; 

 Support of the BCT in implementing its first strategic plan. 

7-3-4 Bilateral cooperation with Central Banks 
The Central Bank of Tunisia signed, on 17 November 2018, two cooperation agreements with 
Bank Al-Maghrib which aim to further consolidating cooperation between the two institutions.  

The first agreement concerns the formalisation of general cooperation between both central 
banks for a better exchange of experiences, expertise and information in their different activity 
fields. 

The second agreement is relevant to organising and implementing cooperation actions between 
the two institutions, notably in cross-border institutions’ oversight and the exchange of 
experiences as regards supervision and banking regulation. 

7-4. Events and meetings organised by the BCT 

7-4-1 Organisation of the 4th Session of the International Conference of the Central 
Banks of the Mediterranean 
On 16 November 2018, the BCT organised the 4th Session of the International Conference of the 
Central Banks of the Mediterranean on «Economic policies, trade integration and sustainable 
job creation: a view of Mediterranean countries», jointly with the Bank of Spain and the 
European Institute of the Mediterranean (IMEMed). 

This conference, which gathered central bank representatives, experts from international 
Organizations and university professors aims, primarily, at fostering dialogue between 
Governors and high representatives of the Mediterranean Region’s Central Banks on the way 
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to overcome some of the most compelling challenges, amidst an increasingly independent 
Mediterranean region, as well as the means to improve sustainable job creation. 

7-4-2 Organisation of the 8th Session of the Board of Governors of the Arab 
Maghreb Union Countries’ Central Banks 
On 17 November 2018, Tunisia hosted the 8th Session of the Board of Governors of the Arab 
Maghreb Union Countries’ Central Banks (UMA) which followed on from the preparatory 
meeting held in the margins of the IMF’s and the World Bank’s annual meetings held on  
13 October 2018 in Bali (Indonesia), during which a road map project was drawn up and 
submitted for examination and discussion to the Board of Governors during its latest meeting, 
which decided to: 

 Entrust the Central Bank of Tunisia with the Permanent Secretariat of the Board of Governors of 
the Arab Maghreb Union countries’ central banks and set up a Technical Committee in charge of 
the follow up, documentation and implementation of the different decisions and recommendations 
emanating from the above-said Board. 

 Reactivate the Board’s works on new bases by reconsidering the internal regulation into force 
and submitting a project to the Board during its following meeting. 

 Establish an action plan based mainly on the creation of four Technical Committees, namely: 

- A technical committee on new financial technologies, mobile payment, encrypted money and 

cyber-security; 

- A technical committee on Financial Inclusion,  

- A technical committee on Crowd-funding; 

- A technical committee on combating money laundering and terrorism financing. 
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Chapter 8- Organization and information 
system 

15/07/2019 
11/07/2018 

The year 2018 was marked by launching of the reflection to draw up the Bank’s first strategic 
plan 2019-2021. 

The establishment approach was strongly participatory by means of staff meetings, achievement 
of a staff survey and strategic analyses carried out by departments. 

Organisation is present in all the strategic planning task stages and contributed, in the framework 
of the strategic planning project committee, to ensuring coordination for sound carrying out of 
this task as per the set agenda. 

At the end of this task, the enunciation of the strategic card helped to yield two strategic axes, 
the second one of which involves a particular focus on internal requirements «To modernise 
and optimise the Central Bank’s management of resources and means», specifying notably 
the challenge of improving the Bank’s organisational capacities. 

This was further pinpointed in the results reproduced by the declination of strategic goals into 
strategic projects, of which notably the process cartography and reengineering project and the 
Bank’s global organisational reform project. 

The said projects will help the Bank to improve its governance, its management mode and 
monitoring of incurred risks, and spotlight the importance for the Bank of: 

 having an organisation model, structures and an operating mode with clear-cut roles and 
responsibilities to optimise working methods and rethink ways of doing things. 

 consolidating the achievement of its missions by meeting the expectations of its internal 
and external intervening parties as per a process-based approach. 

 Increasing its resilience by developing a prospective and risk-monitoring vision which 
aligns with best standards. 

8-1. Processes cartography and information system urbanisation  
The first strategic diagnosis established within the framework of the strategic planning task 
helped to bring into light several features of the Bank’s situation, revealing the special status of 
the process cartography and reengineering project as a structuring project at the basis of several 
other strategic projects. 

Findings from the organisational diagnosis as well as from the conclusions of the staff survey 
underline mainly:  

 The institution’s operating hierarchical pyramidal features, 
 A lack of procedure formalisation and overriding roles and responsibilities, 
 A big partition between structures leading to delays in implementing some transversal 

projects. 

This helped to confirm the need to develop a process-based management approach targeting: 

 Operating optimisation and ongoing improvement, 
 Culture change from an administrative culture into an internal and external customer 

service-oriented culture, 



Chapter 8 

 

Annual Report 2018 176 

 

 Soundness in resources mobilisation, teamwork promotion and performance 
improvement. 

8-2. Organisational structure 
The adopted transformation approach led to a questioning on the most appropriate organisational 
structuring choices which have to accompany the strategic plan’s implementation. 

Collegial reflections were initiated to set the target structure which has to back up strategic 
choices and manage the implementation of transformations arising from strategic projects. 

The sought-for target structure would mainly aim at: 

 Creating and facilitating transformation appropriation conditions by the whole staff, 
 Refocusing organisational change on processes and favouring intra and inter 

macroprocess synergy, 
 Being client-oriented 
 Reducing silos, 
 Consolidating collaboration in an atmosphere of cohesion and equity, 
 Reinforcing responsibility and accountability at all levels, 
 Promoting a more fluid communication, 
 Creating appropriation conditions by all the intervening parties. 

8-3. Risk management  

In the framework of the second axe of the strategic plan, an important transformation project is 
expected to boost the Bank’s internal Control facility and consolidate the second line of defense 
through operational risk management. 

Giving impetus to the risk cartography turns out to be a core concern and acts as a warrantor of 
good governance. It is targeted as a monitoring tool to follow up the materialisation of the 
Bank’s objectives. 

8-4. The Bank’s digital transformation  

For its transformation, the Bank has to take profit from the opportunities offered by digital 
technologies to have an impact on: 

 Its relationships with both its ecosystem and partners 
 Its operational modes and processes 

It is specifically the very challenge of bringing these two dimensions closer at both the internal 
and external levels which is provided for in the second axe of the strategic plan in relation to the 
«Making the digital modernisation driver for the Bank » goal declined into six projects: 

 Digitalising requests of payments on External Funds 
 Automatisation of the on-site and offsite supervision processes 
 Upgrading the Bank’s network (digitalisation and safety) 
 Reinforcing the safety of the Bank’s Information Systems 
 Redesigning the NSDD platform 
 Creating a BCT-Lab 

Implementing the above-mentioned identified projects would substantially foster the 
governance of the Bank’s Information System as a value-creating lever for a more performing 
Central Bank. 
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Chapter 9 – The Control activity  
05/07/2017 

Internal audit        03/05/2019 
The internal audit’s mission at the BCT is to enhance and preserve the Bank’s value by 
recommending, in an objective way, assurance, consulting and improvement actions based on a 
risk-driven approach. Internal audit helps both the Bank’s Governing Board and its operational 
units to meet their goals by assessing, through a systematic and orderly approach, its risk 
management, control and governance processes and by making suggestions to boost their 
efficiency. 

Governed by a sound regulatory framework, made up of the internal audit chart, the internal 
audit permanent committee’s chart and the BCT internal auditors’ code of ethics, internal audit 
is an independent activity. 

As per a risk-based methodology, an audit universe which takes into account all the Bank’s 
assignment processes is set up. Based on this universe, internal audit establishes and pursues a 
three-year audit plan acknowledged by the Bank’s Governing Board, the Permanent Audit 
Committee (PAC) and the Executive Board. 

This three-year audit plan is divided into annual plans based on a risk-prioritisation order, while 
taking into account strategic challenges, goals, intervening parties’ expectations (the Executive 
Board, the PAC and the Bank’s Governing Board), as well as complementarity with the works 
of External Auditors. 

In order to foster its skills, internal audit carries out an annual training programme abroad 
specialized in audit and in fields related to audit subject matters and the continuity of internal 
auditors’ international certification programme. 

The internal audit activity at the Central Bank of Tunisia has been steadily improving. In fact, 
the year 2018 was marked by the first external assessment of the internal audit function as a 
whole, having achieved satisfactory results concluded by the proposal of further progress 
actions. 

The BCT’s internal control system 
The BCT’s internal control system consists in all the structures and processes which guarantee 
monitoring of the Bank’s activities, compliance of operations and of procedures with legal and 
regulatory provisions, the quality of accounting and financial information and the optimal use of 
its resources. 

The internal control system contributes efficiently to compliance with the regulation into force, 
as well as to the protection of the Bank’s assets. Besides, it helps to ensure a sound monitoring 
of risks. 

The BCT’s internal control system is part of a global facility structured around three main 
control functions: 

 Permanent Control which is organized as follows : 

 - The control of line managers carried out within each activity of the Bank. It 
corresponds to operational controls which consist in ensuring a sound implementation of rules 
as defined by the procedures and methods into force. 



Chapter 9  
 

Annual Report 2018 178 
 

 - The control achieved by functions devoted to control and follow up, namely the risk-
management unit, the management control unit, the information systems safety unit, the cash 
control unit and control and follow-up units. 

 Periodical Control practised by internal audit which ensures, periodically, according to a 
risk-based annual audit programme, not only the compliance, but also the accuracy and 
soundness of permanent control, and 
 

 External control which is achieved by two external auditors who are members of Tunisia’s 
Order of Chartered Accountants, appointed by decision of the Bank’s Executive Board. 

Over 2018, strategic orientations towards reinforcing the Central Bank’s internal control facility 
were identified, based on best international practices. 

 Assurance-generating activities 

Over 2018, General Control managed to achieve 16 missions: 

 7 missions relevant to the audit plan, 
 7 consulting missions, and  
 2 specific missions. 

 Other activities: 

 Follow up of recommendations 

Implementing recommendations is one of the main indicators of success and soundness of internal 
 and external audit. In this respect, the recommendations follow-up works which were ensured  
by the General Control, hence carried out in 2018, concerned 17 departments to which  
327 recommendations were submitted. 

 The Permanent Audit Committee Secretariat 

In the framework of its function as the PAC’s Secretariat, the General Control organized six 
meetings over 2018, related to internal audit’s own activity and assistance of the PAC in 
examining external auditors’ activity. 

 Relationships with external service providers and miscellaneous activities:  

 Coordination with external auditors,  
 Coordinating the IMF mission on the assessment of the Bank’s back-up facilities,  
 Participation in the annual Conference of the internal audit managers of French-

speaking countries’ central banks. 
 Participation in the activities of the International Operational Risk Working Group 

members. 

 Resources: 

In the framework of boosting their capacities, five internal auditors have enjoyed, each, a high-
level targeted training course at foreign central banks. 

Internal auditors have also participated in three training courses in Tunisia. 

Three internal auditors are currently following their Certified Internal Auditor programme. 
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Chapter 10 – Human resources 
and social balance sheet 

15/07/2019 
Over 2018, the Central Bank of Tunisia’s total staff number decreased by 38 staff members compared 
to the previous year, down from 917 to 879, due mainly to retirement. The year 2018 was also marked 
by organisation of an external recruitment competition targeting the Bank’s human capital 
consolidation while adopting a more modern approach in the applicant selection process.  

10-1. Career management and development  

10-1-1 Total staff number  
The Central Bank’s total staff number set as of 31/12/2018 amounts to 879 agents (848 agents in 
active employment, 16 agents on secondment and 15 agents assigned to non-active service). 

The number of staff in active employment is broken down between the headoffice in Tunis, which 
counts 670 agents (79%) and the eleven branches within the regions which count 178 agents (21%). 
 

 
Table 10-1: Breakdown of the Bank’s total staff number by position  

Category  Number  
Active Staff  848 
of whom:  

 Established staff  825 
 Contractual agents (determined deadline) 3 
 Seconded staff at the Bank 3 
 Trainees 17 

Secondment 16 
Non active service 15 
Total Staff 879 
 

 

 

 

Graphic 10-1: Breakdown of the BCT’s total staff number  
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Men account for 63.4% of the Bank’s total staff number while women account for 36.6%. 
 

Table 10-2: Breakdown of staff by gender 
Gender Number Share in % 

Women 322 36.63 
Men 557 63.37 
Total  879 100.0 

 

 

The age pyramid shows that 38.23% of the Bank’s staff are aged 50 years and more (a falling figure 
compared to 2017) while 22.64% are less than 35 years old. The age of the remaining staff  
(39.13) ranges between 35 and 49 years. 
 

 

Graphic 10-2: Breakdown of staff by age  

 
 

Ranks ranging from Chief Head of Department to General Managers corresponding to senior 
management group together 389 agents: 44.25% of Bank’s total staff number. The middle-level 
management (from the rank of Management Assistant to the Head of Department one) and common 
executives (from the rank of Service Agent to the one of Service Assistant) account for 29.58% and 
26.17% of the total staff number, respectively. 
 

 

Table 10-3: Breakdown of staff by rank 
Rank  Number Share in % 

Senior Managers 389 44.25 
Middle level-managers 260 29.58 
Common executives 230 26.17 

Total  879 100.0 

340 of the Bank’s agents hold functional job positions, leading to a responsibility rate of 38.68% 
compared to the overall staff, of which 150 (44.12%) hold the job position of Head of Department. 
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10-1-2 Promotions 
The promotion rate of common executives and middle-level management with respect to 2018 
increased by more than 7 percentage points, up from 71.2% in 2017 to 78.6%. 

As for senior management, the promotion rate posted 62.4%, dropping slightly compared to the rate 
recorded in 2017 which was 66.9%. 

10-1-3 Recruitment and mobility 

a) Recruitment 
Over 2018, an entrance examination on the basis of academic record was organized by the Bank on 
behalf of the Tunisian Commission of Financial Analyses (CTAF), following which, twelve (12) 
executives joined the Bank in the beginning of May 2018. 

The Bank has also launched a second competitive entrance examination to recruit 131 agents and 
executives for the needs of both the Head office and branches. 

The Bank has also hired five (05) students from the Arab Maghreb Development Financing Institute 
(IFID) and sponsored ten (10) new students who will be hired in 2020. 

b) Mobility 

Over 2018, twenty-nine (29) requests for mobility were submitted by the Bank’s staff, twenty-three 
(23) requests of which were met. Twenty (20) agents were appointed at the requested departments over 
the same year and three (03) moved in the beginning of 2019. 

10-1-4 Training activity over 2018 

Over 2018, 39% of the Bank’s staff took part in training courses broken down as follows: 54% for in-
house training, 28% for training abroad, 10% for training in Tunisia and 8% for training leading to 
certification. 

10-1-4-1 Specialised training  

 Training abroad 
Ninety three (93) agents have participated in training courses abroad. These courses were organised by 
international institutions such as the Middle East Centre for Economic and Financial Studies reporting 
to the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the Arab Monetary Fund (AMF), as well as foreign 
central banks. 

 Training in Tunisia  
Thirty-four (34) staff members took part in training courses in Tunisia organised by local training firms. 

 In-house training 
One hundred eighty (180) staff members participated in three in-house informational seminars within 
the framework of a training programme dedicated to the staff of the various departments of the Bank. 

10-1-4-2 Training leading to certification 

 Training at the Academy of Banks and Finances reporting to the Professional 
Association of Banks and Financial Institutions (APBTEF) (preparatory cycle, 
medium-level cycle and ITB cycle) 

Twelve (12) agents out of fifteen (15) participated in the fourth and last certification falling within the 
framework of the training on « Principles and practises of asset management and insurance», 
organized by Tunis-Dauphine Institute, jointly with the Central Bank of Tunisia. 

Seven (7) agents were enrolled in the preparatory cycle and five (5) others in the medium-level cycle 
of the Academy of Banks and Finances (ABF), while two (2) other agents were enrolled in the courses 
of the Banking Techniques Institute (ITB). 
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 IFID training 
Ten (10) students with respect to the 38th IFID promotion were enrolled in the first year of study, while 
(10) students from the 37th IFID promotion were enrolled in the second year of study. 

10-1-4-3 Educational projects 
Over 2018, the Bank received one hundred forty four (144) trainees as part of different kinds of 
internships. 

Likewise, many universities took advantage of actions in the form of study visits and presentations 
followed by discussion. 

Besides, delegations from the Central Bank of Guinea, the Central Bank of Libya and the Central 
Bank of Sudan were received within the framework of study visits at the Bank. 

10-2. Remuneration policy 
The average remuneration of the year 2018 made a 6.93% progress compared to 2017, owing to the 
combined effect of the implementation of salary-related measures at the banking sector’s level and the 
effects of promotions in rank and functional position. 

10-3. Social policy 

10-3-1 Loans to the staff 
At the end of 2018, the Social Fund’s available money rose remarkably compared to 2017, up from 
1,285,800 dinars to 3,777,100 dinars. This increase is mainly attributable to the allotment allocated to 
the Social Fund with respect to 2018 in the amount of 2,000,000 dinars. 

The year 2018 was also marked by a drop (-13%) in the volume of disbursed social loans, down from 
11,100,854 dinars in 2017 to 9,620,679 dinars in 2018. This decrease was notably relevant to short-
term loans: «fitting out» (-23%), «miscellaneous» (-16%) and medium term loans «for car purchase» 
(-30%). 

Loans’ reimbursements (all categories together) made a progress of 8% at the end of December 2018 
compared to the ones recorded at the end of December 2017, reaching thus 10,136,720 dinars. 

10-3-2 Retirement 
Over 2018, 55 agents retired, 38 of whom reached the retirement age, while 17 were admitted to early 
retirement. 

10-3-3 Pilgrimage 
Within the framework of its social welfare activities, the Bank assumed the pilgrimage costs of  
3 agents to the holy places. 

10-3-4 Health insurance and social welfare  

10-3-4-1 Curative healthcare  
Health insurance coverage concerned, over 2018, about 1851 active and retired agents against 1804 in 
2017 with regard to health and death risks. Yet, 848 adherent active agents were covered with respect 
to health, motherhood, disability, death and bodily damage risks over 2018 against 865 in 2017. 

Over 2018, reimbursements with respect to health insurance went on at a high pace compared to 2017, 
up by 5%. 
 
In order to favour access to quality healthcare, 482 requests for the assumption of hospitalization costs 
were met over 2018 against 478 in 2017. 
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10-3-4-2 Preventive healthcare and social assistance 
In keeping with its habitual preventive medical assistance, the Central Bank of Tunisia achieved, over 
2018 with the help of two contractual doctors (a general practitioner and a cardiologist), a nurse and 
two contracted laboratories, the following medical services:  

Table 10-4 
Description Number of agents 

Analyses 714 
Visits 480 
Electrocardiograms 260 
Vaccinations                                                  236 (85 Head office + 151 Branches) 

 
The Bank has also organized campaigns to raise awareness of blood donation as well as of diabetes. 
 

Besides, and within the framework of food safety, unannounced visits to the Bank’s kitchen and 
restaurant, as well as bacteriological screening programmes were carried out by specialised 
laboratories over 2018. 
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Chapter 11 – Financial Situation and Results 
Analysis 

16/07/2018 

10/07/2019 
The BCT’s financial statements, set as of 31 December 2018, bore the mark of the prevailing 
economic and financial situation over 2018, characterized notably by: 

 The banking sector’s amplified needs for liquidity, 
 Current deficit widening and ensuing foreign currency assets’ decrease, and 
 The dinar’s depreciation against main foreign currencies. 

In this context, the total balance sheet amounted to 31,353.6 MTD, against 25,466.66 MTD in 
2017, up by 5,887 MTD or 23.1%. 

As for the financial year’s result, it posted 881.3 MTD, against 385.8 MTD in 2017, posting 
thus a record high of 495.5 MTD or 128.4%. 

In order to favour a better analysis of the Bank’s asset situation and its results, disclosed balance 
sheet headings and statement of result were brought together, as detailed below. 

11-1. Asset situation analysis 
The resources/uses table showing the Bank’s financial balance as of 31 December 2018 is as 
follows: 

 
 

Table 11 -1: Financial balance                      (In MTD) 

 2018 2017 Variations 

NET RESOURCES 22,656.7 18,028.8 4,627.9 

Net fiduciary resources 12,453.6 11,731.0 722.6 

Net position with clients 9,212.3 5,782.9 3,429.4 

Others 990.8 514.9 475.9 

NET USES 22,656.7 18,028.8 4,627.9 

Gold and foreign currency 9,438.6 8,905.6 533.0 

Net bank refinancing 13,218.1 9,123.2 4,094.9 
 

 

The above-mentioned table shows that the Bank’s asset situation improved over 2018, up 
from 18,028.8 MTD, to 22,656.7 MTD, progressing by 4,627.9 MTD or 25.7%. 

At the net resources level, the increase is largely attributable to the remarkable increase in the 
net position with clients which leapt by 59.3%, from the end of one year to the next, and to a 
lesser degree to the slight increase in fiduciary circulation (+6.2%). 

At the net uses level, the increase is mainly attributable to the significant increase in the volume 
of net bank refinancing (up by 4,094.9 MTD or 44.9%), reflecting the banking sector’s growing 
need for liquidity from one year to the next. 
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Resources/uses by category of operations are detailed below: 
 

 

Table 11-2: Fiduciary resources                                   (In MTD) 

 2018 2017 Variations 

Banknotes in circulation 12,083.7 11,389.0 694.7 

Coins in circulation 369.9 342.0 27.9 

NET FIDUCIARY RESOURCES 12,453.6 11,731.0 722.6 
 

 

Banknotes and coins in circulation, main component of liabilities (41.1%) came to  
12,453.6 MTD at the end of December 2018, up by 722.6 MTD compared to their level 
recorded at the end of December 2017. 

Over the considered period, the level of banknotes and coins in circulation fluctuated between a 
minimum of 11,497.2 MTD and a maximum of 13,090.1 MTD, recorded on 18 April and  
23 August 2018, respectively, with a peak, notably in June, August and December, 
corresponding to summer season, Ramadan, the religious feasts and new year feasts. 

 
 

Graphic 11-1: Trend in fiduciary resources (In MTD) 

 
 

Worth to be mentioned that fiduciary circulation grew at a slower pace. In fact, growth rate went 
from 15% between the end of 2016 and the end 2017 period, to just 6.2% for the period between 
the end of 2017 and the end of 2018.  

 
 

Table 11-3: Operations with clients                                                                                (In MTD)  

 2018 2017 Variations 
Assets 2,034.4 1,903.8 130.6 
Advance to the State for subscriptions to Monetary Funds 2,034.4 1,903.8 130.6 
Liabilities 11,246.7 7,686.7 3,560.0 
Government accounts and other sums for the Treasury 2,784.6 2,537.2 247.4 
Foreign institutions’ current accounts in dinars 1,484.8 1,485.7 -0.9 
Foreign currency commitments towards Tunisian Authorized Intermediaries 
(resident banks) 6,351.1 3,024.6 3,326.5 

Other credit accounts 626.2 639.2 -13.0 
Net position with the clients 9,212.3 5,782.9 3,429.4 
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The net position with clients increased considerably by 3,429.4 MTD or 59.3%, owing mainly 
to the sharp increase in the outstanding balance of commitments in foreign currency towards 
resident authorized intermediaries worth 3,326.5 MTD, going from 3,024.6 MTD at end 
December 2017 to 6,351.1 MTD in 2018. 

On another level, the increase in Government accounts, the overall balance of which bounced by 
247.4 MTD or 9.8% contributed to a slight increase in net position with the clients. This 
increase emanates mainly from the 500 M EUR-debenture loan intended to support the State 
budget issued on Eurobond market, with a 6.75% interest rate and 5-year maturity. 

 

 

Table 11-4: Bank refinancing                     (In MTD) 

 2018 2017 Variations 
Assets 13,505.9 9,465.5 4,040.4 
Financing for lending institutions related to monetary policy operations 11,846.0 8,484.0 3,362.0 
Securities purchased in the framework of Open Market operations 1,659.9 981.5 678.4 
Liabilities 287.8 342.3 -54.5 
Current accounts of banks accounted for in the reserve requirement 287.8 342.3 -54.5 
Net bank refinancing -13,218.1 -9,123.2 -4,094.9 

 
 

At the banking sector’s refinancing level, the Issuing Institution pursued, over 2018, its 
interventions on the money market to meet banks’ needs for liquidity, mainly through call for 
bids. The annual average package of intervention in this respect stood at a level close to the one 
of 2017, coming to 7,048.5 MTD compared to 6,890.1 MTD a year earlier. 

Worth of note that the BCT implemented a new 6-month refinancing instrument with a 2-year 
programme duration. The first operation carried out in this respect took place in December 
2018, through which 1,943 MTD were injected to local banks. 

On the other hand, and in order to cover their needs for liquidity, banks intensified resort to 
standing 24-hour lending facilities mainly as of July. As a result, there was 2,509.1 MTD 
increase on average from one year to the next. 

Worth of note in this context that in order to face up to banks’ liquidity needs, the Central Bank 
of Tunisia carried out, over 2018, 13 swap foreign exchange operations for one-month and 
three-month maturities, through which it injected 2,574.4 MTD, on average compared to just 
648.4 MTD in 2017. 

On the other hand, the BCT completed this refinancing by firm purchase of Treasury bonds in 
the framework of Open Market operations. The latte firmed up by 678.4 MTD compared to 
2017, to reach 1,659.9 MTD compared to 981.5 MTD a year earlier. 

Amidst this context of bank liquidity dry-up, the overall volume of refinancing increased 
significantly by 55.7%, coming to 14,401.6 MTD in 2018, in terms of annual average, against 
9,248.5 MTD a year before. 
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Graphic 11-2: Overall volume of refinancing (In MTD) 

 

 
 

 

Table 11-5: Gold and foreign currency                                                                (In MTD) 

 2018 2017 Variations 
Assets 15,729.4 14,033.7 1,695.7 
Gold holdings 512.9 424.3 88.6 
Subscriptions to international organisations 2.4 2.4 0.0 
IMF reserve position 423.9 400.6 23.3 
AMF subscription in foreign currency 126.1 99.2 26.9 
Assets and investment in special drawing rights 85.1 77.3 7.8 
Foreign currency assets 14,525.3 12,991.9 1,533.4 
Foreign currency shareholding 53.7 38.0 15.7 
Liabilities 6,290.8 5,128.1 1,162.7 
Allocations of special drawing rights 1,134.0 952.3 181.7 
Foreign accounts in foreign currency 208.8 106.8 102.0 
Other commitments in foreign currency 1,106.7 651.3 455.4 
Foreign currency commitments towards Tunisian Authorized 
Intermediaries/ non-residents banks 581.7 137.2 444.5 

Differences on conversion and reevaluation 3,259.6 3,280.5 -20.9 
Gold and foreign currency -9,438.6 -8,905.6 -533.0 

 

 

The net position in gold and foreign currency improved by 533 MTD, from the end of 2017 to 
the end of 2018, due mainly to the increase in «foreign currency assets » heading which came to 
14,525.3 MTD compared to 12,991.9 MTD in 2017, up by 1,533.4, doing thus away with the 
drop recorded in 2017 and 2016 for 0.96 % and 7.95% respectively. 

In fact, this increase is notably attributable to external resources mobilized in the form of 
borrowing in 2018. 

Worth of note, in this regard, that the main drawings carried out in 2018 on external loans were 
the following: 

 EUR 494.3 million with respect to the debenture loan of 31 October 2018. 
 EUR 412.4 million with respect to the IBRD loan granted within the framework of the 

budgetary support programme disbursed on 20 September 2018. 
 USD 495.8 million and EUR 208.4 million with respect to the loan granted by the IMF 

within the framework of the Extended Fund Facility of 9 May 2016. 
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 USD 80.4 million with respect to compensatory loan III from the AMF. 
 USD 40.1 million with respect to AMF loan worth 18.532 million Arab Accounting Dinar-

support for promotion of a favourable environment for small and medium sized businesses. 
 EUR 100 million with respect to KFW loan disbursed on 28/05/2018 and meant for 

budgetary support. 

«Other commitments in foreign currency» heading increased substantially from one year to the 
next, by 455.4 MTD or 69.9%, due mainly, to the outstanding balance of debt corresponding to 
funds borrowed as a counterpart of foreign currency securities’ repurchase in the framework of 
tripartite Repo operations carried out in October 2018. 

Besides, revaluation of accounts denominated in foreign currency generated a net loss of  
148.7 MTD with respect to 2018. At the closure of the financial year, the amount of cumulated 
net latent gains posted 2,620 MTD. 

As for the revaluation of assets in gold ingots, it generated a net latent gain of 87.7 MTD with 
respect to 2018. Hence, relevant net cumulated gains amounted, at the closure of the financial 
year, to 504.2 MTD against 416.5 MTD in 2017. 

Readjustment operations with the IMF and the AMF related to the financial year 2018 also 
generated a net latent gain worth 40.1 MTD. As a consequence, the relevant amount of net 
cumulated gains reached 135.5 MTD at the closure of the financial year 2018. 

On the whole, «Differences on conversion and revaluation» heading regressed slightly by  
20.9 MTD, down from 3,280.5 MTD to 3,259.6 MTD from one year to the next. 

11-2. Analysis of results 
The Central Bank of Tunisia doubled its operating result at the end of 2018 compared to a year 
before. This result went up by 495.5 MTD or 128.4%, to 881.3 MTD compared to 385.8 MTD a 
year earlier. 

It is broken down as follows: 
 
 

Table 11-6: Breakdown of results                                                                                          (In thousand dinars) 

 2018 2017 Variations 
Reserves management 88,838.3 45,919.9 42,918.4 
Proceeds 176,205.8 149,084.7 27,121.1 
Costs 87,367.5 103,164.8 -15,797.3 
Monetary policy operations 1,001,756.7 467,250.8 534,505.9 
Proceeds 1,021,627.2 474,833.0 546,794.2 
Costs 19,870.5 7,582.2 12,288.3 
Transactions with international organisations -5,999.7 -6,714.4 714.7 
Proceeds 4,567.4 2,304.3 2,263.1 
Costs 10,567.1 9,018.7 1,548.4 
Other operations -27,944.2 -67,887.7 39,943.5 
Proceeds 29,943.5 10,497.1 19,446.4 
Costs 57,887.7 78,384.8 -20,497.1 
Exchange commissions 14,513.6 14,319.0 194.6 
Exchange differences on current operations -43,714.7 38,890.8 -82,605.5 
Staff costs -89,046.3 -77,908.3 -11,138.0 
General operating costs -20,795.6 -18,134.1 -2,661.5 
Net banknotes and coins manufacturing costs -36,287.6 -9,933.1 -26,354.5 
Financial year result 881,320.5 385,802.9 495,517.6 
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The table above shows that the increase in results is mostly attributable to monetary policy 
operations, the net result of which culminated to 1,001.8 MTD in 2018 against 467.3 MTD a 
year before, making a strong 534.5 MTD or 114.4% progress. 

In its turn, the net result of operations related to reserves management posted 88.8 MTD, at the 
end of December 2018, against 45.9 MTD a year earlier, rising thus by 42.9 MTD or 93.5%. 

Moreover, exchange differences on current operations generated net loss of 43.7 MTD, in 2018, 
against net gains of 38.9 MTD at the end of the financial year 2017. 

As for operating costs, staff costs amounted to 89 MTD in 2018 against 77.9 MTD in 2017, up 
by 11.1 MTD, reflecting basically the salary increase effect decided in 2018. General operating 
costs went up from one year to the next by 2.7 MTD, going from 18.1 MTD at the end of 2017 
to 20.8 MTD in 2018.  

 
 

Graphic 11-3: Breakdown of results (In MTD) 
 

 
 
 
 

88.8 

1001.7 

-6 -27.9 

14.5 

-43.7 
-89 

-20.8 -36.3 

881.3 

45.9 

467.2 

-6.7 
-67.9 

14.3 38.9 

-77.9 
-18.1 -9.9 

385.8 

-200

-100

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

1100

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 TOTAL

2018

2017

1- Net result of reserve management operations 
2- Net result of monetary policy operations 
3- Net result of operations with international organizations 
4- Net result of other operations 
5- Foreign exchange commissions 
6- Foreign exchange difference on current operations 
7- Staff costs 
8- General operating costs 
9- Costs for banknotes and coins manufacturing 



Financial Situation and Results Analysis  

 

Annual Report 2018 191 

 

 

 

Table 11-7: Result related to reserves management                                                          (In thousand dinars) 

 2018 2017 Variations 

Proceeds 176,205.8 149,084.7 27,121.1 

Interest on forward deposits 71,579.6 22,857.6 48,722.0 

Interest on securities 82,785.9 108,064.7 -25,278.8 

Interest on foreign currency fund for external management mandate 11,034.2 7,191.1 3,843.1 

Interest on sight foreign currency assets 2,511.7 4,276.2 -1,764.5 

Extending of discount on foreign currency securities 2,976.9 2,904.5 72.4 

Gain in value on foreign currency fund for external management mandate 954.7 760.4 194.3 

Resumption of provisions on funds in foreign currencies for external 
management mandate 3,355.6 1,783.8 1,571.8 

Result on gold placements 154.3 299.5 -145.2 

Resumption of provisions on securities in foreign currency 394.3 549.3 -155.0 

Interest on repo operations at negative yield rates 396.5 337.5 59.0 

Other proceeds 62.1 60.1 2 

Charges 87,367.5 103,164.8 -15,797.3 

Charges on interventions on the money market in foreign currency 19,333.0 5,487.0 13,846.0 

Extending of premiums on securities in foreign currency 44,758.8 62,633.4 -17,874.6 

Loss in value on foreign currency fund for external management mandate 6,170.2 2,577.6 3,592.6 

Charges for management of foreign currency securities 568.1 733.9 -165.8 

Interests on deposit accounts in foreign currency - 12,844.2 -12,844.2 

Fees with respect to reserves external management mandate services 964.5 987.3 -22.8 

Allotment to provisions for depreciation of the foreign currency fund/external 
management mandate 1,015.7 3,355.6 -2,339.9 

Debit interests on sight foreign currency 5,870.7 3,207.8 2,662.9 

Allotment to provisions for depreciation of available for sale securities 1,133.5 2,058.5 -925.0 

Cost of interest on forward investments in foreign currency 4,645.3 5,253.5 -608.2 

Losses on disposal of available for sale securities 1,077.1 662.3 414.8 

Charges on securities in foreign currency at negative yield rate 1,517.7 2,392.2 -874.5 

Interest on repo.operations - 814.7 -814.7 

Other charges 312.9 156.8 156.1 

Net result of transactions tied to reserves management 88,838.3 45,919.9 42,918.4 

 
 

Proceeds from reserve management-related operations increased by 27.1 MTD, up from  
149.1 MTD in 2017 to 176.2 MTD in 2018. This increase is mainly attributable to rising, 
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interests on bank deposits, up by 48.7 MTD, closing for the year at 71.6 MTD thanks to an 
increase in interest on US dollar placements. Funds in US dollar, the management of which is 
delegated to the World Bank yielded an interest proceed of 11 MTD, up by 3.8 MTD compared 
to 7.2 MTD perceived a year before. 

Interest on securities in foreign currency regressed by 25.3 MTD, down from 108.1 MTD at end 
of December 2017 to 82.8 MTD in 2018 in the wake mainly of falling due investment securities 
portfolio. 

As for reserve management-related charges, they shrunk by 15.8 MTD, coming to 87.4 MTD in 
2018 against 103.2 MTD in 2017. This drop is mainly due to unrecognised interests on Qatari 
National Bank deposit worth USD 500 million coming due in April 2017 and for which  
12.8 MTD were recorded with respect to interest charges in 2017; but also to lower charges 
relative to the extension of the premium on securities in foreign currency (-17.9 MTD). 

Overall, the net result of reserve management-related operations was up significantly by  
42.9 MTD or 93.5%, rising from 45.9 MTD at the end of 2017 to 88.8 MTD a year later. 

 
 

Table 11-8: Result tied to monetary policy operations                            (In thousand dinars) 

 2018 2017 Variations 
Proceeds 1,021,627.2 474,833.0 546,794.2 
Interests on money market intervention in the form of purchases on call for 
bids 464,071.7 339,474.0 124,597.7 

Proceeds on securities purchased firm 79,563.2 60,759.1 18,804.1 
Interests on 24-hour lending facilities 239,034.1 37,110.1 201,924.0 
Penalty interest with respect to the money market 6,558.0 5,627.6 930.4 
Carry over amounts on foreign exchange swap transactions 194,019.7 31,844.8 162,174.9 
Interest on money market intervention in the form of Treasury bond repo 
for 3 month duration 22,727.1 - 22,727.1 

Interest on money market intervention in the form of 6 month refinancing 
operations 10,637.9 - 10,637.9 

Recovery of provisions on securities purchased firm 5,015.5 17.4 4,998.1 
Charges 19,870.5 7,582.2 12,288.3 
Interest on 24-hour deposit facilities 63.3 459.0 -395.7 
Charges of operations on securities 89.9 2,069.0 -1,979.1 
Commissions on purchase and sale operations of Treasury bonds 174.7 38.7 136.0 
Allotment to provisions for depreciation of securities 19542.6 5,015.5 14,527.1 
Net result of intervention operations on the money market 1,001,756.7 467,250.8 534,505.9 

 
 

Accounting for 81.9% of the Bank’s total proceeds, against 69% in 2017, proceeds from 
refinancing operations remain the main source of income for the BCT. In fact, the issuing 
Institution pursued its interventions by means of calls for bids as well as through Treasury 
bonds firm purchase operations within the framework of the Open Market or through swap 
foreign exchange operations. 

In this context, proceeds from refinancing operations increased largely by 546.8 MTD, reaching 
1,021.6 MTD at the end of December 2018, notably 464.1 MTD of which account for interest 
collected with respect to liquidity injections through call for bids and 239 MTD constitute 
interests on 24-hour credit facilities. 
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On another level, proceeds with respect to carry-over swap went up by 162.2 MTD, coming to 
194 MTD when closing the financial year, compared to just 31.8 MTD a year earlier. 

 

 

Table 11-9: Results tied to operations with international organisations                            (In thousand dinars) 

 2018 2017 Variations 
Proceeds 4,567.4 2,304.3 2,263.1 
Reserve position remuneration 3,880.5 1,916.6 1,963.9 
Interest on SDR assets 642.6 347.4 295.2 
Interest on investments in SDR 44.3 40.3 4.0 
Charges 10,567.1 9,018.7 1,548.4 
IMF commissions on SDR allocations 9,746.6 4,826.6 4,920.0 
Commissions on the use of IMF resources 493.1 3,053.4 -2,560.3 
Commissions on the use of AMF resources 301.9 1,113.2 -811.3 
Miscellaneous commissions 25.5 25.5 0.0 
Net result of transactions with international organisations -5,999.7 -6,714.4 714.7 

 

 

At the closure of the financial year 2018, the net result of operations with international 
organisations generated a net charge worth 6 MTD in 2018, slightly down by 0.7 MTD 
compared to the level posted over the same period of last year. 

This loss is largely attributable to an increase in commissions disbursed for the IMF, which 
went up to 9.7 MTD, compared to just 4.8 MTD a year earlier, in the wake of an ongoing 
increase in the IMF interest rate applied on SDR allocations.  

However, the 2 MTD increase in interests on IMF reserve position, along with 2.6 MTD 
regression in commissions on use of IMF resources, helped to reduce the negative impact of the 
increase in these commissions on the net result of operations with international institutions. 

 
 

Table 11-10: Result tied to other operations                             (In thousand dinars) 

 2018 2017 Variations 
Proceeds 29,943.5 10,497.1 19,446.4 
Commissions on foreign non-residents’ banknotes 2,527.9 2,472.1 55.8 
Shareholding income 3,225.3 2,522.4 702.9 
Remainder of unused budget allocations 893.5 240.4 653.1 
Interest collected on banks and financial institutions’ accounts 1,134.5 967.4 167.1 
Resumption of provisions for risks and charges 15,869.8 175.0 15,694.8 
Banks’ commissions on foreign banknotes sales 4,543.9 2,212.4 2,331.5 
Other proceeds on miscellaneous operations 1,748.6 1,907.4 -158.8 
Charges 57,887.7 78,384.8 -20,497.1 
Allotments for fixed asset amortization 8,478.6 9,146.0 -667.4 
Allotment to provisions for risks and charges 47,833.0 63,397.3 -15,564.3 
Allotment to provisions and result of value adjustment on shareholdings 660.0 1,164.0 -504.0 
Other charges on miscellaneous operations 916.1 4,677.5 -3,761.4 
Net result of other operations -27,944.2 -67,887.7 39,943.5 

 

 

The net result of other operations improved by 39.9 MTD, due mainly to the resumption of 
provisions for risks and charges previously constituted with respect to files in litigation for  
15.7 MTD; along with tightening of the amount of allotment to provisions for risk and charges 
worth 15.6 MTD accounted for over 2018. 
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Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2018 
 

 (In Tunisian dinars) 

 
Assets 

 
Notes 

 
31/12/2018 

 
31/12/2017 

 
Gold holding 

 
1 512 906 454 424 349 457 

Subscriptions to international organisations 2 2 371 793 2 371 793 

IMF reserve position 3 423 938 124 400 628 295 

Assets and investments in special drawing rights 4 85 055 604 77 279 835 

Foreign currency assets 5 14 525 339 281 12 991 945 011 

Refinancing to lending institutions related to 
monetary policy transactions 6 11 846 000 000 8 484 000 000 

Securities purchased in the framework of the open 
market transactions 7 1 659 861 562 981 528 721 

Advance to the State pertaining to Monetary Funds 
subscriptions 8 2 034 352 894 1 903 763 844 

Shareholding portfolio 9 56 313 107 38 106 560 

Fixed assets 10 39 610 832 39 309 212 

Miscellaneous debtors 11 37 172 773 37 995 268 

Memorandum accounts and accounts calling for 
adjustment 12 130 634 704 85 347 284 

Total assets  31 353 557 128 25 466 625 280 

 
 

The attached notes are an integral part of the financial statements 
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Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2018 
 
 

(In Tunisian dinars) 

Liabilities and equity Notes 31/12/2018 31/12/2017 

Liabilities   

Banknotes & coins in circulation 13 12 453 554 639 11 731 013 986 

Bank and financial institutions current accounts  295 118 211 398 841 599 

Government’s central account 14 1 562 993 875 1 236 005 217 

Government’s special accounts 15 1 218 611 380 1 298 385 615 

Allocations of special drawing rights 16 1 134 005 307 952 283 717 
Current accounts in dinar of foreign institutions 17 1 484 789 511 1 485 714 163 
Commitments in foreign currency towards Tunisian 
authorised intermediaries 18 6 932 889 693 3 161 773 298 

Foreign accounts in foreign currency 19 208 796 208 106 804 009 
Other commitments in foreign currency 20 1 106 743 708 651 341 229 

Current collection of values 21 6 774 337 6 824 916 

Differences on conversion and revaluation 22 3 259 640 800 3 280 527 078 

Miscellaneous creditors 23 102 384 004 131 601 895 
Memorandum accounts and accounts calling for 
adjustment 24 559 128 112 495 142 800 

Total liabilities  30 325 429 785 24 936 259 522 

Equity 25   

Capital  6 000 000  6 000 000 

Reserves  140 728 867 138 311 580 

Other equity  77 945 160 763 

Results carried forward  - 90 552 

Total equity prior to financial year results  146 806 812 144 562 895 

Financial year results  881 320 531 385 802 863 

Total equity prior to allocation  1 028 127 343 530 365 758 

Total liabilities and equity  31 353 557 128 25 466 625 280 

 
The attached notes are an integral part of the financial statements 
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Statement of off balance sheet commitments 
as at 31 December 2018 

(In Tunisian dinars) 

 Notes 31/12/2018 31/12/2017 

 26  

Pledged commitments and collaterals  35 259 896 242 27 236 867 609 
 
Collateral commitments pledged in 
the framework of external borrowings  32 957 527 074 25 763 867 896 

Debenture loans  26 493 025 218 20 513 722 041 

Other external borrowings  6 464 501 856 5 250 145 855 
 
Commitments pledged on refinancing 
operations  2 302 369 168 1 472 999 713 
Currency to be delivered on foreign exchange swap 
operations  2 302 369 168 1 472 999 713 

Commitments and collaterals received  13 307 757 280 9 773 365 770 
Commitments received on refinancing 
operations  2 305 572 331 1 501 557 875 
Dinars to be received on foreign exchange swap 
operations  2 280 000 000 1 491 000 000 
Carry over amounts on  foreign exchange swap 
operations  25 572 331 10 557 875 
 
Collaterals received in coverage of refinancing 
operations  11 001 004 847 8 270 815 000 

Current claims  6 357 547 098 4 115 214 963 

Bonds equivalent to Treasury bonds  4 643 457 749 4 155 600 037 
 
Other commitments received  1 180 102 992 895 

Temporary guarantee received  112 000 112 600 

Final guarantee received  1 068 102 880 295 
 
Other commitments  4 846 226 4 013 426 

Banknotes confiscated and detained at the BCT  4 846 226 4 013 426 

 
The attached notes are an integral part of the financial statements 
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Statement of off balance sheet commitments 
as at 31 December 2018 

(In Tunisian dinars) 

 Notes 31/12/2018 31/12/2017 

Proceeds     
Proceeds from intervention transactions on the 
money market  27 1 021 627 239 474 832 989 
Interests on forward investments in foreign 
currency  28 165 399 655 138 113 363 

Other proceeds on foreign currency transactions  29 32 432 293 68 867 667 
Proceeds on transactions with international 
organisations  30 4 567 412 2 304 336 
Interests on banks and financial institutions’ 
accounts   1 134 485 967 438 

Miscellaneous proceeds  31 5 826 874 4 668 178 

Write back of provisions for risks and costs   15 869 766 175 000 

Total proceeds   1 246 857 724 689 928 971 

Costs     
Costs related to money market intervention 
transactions  32 19 870 510 7 582 248 

Interests paid on transactions in foreign currency  33 29 849 099 26 792 399 

Other costs on transactions in foreign currency  34 101 279 140 76 384 576 
Costs on transactions with international 
organisations  35 10 567 064 9 018 750 

Miscellaneous costs   870 263 4 665 272 

Staff costs  36 89 046 334 77 908 353 

General operating costs  37 20 795 571 18 134 088 

Costs for banknotes and coins manufacturing  38 36 287 603 9 933 089 

Allocations for fixed asset depreciation   8 478 609 9 146 004 
Allocation of provisions for depreciation of equity 
securities   660 000 1 164 000 

Allocation of provisions for risks and costs  39 47 833 000 63 397 329 

Total costs   365 537 193 304 126 108 
Financial year result   881 320 531 385 802 863 

 
The attached notes are an integral part of the financial statements 
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Notes related to Financial Statements 
of the Central Bank of Tunisia 

as at 31/12/2018 
 
I - Legal framework and accounting referential 
The Central Bank of Tunisia’s financial statements are drawn up in conformity with the 
terms of law n°2016-35 of 25 April 2016 on the statute of the Central Bank of Tunisia and 
the Tunisian accounting standards, taking into account the specific nature of the Central 
Bank’s activities. 

Central Bank of Tunisia financial statements include: 

 a balance sheet, 

 a statement of off balance sheet commitments, 

 a statement of results, and 

 notes related to the financial statements. 

The BCT does not publish a statement of cash flow. The latter is of a limited relevance as 
regards a central bank activity. 

 

II - Accounting principles and rules of assessment 

1) Gold holdings 
The Bank’s gold holdings are made up of ingots and commemorative coins. Assets in the 
form of ingots are assessed on the last working day of each month at market price by using 
morning London fixing. Latent gains resulting from this revaluation are entered in the 
balance sheet liabilities under a revaluation difference account. It can in no way be entered 
with the Bank’s results. The latent losses are accounted for in the debit of the above-
mentioned account. 

When closing the accounting year, the possible debit balance of the mentioned account is 
entered in the financial year costs. 

Gold assets in the form of commemorative coins are assessed at the official rate set at 
0.6498475 dinar for a gram of fine gold, a rate applied since 19 August 1986, date of 
devaluation of the dinar as per decree n°86-785 of 18 August 1986. 

2) Assets and liabilities in foreign currency 
Assets and liabilities labelled in foreign currency are converted to dinars on the closing date, 
at the «accounting reference rates» that represent average rates ([bid rate + offer rate] / 2) set 
by the Central Bank of Tunisia on the same closing day. 

Latent losses and gains resulting from revaluation are entered under the «differences on 
conversion» account. Only net latent losses are entered in the result. 

The «accounting reference rates» of the main foreign currencies are presented as follows at 
the end of the financial year:  
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2018 2017 
Euro 3.42615000 2.93380000 
US dollar 2.99665000 2.45455000 
Pound Sterling 3.81640000 3.30515000 
Suiss franc 3.03955000 2.50981500 
Canadian dollar  2.20100000 1.95425000 
United Arab Emirates dirham  0.81583500 0.66818500 
Saudi riyal  0.79884000 0.65450500 
Japanese Yen  0.02718215 0.02178085 
Special drawing rights 4.15728000 3.49108600 

3) Assumption of proceeds and costs 
3-1 The entering of proceeds and costs is based on the periodicity convention and the 
convention of attachment of costs to proceeds. Thus, when proceeds are entered in an 
accounting year, all costs having contributed to achievement of these proceeds are 
determined and attached to this same financial year. 

3-2 Proceeds and costs resulting from transactions in foreign currency are converted into 
dinars at the rate of exchange in effect on the day of the transaction. 

3-3 At the end of the financial year, the balance of the account «differences on conversion» 
is processed as follows: 

 Debit balance : The total amount of the balance is entered as a cost for the financial year, 

 Credit balance : The total amount of the balance representing unrealized gains is still 
entered in the account «difference on conversion». 

3-4 Differences between the exchange rates in effect on the day of the transactions and the 
accounting reference rates set the last working day of the month preceding the one during 
which these transactions were carried out, are entered in the statement of results as gains or 
losses on exchange. 

4) Fixed assets 
Tangible and intangible fixed assets are accounted for by applying the rule of «historic cost». 

Aside from land and works of art, fixed assets are to be depreciated in a straight-line method 
over the projected lifespan of the fixed asset by applying the usual rates for each category of 
fixed asset. For certain equipment that is specific to the Central Bank of Tunisia (such as 
cash register equipment), lifespan and applied depreciation rate are determined by reference 
to the experience of their users. 

Tangible fixed assets involve mostly land, buildings, technical equipment, computer 
hardware, cash register equipment, transport material, and office equipment. 

Intangible fixed assets are made up mainly of computer software. 

The deadlines for retained depreciation as per the nature of each fixed asset are set 
as follows: 
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Fixed assets Duration 

Software 3 years 
Buildings 20 years 
Office equipment Between 3 and 10 years 
Transport materiel Between 5 and 7 years 
Computer hardware 3 years 
Reprography equipment 3 years 
Cash register equipment Between 5 and 10 years 
Fittings and improvements Between 3 and 20 years 
Technical installation Between 3 and 10 years 
Plant and technical equipment Between 3 and 10 years 

5) Securities in foreign currency 
Securities labelled in foreign currency that are part of «foreign currency assets» are assessed 
at market price on the closing date of the financial year. 

Latent losses from the difference between accounting value and market value of securities 
are recorded as provisions for depreciation except for securities that were meant (as of 
their holding) to be kept up to maturity. Latent losses on these securities are only provisioned 
in the following cases: 

 the Bank estimates that there is a high probability that the securities into question will 
not be held until maturity, 

 there is a risk of default on the part of the issuer of these securities. Latent gains are 
not entered. 

6) Securities in dinar 
Securities in dinars purchased in the framework of open market transactions are assessed at 
market price on the balance sheet’s closing date. A provision for depreciation of securities is 
accounted for in case of latent losses resulting from the difference between the accounting 
value and the securities market price. Latent gains are not entered. 

7) Shareholding portfolio 
The Central Bank of Tunisia’s shareholding portfolio is made up of securities that it has 
acquired in the framework of article 36 of its statutes that represent its share in the capital of 
a number of non-resident organisations and companies as well as resident companies that 
manage common banking services. These shares are recorded at the price of acquisition. 
Shares granted freely and which did not yield financial flows are not recorded. 

8) Operations with the international monetary fund (IMF) and the ARAB 
monetary fund (AMF) 

8-1-Operations with the IMF  

8-1-1 Subscriptions 

The subscriptions related to the quota regularly approved by the Tunisian State in the IMF 
capital, both for the portion payable in foreign currency and for the portion in Tunisian dinar, 
are carried out by the BCT as a financial agent on behalf of the State, through an advance to 
the Treasury. Thus, these subscriptions are accounted for in the asset of the BCT balance 
sheet as an advance to the State. Its amount is equal to the counter-value in dinar of the 
amount of subscription expressed in special drawing rights (SDR). 
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As for liability, the quota portion subscribed in dinar is entered in the credit of account n°1 
of the IMF. It is readjusted annually to take into account trend in SDR exchange rate 
compared to the Tunisian dinar, and this by reference to rates fixed by the IMF on 30 April 
of each year. In case of the dinar depreciation compared to SDR, this readjustment operation 
yields an increase in the credit balance of account n°1 of the IMF on the liability side and an 
increase in the advance to the State on the asset side. In case of the dinar appreciation, 
reverse operations are recorded. 

As for the quota portion subscribed in foreign currency, it is recorded under the asset heading 
“Reserve position at the IMF” alongside the “Advance to the State” heading as indicated 
above, and this to point out this heading as a component of international reserves. In this 
respect, a counterpart account holding the same amount is entered in the balance sheet’s 
liabilities among memorandum accounts. 

Computed in Tunisian dinar, the reserve position is annually readjusted to take into account 
the trend of SDR exchange rate compared to the Tunisian dinar and this, by reference to the 
rate fixed by the IMF on 30 April of each year. Ensuing latent gains are entered in balance 
sheet’s liabilities within an account of revaluation differences, and this in application of 
provisions of paragraph 5 of article 78 of law n°2016-35 of 25 April 2016 on the statute of 
the BCT. 

8-1-2 Credit facilities 

Credit facilities contracted from the IMF are recorded on BCT books at the level of the 
balance sheet and off balance sheet depending on whether these facilities are meant to the 
BCT as an aid to the balance of payments or to the Tunisian Government as budget support. 

 Facilities granted to the BCT 

Commitments tied to these facilities are entered in the BCT balance sheet’s liabilities in 
account n°1 of the IMF for the counter-value in Tunisian dinar and this, by applying the 
SDR/TND rate fixed by the IMF on 30 April of each year. 

The outstanding balance of these commitments is revalued annually by applying the 
above-mentioned new rate. 

Ensuing latent gain is entered in the same account of revaluation difference which records 
the latent gain resulting from revaluation of the reserve position at the IMF. 

 Facilities granted to the Tunisian Government 

Commitments tied to these facilities are entered in the off balance sheet in securities 
account in the name of the IMF for the counter-value in Tunisian dinar, and this, by 
applying the SDR/TND rate set by the IMF on 30 April of each year. 

The outstanding balance of these commitments is revalued annually through the 
application of the above-mentioned new rate. 

This revaluation does neither affect the balance sheet nor the operating result of the BCT. 
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8-1-3 Accounting for interests, commissions, and remuneration tied to 
operations and transactions with the IMF 

Except for the credit facilities meant for the State budget support, all interests, commissions 
and remunerations related to operations and transactions with the IMF are recorded, 
according to the case, as costs or proceeds and impact thus the operating result of the BCT 
and this, in application of provisions of law n°77-71 of 7 December 1977, setting the BCT 
relation with the IMF on the one hand and with the AMF on the other hand. 

8-2 Operations with the AMF  

8-2-1 Subscriptions 
Subscriptions tied to quota regularly approved by the Tunisian State in the capital of the 
AMF, both for the portion payable in foreign currency and for the portion payable in 
Tunisian dinar, are carried out by the BCT as a financial agent on behalf of the State through 
an advance to the Treasury. Thus, these subscriptions are accounted for in the asset of the 
BCT balance sheet as an advance to the State. Its amount is equal to the counter-value in 
dinar of the amount of subscription expressed in Arab Accounting Dinar (AAD)1. 

On the liabilities side, the quota portion subscribed in dinar is entered in the AMF credit 
account opened in dinar on the books of the BCT. It is annually readjusted to take account of 
trend in AAD exchange rate compared to the Tunisian dinar and this, by reference to SDR 
rates set by the IMF on 31 December of each year.  

In case of the dinar depreciation against SDR, this readjustment operation yields an increase 
in the credit balance of AMF account in dinar, on the liability side, and through an increase 
in advance to the State, on the asset side. Reverse operations are recorded in case of the dinar 
appreciation. 

Furthermore and in order to reflect the real value of advance to the State with respect to 
subscription to AMF capital as provided for by provisions of article 2 of the above- 
mentioned law n°77-71, the portion subscribed in foreign currency is revaluated at the 
SDR/TND rate set by the IMF at the end of December. This readjustment operation yields an 
increase in advance to the State on the assets side, and recording of latent gain within an 
account of revaluation, on the liability side, and this in case of the dinar depreciation against 
the SDR. Reverse transactions are recorded in case of the dinar appreciation. 

8-2-2 Credit facility 
Credit facilities contracted by the BCT from AMF are recorded on books of the bank in its 
balance sheet liabilities. 

As for the credit facilities contracted by the Tunisian Government, only financial flows 
derived from drawings, settlement of interests and commissions, as well as reimbursement of 
maturities in principal are entered on books of the BCT. No commitment is accounted for by 
the BCT in this respect, neither at the level of balance sheet, nor off balance sheet. 

8-2-3 Accounting for interest and commissions, relative to operations and 
transactions with the AMF 

Excluding the credit facilities contracted by the Tunisian Government, all interests and 
commissions tied to operations and transactions with the AMF are recorded as cost and 
impact thus, the operating result of the BCT; and this in application of provisions of law 
n°77-71 of 7 December 1977, setting the BCT relation with the IMF on the one hand and the 
AMF on the other hand. 

                                                      
1 1 AAD = 3 SDR 
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9) Recording external borrowing on behalf of the state or Tunisian authorised 
intermediaries 

Are recorded off balance sheet: 

 The debenture loan issued by the Central Bank of Tunisia on behalf of the Tunisian 
Government on the foreign financial markets, 

 External borrowings of the State contracted in the framework of bilateral economic 
cooperation and managed by the BCT on behalf of the State while signing commitments 
towards foreign parties (bank or foreign financial institution) for settlement of relevant 
maturities, 

 Portions of loans contracted from the IMF, meant to support the State budget, and 

 External borrowings contracted by the BCT and retroceded to Tunisian Authorised 
Intermediaries. 

Commitments ensuing from the above-mentioned borrowings are considered as surety bonds 
and this, in application of the accounting convention of “pre-eminence of content over 
form”. Worth of note that financial commitments of the Central Bank ensuing from the 
above-stated borrowings have a corresponding similar commitment on the part of the State 
or the Tunisian Authorised Intermediary for the reimbursement of all maturities of relevant 
borrowings as well as settlement of all relevant financial costs. 

10) Fiduciary circulation 

The Central Bank exerts, on behalf of the State, the sole right to issue in Tunisia, banknotes 
and coins. 

The amount of banknotes and coins in circulation recorded at the level of the BCT balance 
sheet liability is obtained through the difference between the amount of banknotes and coins 
issued and the amount of banknotes and coins held in the BCT cash desks (headquarters and 
branches). 

11) Taxation 

The Central Bank is subdued to the fiscal regime of the State, local governments and public 
establishment with an administrative nature, in compliance with provisions of article 72 of its 
statutes. It is thus exempt from the corporate tax. 

12) Related parties 

Are considered related parties: 

 the Governor, 
 the Deputy Governor 
 the Secretary General and 
 members of the Executive Board. 

Members of the Executive Board other than the Governor and the Deputy Governor perceive 
attendance fees charged to the bank budget, the amount of which is set by governmental 
decree on a proposal from the Governor. 

The wage and benefits of the Governor, the Deputy Governor and the Secretary General are 
set by the Executive Board. They are assumed by the Bank. 
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13) Events subsequent to closing date 
No significant event occurred between the closing date and the date of establishment of the 
present financial statements. 

III - Detailed explanation of the headings in the financial statements 

Note 1: Gold Holding 
Under this heading is found the Bank’s gold money assets which came at 6.8 tonnes of fine 
gold as at 31 December 2018, broken down as follows: 
 
 
 

 
2018 2017 

In grams In dinars In grams In dinars 

GOLD HOLDING  6 791 388 512 906 454 6 782 998 424 349 457 

Ingots 4 139 404 511 183 070 4 131 014 422 626 073 

  * In BCT coffers 2 730 418 337 184 577 2 730 418 279 337 124 

  * Deposited at the Bank of England 1 408 986 173 998 493 - - 

  * Placed - - 1 400 596 143 288 949 

Commemorative coins 2 651 984 1 723 384 2 651 984 1 723 384 
 
 

Gold ingot assets are assessed at market price up to the end of December by using morning 
London fixing. The 88.6 MTD increase in these assets is mainly explained by USD/TND 
parity. 

 In fact, the dollar’s exchange rate climbed from 2.45455 at the end of December 2017 to 
2.99665 at the end of 2018 financial year; offsetting thus the drop in the price of fine 
ounce of gold, going down by 1.1% from USD 1,296.50 (or USD 41.68 the gram of fine 
gold) to USD 1,281.65 (or USD 41.21 the gram of fine gold) from one end of year to 
another. 

Given their specific features, commemorative coins were not revalued at market price and 
remained valued at the official rate of 0.6498475 dinar for 1 gram of fine gold. 

Worth of note that the ingot stock deposited at the Bank of England was in 2018 placed at 
international banks. Proceeds generated in this respect totalled 154.3 thousand dinars at the 
end of December 2018 against 300 thousand dinars in 2017. 

Note 2: Subscriptions to international organisations 

The amount recorded under this heading represents the total of sums paid by the BCT to 
certain international financial organisations as quotas subscribed in gold or foreign currency 
by the Republic of Tunisia in the capital of these institutions as per prevailing legislation 
authorizing the Central Bank to enter these shares under the assets heading of the Bank’s 
balance sheet. 

The date of the last transaction entered in this framework goes back to 1969. The State has 
since then assumed all subscriptions, whether in local or foreign currency. 

The following institutions are involved: 
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(In dinars) 
 2018* 2017* 

Subscription to international organisations 2 371 793 2 371 793 

International Bank for Reconstruction and Development 215 408 215 408 

International Development Association 87 202 87 202 

International Financial Company 76 808 76 808 

African Development Bank 1 992 375 1 992 375 

* This concerns the exchange value in TND of amounts subscribed in gold or in foreign currency at 
historic exchange rates. 
 
 

Note 3: IMF reserve position 
The amount recorded under this heading (423.9 MTD1), represents the counter value in 
dinars of the portion of Tunisia’s quota subscribed to in foreign currency (121.2 million 
SDR) in the capital of IMF. This represents the difference between Tunisia’s full quota 
(545.2 million SDR) and IMF’s holdings in dinars, held in its account n°1 on the books of 
the Central Bank of Tunisia, exclusive of assets from recourse to IMF loan. 

In the same way as for assets in foreign currency, the IMF reserve position is part of 
Tunisia’s international reserves. 

The IMF reserve position is analysed as follows: 
 
 
 

 
2018 2017 

In SDR In dinars In SDR In dinars 

IMF reserve position 121 221 291 423 938 124 121 194 065 400 628 295 

IMF quota 545 200 000 1 906 687 044 545 200 000 1 802 254 471 

Global balance of account n°1 of the IMF (423 978 709) (1 482 748 920) (448 705 935) (1 483 276 368) 

IMF loans in account n°1 - - 24 700 000 81 650 192 

 
 
 

 

                                                      
1  1 TND = 0.285941 SDR as per IMF quotation in effect since 30 April 2018. 
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Note 4: Assets and investments in special drawing rights 

This heading includes: 

- the balance of the SDR account opened in the name of the Central Bank of Tunisia on the 
books of the IMF. At the end of December 2018, this balance came to 18.1 million SDR 
(the equivalent of 75.2 million dinars1up to this same date). 

- the amount in SDR representing the Central Bank of Tunisia’s contribution to the  
PRGF2 –HIPC3 fiduciary fund administered by the International Monetary Fund for an 
annual rate of 0.5% and a 20-year maturity falling due in March 2021. This contribution 
amounted to 2.4 million SDR, the equivalent of 9.8 million dinars. 

 
 

(In dinars) 

 2018 2017 Variations 

Assets and investments in special drawing rights 85 055 604 77 279 835 7 775 769 

Assets in Special Drawing Rights 75 237 751 69 035 269 6 202 482 

Investments in Special Drawing Rights 9 817 853 8 244 566 1 573 287 

 
 

 
Operations recorded on SDR account opened in the name of the BCT on books of the IMF 
are broken down as follows: 
 
 

 (In SDR) 
 2018 2017 

Assets in SDR 18 097 831 19 774 726 

INITIAL BALANCE 19 774 726 22 214 725 

Maturity reimbursement in principal (AMF loans) (19 200 000) (47 961 000) 

Maturity reimbursement in interest (IMF and AMF loans) (29 019 921) (22 388 528) 

Remunerations received 2 998 674 1 403 290 

Commissions paid (6 455 648) (4 993 761) 

SDR acquisition 50 000 000 71 500 000 
 

 

                                                      
1 1 SDR = 4.15728 TND on 31/12/2018. 
2 Poverty Reduction and Growth Facility. 
 
3 Heavily Indebted Poor Countries. 
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Note 5: Foreign currency assets 
Foreign currency assets are broken down as follows: 
 
 

 (In dinars) 
 2018 2017 Variations 

Foreign currency assets 14 525 339 281 12 991 945 011 1 533 394 270 
Foreign banknotes assets 586 814 851 451 376 961 135 437 890 
Sight assets 2 222 629 096 1 684 046 434 538 582 662 
Assets in foreign currency cheques 180 307 153 517 26 790 
Deposit assets 6 789 280 921 4 974 243 496 1 815 037 425 
Securities 4 261 081 370 5 356 101 758 (1 095 020 388) 
Of which security sold under repurchase agreement* 343 964 498 - 343 964 498 
(Provisions) (1 636 538) (2 579 444) 942 906 
Foreign currency funds entrusted to external 
 management mandate 627 799 222 510 298 899 117 500 323 

(Provisions) (1 015 708) (3 355 601) 2 339 893 
Debit foreign accounts in foreign currency 40 205 760 21 658 991 18 546 769 
*This involves bonds denominated in euro, granted as collaterals in the framework of tripartite repo 
operation, with the value amounting to 100.4 million euros on 31 December 2018. 
 
 

Structure of year-end assets: 
 
 
 

 
USD  EUR  GBP  JPY  Others 

In 
millions 

Share 
in % 

In 
millions 

Share 
in % 

In 
millions 

Share 
in % 

In 
millions 

Share 
in % 

In 
millions 

Share 
in % 

31-12-2017 1 892 35.7 2 281 51.5 457 11.6 2 066 0.3 86 0.9 

31-12-2018 1 448 29.9 2 570 60.6 306 8.1 1 605 0.3 129 1.1 

Variation 
(in millions) (444) 289 (151) (461) 43 

*TND 
 
 
 Assets in foreign banknotes: 

Foreign banknotes assets are broken down by currency as follows: 
 
 
 

 2018 2017 

In foreign 
currency In dinar 

In foreign 
currency In dinar 

Assets in foreign banknotes  586 814 851  451 376 961 
EUR 92 024 238 315 288 842 119 163 870 349 602 962 

USD 53 773 265 161 139 655 14 146 873 34 724 207 
SAR 72 965 527 58 287 782 47 791 671 31 279 888 
CHF 6 202 460 18 852 687 4 746 540 11 912 937 
Others  33 245 885  23 856 967 
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 Securities portfolio: 
 Breakdown by category of securities: 

The securities portfolio is made up of Treasury bills and bonds. It is broken down as follows: 
 
 

 (In million dinars) 
 2018 2017 Variations 

Treasury bills 372 509 (137) 

Bonds 3 865 4 847 (982) 

Others 24 - 24 

Total 4 261 5 356 (1 095) 
 
 

 Breakdown by residual maturity of securities: 
 
 

 (In million dinars) 
 2018 2017 Variations 

≤ 1 year 2 054 2 382 (328) 

≥ 1 year and ≤ 5 years 1 496 2 493 (997) 

> 5 years 711 481 230 

Total 4 261 5 356 (1 095) 
 
 

 Breakdown by category of issuer : 
 
 

 (In million dinars) 
 2018 2017 Variations 

Regional agencies 110 199 (89) 

Regional authorities 410 386 24 

Sovereign 2 319 2 165             154 

Sovereign agencies 286 426 (140) 

Supranational banks 377 839 (462) 

Others 759 1 341 (582) 

Total 4 261 5 356 (1 095) 
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 Breakdown by credit risk (Bloomberg composite credit rating) 
 

 Up to 31-12-2018  
 
 
 

  (In million dinars) 
 Regional  

agencies 
Regional 

authorities Sovereign 
Sovereign  
agencies 

Supranational 
banks 

Others Total 

Treasury bonds        
F1+ - - - - 24 - 24 
F2  - - 372 - - - 372 
Available for 
sale securities        
AAA - - 306 - - - 306 
AA- - - 1 - - - 1 
B - - 5 - - - 5 
Held to maturity 
securities        
AAA - 33 277 84 353 261 1 008 
AA+ 110 23 36 - - 406 575 
AA - 167 713 202 - 92 1 174 
AA- - 70 382 - - - 452 
A+ - 117 - - - - 117 
B - - 227 - - - 227 
Total 110 410 2 319 286 377 759 4 261 
 
 

 

 Up to 31-12-2017 
 
 

 (In million dinars) 

 Regional 
 agencies 

Regional 
authorities Sovereign Sovereign 

agencies 
Supranational 

banks Others Total 

Treasury bonds        
F2 - - 509 - - - 509 
Available for 
sale securities 

       

AAA - - 224 - 26 - 250 
AA- - - 1 - - - 1 
B+ - - 4 - - - 4 
Held to maturity 
securities        

AAA 103 34 88 122 813 453 1 613 
AA+ 96 15 32 - - 749 892 
AA - 171 621 304 - 139 1 235 
AA- - 166 396 - - - 562 
BBB+ - - 184 - - - 184 
BBB - - 10 - - - 10 
B+ - - 96 - - - 96 
Total 199 386 2 165 426 839 1 341 5 356 
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 Deposits: 
 Breakdown by counterpart 

 
 

 (In million dinars) 
 2018 2017 Variations 

Commercial Banks 5 259 4 507 752 

Supranational 1 499 455 1 044 

Central Banks 31 12 19 

Total 6 789 4 974 1 815 
 
 

 Breakdown of risk by geographic location : 
 
 

 (In million dinars) 
 2018 2017 Variations 

Europe 4 057 2 938 1 119 
Japan 371 250 121 
Arab countries 301 724 (423) 
USA 31 12 19 
Hong Kong 530 437 93 
Others 1 499 613 886 
Total 6 789 4 974 1 815 
 
 

 Breakdown of bank deposit by credit risk : 
 
 

 (In million dinars) 
 2018 2017 Variation 

Rating    

Aaa and similar 2 009 502 1 507 

Aa2 219 - 219 

Aa3 1 273 1 238 35 

A1 2 289 1 493 796 

A2 594 479 115 

A3 256 649 (393) 

NR 149 613 (464) 

Total 6 789 4 974 1 815 
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Note 6: Refinancing to lending institutions related to monetary policy 
transactions 
This heading includes the outstanding balance of the Central Bank intervention on the money 
market to inject liquidity into banks. This outstanding balance closed the year up 
significantly by 3,362 or 39.6% going from 8,484 MTD at the end of 2017 to 11,846 MTD a 
year earlier, translating the Tunisian banking system’s increasing need for liquidity.  

These interventions were mainly in the form of 14-day call for bid that accounted for 59.1% 
of the overall outstanding balance of these interventions at the end of 2018, the amount of 
which came, at the end of the financial year, at the same level as the one recorded a year 
earlier (7,000 MTD) and this after the ceiling operated on the amount of the main refinancing 
operation granted to banks as from July 2017. 

Worth of note that in line with higher banks’ needs for liquidity, the Central Bank suggested 
calls for bids with a 6-month maturity to provide further liquidity for longer maturities as of 
December 2018, with an outstanding balance that came at 1,943 MTD at the end of the 
financial year. 

These interventions were completed by swap exchange operations for an average amount of 
2,574.4 MTD compared to just 648.4 MTD in 2017, up significantly by 1,926 MTD on 
average. It should be noted that 13 operations have been carried out throughout the year for 
two maturities: 1 month and 3 months, yielding 194 MTD in proceed with respect to 
amounts carried forward on swaps, against 31.8 MTD a year earlier. 

Nevertheless, the average volume of the Central Bank intervention on the money market that 
totalled 11,192 MTD was far from meeting the overall banks’ needs for liquidity. Thus, 
massive recourse to 24-hour credit facilities was noticed, going up on average by 
2,509.1 MTD, going from 700.1 MTD to 3,209.2 MTD from one end of year to the next. 

It is worth mentioning that banks’ refinancing is made on presentation of collaterals in the 
form of Treasury bonds or current claims amounting to 4,643.5 MTD and 6,357.5 MTD 
respectively at the end of December 2018. 

Besides, part of the outstanding balance as of the end of December 2018 was guaranteed by 
the State with an amount of 258 MTD.  
 
 

 (In dinars) 
 2018 2017 

Refinancing to lending institutions related 
to monetary policy transactions Rate % Maturity  11 846 000 000 8 484 000 000 
Injections through call for bids 7.05 09/01/2019 7 000 000 000 7 000 000 000 
Tapping actions / 24-h credit facilities 7.75 02/01/2019 2 903 000 000 1 484 000 000 
Interventions on the money market in the 
form of 6-month refinancing 

   
7.30 12/06/2019    1 943 000 000 

   - 
 

 
 

Note 7: Securities purchased in the framework of open market transactions 
This heading is made up of firm purchased securities portfolio in the framework of open 
market operations. This portfolio is currently made up of bonds equivalent to Treasury 
bonds. 

To better respond to banks’ liquidity needs which continued to increase, the BCT carried out 
in 2018 firm purchase operations of Treasury bonds in the framework of the Open Market, 
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bringing the balance of this heading to 1,659.8 MTD at the end of 2018 compared to 
981.5 MTD in 2017, up significantly by 678.3 MTD. 

Worth of note that this balance sheet heading has recorded in January and October 2018 
portfolio exit and falling due of Treasury bonds maturities for respective amounts of  
117.9 MTD and 174.7 MTD. 

At the end of 2018, this portfolio was valorized, based on the yield curve of the Tunisian 
market sovereign issues, launched officially on 21 December 2017. 

The portfolio of bonds equivalent to Treasury bonds purchased firm by the BCT is made up 
of the following lines: 
 
 

 (In dinars) 

 2018 2017 
Securities purchased in the framework of open market 
transactions 1 659 861 562 981 528 721 

BTA purchased firm 1 679 404 172 986 544 233 

BTA 5.3%     (January 2018) - 117 897 142 

BTA 5.5%     (October 2018) - 174 681 934 

BTA 5.5%     (March 2019) 161 457 050 161 510 973 

BTA 5.5%     (February 2020) 180 269 449 179 347 510 

BTA 5.5%     (October 2020) 203 543 046 202 368 699 

BTA 5.75%   (January 2021) 173 792 494 150 737 975 

BTA 6%       (June 2021) 96 562 263 - 

BTA 6.1%    (November 2021) 39 401 729 - 

BTA 6%      (February 2022) 181 543 004 - 

BTA 6.9%   (May 2022) 147 471 951 - 

BTA 5.6%   (August 2022) 208 194 719 - 

BTA 6%     (April 2023) 187 752 514 - 

BTA 6%     (June 2023) 99 415 953 - 

(Provisions) (19 542 610) (5 015 512) 
 
 

Note 8: Advance to the state pertaining to monetary funds subscriptions 
This heading enters, as an advance to the Treasury, the counter value in dinars of amounts 
paid out for subscriptions corresponding to Tunisia’s quota in the capital of the International 
Monetary Fund and the Arab Monetary Fund, in application of the terms of law n°77-71 of  
7 December 1977 governing relations between the Central Bank of Tunisia and these two 
financial institutions. 

- International Monetary Fund: the overall amount of Tunisia’s subscription in the capital 
of this institution comes to 545.2 million SDR, 424 million subscribed in dinars and credited 
to account n°1 in the name of the International Monetary Fund and 121.2 million in 
convertible currency. Worth of note that Tunisia’s quota for 2016 increased by 258.7 million 
SDR following the 14th general review of quotas. 
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- Arab Monetary Fund : Tunisia holds a 19.275 million Arab accounting dinar quota in the 
capital of this institution, of which : 

 7 million Arab accounting dinars as a quota subscribed in cash (6.9 million subscribed in 
convertible currencies and 0.1 million in local currency and credited to the AMF’s dinar 
account on the books of the Central Bank of Tunisia), 

 5.85 million Arab accounting dinars as Tunisia share as per decision n°3/2005 of the 
Fund’s Board of Governors approving release of the remaining portion of capital 
through incorporation of reserves and distribution of new shares to member states, 
proportionate to their initial quota, and 

 6.425 million Arab accounting dinar representing Tunisia quota in subscription to the 
Fund capital increase as per decision n°3/2013 of the Fund’s Board of Governors. Half 
of this amount is released through incorporation of reserves and the other is released in 
cash over 5 years as of 1st April 2014. The last portion was paid up in April 2018 for  
642,500 Arab dinars. 

Worth of note that the Arab accounting dinar is worth 3 SDRs. 

Subscriptions in dinars to the capital of these two institutions, recorded as a credit to their 
respective accounts on the books of the Central Bank of Tunisia, are adjusted annually to 
take into account trends in the exchange rate for the SDR against the Tunisian dinar, with 
reference to prices set by the International Monetary Fund. 

Note 9: Shareholding portfolio 
The amount recorded under this heading represents the paid-up portion of the Central Bank 
of Tunisia’s holdings in the capital of the following institutions:  
 
 
 

 
Institutions 

31/12/2018 
In foreign  
currency 

31/12/2017 
In foreign 
currency 

31/12/2018* 
in TND 

31/12/2017 
in TND 

Participation 
rate (%) 

 
Tunisian Foreign Bank 
(Provision) 

1983 571.50 EUR 
 

1 983 571.50 EUR 
 

6 796 014 
(4 244 000) 

5 819 402 
(3 584 000) 

4.511 
 

 
SWIFT company 5 330 EUR 5 330 EUR 18 261 15 637 0.007 

African Export - Import Bank 10 000 000 USD 10 000 000 USD 29 966 500 24 545 500 2.124 
Maghreb Bank for Investment 
and Foreign Trade 5 000 000 USD 2 500 000 USD 14 983 250  6 136 375 6.667 
Arab Trade Financing 
Programme 2 065 000 USD 2 065 000 USD 6 188 082 5 068 646 0.272 

SIBTEL 105 000 TND 105 000 TND 105 000 105 000 3 

Bank deposit guarantee fund 2 500 000 TND - 2 500 000 - 50 

Total  56 313 107 38 106 560  
 
 
 
 

* As per the exchange rate in effect on 31 December 2018:  
1 EUR = 3.42615 TND  
1 USD = 2.99665 TND 
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The 18.2 MTD increase in total of this heading was, notably, led by BCT paying up of the 
second quarter of its participation in the capital of the Maghreb bank for investment and 
foreign trade (2.5 million dollars) and its share in the capital of Banks’ deposits guarantee 
fund (2.5 MTD).  

Worth to be mentioned, on another level, that the decrease of the BCT participation rate in 
the capital of Tunisian foreign bank (down from 5.3% to 4.5%) and the capital of the African 
export-import bank (down from 2.7% to 2.1%) is due to non-subscription of the BCT to 
capital increases carried out by these two institutions in 2018. 

It should be also noted that in application of provisions of articles 37 and 97 of its statues, 
the BCT will no longer hold participations in the capital of the Tunisian foreign bank as of 
2019. 
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Note 10: Fixed assets 
The following table shows details of the heading “fixed assets” as at the end of December 2018 (In dinars): 
 

Heading 

Gross value Depreciation  
Net 

Accounting 
Value 

31/12/2018 
31/12/2017 Entries 

2018 
Outputs 

2018 31/12/2018 31/12/2017 Adjust. Allotments 
2018 

Outputs 
2018 31/12/2018 

Softwares 6 146 601 922 966 - 7 069 567 5 648 867 - 384 770 - 6 033 637 1 035 930 

Other intangible fixed assets 44 318 - - 44 318 - - - - - 44 318 

Softwares : advances and on accounts 107 082 104 678 - 211 760 - - - - - 211 760 

Intangible fixed assets 6 298 001 1 027 644 - 7 325 645 5 648 867 - 384 770 - 6 033 637 1 292 008 

Lands 4 033 518 - - 4 033 518 - - - - - 4 033 518 

Buildings 55 078 148 - - 55 078 148 48 413 664 - 1 457 199 - 49 870 863 5 207 285 

Office equipment 1 060 782 85 148 - 1 145 930 835 971  - 96 315 - 932 286 213 644 

Transport material 3 640 794 - - 3 640 794 2 595 008 - 195 400 - 2 790 408 850 386 

Computer hardware 9 616 244 57 797 - 9 674 041 8 306 663 - 777 898 - 9 084 561 589 480 

Reprography equipment 456 763 28 881 -  485 644 138 472 - 124 402 - 262 874 222 770 

Cashier equipment 21 639 129 316 973 - 21 956 102 17 201 214 - 2 311 013 - 19 512 227 2 443 875 

Fittings 3 349 088 102 354 - 3 451 442 2 262 367 - 161 563 - 2 423 930 1 027 512 

Technical installations 25 786 457 6 251 001 - 32 037 458 8 263 543 591 941 2 897 834 - 11 753 318 20 284 140 

Technical equipment 732 112 156 458 - 888 570 529 272 - 72 215 - 601 487 287 083 

Works of art and antique coins 654 766 - - 654 766 - - - - - 654 766 

Pending tangible fixed assets 1 158 451 1 345 914 - 2 504  365 - - - - - 2 504 365 

Tangible fixed assets 127 206 252 8 344 526 - 135 550 778 88 546 174 591 941 8 093 839 - 97 231 954 38 318 824 

Total 133 504 253 9 372 170 - 142 876 423 94 195 041 591 941 8 478 609 - 103 265 591 39 610 832 
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Note 11: Miscellaneous debtors 
The main entry under this heading is the outstanding balance of loans granted to Central Bank 
staff, financed from reserves for social fund as well as miscellaneous advances and payment on 
account granted to staff (37.1 MTD vs. 37.4 MTD in 2017). 

Note 12: Memorandum accounts and accounts calling for adjustment (assets) 
This heading includes mainly proceeds to be received, and other miscellaneous debtor accounts. 
It went up by 45.3 MTD from one year to the next following mainly the evolution of proceeds 
to be received on monetary policy operations for 42.8 MTD. 

It is detailed as follows: 
 
 

(In dinars) 
 2018 2017* Variations 
Memorandum accounts and accounts calling for 
adjustment (Assets) 130 634 704 85 347 284 45 287 420 

Proceeds to be received and prepaid costs 127 373 113 82 768 658 44 604 455 

Gold to be sold to jewellers 41 197 924 959 (883 762) 
Foreign currency in current collection and  
calling for adjustment 2 142 792 197 2 142 595 
Other miscellaneous debtor accounts 1 077 602 1 653 470 (575 868) 

* Certain figures of the previous financial year were reclassified in order for their presentation to be 
conform to the one adopted for 2018 financial year. 

 
 

 

Note 13: Banknotes and coins in circulation 
Banknotes and coins in circulation increased by 722.5 MTD or 6.2% to 12,453.6 MTD, 
compared to 11,731 MTD in 2017, with an overwhelming share of banknotes (97%). They are 
broken down as follows: 
 
 

 (In dinars) 
 2018 2017 Variations 

 Banknotes and coins in circulation 12 453 554 639 11 731 013 986 722 540 653 

Banknotes 12 083 707 425 11 388 998 605 694 708 820 

Coins 369 847 214 342 015 381 27 831 833 
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Banknotes and coins in circulation are detailed by denomination as follows: 
 
 

 (In dinars) 
 2018 2017 

Banknotes in circulation 12 083 707 425 11 388 998 605 

50   dinars 2 833 213 800 3 240 839 650 

30   dinars - 10 057 800 

20   dinars 5 961 783 540 4 564 633 540 

10   dinars 3 216 004 300 3 480 994 440 

5  dinars 72 705 785 92 473 175 

Coins in circulation 369 847 214 342 015 381 

5  dinars 96 009 735 89 440 360 

2  dinars 26 020 228 16 639 938 

1  dinar 140 633 239 135 851 965 

500 millimes 49 229 347 44 417 192 

200 millimes 7 733 728 6 134 411 

100 millimes 29 019 242 28 997 306 

50 millimes 8 575 207 8 120 275 

20 millimes 7 867 400 7 677 957 

10 millimes 2 423 385 2 400 366 

5  millimes 2 202 400 2 202 340 

2  millimes 73 051 73 033 

1  millime 60 252 60 238 
 

 

Note 14: Government’s central account 
It holds credit balances of accounts in foreign currency or in dinar representing resources 
available for the Treasury that can be mobilised by the latter in the framework of daily 
management of liquidity. This concerns, notably, the Tunisian Treasury’s current account 
(667.9 MTD) and the account holding the resources of debenture loan worth 500 M euros meant 
to support the State budget, issued on the Eurobond market with a 6.75% interest rate and a  
5-year maturity. At the end of 2018, the remainder not yet converted into dinar of this 
borrowing came to 788 MTD. 
 
 

 (In dinars) 
 2018 2017 Variations 

Government’s Central Account 1 562 993 875 1 236 005 217 326 988 658 

Tunisian Treasury current account 667 888 911 466 113 302 201 775 609 

500 M-debenture loan of 31 October 2018 788 014 500 - 788 014 500 

Syndicated loan / local banks of EUR 250 M - 733 450 000 (733 450 000) 

Others 107 090 464 36 441 915 70 648 549 
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Note 15: Government’s Special Accounts 
This involves accounts with funds, in foreign currency or in dinar, that cannot be mobilised by 
the Treasury in the framework of daily management of liquidity. This heading includes mainly 
Tunisian Government special accounts balances that enter drawings on external loans and grants 
meant to the State or to public institutions with the State guarantee and destined to well 
determined projects (946.1 MTD), the balance of loan accounts denominated in dinar (180.8 
MTD), the balance of miscellaneous accounts (53.9 MTD) as well as the balances of other 
accounts relative to miscellaneous funds held by the Central Bank on behalf of the State such as 
the Fund for Industrial Promotion and Decentralisation (FOPRODI) and the National Fund to 
Promote Handicrafts and Small Trades (FONAPRA). 
 
 

 (In dinars) 
 2018 2017 Variations 

Government’s Special Accounts 1 218 611 380 1 298 385 615 (79 774 235) 

Tunisian government special accounts in 
 foreign currency 946 143 663 1 089 385 568 (143 241 905) 

Tunisian government - loans accounts 180 821 190 119 163 144 61 658 046 

Tunisian government- miscellaneous accounts 53 879 240 63 372 883 (9 493 643) 

Of which :    

Conjunctural mechanisms to back-up businesses 22 345 740 21 253 212 1 092 528 

Central account of first housing programme 30 351 312 40 937 483 (10 586 171) 
FOPRODI 11 125 255 15 416 563 (4 291 308) 
FONAPRA 21 388 874 6 240 190 15 148 684 

Tunisian government- grants accounts 5 253 158 4 807 267 445 891 
 
 

 
Special accounts in foreign currency are broken down as follows: 
 
 

 

 2018 2017 

 In foreign 
currency In dinars In foreign 

currency In dinars 

 Special accounts in foreign currency  946 143 663  1 089 385 568 
EUR 238 327 309 816 545 109 325 789 117 955 800 110 
USD 12 847 955 38 500 825 13 884 981 34 081 380 
JPY 2 860 768 962 77 761 851 4 067 478 562 88 593 140 
Others  13 335 878  10 910 938 
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Furthermore, resources and uses flows of "FOPRODI" and "FONAPRA" funds recorded over 
the financial year are as follows: 
 
 

(In dinars) 
 FOPRODI FONAPRA 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

Initial Balance 15 416 563 1 808 356 6 240 190 5 146 739 

Resources 22 844 875 53 267 196 15 148 684 20 731 451 

Budget allotment 20 000 000 49 000 000 - 8 000 000 

Collection 2 844 875 4 267 196 15 148 684 12 731 451 

Uses 27 136 183 39 658 989 - 19 638 000 

Final balance 11 125 255 15 416 563 21 388 874 6 240 190 
 
 

Note 16: Allocations of special drawing rights 

This item includes the counterpart of the cumulated amounts of SDR allotted by the 
International Monetary Fund to Tunisia in its quality of member State. Coming to  
272.8 million SDR11 as at the end of December 2018, these allocations are to be returned to the 
International Monetary Fund if SDR are cancelled. Thus, they constitute an open- ended 
commitment towards the International Monetary Fund. 

 
 

 (In thousands of SDR) 
 2018 2017 

Allocations in SDR 272 776 272 776 

Allocation / January 1970 5 880  5 880  

Allocation / January 1971 3 745  3 745  

Allocation / January 1972 5 088  5 088  

Allocation / January 1979 6 552  6 552  

Allocation / January 1980 6 552  6 552  

Allocation / January 1981 6 426  6 426  

Allocation / August 2009 212 385  212 385  

Allocation / September 2009 26 148 26 148 
 
 

The last use of this account was operated in 2009 for a global amount of 238.5 million SDR, 
when the IMF granted to member countries general and special allotments. 

The upward variation of 181.7 MTD or 19.1% recorded at the end of 2018 financial year is 
exclusively explained by SDR exchange rate evolution against the dinar. 

                                                      
1 - 1 SDR =4.15728 TND as at 31/12/2018 
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Note 17: Current accounts in dinars of foreign institutions 
This heading posts the balances of accounts opened in dinars in the name of foreign institutions 
such as the International Monetary Fund, the World Bank, the African Development Bank, and 
the Arab Monetary Fund. Worth of note that the IMF accounts kept on BCT books represent the 
main component of this heading. These accounts are detailed as follows: 
 
 

(In dinars) 
 2018 2017 

IMF Accounts 1 482 759 083 1 483 292 852 
IMF Account n°1 1 482 748 920 1 483 276 368 
IMF share subscribed in dinars 1 482 748 920 1 401 626 176 
Drawings in loan portions* - 81 650 192 

IMF Account n°2 10 163 16 484 
*This concerns the exchange value in TND of funds released on the loan with respect to the stand-by 
agreement meant to back up the balance of payments. 
 
 

Worth of note that the IMF securities’ account held on the books of the BCT and with the 
balance coming in, at the end of December 2018, at 4,779.8 MTD is entered in the off balance 
sheet commitment statement at the level of «Other external borrowings» sub-heading. It holds 
the counter value in dinars of the portions of the two IMF loans granted in the framework of the 
Stand-by agreement and Extended Fund Facility arrangement, meant to support the State 
budget. 

Note 18: Commitments in foreign currency towards Tunisian authorised 
intermediaries 
This heading includes the sight assets in foreign currency of Tunisian authorised intermediaries 
(4,524.5 MTD) and the outstanding balance of borrowings by the Central Bank on the money 
market in foreign currency (2,408.4 MTD). 
These commitments are broken down as follows: 
 
 

 

 2018 2017* 

 In foreign 
currency 

 
In dinar 

In foreign 
currency 

 
In dinar 

Commitments in foreign currency 
towards Tunisian authorised 
intermediaries  6 932 889 693  3 161 773 298 
EUR 1 373 188 996 4 704 751 480 633 419 957 1 858 327 471 
USD 611 648 365 1 832 896 072 426 133 094 1 045 964 986 

CHF 43 383 239 131 865 523 39 555 183 99 276 193 
GBP 24 017 435 91 660 141 19 434 744 64 234 745 
SAR 48 158 080 38 470 601 35 285 940 23 094 824 
AED 44 320 384 36 158 120 20 177 434 13 482 259 
CAD 16 887 021 37 168 334 10 293 641 20 116 349 
Others  59 919 422  37 276 471 

*Certain figures of the previous financial year were reclassified in order for their presentation to be 
conform to the one adopted for 2018 financial year. 
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Note 19: Foreign accounts in foreign currency 
This heading records the credit balance of accounts in foreign currency or convertible Tunisian 
dinars in the name of non-resident banks or institutions. 

Note 20: Other commitments in foreign currency 
The amount under this heading represents the exchange value in dinars of forward commitment 
amounts in foreign currency of the Central Bank of Tunisia with respect to external borrowings 
or deposits. It is broken down as follows: 

 50 million US dollar (149.8 MTD) representing deposit made by the Bank of Algeria at the 
Central Bank of Tunisia pursuant to the convention signed by the two central Banks on 28 
April 2011, 

 200 million US dollar (599.3 MTD) representing two deposits, 100 million US dollar each 
carried out by the Bank of Algeria at the Central Bank of Tunisia as per the conventions 
concluded in this respect between the two Central Banks on 04 May 2014 and 17 March 
2015 respectively. 

 3.6 million SDR (15 MTD) representing the outstanding balance of structural adjustment 
facilities loans V contracted in 2013 with respect to the Arab Monetary Fund. 

 100 million Euros (342.6 MTD) representing the outstanding balance of a borrowing falling 
due on 16 January 2019, contracted in October 2018 as a counterpart of foreign currency 
securities repo in the framework of tripartite repurchase agreement. 

Worth of note in this respect that 2018 was marked by reimbursement of maturities relative to 
the AMF loan contracted in the framework of credit facilities for structural adjustment  
V for an amount worth 7.2 million SDR (26.1 MTD). 

Note 21: Current collection of values 
The amount recorded under this heading represents the net credit balance of values collection 
accounts, notably drawn cheques and bills in favour of the Treasury as well as transfers made by 
the Bank’s departments through the electronic clearing system. 

Note 22: Differences on conversion and revaluation 
This category includes: 

 The accumulated net gains on revaluation of foreign currency accounts for 2,620 MTD. 
Worth of note that foreign currency accounts revaluation over 2018 yielded a net loss of 
148.7 MTD, totally absorbed by net gains carried forward from 2017 financial year for an 
amount of 2,768.7 MTD,  

 The accumulated net gains from revaluation at market price of gold ingots assets for 
504.2 MTD, 416.5 MTD of which were carried forward from 2017 financial year, 

 The accumulated net gains with respect to readjustment of operations with the IMF and the 
AMF worth 135.5 MTD, 95.4 MTD of which were carried forward from 2017 financial year. 

Note 23: Miscellaneous creditors 
This heading includes mainly the deposit accounts of the Bank staff, provisions constituted with 
respect to retirement benefits and leave allowance to be paid, withholding taxes due to the State, 
contributions for social coverage pending payment, the attachment orders on current accounts 
and other accounts in the name of national entities. 
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 (In dinars) 
 2018 2017 Variations 

Miscellaneous creditors 102 384 004 131 601 895 (29 217 891) 

Trust fund accounts (staff accounts, staff association account,…) 20 928 412 18 392 069 2 536 343 

Provision for retirement benefit 8 692 241 11 539 008 (2 846 767) 

Provision for leave to be paid 6 478 769 6 346 968 131 801 

Withholding tax, VAT collected and other taxes and levies due 
to the State 2 966 923 2 757 687 209 236 
Contributions with respect to social coverage – suspense account 1 763 261 1 690 893 72 368 
Other miscellaneous creditors 61 554 398 90 875 270 (29 320 872) 
of which :    

Attachment orders 22 341 073 34 903 135 (12 562 062) 

High independent Authority for elections 28 551 777 53 989 077  (25 437 300) 

 Bank Deposit Guarantee Fund 5 980 731 - 5 980 731 
 
 

Note 24: Memorandum accounts and accounts calling for adjustment (liabilities) 

This heading includes mainly the counterpart of the IMF reserve position, provisions for risks 
and costs, and costs to be paid. 

 
 

(In dinars) 

 2018 2017 Variations 

Memorandum accounts and accounts calling for adjustment 
(Liabilities) 559 128 112 495 142 800 63 985 312 

Counterpart of the IMF reserve position 423 938 124 400 628 295 23 309 829 

Staff costs to be paid 18 387 463 15 041 486 3 345 977 

Costs to be paid and miscellaneous proceeds paid in advance 12 573 575 10 906 859 1 666 716 

Expenditure to be paid for specific and exceptional purposes 2 546 658 2 058 028 488 630 

Foreign currency pending assignment 1 654 646 1 429 151 225 495 

Provisions for risks and costs 98 627 110 63 817 110 34 810 000 

Other memorandum and adjustment accounts 1 400 536 1 261 871 138 665 
 
 

Note 25: Equity 
Equity prior to the appropriation of 2018 result came to 1,028.1 MTD at the end of December 
2018, compared to 530.4 MTD in 2017, an increase by 497.7 MTD or 93.9%. Breakdown is 
as follows : 
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 (In dinars) 
 2018 2017 

Capital 6 000 000 6 000 000 

Reserves 140 728 867 138 311 580 

Legal reserve 3 000 000 3 000 000 

Special reserve 102 794 668 102 794 668 

Social fund reserve 34 934 199 32 516 912 

Other equity 77 945 160 763 

Results carried forward - 90 552 

Total equity prior to financial year results 146 806 812 144 562 895 

Financial year results 881 320 531 385 802 863 

Total equity prior to allocation 1 028 127 343 530 365 758 
 
 

The Executive Board of the Bank approved in its meeting held on 5 March 2018, breakdown of 
2017 year results as follows: 
 
 

(In dinars) 
Results for the year 385 802 863 

Results carried forward 90 552 

Results to be broken down 385 893 415 
Reserve for social fund 2 000 000 

Share due to the State 383 893 415 
 
 

 
Equity movements, recorded over the financial year closed on 31 December 2018, are presented 
as follows: 
 
 

 (In dinars) 
 

Description 
Balance on 
31/12/2017 

Result 
carried 
forward 

Allocation 
of result 

Reserve 
for social 

fund 

Other 
equity 

Financial 
year result 

Balance on 
31/12/2018 

Capital 6 000 000 - - - - - 6 000 000 

Legal reserve 3 000 000 - - - - - 3 000 000 

Special reserve 102 794 668 - - - - - 102 794 668 
Reserve for 
social fund 32 516 912 - - 2 417 287 - - 34 934 199 

Other equity 160 763 - - - (82 818) - 77 945 
Results carried 
forward 90 552 (90 552) - - - - - 

Financial year 
result 385 802 863 - (385 802 863) - - 881 320 531 881 320 531 

Total equity 530 365 758 (90 552) (385 802 863) 2 417 287 (82 818) 881 320 531 1 028 127 343 

 
 

 
  



 

 

Annual Report 2018 227 

 

Social fund resources and uses as at the end of December 2018, are presented as follows: 
 
 

 (In dinars) 
 

 
Description 

Balance on  
31-12-2017 

Resources Uses 
Balance on 
 31-12-2018 

Depreciation Reimbursement Loans 

Resources 32 516 912 2 000 000 417 287  - 34 934 199 

Allotment 25 038 126 2 000 000 - - 27 038 126 

Interest on long term loans 3 946 160 - 141 641 - 4 087 801 
Interest on medium term 
loans 3 532 626 - 275 646 - 3 808 272 

Uses (31 231 115) - 13 154 431 (13 080 458) (31 157 142) 

Housing loans (13 504 767) - 4 935 035 (6 211 853) (14 781 585) 

Medium term loans (9 577 211) - 2 698 597 (1 332 780) (8 211 394) 

Short term loans (8 149 137) - 5 520 799 (5 535 825) (8 164 163) 
Available resources 1 285 797 2 000 000 13 571 718 (13 080 458) 3 777 057 

 
 

 

Note 26: Off balance sheet commitments 
The statement of off balance sheet commitments includes: 

 Pledged commitments and collaterals 
 Collateral commitments pledged in the framework of external borrowings: 

 Debenture loans and other external borrowings :  

This involves commitments with respect to: 

- debenture loans issued by the Central Bank of Tunisia on behalf of the Tunisian Government 
on foreign financial markets ; 

- external borrowings by the State in the framework of bilateral economic cooperation and 
managed by the Central Bank on behalf of the State against signature of commitments to the 
foreign party (foreign bank or financial institution) for settlement of relevant payments due ; and 

- external borrowings contracted by the BCT and retroceded to Tunisian Authorised 
Intermediaries (particularly loans from the Arab Trade Financing Programme). 

Under this heading are also entered the BCT commitments towards the IMF for the fund credit 
portions meant to boost the State budget. This concerns the loan granted in the framework of the 
Stand-by agreement as well as the loan granted in the framework of Extended Fund Facility 
arrangement with the second portion already released in 2018 for 1,820.9 MTD. 

Worth of note, in this framework, that the outstanding balance of debenture loans went from 
20,513.7 MTD in December 2017 to 26,493 MTD in December 2018: up by 5,979.3 MTD 
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explained in major part by the 500 million EUR debenture loan issued on the Eurobond market 
in October 2018. 

These commitments are in fact considered to be surety bonds (off balance sheet), in accordance 
with the accounting convention «pre-eminence of content over form». Worth of note that the 
Central Bank’s financial commitments coming from the above-mentioned borrowings mean a 
similar commitment on the part of the State or the Tunisian Authorised Intermediary for 
repayment of all borrowings maturities as well as settlement of all related financial costs. 
 
 

(In dinars) 
Variations 2017 2018  

5 979 303 177 20 513 722 041 26 493 025 218 Debenture loans 

1 214 356 001 5 250 145 855 6 464 501 856 Other external borrowings 

163 764 069 1 107 216 374 1 270 980 443 State external borrowings contracted in the framework 
of bilateral economic cooperation 

174 566 099 239 133 078 413 699 177 External borrowings contracted by the BCT and 
retroceded to Tunisian authorised intermediaries 

876 025 833 3 903 796 403 4 779 822 236 IMF loans meant to boost the State budget 

 
 

 Pledged commitments on refinancing operations : 
This concerns given commitments related to exchange swap operations as a monetary policy 
instrument, introduced by the Central Bank as of May 2015 to meet banks’ liquidity needs. 
As at the end of December 2018, the amount entered under this heading (2,302.4 MTD) 
represents the counter-value in dinar, at the exchange rate of the closing date, of the currencies 
to be delivered to banks on the date of swap transaction achievement concluded in October, 
November and December 2018 for three-month maturities. 

 Commitments and collaterals received 
 Commitments received on refinancing operations : 

This involves commitments received from banks participating in exchange swap operations. 
They are made up of amounts of dinars to be received on the date of the close up (2,280 MTD) 
and non-accrued carry-over amounts with respect to these transactions (25.6 MTD). 

 Collaterals received in coverage of refinancing operations 
This concerns collaterals received as a counterpart of bank refinancing operations other than 
those carried up through exchange swap. They totalled 11,001 MTD at the end of December 
2018 and are broken down into current claims and Treasury bonds, amounting to 6,357.5 MTD 
and 4,643.5 MTD respectively. 

 Other commitments received : 

This concerns provisional and final guarantees received from tenderers in the framework of 
calls for bids launched by the Central Bank. At the end of December 2018, the amount of these 
collaterals came to 1.2 MTD compared to1 MTD in 2017. 

 Other commitments 
This involves Tunisian and foreign banknotes, confiscated by the legal authorities and the 
customs’ duties, and entrusted to the BCT for conservation. At the end of December 2018, the 
amount of these banknotes came to 4.8 MTD against 4 MTD in 2017. 
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Worth of note that the operations with the outcome dependent on the BCT policies are only 
accounted for when carried out. 

Note 27: Proceeds from intervention on the money market 
This item includes, mainly, interests collected with respect to the Central Bank intervention on 
the money market through 7-day calls for bids, which amounted to 464.1 MTD at the end of 
December 2018, compared to 339.5 over the corresponding period of the previous year,up by 
124.6 MTD or 36.7%, reflecting an ongoing increase in bank liquidity needs.  

The Central Bank of Tunisia initiated also firm purchase operations of Treasury bonds in the 
framework of the open market, yielding some 79.6 MTD in proceeds over December 2018 
compared to 60.8 MTD in the previous financial year.  

On another level, quantitative tightening by the main refinancing operations initiated by the 
BCT as from July 2017, caused an ever going increase in banks’ recourse to 24-hour credit 
facility, going up thus by 201.9 MTD with respect to proceeds on these operations, which closed 
for the year at 239 MTD compared to just 37.1 MTD a year earlier. 

Proceeds encashed with respect to carry-over amounts on exchange swap operations were at a 
fairly high level, up by 162.2 MTD from one end of year to another, coming to  
194 MTD at the end of December 2018 compared to 31.8 MTD a  year before. 
 

 
 (In dinars) 

 2018 2017 Variations 

Proceeds from intervention on the money market 1 021 627 239 474 832 989 546 794 250 
Interests on interventions on the money market in the form 
of purchase on calls for bids 464 071 743 339 473 986 124 597 757 
Proceeds on securities purchased firm 79 563 194 60 759 066 18 804 128 
Interests on 24-hour credit facility 239 034 090 37 110 111 201 923 979 
Carry-over on foreign exchange swap operations 194 019 659 31 844 823 162 174 836 
Interest on money market intervention in the form of 
allowance uptake of Treasury bonds for a 3-month 
duration 22 727 156 - 22 727 156 
Interest on money market intervention in the form of 
refinancing operation with a six-month duration  10 637 925 - 10 637 925 
Other proceeds 11 573 472 5 645 003 5 928 469 
Of which : Penalty interests 6 557 960 5 627 555 930 405 
 
 

Note 28: Interests on forward investments in foreign currency 
This heading includes, mainly, interests on securities in foreign currency which totalled 
82.8 MTD at the end of December 2018 compared to 108.1 MTD a year earlier yielding thus 
25.3 MTD drop. The scope of this decline was more than offset by significant interest 
rebounding from forward deposits in foreign currency (by 48.7 MTD, explained mainly by the 
increase in interest rates on investments in US dollar. It is broken down as follows: 
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 (In dinars) 
 2018 2017 Variations 

Interests on forward investments in foreign currency 165 399 655 138 113 363 27 286 292 

Interests on securities in foreign currency 82 785 875 108 064 643 (25 278 768) 

EUR 49 616 880 50 598 062 (981 182) 

USD 20 451 229 27 788 791 (7 337 562) 

GBP 12 552 952 29 368 489 (16 815 537) 

JPY 164 814 309 301 (144 487) 

Interests on deposits in foreign currency 71 579 607 22 857 595 48 722 012 

USD 69 107 783 20 985 834 48 121 949 

GBP 1 707 478 1 155 537 551 941 

EUR 606 350 574 606 31 744 

Others 157 996 141 618 16 378 
Interests on foreign currency funds entrusted for 
external management 11 034 173 7 191 125 3 843 048 

USD 11 034 173 7 191 125 3 843 048 
 
 

Note 29: Other proceeds on foreign currency transactions 
This includes mainly commissions on foreign exchange transactions (14.5 MTD), arising from 
the margin applied on the rates of currencies in sale. 
It is broken down as follows: 
 
 

 (In dinars) 
 2018 2017 Variations 

Other proceeds on foreign currency transactions 32 432 293 68 867 667 (36 435 374) 

Commissions on exchange operations 14 513 640 14 318 960 194 680 

Exchange gains on current operations - 38 890 846 (38 890 846) 

Interest on sight foreign currency assets 2 511 692 4 276 188 (1 764 496) 

Commissions on non-resident foreign banknotes 2 527 886 2 472 150 55 736 

Discount spread on foreign currency securities 2 976 878 2 904 501 72 377 

Commissions on banks’ transfer of foreign banknotes 4 543 917 2 212 407 2 331 510 

Write back of provisions on foreign currency funds entrusted 3 355 601 1 783 825 1 571 776 
for external management Gains on foreign currency funds 
entrusted for external management 954 651 760 407 194 244 

Write back of provisions on available for sale securities in 
foreign currency 394 328 549 296 (154 968) 

Other proceeds 653 700 699 087 (45 387) 
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Note 30: Proceeds on transactions with international organisations 
 
This involves proceeds entered during operations with the IMF. They almost doubled from one 
year to the next, coming to 4.6 MTD at the end of December 2018 compared to  
2.3 MTD a year earlier as a result of the increase in the interest rates applied by the IMF. They 
are detailed as follows: 
 
 

 (In dinars) 
 2018 2017 Variations 

Proceeds on transactions with international organisations 4 567 412 2 304 336 2 263 076 
Remuneration / reserve position at the IMF 3 880 467 1 916 552 1 963 915 
Interest on assets in SDR at IMF 642 629 347 443 295 186 
Interest on SDR investment 44 316 40 341 3 975 
 
 

Note 31: Miscellaneous proceeds  
 
This item posted an increase of 1.2 MTD or 24.8% following the simultaneous increase in the 
amount of dividends collected with respect to BCT participation in the capital of African Export 
Import Bank and the remaining amount from unused budget allocations. 
 
 

 (In dinars) 
 2018 2017 Variations 

Miscellaneous proceeds 5 826 874 4 668 178 1 158 696 
Income from shareholding securities  3 225 284 2 522 386 702 898 
Cost recovery 776 365 820 712 (44 347) 
Proceeds from services related to gross payment system 311 365 300 870 10 495 
Proceeds on unused budget allocations 893 511 240 351 653 160 
Recovery of complementary retirement pensions for 
seconded staff 25 225 25 696 (471) 
Commissions on sale of gold to jewellers 52 637 12 810 39 827 
Net proceeds on fixed asset transfers and other gains on non-
recurring or exceptional items - 256 181 (256 181) 
Other proceeds 542 487  489 172 53 315 
 
 

Note 32: Costs related to money market intervention 
This heading holds, mainly, costs on securities purchased firm (19.6 MTD), which increased by 
12.5 MTD from one year to the next, following the constitution of a provision for depreciation 
of securities worth an amount of 19.5 MTD. 
 
 

 (In dinars) 
 2018 2017 Variations 

Costs related to intervention on the money market  19 870 510 7 582 248 12 288 262 
Costs on securities purchased firm 19 632 457 7 084 526 12 547 931 
Interests on 24-hour deposit facility 63 333 458 986 (395 653) 
Other costs 174 720 38 736 135 984 
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Note 33: Interests paid on transactions in foreign currency 
Interests on foreign currency transactions rose by 3 MTD from one end of year to the next, 
coming to 29.8 MTD at the end of December 2018 compared to 26.8 MTD in December 2017. 
This increase is explained in major part by high interest paid in the framework of the 
intervention on the money market in foreign currency and to a lesser degree the increase in debit 
interest on sight assets in foreign currency. Yet, the effect of this increase was sharply lessened 
by the fact that in 2018 no interest charges were entered with respect to the following 
reimbursement in April 2017 of Qatari National Bank Deposit worth 500 million USD that 
came due in April 2017. 
 

 

 (In dinars) 
 2018 2017 Variations 

Interests paid on transactions in foreign currency 29 849 099 26 792 399 3 056 700 
Interests on intervention on the money market in foreign 
currency 19 333 029 5 486 989 13 846 040 

Interests on foreign currency deposits - 12 844 171 (12 844 171) 

Costs of interests on term investment of foreign currency 4 645 348 5 253 450 (608 102) 

Sight debit interests on foreign currencies   5 870 722 3 207 789 2 662 933 
 
 

Note 34: Other costs on transactions in foreign currency 
This item includes, mainly, costs representing spreading of premiums on foreign currency 
securities (44.8 MTD) and exchange loses on current operations (43.7 MTD). 
It is detailed as follows: 
 
 

(In dinars) 
 2018 2017 Variations 

Other costs on transactions in foreign currency 101 279 140 76 384 576 24 894 564 

Spreading of the premium on securities in foreign currency 44 758 792 62 633 379 (17 874 587) 
Exchange losses on current operations 43 714 718 - 43 714 718 

Allotment to provisions for depreciation of foreign currency 
funds entrusted to external management 1 015 708 3 355 601 (2 339 893) 

Loss on foreign currency funds entrusted for external 
management 6 170 206 2 577 656 3 592 550 

Costs / securities at negative yield rate 1 517 690 2 392 247 (874 557) 
Allotment to provisions for depreciation of available for sale 
securities 1 133 496 2 058 491 (924 995) 

Fees / external  reserves management mandate services 964 514 987 265 (22 751) 

Costs for management of foreign currency securities 568 146 733 942 (165 796) 

Loss / transfer of available for sale securities 1 077 061 662 268 414 793 

Fees for foreign currency account management 218 116 110 297 107 819 

Interest on purchase of foreign currency securities - 814 665 (814 665) 

Other foreign currency costs 140 693 58 765 81 928 
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Note 35: Costs on transactions with international organisations 
This concerns mainly interests paid on loans granted by the AMF and the IMF and commissions 
on SDR allocations. These commissions increased by 4.9 MTD from one year to the next, 
influenced by the increase in the rates applied by the IMF. 

On another level, interest on use of IMF resources regressed significantly by 2.6 MTD, closing 
for the year at 0.5 MTD compared to 3.1 MTD at the end of the previous year, following full 
reimbursement of IMF credit portion granted to the BCT in the framework of the stand-by 
agreement meant to support the balance of payments. 
 
 

 (In dinars) 
 2018 2017 Variations 

Costs on transactions with international organisations 10 567 064 9 018 750 1 548 314 

IMF commissions on SDR allocations 9 746 564 4 826 590 4 919 974 

Interests on IMF loans 493 126 3 053 445 (2 560 319) 

Interests on AMF loans 301 925 1 113 207 (811 282) 

Other costs 25 449 25 508 (59) 
 
 

Note 36: Staff costs 
This heading came to 89 MTD at the end of December 2018 compared to 77.9 MTD at the end 
of December 2017. 
It is broken down as follows: 
 
 

 (In dinars) 
 2018 2017 Variations 

Staff costs 89 046 334 77 908 353 11 137 981 

Salaries, salaries complements and related costs 30 270 544 28 533 515 1 737 029 

Bonuses 19 482 800 15 288 276 4 194 524 

Social costs 38 019 710 32 451 098 5 568 612 

Of which supplementary retirement pension 24 132 800 19 630 000 4 502 800 

Allotment to provisions for retirement benefits - 657 466 (657 466) 

Staff training costs 804 080 553 498 250 582 

Taxes, duties and similar payments on remunerations 469 200 424 500 44 700 
 
 

 
Worth of note that supplementary retirement pensions are entered into costs when paying them 
to retired agents. 
 
Note 37: General operating costs 
General operating costs came to 20.8 MTD at the end of December 2018 compared to 
18.1 MTD in 2017. They are broken down as follows: 
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 (In dinars) 
 

 2018 2017* Variations 
General operating costs 20 795 571 18 134 088 2 661 483 

Purchases 3 533 200 2 970 484 562 716 
Consummate purchases : consumables and stationery 3 525 199 2 959 118 566 081 

Small tools purchases 8 001 11 366 (3 365) 

External services 9 732 103 8 106 923 1 625 180 
Maintenance, repair and maintenance contracts 4 017 534 3 630 257 387 277 

Post office and telecommunications costs 2 846 110 2 389 342 456 768 

Insurance premium 912 716 807 427 105 289 

Advertising, publication and public relations’ fees 793 080 157 515 635 565 

Transport and customs clearance of foreign banknotes’ costs 613 646 568 980 44 666 

Miscellaneous costs 549 017 553 402 (4 385) 

Miscellaneous ordinary costs 7 500 261 7 015 538 484 723 
Taxes, duties and similar payments other than on remuneration 30 007 41 143 (11 136) 

*Certain figures from previous financial year were classified so as to conform to those of 2018. 
 
 

 

Note 38: Costs to manufacture banknotes and coins 
Costs of banknotes and coins manufacturing incurred in the framework of the programme 
speared over the three years 2017-2019, totalled 36.3 MTD at the end of 2018 compared to  
9.9 MTD over the previous financial year. 

Note 39: Allocation of provisions for risks and costs 
Given its exposure to several risks (financial and operational) and as per the prudence principle, 
the BCT constituted over 2018 financial year, provisions for risks and costs with a global 
amount of 47.8 MTD compared to 63.4 MTD a year earlier, detailed as follows: 
 
 

(In dinars) 

 2018 2017 

Allotment for risks and costs 47 833 000 63 397 329 

Allotment to provisions in coverage of operational risk 39 000 000 20 000 000 

Allotment to provisions / monetary policy operations 7 700 000 15 000 000 

Allotment to provisions for files in litigation 1 103 000 28 374 329 

Other allotments 30 000 23 000 
 
 

Worth of note that as of 2017 financial year, the BCT proceeded to gradual entry of provision 
for operational risk meant to cover risk of loss ensuing from inadequacy or failure attributable to 
procedures, staff or systems of the Bank, or with external risks, and this by retaining, as an 
indicator, a 15% rate from the net average financial proceed of the three previous financial 
years. 

 



 

 

Annual Report 2018 235 

 

Auditors' Report 
on the Financial Statements 

as at 31 December 2018 
 

Statutory Auditor's Report to the Chairman of the Executive Board of Central Bank 
of Tunisia 

Opinion 

In compliance with the assignment confided to us, we have audited the financial statements of 
the Central Bank of Tunisia which comprise the balance sheet and the statement of off balance 
sheet commitments as at 31 December 2018, and the income statement, for the year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

These financial statements show a net balance sheet total of 31,353,557 thousand dinars and 
positive shareholders' equity of 1,028,127 thousand dinars, including the profit for the year 
amounting to 881,320 thousand dinars. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Central Bank of Tunisia as at 31 December 2018, and of the results 
of its operations for the year then ended in accordance with the generally accepted accounting 
principles in Tunisia, taking into account the specific nature of the Central Bank's activities. 

Basis of audit opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing applicable in 
Tunisia. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Central Bank of Tunisia in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Tunisia and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of the Executive Board and those charged with governance for the Financial 
Statements 

With respect to these financial statements, the Executive Board is responsible for their 
preparation and fair presentation in accordance with the generally accepted accounting 
principles in Tunisia, taking into account the specific nature of the Central Bank's activities and 
for such internal control as the Executive Board determines necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Executive Board is responsible for assessing the 
Bank's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Executive Board either 
intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing Bank's financial process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and to issue an 
auditor's report that includes our opinion.  
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with International Auditing Standards applicable in Tunisia will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the International Auditing Standards applicable in 
Tunisia, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit, we also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. 

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Executive Board. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Executive Board's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Central Bank's ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Central Bank to cease to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies m internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
 

Tunis, 18 March 2019 
The Auditors 

 
 

Mourad GUELLATY and partners’ firm C.M.C accountancy firm 
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Breakdown of Results for 2018 
 

 
 
 

In compliance with the terms of article 78 of Law 2016-35 dated 25 April 2016 providing for 
the Statute of the Central Bank of Tunisia, the Bank’s  Executive Board at its meeting on 21 
March 2019 approved breakdown of 2018 results as follows (Amounts in TND): 
 

 

Results for the year 881.320.531 

Special reserve  205.000.000 

Share going to the State 676.320.531 

 
The 205 MTD that was allocated to the special reserve to boost the bank’s equity is broken 
down as follows: 

 

- 80 MTD to finance the investment budget as approved by the Bank’s Executive 
Board in its meeting held on 16 February 2019, 

 
- 125 MTD in the framework of gradual constitution of reserves helping to face up to 

impacts tied to migration towards IFRS norms. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 






